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INTRODUCTION


The Golden Goal


  FROM THE MOMENT I woke up on Sunday, the last day of the 2010 Winter Olympics, I had a gut feeling that it would be historic. That 17-day-old knot in my stomach was gone. I’d had zero sleep, but on this day it just did not matter. Call it an old athlete’s intuition, but I liked Canada’s chances in the men’s gold medal hockey game.
Even though the United States had defeated us earlier in the tournament, I felt strangely relaxed and confident about the outcome of the rematch that would be played that afternoon. It was a game I had dreamed about even before we won the bid to host the Games in Prague, back in July 2003.
I walked out onto the balcony of the suite I had been staying in at the Westin Bayshore during the Games. As I had every morning since the Olympics began, I checked on two things: the Olympic cauldron at the waterfront and the weather. Today, as always, I was relieved to see the flame still burning. A clear sky made me feel even better.
Sometimes the entire Olympic experience felt like a dream, one I would wake up from and discover had all been a fantasy. This morning was no different. Had this experience really happened? So many days had felt surreal, knowing I was part of something so massive in scope, so dramatic in its telling, so important to entire nations. The biggest event ever to be organized on Canadian soil.
I could tell by the number of Canadians who were watching the Olympics on television and devouring daily accounts of the Games in the newspapers that interest was off the charts. A day earlier, somewhere in the neighbourhood of 80 per cent of the country had tuned in to watch the coverage. Those were never-before-seen-or-imagined numbers. Ecstatic Olympic broadcasters expected them to be even bigger for the gold medal hockey game.
Faceoff was set for noon.
Before the game started I had to attend a Vancouver Organizing Committee meeting to review the plans for the many challenges the final day posed. The team seemed energized, almost younger, and was certainly feeling more confident. Today would be huge for us. There would be 80,000 people cramming into two arenas for the hockey game and closing ceremonies in the space of four or five hours. Getting everything to start on time was going to take military precision and discipline. After that meeting finished, I had to attend a windup news conference at the Main Press Centre.
I was struck by how different the questions at the final session with reporters were from the ones I had had to handle a couple of weeks earlier, when the common perception, certainly among the British press, was that the Games were in trouble. Now many of those same reporters were writing that we had staged perhaps the best Winter Olympics in history. As press conferences go it was pretty much a love-in.
Shortly before 11 AM, I headed to Canada Hockey Place, where the game was being played. On the way I passed several downtown restaurants and bars, outside of which stood hundreds of customers clad in red and white, waiting to get in. I’m sure records were set across the country for the most beer ever sold on a Sunday.
By the time I arrived at the arena it was jammed with people wearing the now-iconic Team Canada jerseys. Even though it was more than an hour before game time, people were already blowing horns and chanting “We Want Gold! We Want Gold!”
This was the one event where I had hoped to be sitting with members of my executive team; it was the last day of the Olympics, and we’d been through so much together. This was going to be perhaps the most historic hockey game in the nation’s history. If we won, I wanted to be celebrating with the people who had become family to me over the last several years.
But I had been asked to sit with the big bosses, Dr. Jacques Rogge, president of the IOC, and René Fasel, president of the International Ice Hockey Federation. It was a request I felt I couldn’t turn down.
After taking my seat I reminded René of a conversation we’d had in 2002 at the Salt Lake City Olympics, when Vancouver was still bidding for the Games. It was the day of the men’s gold medal game, Canada versus the United States, which we would ultimately win. Imagine the same final in Vancouver, on Canadian soil, I told René at the time. It would be one of the biggest things ever to happen in the country. It would be one of the biggest things ever to happen to international ice hockey. René didn’t need to be convinced. I think from that moment on he wanted our bid to succeed.
While confident of the outcome of this Olympic rematch, I had some nervous energy to burn off so I walked to the concourse and decided to go looking for some Blue Jackets, the tireless volunteer army that had played a pivotal role in making the Games such a triumph. I wanted to thank each one of them for their incredible service. I spoke to as many as I could before it was time to drop the puck.
Everyone in the country wanted Canada to win, but there was more at stake than just bragging rights. The Games weren’t going to be judged a failure if we lost. I knew what we had accomplished, was aware of the unprecedented nationalistic fervour the Olympics had ignited across the country. But I felt winning would mean the difference between everlasting glory and memories of a wonderful fortnight. A gold medal would be Canada’s fourteenth at this Games, establishing a new Olympic record for any nation at the Winter Games, a record that would be difficult to break. Victory on this Sunday afternoon would also give the country what it most wanted: men’s hockey gold. A win would go down in our history as a uniquely Canadian moment that would be written about in books and talked about for generations. It was much more than just a hockey game.
By the time the puck was dropped the crowd was on its feet, chanting, making more noise than I’d ever heard in a hockey rink. Imagine a 747 revving its engines inside a hangar—that’s how loud it felt. All around me were adults and children screaming their hearts out. I could only shake my head in wonder at how sport could transform a cross-section of Canadians into a roiling unified mass of kinetic energy.
I knew nothing about hockey before arriving in Canada from Ireland. But I had quickly learned what the game means to people here. It was to Canadians what Gaelic football was to those back home. And the more I came to understand the game, the more I realized Canadians had rallied around a sport that defined them and their spirit. Hockey players are among the toughest, most fearless athletes of any sport. Canadians are among the most resilient and courageous people. In so many ways, the sport and the people who love it are a natural match.
Large parts of the gold medal game remain a blur to me. I had a million things on my mind, as I did most days during the Games. There was still a cross-country skiing race to get off up at Whistler. The closing ceremonies would be taking place just a few hours later. Getting 60,000 people into BC Place Stadium was a massive undertaking. I worried about that. I had a speech to give as well and was fretting about how my French was going to go over.
So my focus wasn’t entirely there when Canada went up 1–0 in the first period and then 2–0 in the second. I couldn’t have told you who scored the goals at the time, but now I can, of course. So thank you, Jonathan Toews and Corey Perry. I will never forget, however, the sound in the rink when the pucks went in, the blast of the horn, the spontaneous delirium of the crowd. Jacques Rogge, normally so reserved and stoic, even cracked a smile. I thought that he quietly wanted Canada to win because he understood what it would mean, ultimately, to the Games and the place that would be reserved for them in the annals if the Olympic experience was capped off by hockey gold.
Before the second period was finished, however, the United States would make the score 2–1 on a goal by Ryan Kesler, whom I had often watched play in this building for the hometown Vancouver Canucks. Now he was the enemy, no doubt an odd feeling for him and the many Canucks fans in the rink that day. After his goal I felt the energy seep out of the crowd a little bit. I could sense the worry and dread but remained cautiously optimistic. René, in contrast, was absolutely delighted. “All we need now is another American goal,” he said during the second intermission.
“Another goal!” I screamed at him. “Are you out of your mind?”
“No, no, John,” he said, smiling. “It would be unbelievable for the ratings. We need this game to go to a shootout. That would be perfect.”
“No it would not,” I screamed. “Now you stop that right now, do you understand? We do not want or need overtime. We do not want a shootout. We want this game over, finished, and wrapped up, now.”
I spent most of the third period tightly clutching the edge of my seat. I wasn’t alone. I could hear my own heart beating—or maybe it was the collective sound of everyone else’s. The last minute of regulation time was pure torture. When the Americans’ Zach Parise tied the game with 24 seconds left, I closed my eyes and covered my face in my hands. Nearby, Prime Minister Stephen Harper was doing the same. I looked over at Jacques. His face was ashen. I looked at René. He couldn’t stop smiling.
“René, I’m just telling you that if the U.S. scores in overtime I’m going to stab you in the heart with my pen. I am, René. I am going to do that.” I took my pen out of my jacket and held it high in the air. “Remember,” I said.
I’m not sure I was smiling.
I don’t remember leaving my seat during the intermission. I was paralyzed with fear, like most people in the building. We all wanted a win so badly. We could all read the tension on each other’s faces. No one was smiling. People rubbed their hands nervously. Others chewed on fingers. The religious prayed.
I’m not sure I took a breath again until seven minutes and 40 seconds into overtime. When Sidney Crosby scored I jumped up and raised my hands in the air. The place exploded, releasing a beautiful energy in the process. Everyone was hugging and kissing and jumping up and down. I saw many people crying. People looked so relieved. Some looked exhausted, as if they had played in the game themselves. On some level they had: all of the country was on that bench alongside the players.
I looked at Jacques Rogge, and he too seemed relieved. I looked at René, and he was still smiling. Despite his hopes for a shootout I believe that, like Jacques, in his heart René wanted Canada to win. He loved hockey and he knew how much the game means to our hockey-mad nation.
As the crowd continued to sing and chant and immerse themselves in the moment, I stood watching, saying nothing. I thought of that wonderful scene in Chariots of Fire, my all-time favourite film that I’ve seen 20 times or more, when Eric Liddell, the devout Scottish Christian, lines up as the underdog in the 400-metre sprint at the 1924 Olympics in Paris. He had been the favourite in the 100 metres, but because the race was held on a Sunday it was against his religion to compete—so he didn’t. Against all odds he wins the 400 metres. The camera pans to the crowd where his coach, Sandy McGrath, is standing amid all those cheering and celebrating, his hands in his coat pockets, a satisfied smile breaking across his face. Rather than going nuts, he is calmly soaking it all in.
That’s kind of what I did as the crowd continued to sing and wave Canadian flags. I wanted to look and admire and immerse myself in the moment. Suddenly, I felt a tug at my jacket. It was my 12-year-old grandson, Henrik, the son of my daughter Maria.
“How did you get here?” I asked.
“Mom sent me,” he said.
“So,” I said. “What did you think of that?”
“Awesome,” Henrik answered.
I put my arm around his shoulders and we both looked out at the ice, where the players were celebrating and taking turns skating around with a giant Canadian flag supplied by a fan.
“Why don’t I go get Mom?” he said. Off he went.
A few minutes later Maria was by my side. Maria is a tall, tough, disciplined cookie who runs marathons. I often thought she had inherited her competitiveness and intensity from me. There was a time in our lives when our relationship wasn’t the best. It had taken some time for it to grow back into something that resembled a normal, healthy father-daughter bond. Now we stood looking down at the ice, not saying much. The red carpet was rolled out. Jacques Rogge was getting ready to hand out the gold medals.
He started with goaltender Roberto Luongo, the Vancouver Canucks goalie and local hero whose play is often celebrated during games by chants of “Luo-o-o-o-o-o.” When Jacques put the gold medal around Roberto’s neck the chant began: “Luo-o-o-o-o-o.” Eventually he got to the overtime hero, Sidney Crosby, and the place went crazy. Jacques hesitated a few seconds before putting the medal around Sidney’s neck so Canada’s newest hockey hero could enjoy the moment. And then it was time to play the national anthem.
The crowd started singing as the Canadian flag was raised. I looked over at Maria and put my arm around her. Tears streamed down her beautiful face as she sang along. It was such a warm, happy moment for us both. After it was over, Maria and I hugged and said goodbye. Behind my seat was a bank of televisions showing scenes of celebration taking place on streets from Halifax to Victoria. CTV had sent its helicopters to the skies to shoot the instant euphoria. Then they cut to what was going on in downtown Vancouver. Thousands of people had poured out onto the streets to join in a massive party.
I couldn’t help thinking that the celebrations would be mixed with a little sadness that the Games were coming to a close. For two weeks the entire country had been on a very rare kind of vacation. Now it was over. Now it was time to go back to work. For life to return to normal, but maybe a new normal.
Something profound had taken place. Thanks to the Olympics, thousands of Canadian children would get out of bed the next morning with new heroes and new dreams. They would now want to be on that Olympic stage one day themselves, playing hockey or blasting down a mountain on a snowboard. These Games would be a gift to the country for generations.
The Olympics were going to be judged a success regardless of how the men had done that afternoon. I knew that. Everyone at the Vancouver Organizing Committee knew that. But we wanted more. In order for people to feel as if they’d woken up in a new country the next day, we needed something extraordinary. Sidney Crosby made it happen.
I couldn’t help but think about the complex and sometimes difficult road I had travelled to arrive at this moment. A journey that began in Ireland and that was powered by my own thoughts of Olympic gold.



1            


“Welcome to Canada—Make Us Better”


  MY OLYMPIC DREAM began when I was 14 years old. It was October 14, 1964, to be precise. I was sitting in the living room of our family home in Dublin watching television. I had been glued to coverage of the Tokyo Summer Olympics since they’d begun a few days earlier. On this afternoon, I was watching the men’s 10,000-metre race. The favourite was a fellow named Ron Clarke of Australia. At the time, he held the world record. Clarke took an early lead in the final, and by halfway through the race four runners were within striking distance of him, including Native American Billy Mills.
With two laps to go, Clarke still held a convincing lead. There were only two runners close enough to challenge him—Mills and Mohammed Gammoudi of Tunisia. As they took the final turn, Gammoudi soared in front, with Clarke straining to keep up. Mills looked like he was losing steam. Down the final stretch the American tapped into some miraculous well of energy and power and sprinted past a bewildered Gammoudi and Clarke to win.
The announcers were stunned by what they had just witnessed. Most in the stadium were in the same state of disbelief. Mills had run faster than he’d ever run in his life; his time was 50 seconds better than his personal best—an almost unthinkable accomplishment. It was also a new Olympic record.
For whatever reason, the race would have a profound influence on me. Maybe it was Mills’s underdog story, one a kid from a working-class Irish family could relate to. Maybe it was the mesmerizing finish. But from that moment on I wanted to go to the Olympics. I remember throwing on an old pair of Keds right after the race was over and taking off down the streets of my neighbourhood, imagining myself in the Olympics. I ran four kilometres to Phoenix Park, the biggest and most famous public space in Dublin. By the time I ran home I was an Olympic champion.
I watched a lot of the 1964 Tokyo Olympics. Many athletes made an impression on me: American sprinter Bob Hayes; Peter Snell, the great middle-distance runner from Australia; Joe Frazier, the boxer from the United States. But none left quite the same mark as Billy Mills.
At 14, life was a giant possibility, and I was probably more of a dreamer than most kids growing up in Ireland. I was born in Clonmel, in the county of Tipperary, on October 12, 1950. The town is situated on the northern bank of the River Suir and rests in a valley surrounded by the Comeragh Mountains. In Irish history, Clonmel was noted for its resistance to Cromwell’s armies, which had successfully sacked other communities nearby.
My father, John, who went by Jack, was a prison warden, or, as they were called in Ireland, a governor. Governors typically lived on the jail grounds, which meant I was raised, quite literally, in prison. We bounced around a bit. When I was six we left Clonmel for Dublin, where we stayed for three years before relocating to Portlaoise, in the Irish countryside. When I was 12 we returned to Dublin for good.
Living in a home that was attached to the walls of a prison was different. There’s no other way to put it. Depending on which prison my father was working in at the time, our house could be separated from the jail by bars. At one stop, I remember being able to look through my bedroom window into the prison yard and watching the inmates playing soccer. In Clonmel, the jail was for low-risk inmates, and some prisoners would work on the grounds of our house. I would see them all the time but be forbidden to talk to them.
As my father moved up the ranks of the penal system, the prisons we lived in housed more dangerous prisoners. Perhaps the most notorious of all was Mountjoy Jail in Dublin. Not far from our house at Mountjoy was a stone cross that marked the grave of Kevin Barry, a member of the Irish Republican Army who was hanged by the British on November 1, 1920, when they ran the prison. Barry was among a group of IRA members killed at the prison between 1920 and 1921, who collectively became known as the Forgotten Ten.
My father felt that Mountjoy was not the kind of prison that should be housing serious political criminals. It was too old, and its technology wasn’t sophisticated enough to thwart the creative minds inside and those inspired to spring them out. Not long after my father retired from Mountjoy, three Provisional Irish Republican Army volunteers escaped from its walls aboard a helicopter that actually landed in the prison’s exercise yard. The escape created a worldwide sensation and a major scandal in Ireland. My father had been right.
I was the third of five boys. My brothers were Jim, Eamonn, Brian and Terry. I had a younger sister named Rosemary who would become the closest of my siblings.
Like most families in Ireland, we never had a lot of money, but my dad did have a reliable job so we were better off than many. But nothing was ever wasted in the Furlong household. When I eventually grew to share the same shoe size as my father, I inherited his hand-me-downs. They were always laughably ugly. I was teased mercilessly at school whenever I wore them. Mortified, I eventually scraped together enough money to buy a brand new pair of running shoes. I would carry the runners in a plastic bag, and out of sight halfway to school I would change out of my father’s secondhand office shoes and put on my new ones. On the way home, I would change back.
My father was a towering figure. Almost six feet tall, he was handsome, dignified, humble, extremely intelligent and fiercely disciplined. He was an avid reader and a wonderful musician. He would lead singalongs in which we were all expected to participate. Little was grey in my father’s world, certainly not when it came to what was right and wrong. Perhaps that’s not all that surprising, given his job. Growing up, there was never much ambiguity about what we should and shouldn’t do. We never helped ourselves to seconds at the dinner table without asking. We never did anything outside the home that could embarrass the family, like steal or destroy property. Our rooms were expected to be spotless. My father would inspect them on weekends. He was a Latin scholar and expected nothing less than A’s from us in Latin at school.
In his day he was a great athlete. When I began to take athletics seriously, eventually making top teams and representing Ireland in various sports, he became both my biggest fan and biggest critic. I remember returning home in the wee hours of the morning from trips I went on with my sports teams. Often, Dad would be waiting up to dissect every minute of the game, homing in on my mistakes over my triumphs. While it may not have been clear to me at the time, my father wanted me never to be too satisfied with a performance. There was always room for improvement.
My mother, Maureen, was a gentle soul. Tall, elegant and reserved, she was a wonderful cook and took pride in making the home as comfortable as possible. She was also extremely religious, as was my father. We lived in a typical Catholic home, with crucifixes and pictures of Christ and saints everywhere. There was church every Sunday, and mass before school was common during the week.
When I think of my parents, I think about how loving their relationship was. There was never any conflict in our household, at least not between them. In fact, I don’t remember a single argument between the two. I can say that I enjoyed a loving upbringing. But that doesn’t mean my childhood was without its troubles.
I was a quiet introvert, scared and often nervous. Whenever a teacher called my name in the classroom I was horrified I might have to speak. Part of that fear, I think, stemmed from the fact that we were never in one place long enough for me to establish meaningful friendships with other kids. I hadn’t been at St. Vincent’s School more than a couple of days after we moved back to Dublin when the homeroom teacher barked out my name. Oh, God, no, I thought. He walked between two rows of desks before stopping in front of mine. I felt ill.
“I presume you play Gaelic football,” the teacher said.
I hadn’t yet taken up the sport. Scared to admit it, I replied that I did.
“Good,” he shot back. “Because we’re playing tomorrow and I expect to see you suited up.”
I raced home after school and told my mother what had happened. I had to have Gaelic football boots—now, today. Although we didn’t have much money, my mother always found a way to get us what we needed. She always had a few pounds stashed away for emergencies. So we walked into town that afternoon and bought a pair of shiny new football boots.
I had watched Gaelic football on television. The game is played on a field similar to a rugby pitch but much larger. There are 15 players a side, and the object is to kick or strike the round soccer-sized ball into the other team’s net or over the crossbar. Players advance the ball up the field by passing or kicking.
But back then I didn’t know anything about strategy or even all the rules. The next day, before my first-ever game, the coach came to me and said, “Okay, Furlong, your job is to make sure number 13 doesn’t get his hands on the ball. Do you understand?”
I let my instincts take over. I did pretty much what the coach had asked, sticking to the other team’s left corner forward like fog on an Irish coast. After the game I was sitting in the dressing room listening to the coach talk about what we did right and wrong. Then he stopped and walked right up to me.
“And you played a great game,” he said.
I was hooked.
After getting changed, I walked by an outdoor basketball court where some kids were playing. I stopped and watched and couldn’t take my eyes off the play. “God,” I thought to myself. “Does that look like fun!” A man named Bill Casey, who was coaching the kids, came over and asked if I’d like to give it a try. “Boy, would I ever,” I said. Within minutes I was addicted to another sport.
By my early teens I was obsessed with athletics. The field of play, whatever the game, was the place I always had the most fun. I enjoyed everything about sports: the teamwork, the intensity, the way games were built around a code of honour and fairness. When you grow up as an introvert, you get pushed around and teased quite a bit, and life doesn’t seem fair. Sports levelled the playing field. No one bullied me. Sports changed my life.
There was a grass tennis court outside our home in the prison compound. Tennis was considered an English game, so people in Ireland didn’t play it. The court, I discovered, was the perfect size for a five-on-five soccer match. For some reason, our school banned the playing of soccer, so this was the only place to play it. It crossed my mind that if we took the net down from the middle of the tennis court and used it to fashion two soccer nets, we would have a pretty decent pitch. And then someone came up with the brilliant idea of marking the court somehow so we could have out-of-bounds lines. One of my friends told me that pouring gasoline on grass burned it. If we could find some gasoline we could literally burn perimeter lines onto our new soccer field.
Our family didn’t own a car, but a friend of my dad’s did. Whenever Mr. O’Donovan, the prison’s deputy governor, came to pay Dad a visit, I would take a hose and siphon gasoline from his tank. My friends played lookout so I wouldn’t get caught. We then used the gasoline to line our field. All was fine until one day I overheard Mr. O’Donovan telling my dad about how hard his car was on gas. I turned white. I imagined my father finding out about what I had been up to.
That was the last time I stole gas from Mr. O’Donovan’s car.
There were many life lessons that I would take from sports and use long after my playing days were over. In my late teens, I was named captain of a pretty good Gaelic football team. At the time, I didn’t fully appreciate the honour, or for that matter understand a captain’s role and responsibilities. I mostly thought I’d been given the distinction because the coaches happened to like me. In my captaincy debut, our team played what I thought was a solid game. Even better, we won. The coach, however, saw things differently and went around the dressing room after the game just ripping into people. He saved his bluest words for me.
He pretty much said I was a big fat zero who had contributed nothing to our victory. I felt humiliated and went home afterward discouraged by the dressing-down I’d received. The next day I woke up determined to bounce back from my subpar outing. I trained hard all week and barely slept. I couldn’t shake the empty feeling I was left with following my coach’s tongue-lashing.
The next game finally rolled around. I scored several times. I was in on key tackles. I left the field exhausted and covered in mud. Although we won fairly easily, I could see that our team was still struggling on several fronts. Against a stronger opponent, we’d be in big trouble. Still, I was happy with the way I’d played and figured I had saved myself from a roasting by the coach.
The dressing room went silent as the coach strode in. Within minutes he started in on different players. Eventually, his gaze settled on me. “Furlong,” he said, “is there a chance you will be making a contribution anytime soon?”
I was stunned. A contribution? I’d just had the game of my life. What on earth was this man talking about? I’m not sure how much later it was when the light went on, but eventually it did. My coach wasn’t talking about how many points I scored or tackles I made. He was talking about leading. As captain, I had to concern myself with more than just my own little world. “Your job is to help this team succeed,” my coach said. “Your job is to lead this team in all respects.” What he was talking about was finding a way to imbue my teammates with the belief that they could be the best in the country. I had to teach them that when someone falls down it is a teammate’s job to pick him up. When someone falters it is a teammate’s job to cover for him and not be blind to the needs of others in pursuit of one’s own success.
That is the contribution to the team that my coach wanted from me. It was one of the best lessons on leadership I ever received.
BY MY EARLY TWENTIES, I had represented Ireland in basketball and European handball, and I had played Gaelic football for Dublin. I would discover years later that I scored the very first goal for Ireland in a European handball match. My experiences on the Gaelic football field were the most memorable, however, for the sheer magnitude of the events, if nothing else. We would often play in front of 80,000 people, and when we screwed up on the field they’d let us know it.
I’ll never forget walking toward the dressing room after a game early in my career and being met by a man and his son. The man said I was his son’s favourite player and that his boy would often wear a team sweater with my number on it. He wondered if I’d sign an autograph for his son. That was the first time that I understood the impact an athlete could have on a child. Instantly, I recognized the role model responsibility the athlete bore. But I also remember thinking what an honour it was to be in that position, to have the power to shape someone’s thinking and outlook for the good.
When it came to sports, I was fanatical. I trained hard, I played hard. I was never the most talented guy on my team. If I were to compare myself to a player on a hockey team, I was a second-liner. Not a star but a notch above the third-and fourth-line grinders. I think I was often asked to be captain of my teams because of my heart and desire. Few people were going to outwork me.
At 23, I was asked if I wanted to coach Ireland’s women’s basketball team. The women weren’t very good. In fact, they were beaten pretty badly most times they played. But I saw the offer as a challenge, something I rarely passed up.
I became possessed with the idea of turning this disparate group of women into something resembling a real team. I decided I was going to make them better no matter what. I remember realizing that when I stood in the middle of the gym floor, looking them in the eyes, making demands of them that they initially thought were impossible to meet, every one of the players looked directly back at me. They were paying attention. That may not sound significant, but for someone who was 23 and a little intimidated by the job I’d taken on, it was. It told me I’d made a connection with these women, giving me confidence that I could make them believe in things they hadn’t believed in before. It also gave me some assurance that I could hold a room. I became conscious of the importance of words and the influence they could have on people. Thanks to these women, I also came to understand that if you lead the right way, people will follow.
By the time our first game came along, the women were ready to run through walls for me. I coached them for only two games before events changed the direction of my life, but I would always be proud that we won both of them.
LIVING IN IRELAND, we were somewhat immune to the problems going on in Ulster. Most nights when you turned on the television, there would be some story about “the Troubles” that plagued Northern Ireland, but for a teenager it was a story on television, nothing more. The violence was so commonplace that there would be stories about milk prices, bus fares and telephone strikes before those about someone dying in Belfast because of the Catholic– Protestant war. That would change on the afternoon of May 14, 1974—the day that my family’s world changed forever.
At 5:30 PM, as most people were heading home from work, three car bombs exploded in Dublin’s city centre. I remember feeling the blasts through my feet as I walked along a street far from where the explosions occurred. Within minutes I could hear the sound of ambulances making their way to the locations of the bombings, which happened on three different streets. In all, 26 people would die.
In the immediate hours after the explosions, everyone in Dublin was frantic to hear from family members and loved ones. I was quick to assure my parents that I was okay. But as afternoon turned into night, my mom’s sister, Josephine, and her husband, Ned, hadn’t heard from their daughter, Siobhan, who would have been leaving her job downtown about the time of the explosions.
Siobhan was among the dead.
Those who were missing family members were urged to go downtown to a temporary mortuary to identify the bodies. For my aunt and uncle, that task was too much. Besides, they lived 130 kilometres away. My father volunteered for the assignment. He later described a scene at the provisional morgue that was nightmarish beyond belief. The bombs had ripped people into pieces. Body parts were stuffed in bags. It was a ring on a finger that helped identify Siobhan.
Many of the dead had been young women who were employed in the civil service and were leaving their offices just as the blasts occurred. There were also 300 injured, many of whom would be permanently disfigured. The Ulster Volunteer Force would claim responsibility for the bombings almost 20 years later.
It would be said that there was no family in Ireland that wasn’t affected in some way by what happened that day. I feel the country lost something that it never fully recovered. Bad history biting us again.
My cousin’s funeral was difficult to sit through. I remember looking around the church at tear-streamed faces. My aunt and uncle were broken and almost unrecognizable in their grief. So was my father.
I wouldn’t realize until later the extent to which the whole appalling chapter in the country’s history had emotionally ravaged my poor father. In the weeks that followed, he could barely talk about what had happened. He was haunted by the gruesome images he encountered at the morgue. He was never able to shake the feelings he was left with after having to see his niece’s body torn asunder. It was as if he was in a perpetual state of shock.
Less than a month later, on June 4, my father was felled by a heart attack.
He lapsed in and out of a coma. I remember sitting at his bedside by myself and praying that I could have one more conversation with him. He stirred and looked at me.
“What are you doing here?” he said in a whisper. “Don’t you have things you should be doing?”
It was so typical of my dad. Don’t you have things you should be doing? Which meant something better than sitting in a hospital waiting to talk to him, preferably something that would help me get ahead in life and make me a success. During an earlier talk my father had said to me, “We sent you to good schools. We taught you the difference between right and wrong. You know that when something isn’t yours you shouldn’t take it and if you break something you should fix it. But all these values together aren’t going to make you a success. What’s going to separate you from the others is how hard you are prepared to work.”
I will never forget that.
My father died the next day, June 5, 1974. He was buried beside my cousin, Siobhan. And there would be few days in the following years when I wouldn’t see something, or hear someone talking, that didn’t make me think of him. I missed him terribly. He was just 63 years old when he died. It would take me a long time to stop feeling angry that my father’s life had been cut so short, that he’d been robbed of an opportunity to enjoy life after working so hard for so many years.
Not long after my father’s death I was enticed by an unexpected offer. A recruiter from a high school in Prince George, British Columbia, had come to Dublin in search of someone to set up an athletic program. I was a young teacher with just two years’ experience. The job intrigued me. My cousin’s death, followed so closely by my father’s, had left me feeling a little empty, and open to new adventures. I was definitely receptive to the idea of leaving Ireland after what had happened a couple of months earlier.
I decided to take the position, thinking I would return to Ireland in a few years.
IT WAS A FALL DAY in 1974 when my wife and I bundled up our son and daughter and boarded a plane to Canada.
I don’t recall much about the long haul over the Atlantic other than looking out the window occasionally at the great white expanse below and pondering just how cold it was going to be when we landed. I spent part of the flight second-guessing my decision. At one point, I pretty much convinced myself that I had made a colossal error—and I had dragged three other people along with me on this misadventure.
But it was too late to obsess about that. Our plane touched down in Edmonton, and we approached a customs agent with our passports and a letter of introduction from the school I would be working at. I will never forget the parting words of the man who interviewed us. “Welcome to Canada,” he said as he handed me back our documents. “Make us better.”
Soon I was in Prince George starting a new life. My job offered plenty of challenges, but I dove into it with everything I had and made some real headway in getting an athletic program up and running. I had only been at the school a couple of years when I received a call about a position with the city as director of parks and recreation. Compared with what I had been doing, this was a big leap. The city owned arenas and tennis courts among its many recreational properties. I would be in charge of them all. And I would have to deal with unions almost daily. I was 26. I got the job.
If there was a highlight from that time it was in 1978 when I received a call from someone in the provincial government. He wanted to talk to me about the Northern BC Winter Games, which had been started a few years earlier. The Games bring together athletes from across the north to be part of a friendly competition. The government rep asked me if I’d lead a committee to restructure the event, with an eye to moving it around to different communities. In the three years since their inception, the Games had been held in Fort St. John twice and were heading for neighbouring Dawson Creek, provided we could get a new structure in place. So I took it on and with a few colleagues overhauled the structure and set the new course. It was a lot of fun.
Prince George later followed Dawson Creek as host city, and I was handed responsibility for staging those Games. I desperately wanted the Games in my adopted city to be a success, but I didn’t have a clue how to do it. It was all learn as you go. Two months before the Games were to open, I decided to phone Iona Campagnolo, who was the Member of Parliament of the northern B.C. riding of Skeena. She was also minister of amateur sports. To my surprise, the minister took my call and when I asked her if she’d consider coming out to open the Games later that year she didn’t hesitate to say yes. I couldn’t believe it.
It got better.
A day or two later, the minister phoned back. “John,” she said, “how would you feel if I brought the prime minister along?”
I nearly dropped the phone. The prime minister was Pierre Elliott Trudeau. I might have been relatively new to Canada but I was aware of Trudeau’s star power; most everyone in Europe was. He cut quite the glamorous figure. Now he was going to be coming to this event that I was organizing. At the time, Trudeau was dealing with any number of issues. There were loud noises emanating from Quebec about separation. I didn’t fully understand the debate, and I couldn’t figure out why anyone in any province would want to leave this amazing country.
Over the next couple of months there was lots of communication with Iona and the Prime Minister’s Office. Trudeau wanted to make a speech to help launch the Games. He wanted to skate with the athletes one day. He would need to be briefed on what the Northern Games were all about and why they were important. That would be my job.
The big day arrived, and I was directed by the Prime Minister’s Office to go to such and such a room at the Inn of the North hotel. I was sitting there by myself when the door swung open and in walked the prime minister. He shook my hand and we made small talk for a couple of minutes before I started filling him in on the brief history of the Games. He was warm and funny and personable. I, however, was an awestruck wreck who couldn’t believe to whom he was talking. I remember thinking about my father and wishing he was still around so I could tell him this story.
After about an hour we walked to the hall, and the crowd was already on its feet. I was behind the prime minister feeling like a 3-million-dollar man. We bounded up the stairs of the stage, and before long I was introducing the guest of honour. I remember acknowledging the problems in Quebec and saying that Trudeau never had to worry about anyone in this part of the country wanting to leave Canada. I even got a bit of a cheer for that line.
Soon it was Trudeau’s turn to speak. He’d only been speaking for a few minutes when I was left flabbergasted. His speech touched on almost all the points I had raised during our hour-long meeting, during which he barely took a note. As I listened, I remember thinking I’d never met a smarter person.
A month later I got a letter thanking me for helping him out with his speech and the trip. The letter included a picture of the two of us, taken while I presented him with a token of our appreciation. Only much later did I realize the impact his speech had had on me. I’d never heard someone in such command of an audience before. He didn’t have a line written for him, yet the crowd was enthralled. I eventually realized his secret: he spoke from the heart. He talked about the country, his country, and the need for all of us to band together if we were going to be a great country.
I matured 10 years from my Trudeau experience alone. Part of it was listening to him talk; part of it was the pressure I was under to get right everything connected with his visit. And certainly part of it was the enormous responsibility I had at the age of 28, organizing such a huge undertaking. I got a headache on the second day of the Games that has never gone away. It got so bad at the time that I was admitted to hospital, where doctors tried to break up what they told me was a massive migraine. Now I carry medication everywhere I go to manage the headache pain. Most days it’s tolerable; some days it’s terrible. But it is always there, a constant reminder of a heady time in my life when it all started.
SHORTLY AFTER TRUDEAU’S visit I moved to Nanaimo, on Vancouver Island, to take the job of regional director of parks and recreation. The centrepiece of the region’s recreational properties was a new multiplex in Nanaimo called Beban Park. It had an ice rink, swimming pool, playground and tennis courts, among other amenities. It was losing money by the sackful and had become a bit of an albatross for the city. It was my job to turn that situation around. 
I figured it would take an entrepreneurial spirit to accomplish this goal. I quickly concluded that we needed to be in the marketplace competing for various entertainment acts that were coming to town. And if I could up the ante a bit and somehow convince bigger names to visit our blue-collar town, we could really turn things around. I didn’t know a thing about staging concerts but I would find out, and before long we were attracting the likes of singers Johnny Cash and Glen Campbell.
My biggest early coup was landing the Beach Boys, whom I booked to play at a local car racing track. We had to build the band a $25,000 stage, a lot of money at the time. Still, the concert made a six-figure profit, and I was learning a lot about the entertainment business.
I also got the city involved in the fight business, another thing I was clueless about until I started doing a bit of homework. In the late ’70s and early ’80s, cities around Canada were staging amateur boxing events called So You Think You Are Tough. There was a kid from Nanaimo who had built up a bit of a legend and had turned professional. His name was Gord Racette. A real-life Rocky, Racette was a security guard by day and a serious brawler by night. He had had success at the professional level in fights throughout the Pacific Northwest, and his exploits were often written about in the local paper. I’m not sure where the idea came from, but I pitched a crazy notion to Racette’s manager, Tony Dowling: a fight between the reigning Canadian heavyweight champ at the time, Trevor Berbick, and the hometown hero, Racette. We would stage it at Frank Crane Arena, and it would be a smash success. At least in my head it would be.
But I would need to convince Berbick’s camp it was a good idea and not something that would sully the boxer’s reputation. I thought a hefty paycheque might persuade him. So I jetted off to Halifax to meet Berbick’s people, knowing that I was completely out of my league. We met at a local hotel and I laid out my proposition: Berbick would get $100,000 and Racette, $30,000. Berbick’s camp said no deal and ranted on and on about needing more. I wasn’t prepared to offer a cent more, so I figured I’d flown across the country for no reason. After hours of high drama and banter, I told them I was sorry we couldn’t make a deal and left. It was around 4 AM by this point and I had a flight in five hours. I decided to hop in the shower to wake up. I wasn’t in it five seconds when there was a loud knock on my door. I grabbed a towel and answered it. Standing there was one of the guys who had been in Berbick’s room, a six-foot-five-inch bruiser himself. He said Berbick’s gang wanted to talk again.
I went downstairs and Berbick’s lawyer started haggling again over the take. I said, “Look, I told you that it was my best offer and I wasn’t kidding.” With that I got up to leave. Berbick walked over to the table, grabbed the contract and signed it. “We’re on,” he said. 
I couldn’t believe it. Nor could most of the people back in Nanaimo when I phoned with the news. The fight sold out within hours, and folks still talk about it today. Berbick won by a TKO in the eleventh round, and after it was over he knew he’d been in a battle. 
BY THE SPRING of 1982, the economy had gone in the tank and mill towns like Nanaimo had been particularly hard hit. The chamber of commerce decided to put on a forum for local business in an attempt to get people inspired about meeting the challenge the recession was posing. The chamber approached me, of all people, to be emcee and a keynote speaker. They asked me to talk about “what it took to be a winner.”
I was petrified. I had never given a major speech in my life. The night before I had stomach pains I was so nervous. I jotted down some thoughts on little cue cards, and before I knew it I was walking onstage to face 600 people, many of whom I knew were skeptical about my ability to say anything remotely motivating. After three minutes I noticed something—the place was completely silent. I took this as a good sign. They were listening. I told them that as a group we had to stop thinking we were all doomed because the economy was bad. It meant only that we had to work harder and be more creative. No one was going to drive up and dump a load of money on our lawns. We were going to have to find ways to create that money ourselves.
Forty minutes later, I was done and found myself awed by the reaction of the audience. I received a standing ovation. It was a big moment for me. Looking back, I have no doubt that listening to Trudeau speak had helped me immensely. The lessons derived from his speech were universal. Speak about what you know. Speak from the heart. Speak with passion. Little did I know that my talk in Nanaimo would be the first of thousands I would give over the coming years.
Outside of work, I was pursuing the sport of squash with the kind of focus and enthusiasm I had brought to Gaelic football, basketball and handball back in Ireland. I kind of stumbled upon squash. While working in Prince George, I decided to give the game a try, and it had grown on me to the point of addiction.
By the time I got to Nanaimo with more losses than wins under my belt, I had set a goal of becoming Canada’s national squash champion for my age category. I went at my training hard, often playing six or seven hours a day. I would go to the local club and play the top five guys one after another. On May 2, 1986, the day Expo 86 opened in Vancouver, I took the court in the men’s final of the national squash championship in Vancouver. As was often the case, I wasn’t the most talented or naturally gifted player in the tournament, but I wouldn’t allow anyone to work harder. As usual, that well-worn philosophy paid off.
My involvement in the Northern Games, plus connections I made through squash, helped to get my name known in amateur sport circles. Shortly after arriving in Nanaimo, I got a call from the provincial government asking me if I’d consider taking on a role with the B.C. delegation for the Canada Games, which were being held that year in Thunder Bay, Ontario. The position was assistant chef de mission. My job was to help the chef de mission, doing a lot of his grunt work so that he could concentrate on overall strategies. It wouldn’t exactly turn out that way.
The chef that year began exhibiting some rather odd behaviour and suffered nervous exhaustion. It became clear to many of us with the B.C. delegation that he was in trouble, and it was agreed that he should return home. This meant I was now the chef de mission, whose job it was to ensure that our B.C. team had what it needed to perform at its best and that the many needs of the athletes were being met. I had never done anything remotely close to this in my life.
I relied on instinct. It ended up being an incredible learning experience on many levels. Ontario and Quebec edged British Columbia out by a hair to win the Games.
In a nutshell, I had been thrown into heading up an athletic delegation with no previous wisdom to draw upon. On the positive side, I did learn a lot about the Canadian amateur sports system: how it was structured, who made key decisions. I would end up being part of the B.C. delegation at the next six Canada Games.
In late 1987, I left Nanaimo to take a job with the Arbutus Club, a private recreational club in the affluent west side of Vancouver. I had been headhunted for the position and was ambivalent initially about sitting for an interview. But curiosity took me to the club, and before meeting with the hiring committee I walked around the premises. I was shocked at their condition. This was a place that once had a reputation as one of the best private clubs in the country. But as I toured the facilities I saw a club in decline, one that was dull, dated and in disrepair. And I told the members of the committee exactly what I thought.
I got the job.
It didn’t take long for me to realize that the place was being scammed by some of the staff. The food and beverage section was losing buckets of money, and when I read the financial statements the figures didn’t add up. Something was going on. I hired a private investigator to go to our lounge and watch the bartender. Over a period of three hours she caught him stealing 18 times. So I fired him. When I went to the club on weekends I noticed there were always fewer staff than there should have been. I uncovered a scheme whereby a couple of guys from the maintenance crew would come in and punch the clock for five or six others who were at home. So I fired them too. Not a lot of fun.
My biggest challenge was persuading the board that the club needed a new vision and a major multimillion-dollar facelift. It was time to stop putting good money after bad. I campaigned hard for a new direction. After exhaustive discussion and debate over 18 months, we organized a members’ meeting where my proposal was to be debated and voted on. It was one of the largest turnouts in club history, and by the end of the night only 11 of the 950 people who cast a ballot voted against the new direction.
We soon went public with our plans and let it be known we were looking for new members. Within days, people started arriving at the club to join. All our renovations were paid for with cash from our membership drive. During my time there, the club won several industry awards and was able to substantially hike its membership fee to maintain the premier services we began offering.
My time at the Arbutus Club taught me about building a vision and getting people to believe in it. It provided me with some real insights on consensus building. The Arbutus Club was full of wealthy, powerful people who were all wildly successful. These were serious people who were used to getting what they wanted. When it came to running a club, they all had different ideas about how that should be done. It was my job to navigate through those murky waters.
While I was working at the Arbutus Club, I also took on a volunteer role with the BC Games and became involved with the Western Canada Games, which helped broaden my Rolodex of contacts in Canada’s amateur sport world even more. I helped evaluate presentations of cities bidding to host the Western Canada Games. It was during this process that I came to understand that when a city is trying to land a major athletic competition, the final decision is rarely based on its planning ability. More often the intangibles make the difference: Who are you? Can you be trusted? And the value-added proposition: What will the Games gain if we give them to your city? I remember Abbotsford’s bid to host the Western Canada Games, how they absolutely wowed everyone in the room with their presentation. It was full of passion and vision. I had no choice but to vote for its bid even though Prince George, a town I had sentimental reasons to support, was also in the competition.
After a term as chair of Sport BC, the umbrella agency for sport in the province, I got a call from John Mills, who was CEO of the organization during my time there. It was early summer 1996, and a local group was trying to drum up support for a bid to host the Summer Olympics. A local television station wanted to interview someone from Sport BC about the idea. John couldn’t do it, so he asked if I’d stand in for him.
“But I don’t know anything about this,” I said.
John convinced me that I could shadowbox my way through the interview, and I did. I talked about how the Olympics would open up a new world for amateur athletes in Canada. Somehow, I managed to sound as if I knew what I was talking about. I waxed on a bit about the beauty of Vancouver and the stunning backdrop it would provide. I tried to give those watching some idea of the colour and atmosphere the Games would create. It was a bit of a “can you imagine?” moment that might have sounded good but was pure fly-by-the-seat-of-your-pants stuff. Heavy on the blarney.
I hadn’t really thought much about Vancouver hosting an Olympics until then. Little did I know what I would be talking myself into.
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Enter Jack Poole


  PEOPLE HAD BEEN talking about hosting an Olympics in B.C. as far back as the 1960s. But in the run up to our Games, it became accepted wisdom that Bruce MacMillan, a vice-president at Tourism Vancouver in the mid-1990s, was the person who got the whole ball rolling. 
As the story is told, he walked into the office of his boss, CEO Rick Antonson, and suggested trying to land the 2010 Winter Olympics. Task forces were formed and feasibility studies commissioned as the idea gained currency and real enthusiasm and momentum began building up behind it.
Others, however, insist the first person to bring up the idea in the 1990s was Gary Young, who was director of parks and recreation for North Vancouver. After the district successfully hosted a BC Games, Gary called John Mills at Sport BC and asked him what, if anything, was being done to perhaps bring the Olympic Winter Games to British Columbia. (The idea of a Summer Games bid had been dismissed by now.) The two met and then invited Bruce Mac-Millan to a later lunch to discuss the idea further, and afterward plans were launched that resulted in B.C. vying for domestic rights to challenge for the 2010 Winter Olympics.
Arthur Griffiths, the former owner of the Vancouver Canucks and someone who had good business connections in the city, was asked to chair the Vancouver/Whistler 2010 Bid Society. The first hurdle was securing the domestic rights. Quebec City was seen by many as the clear and early favourite, and Calgary was in the race too.
I became involved and was given the task of securing votes among the Canadian Olympic Association delegates who would determine the winner. Many of those votes belonged to the heads of various amateur sports organizations I had come to know through my volunteer work with the Canada Games and later the BC Summer and Winter Games.
The elephant in the room for all three Canadian cities was the fact that Toronto was in the hunt for the 2008 Summer Olympics. Many people in the amateur sports world thought Toronto had a decent chance and that going after the 2010 Winter Games for Vancouver was a waste of time and money. I didn’t see it that way. I thought the allure of bringing the Olympics to China for the first time would be too great for the International Olympic Committee (IOC) to resist. This was a country of over a billion people, nearly half of whom were children. The emotional dimension of the 2008 Beijing bid was just too compelling.
On November 21, 1998, Calgary, Quebec City and Vancouver made their pitches to the Canadian Olympic Committee (COC). Vancouver’s ace in the hole was the B.C. premier at the time, Glen Clark. Clark became an enthusiastic supporter of the bid early on. He loved sports and could see the potential benefit to the province, even though many members of his New Democratic Party caucus didn’t like the idea. Clark was also an excellent public speaker and often at his best when he was talking without notes. He gave a command performance in front of the COC. He focused on how Vancouver had a better chance than Calgary and Quebec City of fending off the other cities around the world that would be going after the Games. It had an allure as a dynamic destination. Besides, Calgary had already hosted the Winter Olympics and the chances of the IOC giving them to the Alberta city a second time were slim. And Quebec City had earlier made a bid for the Winter Games and lost badly.
In December, the COC announced that Vancouver was the winner.
Now things really became serious. All of a sudden we had a major project on our hands. Money would need to be raised. A bigger organization would have to be built. A grand vision would have to be mapped out. A bid committee would have to be formed that included different stakeholder groups, including governments, Tourism Vancouver and relevant amateur sports organizations.
Above all else, the bid needed a chief executive officer to lead the project. My name came up as a possible candidate. I was surprised and extremely flattered and thought it would be a marvellous opportunity. I also thought I could do the job. By this point I knew a fair bit about Olympic sport and I thought I had the right mentality for the position. Suddenly, my mindset changed. I went from being a casual believer in the plan to land the Games to being obsessed with the idea.
I knew one of the big issues that would be on the minds of the hiring committee would be the CEO’s ability to raise money to fund the operation until July 2003, when the IOC would make its decision. It was estimated we would need almost $30 million to hire staff, travel, commission studies and draw up plans, among other things. I assumed the committee would be looking for someone with strong corporate connections. In other words, someone who had a more distinguished business pedigree than I. Still, I thought I could make a good case for the job.
The night before I was interviewed I went to see a movie about the Nagano Games that was playing at Science World in Vancouver’s False Creek. I remember sitting through it with a handful of patrons and not being moved by the experience at all. It seemed that the Nagano Games lacked soul. After it was over I went out to my car, sat for a few minutes and decided to go back in and watch the film again. I needed to better formulate in my mind what it was about Nagano that wasn’t going to be good enough for Vancouver.
After watching a second time, I realized that to win our bid had to centre on people. We had to reject the traditional model that this was about building infrastructure and boosting the local economy. Those were benefits undoubtedly. The physical and financial legacies of the Games would be enormous. But that wasn’t a vision. That wasn’t going to get people to buy into what we were selling.
My interview was at 11 o’clock. I was nervous. I walked into a boardroom in a building downtown, where there was a clear view of the North Shore Mountains and the homes that dotted the hillsides below them. The committee chair, Arthur Griffiths, asked me right off the top what I thought these Games should be about. I pointed to the window.
“If the Games don’t mean anything to the people living in those homes over there,” I said, “if those people don’t talk about them in their kitchens, if we don’t touch and inspire human beings with the idea of hosting the Games, then our chances of winning will be greatly diminished.”
I talked about how we had to offer the IOC something no one else could: an Olympics that included the entire country and that would make its presence felt in every corner of its vast expanse. Our advantage over our rivals was our geography, our sheer size. It was a canvas upon which we could design a Games none of our competitors could match.
Finally, I talked about money. While I didn’t have the corporate connections that others did, I believed I could sell a vision for these Olympics that would get the business community excited and eager to climb onboard. I believed I could raise money by being passionate and articulate about what these Olympics could deliver to the country—that would be the easy part.
On the way out of the interview, one of the committee members followed me to the elevator and told me I had been the only candidate to provide a real vision of what the Games could do. Not that it did me any good, as it turned out.
The next day I was told I didn’t get the job. It went to Don Calder, a former president of BC Telecom. Don was a solid guy with impeccable corporate credentials. I was disappointed, no question. I wanted the job and thought I could do something special with it.
However, the committee saw something in me and asked if I would sit on the executive and chair the strategic planning committee. I agreed. I felt a little awkward at first, as Don knew I had been a finalist for his job. But that feeling soon passed, and I dug in to help as much as I could. After a year, however, there was a feeling that not enough progress was being made. Things were uneasy and we were limping along. I don’t think Don and the job were ever a particularly good fit. He decided to step down, and the search for a new CEO began. Again, I was asked to throw my name in.
I was hesitant at first. What’s that old adage? Once burned, twice shy? And I thought the hiring committee might be asking me so it could fill the quota of candidates it needed. I nevertheless agreed. This time the interview process was more rigorous, the questions tougher and more probing. I elaborated on the vision I had outlined the first time around. I presented some new ideas for raising money, uniting the country and engaging Aboriginal Canadians. Overall, however, my presentation hadn’t changed much in a year.
The next day I got a call from Rusty Goepel, a senior executive with the investment firm Raymond James Financial, Inc., and one of the most connected businesspeople in town. He headed up the hiring committee.
“I’ve got good news and bad news, John,” Rusty said. “The good news is we found a great guy for the job. The bad news is it’s not you. We have selected Jack Poole. However, the committee believes it’s a job for two and thinks you and Jack would make a great team. So we want you to sit down and talk to Jack about the two of you working together.”
The news left me more disheartened than it had the first time around. Losing twice in a row really stung. I didn’t know much about Jack except that he was a big-name developer in town. I wasn’t much in the mood for sitting down with the winner to talk about how I might work with him. Besides, I didn’t think it was fair for the bid committee to be foisting someone on the new guy. But Rusty was insistent, so to be a good sport I agreed.
I had put down the phone no more than 10 seconds when it rang again. “John,” the voice said, “Jack Poole. I’ve heard lots about you.” 
He was warm and friendly, as if he’d known me a lifetime. We talked for five minutes, and he asked if we could get together to chat further. We agreed to meet at his office in two days.
When I turned on my car radio that Tuesday morning on my way to the meeting I thought I was listening to an old broadcast from the Second World War. It was real-time coverage of the terrorist attacks on the World Trade Center in New York. I would never forget the date of my first meeting with Jack.
We carried on seamlessly from our telephone conversation. Jack was just an impossible guy to dislike. He had some of the halo effect that Trudeau had and a Kennedyesque charisma. He was a good-looking guy, tall, athletic. We talked about everything: the task ahead, sports and people in town whom we both knew. He joked a lot. He asked me what I thought the vision for the bid should be. I gave him a brief version of my pitch and he agreed. At the end of our conversation he looked at me and said, “John, if you don’t agree to work with me on this project I’m not going to do it either.”
It would occur to me later that in that moment I had been “Jack Pooled,” a phrase I used to describe the man’s ability to get people to do things for him. How could I say no? We shook hands. I walked outside and stood on the sidewalk for a moment looking up at Jack’s office. He wanted me to be his second-in-command, in charge of several key aspects of the bid’s operations. That was an enormous responsibility. And as I stood there, I couldn’t help thinking about the significance of this moment. I’d spent my whole life dreaming I’d be part of something this big, but never in a million years had I thought it would happen. I was elated—and a bit scared.
I left for Europe a couple of days later on a golf holiday. I spent most of that time away calling Jack from various pay phones, talking about people he wanted to hire and other matters. I had to get my board at the Arbutus Club to agree to a sabbatical, so I asked Jack to write a letter outlining why he needed my services. I thought the board would be honoured to have its CEO seconded for such a cause. The directors agreed.
In mid-October, on my first day in our sparse offices on Dunsmuir Street in downtown Vancouver, Jack walked into my office, eager to explain how our partnership was going to work. “My desk, no paper,” he said. “Your desk, all of the paper.” He wasn’t joking.
One of the first things we had to prepare for was an event being held in Singapore called SportAccord, a five-day gathering of 1,500 of the most important people in the world of international sport. Among them would be the heads of over 100 international sports federations and almost every IOC member who would have a vote on the 2010 bid. We needed to be there to start introducing ourselves to those who would be deciding our fate. Our competition was attending. This would be the beginning of our international campaign for votes. It was big. I knew enough about the IOC and how it worked to know that delegates didn’t waste a lot of their time with underlings. That’s why Jack needed to be there. He asked me to accompany him, and I agreed because I knew it would make him feel more comfortable if we were two at a convention full of strangers. But two days before we were to leave Jack walked into my office and announced he wasn’t going.
“What do you mean?” I said. “You have to go! You have no idea how important it is that you be there, Jack.”
Nope, he said. He had come down with a cold and just didn’t feel up to it. We argued some more before I finally gave up. He wasn’t going, I was, and that was the end of it.
A few days later I was walking into the conference hotel in Singapore with a knot in my stomach. I didn’t have a clue how I was going to penetrate this gathering. It was like bringing a rowboat up to the Queen Mary. Overwhelming.
There were a few familiar faces. One was Paul Henderson—not the famous hockey player but rather a champion for the Toronto bid for the 2008 Summer Games, a former Olympian and an IOC delegate. Toronto had lost out that summer to Beijing, and Paul wasn’t happy about it. He did not warm much to me, at least not there. He thought our bid had hurt Toronto’s chances because of the mixed message he believed it sent to IOC delegates: Canada couldn’t make up its mind if it wanted the Summer or Winter Games. 
What Paul didn’t accept was that as soon as China threw its name in the ring for 2008, it was over for everyone else. Even though Toronto put together a world-class bid that was technically superior to everyone else’s, it lost in a landslide. I could understand why people on Toronto’s bid committee might be bitter, but being upset at us was unfair. Singapore was not the place to argue about it. 
Another Canadian there was Bob Storey. Bob was from Ottawa and head of the International Bobsleigh Federation. He was brilliant and fiercely direct. As such, he was a man of major influence in this arena and knew all of the delegates who would be casting votes for the 2010 Games. We had met earlier in Vancouver, but I introduced myself again and it wasn’t long before he was letting me know what he thought of our bid: not much. One of his criticisms was that we hadn’t reached out to well-placed Canadians living outside British Columbia. This had created resentment in the rest of the country. He thought we were naïve and without focus. Without people like Bob on our side, the challenge we faced was going to be even more formidable. I pleaded for his help.
After a long conversation, he agreed. It was one of the most pivotal developments in the bid phase, though I didn’t know it at the time.
For the five days I was in Singapore I would shake as many hands as I could. If I saw someone identified as an IOC delegate I’d walk up and say hello. It was cold-calling at its worst and a bit like selling dictionaries in Oxford. No one wanted or needed one. Being a hardcore introvert I was lost, but I had no choice. It was my job, at least on this trip.
On the way home I thought about the nightmare that lay before us. Singapore made me realize what a monster this process was, how much work was going to be involved. While I had met many IOC members, I didn’t think the trip had gone particularly well. Votes secured—none. I phoned Jack as soon as I touched down in Vancouver and told him what a mistake it had been for him not to go. Never again, I said.
The next day I went over the trip with Jack almost hour by hour, reciting the names of every person I had met. I told him the process was too unforgiving for blunders and miscalculations. There were going to be dozens and dozens of similar occasions that he was going to need to be at to press our case to IOC voters.
Jack looked at me. “John, I’m not going to do this,” he said.
I looked at him, astonished. “What in heaven’s name do you mean?”
“It’s young person’s work, John, and you’re young and have lots of energy so you’re going to do it.”
But what about the work that I was supposed to be doing in Vancouver? I was the chief operating officer. There were technical plans to organize and sponsors to recruit. Who was going to do that?
“You are,” he said. “When you absolutely need me I will be there.” 
I was flabbergasted. I couldn’t believe he was asking me to take this stuff on. We went back and forth for another 30 minutes before I gave up trying to convince him why it wouldn’t work. He was going to look after the significant, sometimes unpredictable politics of the bid, dealing with the provincial and federal governments, and I would focus on international voters and do the best I could with everything else. This would be the genesis of my transformation from chief operating officer to president. My role was now fundamentally different. As far as IOC delegates were concerned, I was the head guy they were dealing with. I would end up handling huge numbers of the media interviews from this point on too—something I didn’t relish.
THE SALT LAKE CITY Olympics were a few months away. That would be another key milestone for us. Throughout any calendar year there are events where IOC people gather. In an Olympic year, there are even greater opportunities to buttonhole them. By the time the Games rolled around in February 2002, we had developed our strategy for hunting down votes.
We decided on a humble Canadian approach. We would tell IOC members that we’d never been involved in anything like this before, and solicit help and advice. We felt it was far more seductive to ask someone for their assistance than to give the impression that we were cocky. We also didn’t want anyone to confuse us with the U.S., who, we had discovered, had big issues within the IOC.
We needed to build relationships. The stronger the relationship the harder it would be for that delegate to vote for another city, and the stronger the rapport the greater the degree of trust we would have between us. The one thing we insisted on was not asking delegates for their vote directly. I thought that would be cheesy and too aggressive. We preferred to convince them we were trustworthy and then have them volunteer that we had their vote.
As the months went on, the international team we formed at the bid corporation developed profiles of every IOC member. We amassed massive amounts of useful personal information on each one, never knowing when a single piece of information might come in handy. If asking a delegate about a daughter’s graduation from high school helped seal a bond between us, it was worth it.
Salt Lake gave our team a chance to put our strategy in action and see a Winter Olympics up close. Organizers gave us good access. It was fascinating and scary at the same time. I spent a great deal of time flitting from one social and sporting event to another, trying to shake hands with as many delegates as I could. I felt far more at ease than I had in Singapore.
By now I had formed a good relationship with Bob Storey, the Bobsleigh Federation president. I often kidded him about his sport. “Anyone can jump in a canoe and slide down a tunnel of ice,” I would say. One day in Salt Lake City I got a call from Bob. “So, want to see if you’re man enough to try our sport?” he said. “I’ve got a ride for you, but you have to be here in half an hour. And by the way, you’re going to be in the sled with Princess Nora of Liechtenstein.” In an instant, my bravado disappeared.
Driving to the Sliding Centre I was terrified. Sure enough, Princess Nora was there. I knew she was an IOC delegate and it was going to be beneficial to share this common experience—if we survived. Besides the pilot, an American, there would be one other person in the sled with us, a fellow from England. A bobsleigh official gave us instructions about where to hold onto the sled and to put our feet. He told us how to keep control of the head so it would not rock back and forth and smash into the back of the helmet of the person in front of us.
We started down at a reasonable pace, and after making the first turn I thought everything would be fine. Then our bobsleigh fell off a cliff, or so it seemed. Suddenly, we were rocketing down the course. I had my legs wrapped around Princess Nora, who was in front of me and screaming as I’d never heard a person scream before. The helmet of the English guy behind me smashed into the back of mine 50 times, just as the instructor had predicted it would. It didn’t take long to get to the bottom, where we were all elated to be alive. I told Princess Nora that I thought I heard her screaming for her mother. She laughed. I was confident we had sewn up a vote.
The highlight in Salt Lake was the men’s gold medal hockey game. The Canadian team had been under so much pressure during the entire tournament, and now there was the chance to win gold for the first time in 50 years. Canadian golfer Mike Weir was sitting behind me at the arena. I was astonished to see the number of Canadian flags and jerseys in the crowd. We ended up beating the U.S. quite handily, 5–2, which helped produce a wonderful moment late in the game when people from all nations embraced each other and started singing “O Canada.”
The bid team’s experience in Salt Lake was beneficial but also sobering. IOC President Jacques Rogge neatly summed up the bottom line for all the bidders. “There’s only one gold medal,” he said, as he urged us to compete fairly and within the rules. At that point, there were still eight countries looking to win. Many hearts would be broken before this process was finished.
By now there were some internal frustrations inside the bid corporation. Even though we hadn’t been at it that long, Jack could see problems on the horizon with how things were structured. He was used to clarity of command. Now he had to answer to a board, in this case one that had not fully gelled. He thought the decision making was too slow. Far better for him to be chair so he could communicate more easily with the board and move operational decisions along at a greater speed. It would mean the current chair, the former Olympian Marion Lay, would have to step aside. Jack was insistent and the board accepted his instincts right after we returned from Salt Lake. Marion remained a director. I became president. 
Our next big task was to draft a mini–bid book. This was to give the IOC a general idea of what we planned to deliver, what our venues might look like, how we intended to look after the athletes. It wasn’t to be accompanied with precise dollar amounts, but there needed to be enough information in it for the IOC to shortlist the real contenders.
This is one time when Jack and I had a pretty major disagreement. He wanted to make the contents of our bid book public, even though we had no obligation to do so. Bid books were normally handed to the IOC in private, but Jack thought that because this was ultimately a public enterprise, using a lot of tax dollars, there was an onus on us to be as open as possible. I understood, but this was also a competition. Why would we reveal our plans to our competitors? How did we know that they wouldn’t try and steal our best ideas or at least devise a way to nullify their impact? I believed there were a couple of areas in which we were going to be vastly superior to our opponents, and I didn’t want them scrambling to come up with something with an equal “wow” factor. I compared Jack’s proposal to a hockey player telling a goalie which corner he was going to shoot at.
But the day the Austrians submitted their bid book they also put it on the Internet. The Koreans did too. The media in Vancouver rightly began demanding we do the same. We had no choice. I quickly realized I’d made a significant mistake and hadn’t demonstrated good judgment. It would only dawn on me later that the jewels we had in our bid, like the Athletes’ Village, were going to be impossible for our competitors to match or copy. How was anyone going to duplicate False Creek, one of the choicest pieces of real estate in the world? Similarly, how could they copy our plans to bring the entire country together? None of our competitors had the geography to do something as grand and all-encompassing as we were planning.
If I learned a lesson, though, it was to be as transparent as possible. Worse was looking like you had something to hide.
IN AUGUST 2002, the IOC announced the four finalists, and to few people’s surprise, we advanced, along with Salzburg, Austria; Berne, Switzerland; and Pyeongchang, South Korea. The next stop would be a five-day Olympic initiation course in Lausanne, Switzerland, at IOC headquarters on how best to navigate the process and a presentation by the ethics committee on what you could and couldn’t do in the company of IOC members. We sent about six delegates. I sat with Terry Wright during the sessions. Terry was one of our best team members and a logistical wizard. He was the person instrumental in putting together our technical bid, which covered venues, transportation and accommodation. He’d worked on countless provincial, national and international sporting events before this. We felt lucky to have him. He had the heart of a lion.
In Lausanne, we sat through many different sessions. During one, Terry had a question that was answered by an IOC official. I then asked Terry if he understood the response and expected him to say, “Yes, thanks very much,” or whatever. Instead, he whispered a little too loudly, “Yes, what he’s really saying is they are going to ding us for a bunch more money.” Well, the whole room heard the aside. My jaw dropped. By the end of the day, word had spread about Terry’s retort. Committee officials weren’t impressed, and more than a couple told me so. They said that the comment had made us look like rude, arrogant know-it-alls.
That night I went to Terry’s room and told him what people were saying. He felt sick. It could never happen again, we both agreed. That’s the way this thing worked. The smallest setback seemed like a bid-threatening development that could throw us into depression. 
We managed to right the ship in Lausanne. Terry worked extra hard to make sure people didn’t think he was too self-assured or cocky. At the end of the final session, I got up and thanked the IOC officials on behalf of all of the bid cities for their time and guidance. We took a lot of notes. We realized our competition was extremely tough.
The next few months I would have to maintain a brutal pace. I would be flying around the world a couple of times. Votes. Votes. Votes. That’s what it was all about.
Our international strategy was pretty straightforward. We would have to count on Europe to get us over the top. We knew we weren’t likely to get far in Asia or most of South America or Africa. We had the U.S. onside—or so we thought. That left Europe, which we felt optimistic about. And our odds of making inroads there improved after Berne dropped out when an Olympic plebiscite in the city failed to produce the required number of votes to go ahead. Little did I know we would be facing a similar referendum of our own in a few short months. With Berne out, Salzburg and Vancouver were chasing many of the same delegates.
The bid process could hardly be described as logical. Sometimes we sought out Hail Mary opportunities on the off-chance something might work out. Delegates were scattered all over the world, so face time with them was often hard to arrange. When we had an opportunity, we pounced on it immediately. One such occasion occurred that August. Canada was hosting the women’s U19 World Cup of soccer. Sepp Blatter, the iconic head of the International Federation of Association Football, or FIFA as it is commonly known, was in the country and, we were told, was going to be passing through Vancouver on his way to Edmonton, where the tournament was being held. Working with our friends at the Canadian Soccer Association, we arranged to squirrel him away for an evening to talk Olympics. Sepp was an IOC member and an influential one at that. We wanted to make an indelible impression on him. We decided this would be a night for Jack Poole and his wife, Darlene, to put on the ritz at their sprawling estate in Mission, a rural community 90 minutes east of Vancouver. The plan was to send a helicopter for Sepp and fly him to Jack’s place, while showing off a little of the local geography at the same time.
We met Sepp when he touched down on the estate’s landing pad. Yes, Jack had his own landing pad. The Pooles poured on the charm. The steak was brilliant and so was the apple pie. We had a great evening talking to one of the most influential sports kings in the world, who waxed eloquently about sport politics, including those that surrounded the IOC.
Sepp was in his element—at the centre of attention with no pressure. I asked him at one point what his vision was for the game of soccer. “I will not be satisfied until every child on the planet owns a soccer ball,” he said. And he meant it. Sepp was a formidable man, short and stocky and with an imposing face, who seemed to dominate his surroundings the way someone much bigger might. By the end of the night we were friends. As always, we didn’t ask for Sepp’s vote but we were all smiles when he told us we could count on him.
One person who became important to our effort in Europe was Pat Hickey. I didn’t know much about Pat, only that he was from Dublin and was a heavy-hitter in the IOC. I figured if I couldn’t wrap up the vote of a fellow Irishman we were doomed. I phoned up my brother-in-law, Padraig MacDiarmada, in Dublin and asked him what he knew about Hickey. Padraig said he didn’t know much other than that Hickey was often in the news and seemed to be a controversial fellow. Padraig said he’d do a little more digging and get back to me. He phoned back a couple of days later. “You’re never going to believe it. Guess where Pat Hickey went to high school? St. Vincent’s!”
Pat had graduated four years ahead of me, but it was a wonderful tidbit and gave me a great conversation starter when I called to see if we could meet. A month later Bob Storey and I met him at a restaurant in Dublin. Pat is one of those guys who fills a room when he walks in, a real bon vivant. I told him we were new at this Olympics game, and didn’t have enough confidence and needed his help. I wanted him to adopt his former schoolmate. Take me under his wing. It worked. Pat would sign on to “help an old friend” as he often put it, doing as much intelligence work for us as he could.
He became an important insider for us. Whenever he heard any negative scuttlebutt about our bid, he passed it along. One time he told me that someone, likely another bidder, was spreading a rumour that we had no intention of fixing the road from Vancouver to Whistler, which needed to be widened in order to give our bid a shot at success. The B.C. government had committed to making it happen. Pat’s tipoff was important because it allowed us to go out and address the misinformation that was being spread.
It had become clear that the Russians would be crucial to our bid. They had six or seven votes, and we had already done quite a bit of spadework to get their support, telling their officials that we’d be happy to help them launch a later bid of their own. The person who ultimately influenced where their votes would go was a man named Yuri Luzhkov. Luzhkov had been mayor of Moscow since 1992, having been appointed by Boris Yeltsin. Since then, he had consolidated his power base in the region and had become one of the most influential people in the country. He owned all the McDonald’s restaurants in the city and was quite wealthy.
Late in the game we had arranged to meet Luzhkov during a trip to Moscow. His office was near Red Square. There were about a dozen people milling about in the foyer an hour before the meeting was to start, though I wasn’t sure who they were or what role any of them played. We weren’t there long before a message was delivered that Luzhkov wasn’t going to be able to make it and was sending his deputy. I choked. We had come halfway around the world for this. He was the key guy. He was the one who influenced all of the Russian votes. The room quickly cleared after that news arrived. 
Bob Storey and I were then told of another change of plans and were soon escorted into a large, ornate room with massive chandeliers and billboard-sized oil paintings. Within minutes the door swung open and who should walk in but a short, powerfully built man with a bald head and a general demeanour that suggested you didn’t want to mess with him. It was Luzhkov.
As it turned out, the earlier message had been a ruse. If he said he wasn’t coming, all the would-be power chasers, sycophants and hangers-on would disappear, we were told. We quickly got down to business. Moscow was now fully declared and bidding on the 2012 Summer Olympics. Luzhkov said the country wanted our help with the planning of its bid. We talked about the deal we had earlier worked out with Russian officials: we would show them the ropes, explain how a bid was prepared, and give them our campaign strategy in exchange for their votes.
It seemed perfectly reasonable to me. Bob had structured the deal, and we had spent months finessing it. There was certainly nothing illegal or unethical about it. When we shook hands I never doubted for a second Luzhkov would be good for his word. Say what you want about various aspects of Russian life, the people are loyal. We kept our word and staged a formal workshop for the Moscow 2012 team. We got Russia’s crucial support in return. Moscow would lose out to London for 2012.
By the time the bid phase was over in July 2003 I had travelled nearly 2 million kilometres chasing down votes. There were days I could really feel it and had to push myself to go out to some restaurant or cocktail party in Madrid or Reykjavik or Mexico City to have a chat with an IOC member. But I figured that as long as I was asking my staff to test the limits of their endurance, to work harder than they’d ever worked before, I had to do the same. Also, I believed that the tiniest, seemingly most inconsequential gesture or conversation could affect us. That extra mile we went to get a single vote could be the difference between utter joy and utter dejection.
There were days, though, when I was seriously beat. I remember one trip to St. Moritz. It was at the end of a long European jaunt, and I had travelled by car through the mountains most of the day and evening to get to the famous Swiss resort town. It was almost midnight when I finally checked into some no-name hotel, got to my room, threw on my pajamas and flopped into bed. In seconds I was out cold. I woke up around 3 o’clock in the morning in an utter fog. I honestly had no clue where I was. I looked around the drab room for hints, but nothing helped me.
I walked downstairs to the lobby, but there was no one working at the front desk. I still had no idea where I was. I went outside and started walking down the street. I was in my pajamas. I had no shoes on. I remember thinking: What on earth are you doing, man? But I was genuinely lost until I came across a confectionery shop a couple doors up from the hotel. I looked in the window and there were some cakes with little bobsleds and curling rocks on top of them. Bobsleds. That’s right. I was at the World Bobsleigh Championships in St. Moritz! I felt like such an idiot. And I was scared. I scampered back to the hotel on the balls of my cold feet, praying no one would see me.
MOST OF THE FALL of 2002 was spent preparing our bid book. The organization was just over 50 strong by now. Linda Oglov, our marketing chief, had raised over $30 million and signed many sponsors big and small. So our bid book would be top-drawer and we could afford a world-class campaign. The bid book had to include our definitive plans and cost estimates. This was the document against which the IOC and the Canadian public would hold us to account. It was a massive undertaking and we had been working on it for the better part of three years. It would be made public in January 2003 and be the basis of a major presentation to the IOC’s evaluation commission in the spring.
But the civic elections of November 2002 threw us a curve. Mayoral candidate Larry Campbell had promised during his campaign that if elected he would hold a referendum on whether to host the Olympics. It was a pure populist move, and I was livid at Larry. Still, I didn’t think he’d follow through if he got elected. Well, he won in a landslide, and he quickly made it known he had no intention of backing off his pledge to voters.
Jack went to visit Larry to see if he could move him off this promise. He had no luck. So I decided to take a run at him myself, two Celts going head-to-head. I didn’t mince my words. “You know what you’ve done, don’t you?” I said.
“What?” responded Larry.
“You’ve sent a message to the IOC that their time is worth nothing,” I continued. “You’ve indicated that everything we’ve said so far about the city being behind this exercise is questionable. You’ve suggested that we don’t fully believe our own story anymore, that we’re second-guessing if we should be in this thing. And in the process we’ve tied up the IOC’s time through visits and presentations and now we’re saying that we may not have really meant it after all.”
Larry was having none of it. He said his position was a matter of trust and integrity; he’d made an election promise and he was going to honour it. I told him he could easily tell the public he’d reconsidered his position on a referendum and had decided it would not be in the best interest of the bid for a vote to go ahead. Or he could say it was too expensive. But he was adamant. The best he could do was promise me that he’d campaign for the Yes side.
I was furious. A similar vote had killed Switzerland’s bid, and now there was a chance the same thing could happen to us. Publicly, I took a different position because I felt I had no choice. If I railed against the plebiscite it would look as if I was worried about the outcome. Instead, I chose to take a positive view, suggesting that I was convinced that the vote would be overwhelmingly in our favour. Others weren’t so sure.
David Podmore, a local developer who headed up Concert Properties, the firm he had founded with Jack Poole, came to our offices one day shortly after the referendum was announced and offered us some blunt advice: if we didn’t have a Vote Yes campaign the 2010 bid corporation was going to be out of business. Even though a majority of Vancouverites might be in favour of hosting the Games, he said, they might not feel it was important enough to waste part of their day going out and casting a ballot. And if those people stayed home, the bid was going to be in trouble.
He was right. Thankfully, David agreed to chair the campaign and bring his trademark energy and focus to the project. With David out front, Jack was sure we would succeed. There were few people in the city with David’s skills package. It was why he was so often asked by government to help turn around troubled projects.
In the run-up to the plebiscite, he was relentless. He went on radio talk shows to debate those opposed to the Olympics. He opened up a Yes campaign centre that hundreds of canvassers he recruited used as a base. He raised an estimated $700,000 to finance the campaign. I don’t even want to think what might have happened without David’s efforts.
I continued to have serious words with Larry right up until voting day. I think he came to realize how ugly it would have been if the No side prevailed. It would have tarnished his term as mayor, without a doubt. The business community would have been furious. So he was probably as relieved as anyone when on February 22, 2003, the Yes side prevailed, 64 per cent to 36 per cent for the Nos. It was not a landslide, that’s for sure, but it was a solid victory. And more importantly, the bid corporation wasn’t put in the position of deciding what to do if the vote had gone another way. Jack was of the opinion that no matter the outcome we were going ahead. I didn’t agree. I felt that if we lost it was pretty much over. I just couldn’t see how we could go ahead without a mandate.
WE NOW HAD just a couple of weeks to prepare for the visit of the IOC’s evaluation commission. This was going to be a seminal moment. It was the commission’s job to take stock and compare the relative merits of each bid city’s plans. The visit would mean driving up to Whistler and not only showing commission members the infamous road we vowed to fix but the sites we had chosen for various sporting competitions. The climax of their visit would be a day-long presentation on 18 different aspects of our bid.
The commission’s opinion was hugely influential. If it liked what it saw, word spread, not just among members of the IOC executive in Lausanne but among all voting delegates. A thumbs-down would almost certainly be the kiss of death.
To prepare, we had months earlier put together a mock commission made up of several members of our international team, plus a few people who had experience working on other Games. The group included people like George Hirthler, an Olympic bid consultant from the U.S.; Charlie Battle, an executive member of the organizing committee of the 1996 Summer Games in Atlanta; Richard Bunn, a former Swiss television executive and insider with the International Ski Federation; Roger Jackson, a Canadian with loads of Olympic bid experience; Petter Ronningen, the chief operating officer of the Lillehammer Games in 1994; Bob Storey and others.
We wanted our presentation team to be ready for anything, so in that spirit we asked our mock commission to be tough and unrelenting. It was. Almost too much so. Some of the sessions got derailed by the caustic manner of some of the faux commissioners. “Your plan is shit,” I recall someone saying about one presentation. “It’s garbage and you sound arrogant.” The harsh tone was not helping build confidence among members of my executive team. I decided to step in and get our mock commission to dial back some of the caustic remarks. “You need to cool it,” I said to Richard Bunn after one particularly gruelling and testy session. “We’re not going to perform open-heart surgery in that room. We’re two weeks away from the real evaluation commission being here. You’re supposed to be helping this team, not making them a bundle of nerves.”
The head of the evaluation commission was a guy named Gerhard Heiberg. He was from Norway and a bit of a legend in Olympic circles. He had been brought in to help rescue the Lillehammer Olympics when organizing went off the rails. He did a masterful job and Lillehammer became the gold standard against which all other Winter Games would be compared. Early on, it was suggested I get to know Gerhard because he was such an important figure within the IOC. I set up a meeting with him in Oslo before new rules were brought in prohibiting bid cities from visiting IOC officials in their home towns. We met for breakfast in a hotel and talked for a few hours. I was well prepared and knew lots about his life, from his time in the military to his career as a successful businessman. I knew his opinion carried enormous weight with the IOC. It was the beginning of a strong and lasting friendship. It was after Gerhard and I had established ties that the IOC announced he would be heading up the evaluation commission for our bid. I thought our ship had come in. It was a huge break.
He would turn out to be one of the key individuals upon whom I relied heavily for advice along the way. And because he was head of the IOC’s marketing committee, he had top-level corporate connections all over the world and was clearly someone who would be able to help us over the long term were we to succeed in Prague. I liked him very much as he had great values and deep integrity. I also wanted him to have a soft spot for us. And while I didn’t expect him to play favourites, I was hoping he would help us avoid a bidending mistake.
The 18 IOC evaluation commissioners arrived in Vancouver at the beginning of March. The visit was tightly scripted, with almost every minute of every day accounted for. The second day included the trip to Whistler. The weather was magnificent and the drive up magical. It would be the one occasion where my friend Gerhard didn’t do me any favours.
We knew he was going to get questions from the media about the road to Whistler. It was a lingering issue. It was narrow and unsafe. But the province was committed to improving it so it could accommodate more traffic more safely. Still, as Jack Poole had once put it to reporters, it was the Achilles heel of our bid. “Rocks as big as Volkswagens are falling on the road,” he’d said.
When Gerhard was asked by a reporter about the road, he said, “It’s too far to Whistler.” I was standing beside him at the time. My heart sank. Gerhard had just given the media a juicy sound bite that would reverberate around the world in a matter of minutes. We now had a problem on our hands, one we needed to remedy quickly. I found some time alone with Gerhard to discuss what had happened. I knew he was not feeling good about what he’d said and I didn’t want to rub it in, but I was honest. “Our team is a bit ruined by what you had to say and they’re not sure what to make of it,” I said. He nodded understandingly.
“Look,” I continued, “it’s not for me to say ultimately, but if I were you I think you could rectify the situation by saying that the distance of the road is a given. But efforts to make it safer and more efficient would materially affect the bid and you are confident it will get done.” He agreed.
Gerhard would later clarify his comments, which some media took as backtracking from his earlier remark. But the tempest wouldn’t last for long. We had arranged for Prime Minister Jean Chrétien to be in Whistler at the same time as the commission. I asked the Prime Minister’s Office if it was possible for Chrétien to spend a little time alone with Gerhard, maybe over a beer. I knew that the prime minister would be comfortable in that setting and, more importantly, I knew Gerhard would be thunderstruck by the honour. So we made it happen. The pair spent more than an hour drinking beer and talking. I waited outside the pub praying it was all going well.
What I wanted the prime minister to impress upon Gerhard was just how committed the country was to this bid. When they shook hands at the end, I wanted him to feel that there would be no problems with support from the federal government. That was an important stipulation in the minds of the IOC. It was pretty clear talking to Gerhard on the drive back to Vancouver just how much his time with the prime minister meant to him. He’d never get easy one-on-one time with the prime minister of Norway, a country a fraction the size of ours. From that point on, I thought he had a quiet personal desire to see us succeed. He liked us. As we moved forward, I thought we could count on him to sing the praises of our bid in private conversations with his IOC colleagues around the world. That was huge.
After Whistler, we returned to Vancouver, where we had to make our presentations to the commission, covering plans for everything from transportation and sponsorships to tickets and venues.
We had built a stunning presentation hall at the downtown Pan Pacific Hotel. We put the commissioners in big padded seats on an elevated dais to make them feel special. I thought we really nailed our presentations. After we were done, Gerhard told me there were two or three aspects of our plan that we should not make public again because they were so good. The next time you talk about these things, such as the torch relay, should be in Prague, he said. Why reveal our best weapons to competitors?
The final day was going to be capped off with a dinner planned by Darlene Poole, a consummate hostess, and an entertainment extravaganza at the Queen Elizabeth Theatre. The commissioners would be leaving the following morning, so the idea was to send them off feeling as positive about Vancouver as possible. We packed the theatre with almost 3,000 friends of the bid. While Gerhard and the commissioners were at a reception, I slipped over to the theatre to prepare the crowd for their arrival. I went onstage and told the audience how important it was to make the commissioners and, in particular, the chair, Gerhard Heiberg, feel important.
Prime Minister Chrétien, Premier Gordon Campbell and the commission members arrived and were waiting outside the auditorium doors for their introduction. When the commission members entered, the place went bonkers. It was just the kind of over-the-top reaction I was hoping to get. The astonished look on Gerhard’s face said it all. He looked over at me and broke into a wide smile. The commissioners took their seats for the show, which included Aboriginal performances, singing and, of course, speeches.
Acclaimed music producer David Foster came up from Los Angeles to perform. The passion was a mile high that night. At one point during Jean Chrétien’s speech, he said, in fun, “What’s all this talk about if, if, if we win the Games? There’s no if, there’s only yes. ” The crowd ate it up. (One commissioner from Japan was less than impressed and suggested the next day at the airport that we keep that kind of bravado under control in Prague. A little more humility would reflect better on us, was the message.)
Eventually, it was time for me to speak and to introduce Gerhard, and when I did the crowd stood on its feet and cheered as if Brad Pitt had arrived. He couldn’t even begin to talk for several minutes because of the ovation. Over the next 10 minutes he would be interrupted constantly by screaming and clapping and shouts of “We want the Games, We want the Games.” At one point, Gerhard raised his hands and said, “Okay, okay, stop, we’ll give you the Games.” Mission accomplished.
The next day, we took the commission members to the airport. We were in the Maple Leaf Lounge when Prince Willem-Alexander of the Netherlands took me aside to say he had a problem: “I have a bit of a rip in my pants.” He then bent over and showed me a tear that went from the top of his pants to his crotch. One of our team members, Andrea Shaw, was nearby and realized what was going on. She told the prince that she was a seamstress and that she could probably find a needle and thread somewhere in the airport if the prince was willing to surrender his pants. So right there in the middle of the lounge, the Prince of Orange stripped down to his boxers. For the next 20 minutes he sat in his chair, white-legged, reading a paper as if nothing had happened. Eventually Andrea returned with the pants sewn up nicely and the crisis was averted.
“You know,” I said to the prince as we walked to the gate, “if we don’t get the Games this story might get out.”
He laughed.
“I hear you,” he said. “I hear you.”
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Flight 2010 to Vancouver


  WITH THE EVALUATION commission gone, our focus turned toward decision day in Prague. It was less than three months away, and if I thought about it long enough I began feeling queasy. At stake was nothing less than the dreams of millions of Canadians. Polls showed the country supported our efforts. And while there were people in Vancouver and Whistler who were not Olympic boosters, I knew that on July 2 the big city and the small town would stand still when Jacques Rogge strode to the podium to deliver the verdict. 
Before then, there was plenty of work to do. I still had a couple of big trips, including another SportAccord conference, this time in Madrid. When I walked into the conference this time, however, there were few people I didn’t know. My nervous introduction to the IOC world in Singapore two years earlier now seemed ages ago. I knew that in Madrid our two rivals would be making strong final pushes for votes as well, especially the Koreans, who many felt were in third place heading down the home stretch.
I didn’t share this view. All of our closely guarded intelligence indicated that we were in front, with South Korea a nose behind. If what we were hearing was correct, and the promises that IOC members were making held up, we had Salzburg a distant third. But in the often murky world of the IOC, you never knew.
The meetings we had internally to discuss delegate support sometimes got rowdy. They usually involved Bob Storey and I and certain members of our international team, many of whom had been on the mock commission we formed to test our presentation to the evaluation commission. We would go down the list of IOC voters, from top to bottom, discussing where we saw each one of them: solidly for us, solidly against us, on the fence.
Disagreements about where a particular delegate stood often got loud. “You’re full of shit,” you might hear someone bark. I didn’t care too much if feelings were hurt. I just wanted an honest debate; if we couldn’t reach consensus around a particular person, we had to go back out and see if we could find additional information or focus on a new strategy that might help us land that extra vote. It was a thankless process. Even when you thought a vote was secure, it took about five minutes for doubt to creep in. Trust was in short supply.
I was worried about the Koreans. I thought they were walking a fine line when it came to honouring the IOC’s rules around gifts or incentives you could give voters. Everything had been tightened up in this area after it was revealed that organizers of the Salt Lake City Olympics had offered IOC delegates an estimated $10 million in cash and gifts in exchange for their votes. Now the most you could offer an IOC member was a present of trinket value.
I remember a key gathering in Buenos Aires. A full complement of sport delegates would be there, but I was going down to focus on the eight IOC members in attendance. I went to Argentina with just one person, Carlos Garcia, a Toronto-based colleague and a member of our international team. He had strong South American roots and was fluent in Spanish. The Austrians had a delegation of three. The Koreans had more than 20. My eyes grew even wider when a squad of beautiful young Korean women walked into the presentation hall carrying gift bags full of goodies. I saw one delegate pull a watch from one bag. Someone lifted a compact disc player out of another.
More than one person had asked me if I wasn’t concerned that we were losing ground to the Koreans because of their blatant tactics. The flip side of that was the implicit suggestion that perhaps we should start employing the same tactics. I was never going to do it and was never convinced it was a guaranteed strategy anyway. My feeling was that if you were inclined to accept something that effectively amounted to a bribe, then you were just as likely to take it, promise something in return, and renege on that promise 10 seconds after you walked away.
While the IOC had certainly cleaned up its protocols since the debacle in Salt Lake City, there were still some marginal characters around the organization. One who represented the worst of the IOC was a fellow by the name of Ivan Slavkov. Slavkov was an IOC member from Bulgaria who did not have a sterling reputation. He had been investigated by the IOC in connection with bribery allegations levelled by officials from Cape Town who were bidding to stage the 2004 Games that went to Athens. The South African officials had said Slavkov had promised to deliver votes in exchange for money. After an inquiry, the IOC decided not to pursue the matter.
I met Slavkov at a restaurant in Sofia in the winter of 2002 while attending a meeting of the International Sports Press Association there. As a courtesy I brought him a small gift, a corkscrew that had a First Nations design on it. It came in a beautiful box that also had a Native motif embossed on it. The whole thing might have cost $25. I noticed that Slavkov had two bags beside his chair, one more full than the other.
During our conversation he talked about how expensive the bidding process was for cities and how difficult it could be to get IOC members onside. Reading between the lines, I thought that he was suggesting there was still work to do and people to influence if we were going to be successful. Then he talked about his son and how he wanted him to get into Canada. That’s when I started to feel a bit uncomfortable and began wrapping up our conversation. I presented him with our token gift. He opened it and examined the corkscrew, seemingly in disbelief. He took the arms of it and moved them up and down slowly a few times, as if he’d never seen one before. I imagined Ivan in a T-shirt that read “I MET JOHN FURLONG AND ALL I GOT WAS A LOUSY CORKSCREW.”
He set the wine opener down and reached for one of the two bags beside him, the smaller one. “And this is a little something from me,” he said.
I waited to get back to my hotel room before peering inside. In it was a T-shirt with a picture of Slavkov embossed on the front. If I was being generous I’d say it probably retailed for $2.50. I guess this was his way of saying he didn’t think too much of the corkscrew.
The meeting with Slavkov gave me the creeps. What an oversized ego. He was definitely old-school IOC and the type of member the committee was trying to rid itself of. In 2004, the BBC would secretly film Slavkov offering to deliver votes for London’s bid for the 2012 Summer Games in exchange for bribes. A year later, Slavkov would be charged with bringing the organization into disrepute and kicked out.
There were all sorts of strange characters out to make a buck from the Olympics. We were constantly approached by people who were essentially influence peddlers promising to deliver votes in exchange for money. Some were subtle, others downright blunt. These weren’t IOC members but people who operated on the periphery of the committee and were apparently tight with people on the inside—or so they would tell you. I liked to call these guys secret agents because they always seemed so mysterious. The IOC had warned us about them.
We heard about this one guy who boasted that he had sway in the ski world and beyond. Former Canadian Olympian Steve Pod-borski, who was on our international team, had suggested we meet with him. The guy claimed to have worked at one time for the Israeli secret service and to be well connected. That was enough to make me reluctant to even talk to him, but Steve convinced me that it might be worthwhile so we set up a meeting in Zurich.
Bob Storey and I met him in the courtyard of a hotel. He was a stocky, tough-looking character and not exactly brimming with charisma. We listened to his pitch, regretting every second of the rendezvous. He claimed he had connections throughout the IOC and could put us in a position where we would know with certainty how many votes we had. And, he said, he could also help secure votes we didn’t have. And just to make sure we understood how vital he was to our success, he told us we would likely lose without his services.
I felt utterly uncomfortable. All I could think was this was some sort of set-up—that hidden cameras were trained on our conversation. Out of curiosity, I asked him what he was looking for. He wanted $40,000 a month, and for that he would provide us with regular reports as well as other documentation that would give us all the intelligence we would need to win. I didn’t say much but could not wait for the meeting to end. Bob and I thanked him for his time.
I felt sick as we walked away. Bob too. The experience left me feeling so grimy I wanted a shower.
That man would not be the last foreigner who offered to help us out. But I felt that relying on a lineup of internationals said you didn’t have much confidence in people in your own country— which looked horrible. These guys were everywhere and I wasn’t interested. If we lost because we didn’t hire them, so be it. I was prepared to live with that. We all were.
LIKE OTHERS ON our team I was giving speeches everywhere by this point, at IOC-sanctioned events and also across Canada as I attempted to drum up national support for our project. Most of my speeches were based on a document I wrote in September 2002 entitled “What Dreams May Come.” I had written it in the hopes it would be published in the Vancouver Sun—it was rejected. The editors felt it was too long and also that it was too rah-rah. Maybe it was, but it was really the outline of the vision we had from the start for these Olympics, one that admittedly might have seemed audacious back then. In it, I asked people to imagine a six-week period in which the entire planet would stand and watch “in amazement as the spirit of higher-faster-stronger sweeps Canada off its feet.”
“Volunteers,” I wrote, “will come from small towns, villages, hamlets and big cities. Not just ordinary volunteers either. The blood of generations of pioneers flows in the veins of this generation too. . . We carry their flame, their inspiration and their legacy of drive and tenacity.”
I said that for the people of the world coming to Canada would be like coming home. That’s the kind of people we were. The word Canada, I noted, was derived from the native word Kanata, meaning “meeting place.” How appropriate. I imagined what the Games might do for our country. “The Games will come and go. . . And as they pass into memory we will emerge uplifted for the experience and our country will seem a little better, a little taller than before. Folks may use the words ‘the best there has ever been.’ And we hope we will have earned that distinction.”
When I first started talking publicly in these terms, there were far more skeptics than believers. But the document would become my Olympic manifesto, the credo of our bid, the inspiration for our business plan, the foundation upon which the 2010 Games would stand.
Before the vote in Prague, I decided to send all IOC members a letter thanking them for the time they had shared with me over the previous couple of years. Even if I knew they were not going to be supporting our bid in Prague, I thought it was important to acknowledge the journey we’d all been on and to express, in a heartfelt and personal way, my gratitude for the role they had played. This was going to be a huge job: almost 120 letters I’d need to write by hand. I thought I could do a lot of them while on planes, jetting from one place to another, and I was happy we had good files on each member.
My hand began cramping up after the tenth letter, but I was determined to get them written and sent off a month before Prague. While I wasn’t really expecting to get any votes in return for the gesture, you also never knew. It might help sway a fence-sitter. Plus, I thought it would reflect well on the bid and on Canada generally. I thought it might say something about the type of people we were.
One day, I was flying back from Mexico via Los Angeles with 50 or 60 letters neatly stacked on the empty seat beside me. The flight attendant came by with a tray loaded with water and proceeded to stumble and dump it all over my letters and me. Honest to God, I could have opened the door of that plane and thrown her out. She was mortified. She ran and got some paper towels and frantically started drying the letters. Some we were able to salvage, many we weren’t. What I didn’t know at the time was that she had been trying to drum up the courage on that flight to pitch her case to leave the airline and work on the 2010 Games if we won the bid.
Fast forward several years. We were having an open house at my office so I could spend time face to face with our staff, many of whom were slaving away day and night on the project. About 600 or 700 people came by that day. A woman who looked vaguely familiar came up to say hello. “Do you remember a time when you were on a flight from Los Angeles and the flight attendant spilled water all over some letters you were working on?” I did, I said. “That was me.” She told me about losing the courage to ask me about working for us after she’d spilled the water. We managed to have a good laugh. She was a great catch for us too.
Five days after I put those letters in the mail I had a call from an IOC member from the United States. He wanted to tell me how touched he was by the letter. He then said, “Stop worrying about me. I’m onside and will help any way I can.” I was beaming. If his was the only win I got, it was worth all the pain and suffering.
As we got closer to Prague, I grew concerned about the quality of our presentation. Establishing the right mood in the conference hall where our final pitch would be delivered was going to be essential. Beyond the speeches, we hoped to knock people out with a breathtaking video that captured the beauty of Canada and the wonderful spirit of our people. From the second our team walked through the door we needed to own that room.
There would be a massive screen upon which we would be casting images of our country. I had decided with Jack’s support to use the song “Here I Am” from the movie Spirit as our main anthem. It was a beautiful piece, sung by B.C. rock star Bryan Adams, which made its use even more salient. I thought the lyrics would strike a chord with the IOC members too.
Here I am—this is me 
 There’s nowhere else on earth I’d rather be 
 Here I am, 
 Just you and me 
 And tonight we make our dreams come true.

But it was going to be essential that the images in the video strike the hearts of everyone in the room. We needed to find a way to take their breath away. On a Saturday less than two weeks before we left for Prague, I went to our cramped offices, now located in the historic Landing building on Water Street in Gastown, to take a look at the video that our creative wizard, Marti Kulich, had put together. There were about 10 of us in the room. Marti darkened the lights and turned the video on. For the next few minutes we all sat in silence as dozens of images crossed the screen.
I began getting worried. Others were too. It was awkward.
What Marti had put together was fine, but it didn’t wow me. If you took out the iconic images of the Mounties and the Maple Leafs, it could have been put together by any country. I also didn’t think it was nearly inspiring enough. There were no children. There wasn’t enough soul or talk about hopes and dreams and aspirations for Canada. So when the lights went up I looked at Marti and told him how I felt.
“This is just not going to work,” I said. “We need to light up the screen and we’re not doing that. It just isn’t nearly human enough, Marti. It doesn’t connect with our vision. It lacks the thunder that we need.”
One of the ideas we were tossing around at the time was having a ring of fire around the roof of BC Place Stadium, where the opening and closing ceremonies would be held. It would effectively become the Olympic cauldron, the biggest in history. I wanted to show delegates what that would look like in our video. Possible or not, it would make for stunning imagery. There was a lot of arguing and people talking about all the reasons why we couldn’t do the video revisions, how much money it would cost and how little time we had. “I don’t care how much money it costs,” I said. “If it’s technologically possible, then we must show it. For starters we need the ring around the stadium to explode into flames.”
The discussion developed into quite a row. There was a screaming match at one point before I stopped it all. Marti was deflated. “Marti,” I said, “that’s it. We’ve got 10 days. Let’s get it done. You are the only one here who can pull this off.” A few days later, Marti had a new video ready that was everything I hoped for.
(There were other people in the building that day who could hear the yelling going on inside our conference room. As I was walking down the hall, an assistant came up and asked me what had just happened. “I think maybe we just became a real team,” I said.)
The next big issue that had to be resolved was who would be onstage for the presentation, to give us the best shot at winning. This was always going to be a dicey proposition and highly political. I was dreading it. Rules allowed 11 people onstage, but because of time constraints it wasn’t going to be possible or practical for all of them to talk, so there were going to be some bruised egos. But some people had to be up there: Jack Poole, the chair of the bid; me; the prime minister; the premier; some recognizable athletic stars.
We had commitments from Wayne Gretzky, gold medal speed skater Catriona Le May Doan and Steve Podborski, who was not only the first man ever to win an Olympic skiing medal for Canada but who had also put in a lot of work on our bid. We also wanted Jamaican-born Charmaine Crooks, a former Olympic track star and IOC member, to talk about cultural diversity. We felt we needed to have Vancouver Mayor Larry Campbell onstage and Chief Gibby Jacob of the Squamish First Nation, on whose hereditary lands much of the Games would be played out. Finally, we believed that Michael Chambers, president of the Canadian Olympic Committee, had to be there.
That meant there would be no Paul Henderson, who was an IOC member, and no Dick Pound, also an IOC member and probably one of the most recognizable Olympic names in the country. The decision to leave Dick off the ticket was very touchy. Dick wasn’t shy about expressing his opinion about anything, anytime. He was direct and could rub people the wrong way. He’d been around the IOC a long time, handled some controversial issues such as doping, and had made himself a few enemies inside the organization as a result. That was evident when he ran for the IOC presidency in 2001. Jacques Rogge won. Dick finished a disappointing third behind South Korea’s Kim Un-Yong, who was implicated in the Salt Lake City bribery scandal and would later be prosecuted and jailed by the South Korean government.
Dick’s name seemed to come up in most conversations I had with IOC delegates, and not usually in a flattering way. Over the closing months, one of the members of our international team had a discussion with Juan Antonio Samaranch, the former IOC president, about our bid. Samaranch told our guy that if Dick Pound stood to benefit from the Games being in Canada in even the slightest way our chance of success would be diminished. It was evidence of the sometimes bitter rivalries that exist within the IOC.
Dick didn’t offend me in any way and he was unquestionably one of the IOC’s brightest minds. The modern IOC owed him a lot too and, while I wanted to remain on good terms with him, I didn’t want the awkwardness of his situation to be a detriment to the bid. I remember one time I was in Manchester for the Commonwealth Games, which always drew an IOC crowd. It was late July 2002. I was sitting in the lounge of the hotel with a few people when Dick came over and sat down. My paranoia kicked in. I was a little worried about being around him to be honest, not because he wasn’t a decent guy, but because it could create a guilt-by-association problem for me, and we couldn’t afford that. A few minutes after he arrived I got up to leave. As I walked away Dick yelled out: “What’s wrong, afraid of being seen with a real live IOC member?” It was a bit of a shot but I ignored it. It wouldn’t be the last uncomfortable encounter with Dick before the bid announcement.
The final days leading up to Prague were mostly a blur. One job I remember was phoning the Prime Minister’s Office to book a time to talk to Jean Chrétien about the speech he would be giving as part of our presentation to the IOC. We had only an hour, including time for questions and answers. A lot to cover and everything had to be tightly scripted. There was no room to veer off course and start to ad lib. We were a little concerned that Chrétien might just do that. He had a penchant for talking off the cuff, or “straight from the heart” as he liked to say. Straight from the heart was fine as long as he did it within the time parameters we gave him. Ideally, we wanted him to deliver the words we were giving him, which I had drafted subject to his approval. The question was how to tell him.
Just days before Prague I got the prime minister on the phone. “I just wanted a few minutes to go over our Prague strategy with you,” I began.
“Our strategy?” he replied. “Our strategy is to win, no?”
I laughed. Yes, our plan was to win. But the presentation had to unfold precisely as we drew it up. We needed the prime minister to eloquently convey to the IOC that the bid had the backing of the federal government and that he, personally, had an unshakable commitment to the project and to us.
At one point he said, “You know, John, I’m a pretty good public speaker. If things aren’t going well over there, I will improvise.” Which is exactly what we didn’t want him or anyone else to do. So I told him something that, perhaps, stretched the truth a little. I told him we had to submit the speeches to the IOC ahead of time. Once we did there couldn’t be any big surprises. I told him I’d written some remarks for him and would be grateful if he would deliver them verbatim if he was comfortable doing so.
He said, of course, he would do whatever we needed him to do. Getting to Prague was going to be hell for the prime minister, who had to be in Ottawa for Canada Day celebrations. He was going to have to board a plane as soon as his obligations there were over and fly through the night to arrive in Prague one hour before we were scheduled to go onstage. The man was a warrior who wanted to win the bid as badly as any of us.
ON THE GROUND in Prague it was nail-biting time. The Koreans had set up shop well before us. Samsung, the Korean electronics giant, had seemingly bought up every inch of billboard space in the city. It was as if the company, and by extension Pyeongchang, had taken over the place. Not only were their signs everywhere, but so were members of the Korean delegation. It seemed as if there were hundreds of them, spread out all over the city looking for an IOC voter to corner. We were all staying in the same hotel as the IOC members, but the floors they were on were off limits to everyone else. Whenever a few of them went downstairs, officials from Pyeongchang would be on them like fruit flies on a peach.
I grew concerned that members of our group might be tempted to lose their discipline. I didn’t want anyone, under any circumstances, changing anything, promising anything, no matter how seemingly innocuous, to an IOC member in exchange for his or her support. We had been meticulously clean throughout the race, and I was determined that we were going to continue being that way to the end.
Most days our team assembled in the dingy, dark confines of the Charles University Faculty of Law, where we had rented space for run-throughs of our presentation. Premier Gordon Campbell was terrific, working with people on their speeches, quietly reassuring everyone they were going to be great once the spotlight hit them. It was a side of Campbell that the public rarely gets to see, and I thought that if people did they would undoubtedly feel differently about him. He had a warm, funny, compassionate dimension that really shone through in Prague.
Wayne Gretzky arrived with his family a few days before the vote. Wayne has a legendary fear of flying, so agreeing to hop on a plane for 16 hours was incredibly kind of him. He showed up at the daily practice sessions and then disappeared. He told me he didn’t want the media swarms to become a distraction for the group. I really wanted Wayne there after hearing an interview with him and CTV’s Rod Black in which he talked about the thrill of playing in the Olympics for the first and only time in Nagano. He said it surpassed any of the four Stanley Cups that he’d won, which was a pretty amazing statement. Hearing that sentiment coming from such a world-recognized athlete would mean an incredible amount.
We set up a little war room in a space adjacent to my room in the Intercontinental Hotel, and each day a small group of us—Bob Storey, Jack and I, mostly—went over the delegate list, checking, double-checking, our support and talking last-minute tactics. The way we had it figured, Salzburg would be out on the first ballot. We thought we might be close to a first-ballot win but probably wouldn’t get there. After Salzburg went out, we figured to pick up almost all of their votes.
I didn’t get much sleep most nights. Meetings would go late, and I had a million things running through my mind. It was like that scene in The Wizard of Oz after Dorothy has been struck on the head during the tornado. She dreams she’s looking out her window and all these people she’s encountered pass by. Well, that was the inside of my head. All these people and concerns just kept passing by and I couldn’t do much to stop it.
The night before our presentation in Prague, a group of us were at a restaurant when Dick Pound and his wife walked in and joined us. It was awkward as hell. Dick leaned over to tell me he was prepared to go onstage the next day and introduce the group. I felt terrible. I didn’t like being put in this position and I had to tell him no, that the list of those who would be onstage was finalized and had been submitted to the IOC. Dick sloughed the rejection off, but I knew it bothered him. It was a slap in the face, even though it was not intended to be. He was the leading IOC official in Canada, a name recognized around the world, and we hadn’t asked him to be onstage with us. How else was he to interpret it?
The morning of the vote everyone was nervous, which was understandable. We would be first up among the three bid cities, not the ideal position. I wanted to be last, but Pyeongchang drew that straw. We were to be onstage at 10 AM. The prime minister arrived at 9 AM, all smiles, telling everyone he was raring to go even though he must have been exhausted. The 11 of us who were going to be onstage lined up outside the hall in the Hilton Hotel, in front of the hundred or so lucky Canadians who got to watch the presentation live.
Before we went in I went down the line and thanked everyone individually for their contribution. I wanted them to know that, win or lose, what they each had done had meant a great deal to me, the project and their country. For me this was the best day ever. We were at the finish line in one piece, together, inspired and proud. We had made it, hurt no one, cheated no one, promised only what we could deliver—as truly Canadian as we could be. There would be no shame whatever the result. I was never more content—a bag of nerves yes, but morally completely at ease.
Jack Poole had given every one of the Canadians who would be entering the hall behind the presentation team a “lucky loonie” to stuff in their pockets. The lucky loonie had a fabled heritage, of course. One was put under centre ice in Salt Lake City by the Canadian who was in charge of maintaining the ice surface for the Olympics. After the men’s and women’s teams won there, the lucky loonie became the stuff of lore.
And then the doors opened to soaring, powerful music from the movie Spirit. On a big screen in the room were glorious images of Canada and its people. Two minutes of pulsating energy to help us take the room over. It was the perfect mood-setter.
Now it was game time.
Jacques Rogge made some introductory remarks and then stopped and looked at me: “Mr. President, the floor is yours.”
I stood at the podium microphone and for a few seconds seemed to be frozen as I looked out over the crowd, centurions of the most powerful sport parliament in the world in whose hands our fate rested. The cameras were rolling and the world was tuned in. “I am John Furlong, the president of Vancouver 2010, and as I stand before you today I must admit I’m extremely nervous.”
I have no idea why I decided to tell people that I was shaking in my boots. I guess I thought honesty was the best policy. It was funny how many people would later comment positively on that small admission. They felt it showed a vulnerability they could relate to. Who wouldn’t be nervous under the circumstances?
It was my job to introduce our team and I started with Jack. He conveyed how ready we were to get started. We could begin construction the next day, he assured them with confidence. He talked about some of the infrastructure improvements that were already underway, including work on the Sea to Sky Highway.
Premier Campbell was next. He was the guarantor. It was his job to tell the IOC that the Games would not get into financial trouble, because they were backed by the provincial government. He was completely convincing. The prime minister followed and talked about the federal government’s commitment and the commitment all Canadians were making on this day. He made it personal and also spoke of trust and Canadian values. He was utterly on his game and nailed the emotion we needed.
Because of time constraints, we had had Larry Campbell, Gibby Jacobs and Michael Chambers tape comments, and we showed their videos. Then Charmaine Crooks talked about Canada’s multicultural heritage and her own immigrant history. She assured the IOC that athletes from around the world would receive a warm welcome from a country made up of people from around the world.
I was up next.
“Although my accent might lead you to believe that I am an Irishman,” I began, “I stand up here today a proud Canadian. The day I arrived in Canada a Customs and Immigration officer looked me in the eye, and as he handed my passport back said to me, quite simply: ‘Welcome to Canada—make us better.’ He challenged me to contribute to the greater good of Canada and for the last three decades, while I built a career in sport, this national culture of giving became a real force in my life. I came to realize that to give is the Canadian way. . . and it is expected from every one of us.”
I went on to talk about everything Vancouver and Whistler had to offer, from a wonderful airport to world-class hotels and some of the most impressive sports venues a Winter Games had ever seen. I said ours was a worry-free plan based on stability and reliability.
Steve Podborski followed me and talked about how he was the first Canadian man to bring home an Olympic medal in downhill skiing. He said the facilities we planned to build for the athletes would be second to none. And then Steve introduced The Great One. 
Wayne Gretzky talked about the magic of stepping onto the ice in Nagano, not knowing the impact it would have on him. “There is no greater honour than the Olympics because there is no greater movement than the Olympic movement.” Out in the audience I could see a big smile cross René Fasel’s face. He knew how powerful Gretzky’s statement was inside that room.
Catriona Le May Doan gave part of her speech in French while talking about catching the Olympic spirit as a child and how that transformed her life. She talked about the thousands of dreams that would be ignited in children in B.C. if we received the privilege of hosting the Games.
And then it was back to me to wrap up our presentation. “As a boy, I dreamed of becoming an Olympian,” I started. “It was all I could think about. While I never made it to the Olympics, this bid has given me and my colleagues a chance to be Olympians of a different kind. We share the values of the Olympic ideal as a powerful platform for building a better world through sport. And we very much want to be your partners in building that better world.”
I thanked our opponents for making the Vancouver bid a better project, for helping many people visualize a better future for our city and for the country. I promised we would be the best partners the IOC could possibly imagine, partners it wouldn’t have to worry about, that could be counted upon. I asked the IOC members to imagine a torch relay arriving in Canada above the Arctic Circle, farther north than it had ever been before, and then travelling from sea to sea to sea, unifying our vast country in the process.
“We are ready to be an Olympic city. . . We believe that for generations to come, these Games will be a catalyst for immense promise for Vancouver . . . We believe that through sport there can be a chance for peace. That we might distinguish ourselves in the greater cause of sport and humanity. In the end we hope that you might look back on the Vancouver Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games with great pride and affection. Our Olympic dream has transformed us and captivated our nation. Our dream is embedded in the heart of every Canadian athlete, every Canadian family, every Canadian child. Our dream, like your dream, is a dream forever.”
We had to reserve some time for questions from IOC members. We had a pretty good idea whom they would be coming from. All of them allowed us to accentuate positive aspects of our bid and address lingering concerns like the road to Whistler. No damage done.
WHEN I FINALLY sat down in my seat I felt an enormous weight lift. My speech was the culmination of years of hard work by so many people. I honestly believed we had given the campaign everything we had. Coaches ask hockey players to leave everything they have on the ice. I believed that our team had left everything it could in Prague. I couldn’t have asked for more.
As our group began walking out of the conference hall, an elderly man with glasses approached me with an outstretched hand. “That was a wonderful speech, Mr. President.” It was the famous U.S. statesman Henry Kissinger, an honorary IOC member. “I wish you well.” Our team congregated outside the hall. Everyone was happy. Some people were planning to watch the other presentations. I had no interest. Why put myself through that just to worry even more. I needed to get away and clear my head so I went for a long walk along the river. Later in the afternoon, some of our team started assembling in my hotel room. All the presentations had been made by that point, and we were about to learn the results of the first vote by closed-circuit television. And soon enough Jacques Rogge was on the screen. My hotel room fell silent.
“After the first round of voting the City of Salzburg has been eliminated,” said Dr. Rogge.
And for a city that had the same Olympic dreams we had, that had poured thousands of hours into its bid and spent tens of millions of euros, it was over just like that. See ya, goodbye. I couldn’t fathom what that moment must have felt like for the members of the Salzburg team. Devastating for sure.
We knew that we were poised to gain most, if not all, of the votes that Austria received in the first round. But then, when you were dealing with the IOC you could never be absolutely sure about anything. Yes to your face could really mean no; it was like grabbing a handful of Jell-O.
The final announcement was going to be made at 5:30 local time. When we got to the hall, most of the Korean delegation was already there, looking supremely confident. A rumour started circulating that there was a report on the Internet that Pyeongchang had already won, and someone from the media asked me about it. “I don’t believe it for a second,” I said. “And no one will know until Jacques Rogge opens that envelope.”
The last minutes before the announcement were excruciating. My stomach was a mess. I was confident but the wait had a way of messing with a person’s head. At this point, all of the IOC members were onstage. A small girl in braids and traditional, brightly coloured Czech dress walked to the stage holding a pillow upon which lay the envelope that would seal our fate. Dr. Rogge walked toward the stage. The tension in the room was unbearable. The president opened the envelope and seemed to take a few seconds to digest the results. More tension. The entire IOC was standing behind him—rows of them.
“The International Olympic Committee has the honour of announcing that the 21st Winter Olympic Games are awarded to. . . the City of Vancouver,” he said.
There was a momentary delay in my response. The way Dr. Rogge had pronounced Vancouver sounded like “Pyeoncouver,” but that confusion lasted only a second before I realized we had won. The place went crazy. I was standing beside one of the two Mounties in red serge who had escorted our delegation in for our morning presentation. Constable Chantal Jung turned to me and put me in a bear hug that nearly broke my ribs. “We did it,” she screamed. The next several minutes were just chaos. I was hugging and shaking the hands of everybody on our team.
“Today we moved a mountain,” I said to Jack Poole. Jean Chrétien, the exhausted warrior, looked 10 years younger. I thanked him for flying through the night to give a guarantee to the IOC that I felt had been vital to the bid.
It was a coming-of-age moment for me. I had been second-guessed a thousand times along the way and now, it seemed, I had been vindicated. It was as if my whole belief system had been validated. I suddenly could relate to every athlete who was part of a big win—a Stanley Cup, the FIFA World Cup, an NBA championship. Plus there was an immediate, palpable feeling of relief.
I WAS SURPRISED at how close the final vote was. Three votes. We were behind after round one but grabbed all of Austria’s 16 votes to sneak by the Koreans 56–53. Scary close. Only a couple of other decisions in IOC history had been closer than ours—both of those determined by one vote.
There would be a lot of talk about the role geopolitics played in our victory. How European countries wanted the 2012 Summer Games, so were not going to vote for a European city to win the 2010 Games. I never put much stock in that theory. I thought we won because of the quality of our bid, pure and simple. The IOC trusted us and liked us. Sure, there may have been a few people who voted for other reasons, but overall I think that if Salzburg had had a superior plan and strategy, it would have prevailed. Same with Pyeongchang. Honestly, though, after the way the Koreans played the margins I was happy they were going home empty-handed. With the help of Samsung, they had probably spent over $100 million on their bid to our $35 million, but in the end it didn’t matter. That outcome made me feel better about the IOC and the way it operated.
As I was walking out of the hall, the Prince of Orange approached me with a big smile. “Are we good now?” he asked, a reference to my threat to leak the story about his ripped pants if we didn’t get the Games.
“Yes,” I said. “We’re good.”
We attended a reception hosted by the IOC at the Hilton before we joined a bigger party for all the hundreds of Canadians who had made the trip. Dr. Rogge and his wife, Anne, were in a greeting line. When Jack and I got to the president, he reached out to shake our hands. “So,” he said, “are you going to be another one of those cities that make a whole bunch of glowing promises you don’t plan on keeping?”
Humour aside, I was a bit taken aback by the remark. “No,” I said. “You won’t have a problem there, I can assure you. The Canadian public will insist that the promises we made here will be kept.” 
A little later on, I headed over to our victory celebration, where I was greeted by a lovely ovation when I walked through the door. I felt embarrassed and quickly slunk into a corner to banter with some guys from NBC. Among them was Dick Ebersol, the charismatic chair of NBC Universal Sports and the network’s longtime Olympic guru. The network had paid an astounding US $2.2 billion for the rights to the 2010 and 2012 Olympics, and Ebersol told me part of the equation was the assumption Vancouver would win the bid to host the 2010 Winter Olympics. He had bet the farm on us.
Ebersol was wearing the biggest smile. “It’s a goddamn good thing you won,” he said. “Or I would have been living in exile in a house floating on an iceberg in the North Atlantic for the rest of my days.”
I didn’t have a hard time sleeping that night. I was completely spent. Most of the team was heading home the day following the vote. I felt that too much of the attention had been on me in Prague. I wanted Jack to get the accolades he deserved. He had empowered this effort with such class. I told him I wanted him to return to Vancouver a hero for everything he’d done. I also needed to thank every IOC member for trusting us, so I stayed behind an extra day. Jack and the premier and others landed in Vancouver and received a star’s welcome.
Along with a few other members of the team and the media, I flew home a day later aboard an Air Canada flight. I was on a complete high, still not quite believing what we had just accomplished. The last 48 hours had been emotional for everyone. It was difficult not to think about how life-changing the result was going to be for many of us.
I took my seat on the plane, feeling more relaxed than I had in months, maybe years. Everyone in the delegation got an upgrade. As we began to taxi over to the main runway the captain came on the intercom. “Good morning, ladies and gentlemen,” he said. “Welcome aboard Air Canada flight 2010 to Vancouver.”
The words gave me the shivers.
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  IGOT A TASTE of the euphoria surrounding our win when our plane landed at Vancouver International Airport. We had been told by our pilot that there was a mob waiting for us, but to see the thousands gathered in the international arrivals area when we got through customs was still a shock. People had signs. Many were outfitted in red and white. My eight-year-old daughter Molly sprinted past everyone to greet her dad, still not sure what all the fuss was about. But she was not about to be left out. There was media everywhere. Dozens of friends showed up as well. I was flabbergasted.
It was one thing to pick up the phone to say thank you, or write a card, but to make the trip to the airport to say it in person meant a great deal to me. It was like nothing I had ever experienced. I was asked by the media about my future and whether I was interested in being CEO of the Vancouver Organizing Committee that would put on the Games. I said I was but that if Prague was my last day working for the 2010 Olympics, I was good with that too. Others were going to decide my future.
A number of events were held over the next few days in recognition of the honour that had been bestowed on Vancouver. It was impossible to walk down the street without being stopped by someone who wanted to say thank you for what our group had achieved.
Shortly after returning home I received a phone call from Brian Burke’s office looking for a meeting. Brian was the president and general manager of the Vancouver Canucks at the time and one of the most recognizable personalities in town. When I showed up at the boardroom at GM Place, I was met by Brian and his chief operating officer, Dave Cobb. I sat down to hear what this was all about. “John, I just wanted to thank you personally for an extraordinary performance in Prague,” Brian began. “I wanted to thank you for doing incredible good for the country and just wanted to say it was a genuine delight to see you guys win.”
He told me how he and Dave had been in GM Place for the announcement at 5 AM and were a little miffed that the cheer that went up inside the stadium was louder than any he had heard at a hockey game. Before I left he said that if there was anything he could do to help us out, all I had to do was call. It was an offer he lived up to often in the years that followed. Many like Brian were already stepping up to say “Well done” and “Count me in if you need any help.”
While it was fun basking in the glow of our victory for a few days, there was also work to be done. There was a huge transition to make between being a bid city and a host city. The Vancouver-Whistler 2010 Bid Corporation would now make way for the Vancouver Organizing Committee, or as it would eventually be known, VANOC. It would mean a new board would have to be chosen and the jockeying to be on it would be fierce. While it was understood that Jack would be chair of that board, at least initially, what wasn’t known was who the CEO would be. That was the big job, the ringmaster of everything that would happen over the next seven years.
Over the next couple of months, newspapers and television and radio talk shows were consumed with the project. There were never-ending debates about the amount of money that was going to be needed. There was much speculation about who might be on the board and who would get the CEO’s job. The rumours, gossip and conjecture seemed to be endless. As the weeks rolled on, I could sense the euphoria of Prague beginning to evaporate among the office staff, which was composed of a small group of us from the bid phase who were managing the transition. People were wondering if they were going to fit into future plans. There were a few trying to position themselves for certain jobs. It made for an uncomfortable environment, and the Irish worrier in me triggered more sleepless nights than I could count. It was energy-sapping in the worst way. I had no idea how long it would be before a CEO was chosen, but we couldn’t afford to put the organization in neutral while we waited for a decision. Meanwhile, I was driving the transition and was involved in all major decisions related to the project. We tried to press on.
Construction to improve the Sea to Sky Highway began almost immediately. Talks were also heating up over the possibility of building a new rapid transit line from the airport into downtown. While it wasn’t promised to the IOC during our bid, we had certainly dangled it as a possibility. It was a commuter link that needed to be built at some point; we were hopeful it could get done in time to help deliver Olympic visitors to downtown hotels. Critics, of course, put what came to be called the Canada Line at our feet— especially the cost.
On October 3, 2003, the VANOC board was announced. As expected, it was a group that included heavyweights from government, sport and business. The Canadian Olympic Committee had seven spots at the table. Canada and B.C. had three each; Vancouver and Whistler each provided a pair, with one each from First Nations and the Canadian Paralympic Committee and one at-large member, Jack Poole.
With the board in place, hiring a CEO was expected to be its first priority. The IOC, meantime, had announced that my good friend René Fasel would be heading up its coordination commission. This was another huge break for us. It was the commission’s job to monitor the progress we were making—or not making—in delivering on the promises we made in our bid. René had been a huge supporter of our project going back to our first Olympic conversations in Salt Lake City. He wanted us to succeed and would more often than not give us the benefit of the doubt as we moved forward. With René in that job we felt like we were up 1–0 early in the game.
Also, the stakes were very high for René. He was the head of the International Ice Hockey Federation. Having the Olympic hockey tournament on Canadian soil represented a huge opportunity for him. If we failed, he failed. So there was a big incentive for him to become a partner in our success. He had once been a top referee and had an even temperament, making him an ideal chair. The stars were aligning nicely for us.
That fall, René, Gilbert Felli, who was Olympic Games executive director, and other members of the commission visited Vancouver to begin their oversight and see what progress we had made since Prague. They wanted to take a look at where the venues would be built, meet team members and sit down with our various political leaders to establish relationships.
We organized a trip to Whistler and thought it would be fun, efficient and novel to fly rather than take a car. So we hired a float plane out of Vancouver Harbour and headed up right over the top of Grouse Mountain and some jaw-dropping geography before landing in Green Lake in Whistler. René and Gilbert seemed a little puzzled about the route we were flying. I’m quite sure they took this as a sign that we hadn’t started work on the highway that we’d promised would begin right away.
It was just as baffling to us that there were doubts, especially this early. I think it was more to do with the IOC’s history with other Olympic cities and the many broken promises the committee had to deal with over the years, in different countries. In Whistler, René asked me if it would be possible to take a different route back to Vancouver so we could fly directly over the highway. He was pretty blunt about it: you’ve told us there is progress being made on improving it so we’d like to see for ourselves.
I was happy to oblige, and when we flew back down René and the others could see bulldozers and construction workers all over the place. There were plenty of nods of approval inside the plane. When they left town, I was confident they felt good about the partner they had in us. I reminded them what I had said in Prague—a promise made here is a promise kept in Canada.
THE NEXT FEW months would be one of the most difficult periods of my professional career. Not a day went by when there wasn’t something in the media about the search for a CEO, including lots of speculation about who might be in the running for the job. Media commentators offered their views about the kind of résumé a person needed to oversee what would be the largest project of its kind in Canadian history. There were indeed people who felt I deserved the chance to take on the job based on my performance throughout the bid phase. But there were plenty of others who didn’t think I had the skill or the horsepower.
I remember a column written by Daphne Bramham of the Vancouver Sun that pondered the type of candidate she felt was being sought for the CEO position and why it would almost certainly not be me. The headline screamed: WHY JOHN FURLONG WON’T WIN GAMES’ RACE. The story went on to suggest I was a nice guy, but there was nothing in my résumé that showed I was ready to run a multibillion-dollar project. Daphne even apologized to me later about the scorching headline, telling me it was the work of another.
I won’t deny how much that hurt. Deep down I was confident I could not only do the job, I could do it well. And I didn’t think anyone possessed the passion for the project that I had, or the vision for what it could do for the country.
At the board level I was aware that some directors weren’t comfortable with the relationship I had with Jack Poole. A small group felt there wasn’t enough distance between us to allow for the kind of objectivity a chair needed to have with a project as grand as this. Without that distance and objectivity there wouldn’t be the necessary level of accountability—or so some believed. I thought the opposite was true. It probably didn’t help that shortly after we won the bid, Jack had come out and said I would be his choice to be CEO. To many, that was just another sign that the two of us were too close.
In November, the formal process to recruit the CEO got going in earnest. I was contacted by Kyle Mitchell, with whom I had had several dealings during the bid phase. He was the organization’s recruiter of choice from the beginning and knew the inner machinations of the project well. I sat down with Kyle and provided him with everything he needed from me, including a synopsis of the approach I would take as CEO and my overarching vision for the project.
In December, I wrote Kyle a letter that outlined why I wanted the job, and why I thought I was the right candidate for it. “Success will not come down to the ingenuity and drive of one person but to the sterling performance of many,” I wrote. “It will take a talented, comprehensive, star-studded team to give the world great Games in 2010.”
I also addressed a perception held by some that it took a different type of team to organize an Olympic Games than it did to win the bid. “Such a belief caused enormous grief in Athens until finally the bid leader was recalled after three years of organizational pandemonium and poor performance,” I wrote. “Frank King was with Calgary for the duration and was viewed in the most positive light in both roles. Indeed, Calgary went the distance with mostly the same team that they started with.
“I cannot imagine approaching this opportunity without some form of trepidation, perhaps even a little fear . . . The challenge has been defined in countless ways and, yes, although there are many complex elements to the project, in summary, it primarily comes down to leadership. The leader will be the passionate, loyal custodian of a major trust. This someone will guard and protect and will instill a spirit of relentlessness in the team. This is someone who others will believe in and be prepared to follow. This person will have unassailable human values, known integrity and a never quit attitude.”
I also made it clear that I didn’t want this job just because people felt I deserved the opportunity due to our success in Prague. I wanted it only if people felt I could do it.
There was much speculation about who was in the running and many of the names of those mentioned hadn’t even applied, I would learn later. I thought my interview with the selection committee had gone well. The questions were tough and penetrating. I really felt I was in a dogfight for the job. I had the sense that I was proving myself all over again. One thing was certain: no one was cutting me an inch of slack.
I tried to make clear to the selection committee that if it was looking for the perfect candidate who had all the qualities needed for this job, it was never going to find that person because he or she didn’t exist. The best they could hope for was the right leader who would surround himself or herself with the right people and then lead them to the finish line. But it had to be a leader who had the capacity to build a unique team, and who could successfully ask extremely prominent people to abandon great jobs to take a big risk on a project that was going to reflect on our country’s reputation around the world.
There were times during the interview when it felt as if the committee was looking to fill the job of CEO of a construction company, someone whose top priority was to get venues built on time. Yes, that was vitally important. But I thought the CEO’s most important job was selling the Games to the country. I was going to hire people who could get the venues constructed on time. That would be one of the easier challenges.
Eventually, I heard that the board was deadlocked around two candidates: me and another person who was rumoured to be a senior executive in the hotel industry. I was frustrated because I could see that the delay in choosing someone was paralyzing the organization. I could sense morale slipping. It was now February 2004, eight months since Prague, and the organization still had no CEO and no real budget to speak of, and there were people who needed to be hired.
At one point, Jack walked into my office obviously frustrated himself and said that the winning candidate needed the approval of three quarters of the board and I was a vote or two short. Jack said that an idea had come up that he wanted to talk to me about. What if the board appointed the other person CEO and I took any other position I wanted in the organization? In Jack’s words this was an opportunity for me to have plenty of responsibility and influence on the Games with none of the pressure associated with the top job. Although he had the best of intentions I was extremely annoyed. I asked him if the same question had been posed to the other candidate. It hadn’t. We both knew he would have rejected it out of hand. 
That was almost the final straw for me. I drew up a letter of resignation dated February 10, 2004, which I handed to Jack and copied to Mike Phelps, who was chairing the search committee. In it I wrote: “It is very clear to me that the way must be made clear for the board of directors of Vancouver 2010 to unite behind one candidate for the position of CEO. Although I hoped it would not come to this, it is clear I cannot achieve such support. But someone must. I believe that a unanimous decision on leadership is essential.
“To facilitate this I hereby withdraw my name as a candidate for the position of CEO and tender my resignation as a member of Vancouver’s Olympic team to take effect on a date mutually agreeable to the board of directors and to myself.
“I will explain my decision in more detail in a separate letter to the board. I have been privileged to be part of this historic achievement and wish you all great success.”
Jack came to see me almost as soon as the letter arrived on his desk. There would be no resigning, he said. He understood my frustration—he was angry and frustrated himself. He knew the project was bleeding and in desperate need of a decision on the CEO. Jack vowed he would get the matter resolved one way or the other. But I knew where he stood. He wanted us to continue on in this together.
Within days I was told that a vote had been taken and that I was the successful candidate and would be recommended to the board. I was told to expect to be named CEO shortly, likely within days.
I was more relieved than elated. The drawn-out process had zapped any feelings of elation right out of me. I knew that I wasn’t a unanimous choice, which bothered me a lot. But I wasn’t going to dwell on that. It was time to get on with things. I just had to prove my detractors wrong. Outwork them all, as my dad would have urged me to.
That night, Thursday, February 19, I was at home contemplating the road ahead when the phone rang. It was a reporter from the Vancouver Sun. He said the paper was going to be running a story the next day quoting Dick Pound as saying the CEO selection process was rigged in my favour. And for good measure, Dick was quoted as suggesting I wasn’t up for the job. I couldn’t believe it. I told the reporter I had no comment. I tried to get to sleep while anticipating what the full story was going to look like the next day. I was also mad that someone on the board had obviously leaked the news. I don’t remember sleeping much.
I got up before 6 AM the next day and immediately went out to grab the papers off the front step. It didn’t take long to find the story—it was on the front page, right across the top—a gulper. “PREMIER ‘RIGGED’ CONTEST FOR 2010 GAMES CEO, BACKS INFERIOR CANDIDATE: POUND,” the headline roared. In the story, Dick was quoted as saying the selection process had been hijacked by Premier Gordon Campbell’s office. “My belief is always that when you hire somebody for a very senior position, what you look to is a record of dealing with challenges similar to what will be faced in the job for which you’re recruiting. Mr. Furlong is a perfectly capable person and a nice person, but he doesn’t have the experience that you need for this job.”
I could scarcely believe what I was reading. I felt ill and incredibly angry at the same time. To be rebuked in such a public way was worse than a punch to the gut. I couldn’t help feeling that Dick was motivated to say these things because I hadn’t found a role for him during the presentation in Prague or because he felt I had avoided seeking his counsel throughout the bid phase. Either way, it was ugly and humiliating, and all I wanted to do was buy up every paper in the city so my family and friends didn’t have to read the story.
I knew the board was meeting that morning to ratify the decision. There was a possibility that the whole thing could still have gone sideways, especially in light of Dick’s rant. But I got a call just after noon asking me to come down to the office. Once there, I was told by Mike Phelps, in the presence of Jack, that I was the new CEO and a news conference was going to be held almost immediately to make the decision public. There was no discussion about a contract. I didn’t even know what the job paid.
The next thing I knew I was walking into a room full of reporters and television cameras being introduced as the CEO and being presented with a sign that said “VANCOUVER 2010—EMPLOYEE NO. 1.”
It was difficult to be upbeat and euphoric, or for that matter even a good sport, given the events of the previous 24 hours, but I tried my best. At one point a reporter asked how much I would be getting paid, and I said I honestly didn’t know. At this point Mike said to everyone: “We already told them it’s $300,000 a year.” So I said, “Well, I guess there you have it.”
It wasn’t a classy way of dealing with the matter, but at this point I just wanted to move on, put the drama of the selection process behind me and start getting to work in earnest, with a new mandate.
I learned later that Dick was one of those on the board who had been holding out for the other candidate, as were France Chrétien Desmarais (the prime minister’s daughter) and Patrick Jarvis and possibly one other. I knew the fact I wasn’t bilingual bothered France and a few others a lot. My Gaelic did not count, I guess. And I couldn’t help feeling that there was some Central Canada bias at work. But I didn’t have time to obsess over what was done. As a result of the delay in selecting a CEO we had lost some ground.
Dick phoned the same day, referring to himself as Darth Vader, and left a message explaining what he had done and promising his support now that we had a decision. He said he hoped to one day eat his words. When we finally talked, I told Dick I accepted his story and said we needed to meet to clear the air. Within a week I was in his Montreal office letting him know what I thought of his attack. I told Dick what bothered me the most about it was the fact he really knew nothing about me and yet he had made assumptions about my character and ability. His suggestion that the premier had pushed for me was too much to take when I had always held the position that I would win the job on merit or not at all.
Around this time, I sat down with my family to explain what this assignment meant. It was going to require an enormous sacrifice for everyone: it would eat up massive volumes of time, and I was not going to be around much. It was going to be tough on my close relationships, no question. The highs and lows would surely be severe. Everyone was supportive and very encouraging. My children recognized that this was an assignment of a lifetime, that Dad was about to do something important for the country.
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Jack called the next day and suggested we spend a few days in Palm Desert, California, to talk about where we went from here. He thought I looked exhausted and might benefit from a few days in the sun, away from the daily calls from the media. So we went south in a small plane he chartered. I told Jack over those days that it was important that the people on the transition team who had been doing Olympic-related work since Prague knew where they stood, what roles they may or may not play in the organization in the future. I was determined not to make any personnel decisions quickly that I might regret later on. I was more preoccupied with mapping out how the organization might be structured so that it could cope with anything thrown at it. I had a few visits from key players on the bid who had, in their own way, advised me that if they were not given senior assignments of the kind they felt qualified for they would move on.
One of those people was Terry Wright, who had done a lot of the key planning work for us during the bid phase. On the surface, Terry would have had the first right of refusal to be VANOC’s chief operating officer, a job he coveted. But I wasn’t prepared to make that appointment so early in the process—besides, there were no operations to be chief operating officer of. I wanted to put together an executive team and then wait and see if the COO emerged from that group. The position didn’t have to be filled until much closer to the beginning of the Games in any event.
Terry wasn’t happy. At one point he said he was going to leave. I think Terry thought I didn’t have confidence in him. It was nothing of the sort. He was eventually going to be given an important area of responsibility: services and Games operations. I told him he needed to understand I was going to build a great organization with great people and he was going to be one of them. But Terry was pretty insistent that he was going to pack it in.
“Before you do I want you to go home and have a conversation with your wife,” I told him. “You live in Victoria, you have young kids, this is the biggest project you have tackled in your life and you’re thinking of walking away from it? I don’t want you a year from now looking back and regretting this decision, especially given you had so much to do with our success. And we need you. So you go home and sit down with your wife and tell her: ‘I’ve been offered this very senior, high-profile, executive vice-president position. I’ll be first among equals, side by side with a team of passionate Canadian stars, involved in every key decision in the organization, and I can come home on weekends, and I will get extra financial support to go back and forth.’”
I knew what would happen if he did. Terry’s wife, Monique, had a way of getting to Terry—they were best of friends. After the weekend, Terry walked into my office wearing a sheepish grin.
“Count me in,” he said.
I was happy to have his signature and his fearless commitment.
Over the next couple of months I spent countless hours with Kyle Mitchell trying to find the right people to fill out the executive team. I told Kyle that ultimately I wanted to have a team of seven to nine executives, each one capable of managing a large, diverse portfolio, each one enthralled with our vision for the Games, each one ready to hit the ground running, each one madly in love with Canada. I envisioned an organization that was, on almost every level, pretty flat. No silos and no walls to interfere with building the kind of teamwork we would need. I wanted my vice-president of marketing to be fully cognizant of what was going on with construction. I wanted my vice-president of construction to be able to ask penetrating questions about marketing issues or HR.
By the time the Games arrived, almost every person on the executive was capable of doing anyone else’s job. That is what I had imagined and hoped for from the outset.
While I hoped that every member of the executive we chose at the beginning would stay the course and have a major impact on the organization, in retrospect it was probably a bit naïve to think every person we picked would succeed. After all, we were asking them to sign up for something that had never been attempted before—in scope, anyway—and to figure out how to become loyal teammates in a high-stress organization. I think for Kyle it was one of the most challenging assignments he’d ever had, especially with my insistence that we find people of sterling character who could stare down fear; to me that was the number one asset a candidate had to have. Finding such people is not as easy as it sounds. Normally you’d say to a search firm, “I need a guy to dig holes. He needs to be strong, over 250 pounds and needs to have a shovel.” I was looking for skill, sure, but the core strength needed to be something far less tangible.
I felt we should be looking at Canada’s best companies for the kind of executive members we needed at VANOC. We talked about looking at non-traditional candidates, people who had drive, determination, integrity and spirit that stood out. Sleepers ready to show off their stuff.
One of the people I had my eye on was Dave Cobb, COO of the Vancouver Canucks. I had first met Dave during the bid phase when he helped out with our presentation to the evaluation commission on GM Place, the prospective site of men’s and women’s hockey. I was immediately impressed with his unflinching, confident, gungho attitude and crackling intelligence. He was to me what I was not. He had stepped in front of the commission with little time to prepare and given a stellar performance about what a superb venue GM Place would be for Olympic hockey.
When Kyle and I started talking about the qualities we needed in a marketing executive, Dave’s name was the first that popped to mind. But honestly, I thought our chances of prying Dave away from the Canucks were minimal. The Canucks were the biggest thing in Vancouver, and Dave, who grew up in the shadow of the arena where the Canucks once played, had always dreamed of one day working for the organization. Now he was basically running the operation.
Luckily for us the Canucks were going through a period of upheaval. Brian Burke had been let go since I met him after Prague, and there were questions about the direction in which Seattle-based owner John McCaw and his right-hand-man, Stan McCammon, were taking the team. So the door was open a nudge. Dave had maple syrup running through his veins, so I thought I would sprinkle a little Olympic dust on him. I had hoped the opportunity to be part of a once-in-a-lifetime event such as the Olympics would capture his imagination. He could not resist and agreed to join the team. It was a huge announcement for the organization, one that caught the attention of the local business community and helped put us on the map. A few more like him and we could take on anything, I thought.
Over the coming months we assembled our team. For the most part, we picked wisely. Most of those we selected for the executive ended up staying until the end. Unfortunately, there were a few people who did not make it. Jeff Chan, our first vice-president of human resources, was gone in a year. But that opened up the door for Donna Wilson, whom we nabbed from Vancity credit union— which was regularly named one of the top companies to work for in the country. Cathy Priestner Allinger, the speed skating medallist, became vice-president, sport. Cathy had loads of Olympic experience and sports savvy at the executive level and had been discussed in some circles as a potential CEO candidate. She oozed calmness. I thought the sport world would celebrate her appointment and it did.
Ken Bagshaw was secured as our general counsel, a crowning role in an impressive law career; Ward Chapin was in charge of technology and systems, a role with zero tolerance for failure of any kind. We found Ward in France, and I went to Paris to interview him and sign him up. We recruited Steve Matheson from Dominion Construction to head up venue development. Steve is a wonderful guy with impeccable values and a solid track record. Unfortunately, as painful as it was, I would eventually have to replace him too.
The only other change we had to make was our chief financial officer, Rex McLennan. We hired Rex in 2005, and he would stay with us 18 months. The fit was not the best. I was looking for someone who wanted to be in on the ground floor, who was a great teacher and who would help promote the idea throughout the organization that we had to be careful with every dime we spent. We replaced Rex with John McLaughlin, who had been our comptroller almost from the beginning but initially did not seem ready for such a heavy burden. Now he was.
One of the fonder memories from my early days as CEO was renting the Capitol 6 theatre in Vancouver and assembling all members of our transition team one afternoon to watch the movie Miracle. It was the story of the 1980 United States men’s Olympic hockey team that won a gold medal against all odds. I thought there was so much for our group to take from the movie, not the least of which was the message it sent about the power of teamwork. The American coach, Herb Brooks, epitomized leadership and I closely studied the motivational tactics he used to select and get his team ready for its epic showdown with the Russians.
I found the movie extremely moving and deeply inspiring. It was a rags-to-riches story about a group of very human, dynamic but in many ways flawed individuals assembled from college teams. They embraced a collective dream to do something many thought was impossible. After the movie, I remember having a conversation with the group about what they had just seen and how this hockey team’s story was, in some ways, a metaphor for the compelling challenges we would face.
I told everyone that day that if they wanted to be on such a team they could stay and be part of this journey we were embarking on. 
But if they felt they couldn’t make such a commitment, could not pour their hearts and souls into this project for a sustained period of time, then they should probably not show up the next day. More than anything, I wanted them all to understand what I was asking them to sign up for. I told them that they were going to be asked time and again to do things they were not going to think were possible. But I also said the sum of the parts of our team could, on any given day, overcome so many obstacles and challenges that at first blush would seem too formidable to scale.
I told them that afternoon that if we didn’t bring the Olympic spirit to the front door of every home in Canada, if we didn’t share this experience with every Canadian family, every Canadian child, then we would have failed. And although on the surface our work might look to others like an Olympic success, it would, in fact, be a tragic Canadian failure and we would always know this. This was not about constructing venues and providing jobs and sparking tourism, but about doing something profoundly human for our country and showing the world what could be achieved when the people of a nation come together to do a great thing.
I was not naïve enough to think everyone bought what I was saying and that everyone necessarily agreed with me. At least not yet. I’m sure there were some in the room that day who thought that over time this grand plan of mine would change, and we would have a sober vision correction, and that practical realities would temper my hyped-up ambitions. But I also knew that there were many who wanted in on the action because the adventure I was proposing was just too compelling to pass up—even though the road to our final destination was likely to be tough and bumpy and fraught with danger.
Happily they all showed up the next day, just as I had expected.
AT THIS POINT there were about 50 of us. I didn’t have my entire executive team in place yet. I was going to be relying, to a large extent, on this core group to build much of the greater organization, one that would swell to more than 1,300 full-time employees by the time the Games rolled around in six years’ time. If this first group really took ownership of the vision, if they understood and believed it was a great privilege to be part of this operation from the outset, they would remind others around them why we were all here. They would ensure we never lost our way. They’d be the leaders who would protect the vision from others who didn’t share it or were working at odds to it.
One of my early concerns was how my executive team would respond when the first crisis struck. As part of trying to understand and anticipate what that reaction might be, we decided to make a real investment in exploring the strengths and weaknesses of the various team members through a number of different workshops. If we were to be a team then we’d better practise hard.
I have attended different leadership workshops over the years. I remember one in London, Ontario, at which I experienced fire walking—that is, walking on 950-degree hot coals in bare feet and not burning. The course helped cure my fear of flying—actually my fear of anything. We did other crazy things there, like cramming as many people as we could inside a scorching hot pup tent. The idea was to see how long we could last in that stifling, claustrophobic environment. The exercise was supposed to measure tolerance, focus and commitment. In another drill, we fed someone else dinner and vice versa. No talking allowed—a real test of patience. For my Olympic team we had everyone do the Myers-Briggs personality test designed to measure how people perceive the world and make decisions, among other things. It was incredibly revealing, showing that we were blessed with an extraordinary amount of diverse talent but that almost everyone was fiercely competitive. Oddly, I was the only member of the team who was confirmed to be an out-and-out introvert. A “Feeler” is how I was described. Leads with the heart first. I was in one corner of the chart with the rest of my team as far away from me as one could get. Most of the others were heavily Type A: driven, ambitious and tenacious, and typically more detail-oriented than me. My team—rational and logical. Me—driven and aspirational.
Understanding the individual players on the executive team allowed for an environment that was more open, understanding and effective. Books on team building and team dysfunction were circulated for reading. When I talked to my team, I drew on my experiences as a coach. Players who are not prepared to declare their vulnerabilities, such as an injury, fear or lack of confidence, will cause great grief in the dressing room—and on the field. By not being upfront and honest they hurt their team. I told my team it was really important that if people weren’t sure of themselves they were to raise their hand and declare it. I didn’t give a damn how badly they felt about it—on this squad it was a sign of strength not weakness.
I was not about to allow the vision for the project, or our mission and values, to be overpowered by a strong lineup of assertive individuals. That is why it was so important to embed these ideals as deeply into the organization as possible and to constantly reaffirm them. As a group, we decided that the vision, mission and values would always be our moral compass, the thing that we would use to strengthen ourselves when we were tested or feeling lost. And we agreed that no individual would be allowed to join the company if we felt that person couldn’t live our culture.
Our vision for the 2010 Winter Games had always been that they would be Canada’s Games—even during the bid phase. We recommitted to it when we became an organizing committee. Our mission was to touch the soul of the country, get inside its heart. After the Summer Games in Beijing, many people asked me how we were ever going to top that. My answer was easy: that’s not what we were trying to do. We were not looking to provide a spectacle; we were looking for something that was deeply moving, that would leave behind an emotional legacy for the country. If people didn’t care deeply about these Games, our legacy wouldn’t last a weekend.
Establishing the values that would guide our organization was serious but invigorating. We wanted principles that would allow us to build a consistent code inside the company, and provide us with a yardstick against which we could measure potential partners. If we felt Company A didn’t share our values, we would leave money on the table and walk away. Our values would be so ingrained that we would know instantly if something was off with a potential business partner.
Teamwork was our number one value but not something we were particularly good at in the beginning. Coming out of the bid phase, we were a bit arrogant and self-satisfied. We didn’t immediately embrace new partners like Bell Canada and the Royal Bank when they came aboard. We had to grow a bit as an organization before we could see that we were at times standing in our own way to the detriment of the overall project. Every partner represented a teammate who could do something to help us succeed. So it was best we treat them like friends. Our mantra became “We all cross the finish line together.”
Trust was another of our values. If you were working outside my door, it was important that you knew I had faith and trust in you. We needed every employee to know and feel that it was up to them to make the Games great. Whatever their job we wanted them to feel it was the most important one in the company and that what they produced must be perfect. We tried to get people to look at their work and never be satisfied, never settle.
When we came home from Prague someone asked me to describe the culture of our organization. I said if you put a sign over the front doors it would read: BEYOND HERE EVERY SINGLE THING MATTERS. Excellence and creativity were our other values, for obvious reasons. Everything needed to be first-rate, and we were surely going to need non-traditional solutions to everyday problems. More than once we had to pull a rabbit out of an empty hat.
The last value was sustainability. One member of the board, Jim Godfrey, was adamant on this. He had allies in board member Judy Rogers and several members of the executive. I wasn’t so sure. I thought it was one of those politically correct words that didn’t have a clear meaning. Did it mean the greening of the Games? Cutting down fewer trees? A smaller this and a smaller that? What does sustainability really mean, I asked. From Jim came the answer I will never forget: “It means you do what’s right every time, period.” That principle couldn’t be any more evident than it was a few years later when we were involved in some construction in Whistler. At one point, our staff had to move dozens of frogs and tadpoles by hand to a location 40 metres upstream. They would do this, at great cost, on five different occasions during work on the men’s and women’s downhill runs.
That’s what was meant by doing the right thing. In front of the camera or behind it our behaviour needed always to be impeccable. No exceptions. Our reputation was the one asset we had that was priceless, so we needed to protect it at all costs. Lose it and we would lose ourselves.
DESPITE ALL THE team building that we had done, life was far from smooth for us. The first few years in the life of an Olympic organizing committee are always challenging, but we had an additional problem that was making our job even harder: an underlying tension was building between the executive and the board of directors. We were like oil and water sometimes.
We felt that some of our board members were putting the needs and desires of the stakeholder group he or she represented ahead of those of the organizing committee and the Games. If we were going to succeed we needed everyone to be united and on the same page.
The other issue that had emerged was leaks, much like what had happened before my appointment as CEO was announced. Sensitive information we were providing to the board was getting out and sometimes appearing in the press. It was as unsettling as it was infuriating. We did not feel that the boardroom was a secure environment to discuss matters that had, on occasion, the potential to impact a company’s share price if made public.
I also felt there was far too much politics going on. We would make a presentation before the board and often come away feeling that we had not taken advantage of the considerable expertise in the room. On the contrary, we sometimes felt the information we were providing the board was being traded and used to our disadvantage by certain stakeholder groups, such as a city council or a government partner. There were just so many conflicts around that boardroom table. My feeling was that if the board’s modus operandi was to allow seven different stakeholder groups to fish for themselves we were going to be in big trouble. We wouldn’t be able to put on the Games we wanted to. Their job was to be a good team too and to help us be successful.
By early fall, I’d had enough. I was frustrated beyond words. We needed to change the dynamic in the boardroom and convince the directors they were supposed to be on our side—that was the only way it could work. My team needed to be better too. I had talked to Jack about this on many occasions, and he completely agreed. He knew we had a problem and that something had to be done—but that did not make dealing with it any easier.
In mid-October 2004, we were going to be announcing our first major sponsorship initiative and we’d come down to two bidders. The board was holding a retreat in Whistler before its October meeting and that is where we were making our presentation on the deal. Outnumbered though I would be, I thought that this might be the best time to speak to the board about our concerns. I began by telling the directors that I understood how difficult their job was—on the one hand, they were representing entities that were negotiating with VANOC; on the other, they were supposed to be looking out for the greater interests of the organizing committee. But, that said, we were all supposed to be playing for the same team. Unfortunately, I continued, my executive was worried about the sanctity of the boardroom. We felt that some directors couldn’t be trusted to keep the information we were giving them confidential; there had been too many leaks.
I had to give them examples of what was going on, which meant awkward innuendo and finger pointing. Some board members resented being told they weren’t trusted and said so. One director later called me borderline impudent. I told them that regardless of whether they felt the charge against them was warranted, the executive was having a hard time and morale was suffering. Although I acknowledged that the scattergun approach had annoyed the innocent members, at least now the healing could start.
(I knew I was taking a personal risk in being this direct. But I figured it was better than trying to solve the issue behind the scenes, working one director off against another. Still, there was a good chance I had offended a lot of people in that room, and depending on how it turned out I may or may not have a job after it was over.)
By the time I finished, the divide between the executive and the board was as wide as the Grand Canyon. A team? I don’t think so. Not even close.
Later on, Jack and I met in my hotel room. “My God, you’re unbelievable!” he said. Jack did not much like conflict so he couldn’t fathom how strident I was with the directors. It was a side of me he’d never seen before. But he still agreed something had to be said.
Members of the executive drove up from Vancouver that night to have dinner with the board. Everybody was polite and friendly, but there was an undercurrent of tension. No one was happy, least of all me. After dinner I had a separate meeting with my team and told them what had transpired earlier in the day. I warned them that the sponsorship presentation to the board the next day was going to be challenging, and we needed to perform at our best.
The meeting would have its noisy moments, but ultimately the board signed off on our proposal. We had received so much pushback on our recommendation that it did not feel much like a win for my team. Before leaving the room, I reminded the directors that this was a strictly confidential matter and that we would be advising the two companies of our decision as soon as we could meet them face to face. I figured that after my earlier conversation with the board, we didn’t need to worry about any more leaks.
Wrong again.
Dave Cobb and I drove to Vancouver right after the meeting. We hadn’t been in the car 15 minutes when my phone rang. It was a good friend who had been heading up what turned out to be the losing bid. “So,” he said, “I understand you’ve made a decision. You might have had the courtesy to let me know in advance, given our long-standing relationship.”
I felt an inch tall. A grenade went off in my head.
I couldn’t believe it. Someone on the board had struck again— even after my warning about leaks. I was furious. I had no choice but to deny that a decision had been made, but my friend knew beyond all doubt this wasn’t the case. When I got off the phone I called Jack and told him what had happened. We agreed that we would investigate fully and confront the board with this information as soon as we could.
I told the directors when we finally did meet that we had a pretty good idea who leaked the information and that as soon as we had it 100 per cent confirmed we would be reporting back to them. Mostly, I wanted to drive home that we were on top of what was going on and determined to root out those who were not working in our best interests. The strategy worked: this would be the last time such a breach occurred. The boardroom became airtight. Score a point for team building.
Our problems with the board didn’t end—not entirely anyway. During the next couple of years, I picked up rumblings about a power move to replace Jack with someone else. There was a feeling among a minority of directors that he and I were too close and that Jack wasn’t objective enough about the job I was doing and the decisions the executive was making. There were some on the board who had the mistaken impression that Jack was meant to be chair only for a couple of years before stepping aside. That was never meant to be the case. Or if it was, it was news to me. For his part, Jack insisted on being reappointed as chair every year. He wanted to earn his spot the old-fashioned, democratic way, by a majority vote of the directors, and did not accept a lengthy term on the board like everyone else.
The executive was made aware of the chatter about replacing Jack, and as a group we made a decision to rally around his leadership. I certainly made it clear to the board, through back channels, that if Jack went I would be gone and some members of the executive team would probably leave too, which would lead to an incredibly messy and unstable situation at the organizing committee. To us Jack was a rock, a giant.
Luckily, that disaster never came to pass.
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Calls for My Head


  I WASN’T LONG into my tenure as CEO when I realized there was a massive problem lurking on the horizon. Not the distant horizon, either. It was barrelling right toward us.
At the time we were bidding to stage the Games, we had to build a plan as if we were holding them in 2002. That meant that our $470-million construction budget was not going to be enough for us to build the sport venues in five or six years’ time. I knew this was going to be an issue from the beginning, but those were the rules by which all the bid cities had to play, and we followed them. The explanation we were given was that this stipulation allowed the IOC to evaluate the relative merits of each bid without having to factor in inflation and other economic elements, which could be radically different from country to country, from year to year.
Bid cities provide dramatically different construction programs because they all have different visions. Some undertake massive infrastructure projects—such as Sochi, Russia, which is building almost everything from scratch—while others don’t. We focused on using existing structures and building as little as possible. We were all about sustainability, and for us less was more. Still, we were going to have to do some construction and we knew the cost was going to be greater than what we projected it would be in the bid book because of inflation alone. It had to be. What we didn’t know when we were designing our original budget was the multiplier impact a red-hot economy would have on the construction industry. The price of everything was sent soaring.
Looking back, if I have any regrets, it’s that we didn’t better explain to the public at the beginning that our construction budget was probably going to need to be increased. We should have better clarified how the IOC bid process worked and why our financial plan was going to have to be reworked to account for a rise in the cost of labour, materials and other inflationary elements of the construction industry. Here we were, an Irish minute into the project, faced with having to ask the federal and provincial governments for more money—and having to tell the public that our costs were going up. Talk about having a queasy feeling in the pit of your stomach. I could picture the screaming headlines about cost overruns and the comparisons with other Olympic cities that had ended up mired in debt.
Everyone at VANOC knew this was going to be one of those storms we were going to have to just get through. Perhaps our first big test.
As an organizing committee, we were unique in that we had asked upfront that the construction program be our responsibility. Most Olympic organizing committees delegate that duty to another company altogether. That company then carries responsibility for all costs, and if there are overruns it—not the organizing committee—has to go cap in hand to some level of government for more money. But we felt that model hadn’t worked well in the past. Most recently, construction on venues for both the 2004 and 2006 Olympics was still being done mere weeks before the start of the Games. Costs went way over budget, and the headlines were ugly. In both cases, the overruns would taint the Olympics. We wanted to control our own destiny, especially given that our reputation was our single biggest asset.
Before we announced that we were looking for more money, we had to demonstrate that we had already tried to trim construction costs as much as we could. This meant taking an almost forensic look at every project and seeing if we could cut something out of the original design to save a few bucks while not harming the integrity of the venue itself. It was vital that we demonstrated to taxpayers that we understood and respected the fact that this was their money and we were not going to be frivolous with it in any way.
The evolution of the Richmond Olympic Oval is a good example of our taking a hard second look in light of the funding challenges that were confronting us. In our original plan, the Oval was slated to be built at Simon Fraser University for an estimated cost of about $63 million. But by the spring of 2004, that projection was already out of date and under pressure. We now estimated the Oval could cost as much as 20 per cent more, given that a lot of construction materials, such as concrete and steel, were rising at ridiculous rates almost weekly. Steel prices had more than doubled over the previous year, and concrete costs were three to five times higher. Greater Vancouver was in the midst of a construction boom, so workers were in high demand and their rates were going up as well. We were facing this perfect storm of circumstances that was attacking our bottom line.
It didn’t take long for the media to conclude that if the costs to build the Oval were up 20 per cent, the cost of everything else was probably going up by a similar rate. And every time the media went to a provincial or federal politician, the answer was “There’s no more money,” which we read as we’d better pull out all the stops. The punditry portrayed us as being in trouble and perhaps in over our heads. The situation forced us to be ultra-creative.
We had hoped that the Oval would be a major contributor to sport programs at SFU long after the Games were over. It was expected that the university would also make a significant investment in the project. But it quickly became apparent that almost the entire cost of the project was going to be borne by us. The university was going to come up with $5 million and no more. With costs rising at the rate they were, that wasn’t going to be enough unless we were prepared to put up a building that resembled a giant shed.
One day I was driving home to suburban Richmond and got stuck in a rush hour traffic jam. I started daydreaming about the Oval challenge. It occurred to me that the City of Richmond had invested $500,000 to help us secure the bid without any expectation it would get something in return. Sitting in my car, I mapped out on a scrap of paper the potential sports legacy a structure like the Oval might have in a community like Richmond. I figured Richmond, with its entrepreneurial partnership-like spirit, might be interested in taking this project on.
The next day, Terry Wright and I sat down with Richmond’s top official, George Duncan, a towering man and at one time a helluva squash player who wore his community pride on his sleeve. I drew up my concept on his whiteboard, gushed on about the potential benefits to the community of such a venue and suggested that if Richmond took the project on it would get a $63-million gift from VANOC and ownership of a one-of-a-kind sports facility. We suggested the Oval would allow the city to rethink its long-term recreational sports facility strategy. George was intrigued and more than a little excited but said he’d need to talk to Mayor Malcolm Brodie and members of city council. Soon we got a message back that the city was interested in entering any competition we commissioned to land the rights to the Oval.
We now had to have an uncomfortable conversation with the folks at SFU. They were not happy when we advised them we were planning to put the Oval up for grabs through a competitive bidding process. We tried to get other municipalities interested, but in the end it came down to SFU versus Richmond. It was no contest. Richmond put an enormous amount of effort into its submission. City staff had flown around the world to look at other ovals. They proposed using a magnificent piece of land along the Fraser River, easily the city’s premier site, to build on. The architectural renderings of the structure the city envisioned would clearly make it the most celebrated venue of the Games. After the Olympics, the city planned to convert the Oval to a magnificent recreational complex, probably the best in the country with a focus on high-performance and community-based activities.
The final price tag would turn out to be $178 million. The city paid for it by selling roughly 20 acres of land it had around the site of the Oval for about $140 million. The architects planned to build the structure, in part, with wood from trees in B.C.’s interior that had been killed by the pine beetle, which would eventually help make the project even more popular with the public. It would be an architectural marvel. The crown jewel of the Games. The “wow” structure that every Olympic Games wants to have.
Simon Fraser’s proposal wasn’t at the same level as Richmond’s. That was a simple fact. There just wasn’t going to be anywhere near the same communitywide legacy as Richmond was envisioning. We had suggested the university try to enlist the help of the City of Burnaby, where the school was located, to get additional funding, but that didn’t go anywhere. Burnaby’s mayor, Derek Corrigan, was not a fan of the Games, so the likelihood of his becoming a champion of SFU’s quest for the Oval was pegged at about zero. It was a shame, because our polling confirmed that Burnaby was a major hotbed of support for the Olympics. We had little choice but to go with Richmond.
I wanted to tell the university’s president, Michael Stevenson, about our decision in person. The timing meant flying home from Athens, where I was attending the Summer Games. I went up to the school with Dave Cobb, who had graduated from SFU and was a favourite son. I was hoping his presence might defuse some of the anger and tension I anticipated. It didn’t.
Michael was pretty miffed. The next day we announced our decision publicly. Michael was quoted in the newspaper as saying he was looking forward to getting an explanation from VANOC about why we had decided on Richmond—making no mention of our face-to-face meeting a day earlier. Derek Corrigan, true to form, used the occasion to take some more shots at us. Most of the media coverage was positive, with many people suggesting we’d pulled off a major coup. We had done our duty and protected taxpayers from a huge cost increase. We felt badly for SFU, but our mandate had become extremely challenging and we were playing for keeps.
It wouldn’t get any easier moving forward.
Since returning from Prague, we had trimmed about $85 million from our original capital costs budget of $470 million by refining designs, cutting out elements that were difficult to build, and by deciding to house the broadcast media in the new Vancouver Convention Centre downtown. Originally, the plan had been to put the broadcasters in a temporary building in Richmond and the print media in Canada Place on Vancouver’s waterfront. NBC’s head honcho, Dick Ebersol, hated that idea and told us so every time he came to town to talk about 2010. He was furious that the broadcasters, who had paid billions of dollars for the right to cover the Games, were being “stuck out in Richmond.” Once we were convinced that the new Convention Centre, which had been plagued by delays and cost overruns, was going to be built on time for us, we made the move. It was going to save money too, because we were not going to have to build a $20-million temporary structure in Richmond. So Richmond lost the broadcasters but had a lock on the Oval.
We were determined that we were not going to provide the two levels of government or the media a whiff of any new numbers until we were satisfied they were ones we knew we could count on until the end. We simply could not afford to get it wrong. We would have only one chance to make a case for more funding.
Meanwhile, we had also decided to see if we could convince the International Ice Hockey Federation (IIHF) to allow us to stage the Olympic hockey tournament on an NHL-sized ice surface, instead of the larger international one. Most of the men’s hockey tournament and some of the women’s would be played at GM Place, home of the Vancouver Canucks. Reconfiguring that ice surface to international dimensions was going to cost up to $20 million to get the job done properly, which would entail ripping up cement and taking out seats. If we could convince the IIHF’s board to allow us to hold the tournament on the existing ice surface, we would save money, time and headaches.
We also thought it was a more responsible decision that should have been up for debate anyway. It seemed ridiculous to tear apart a perfectly fine structure just to have to put it back together again later. That wasn’t living up to one of our values—sustainability.
In 2004, I flew to Riga, Latvia, where the IIHF board was meeting during their world championships, and arrived late the night before the meeting, exhausted. I immediately went to see René Fasel, the IIHF president, in his hotel room. He was waiting there for me with his CEO, Jan-Ake Edvinsson. Everyone was tired. René sat in his chair in his stocking feet, looking as if he’d rather be in bed than briefing me on what to expect the next day. It was the first time I’d spent serious time with Jan, who was a hockey lifer, a stocky guy with a big face and warm smile. But make no mistake; he was tough as battleship steel.
My conversation with the two helped me frame what I would explain to the board the next day. For instance, they told me that the Russians and some other European countries might resist the idea of keeping the NHL ice surface, as they would see it as a move designed to give the North American teams added home-field advantage. My answer to that was simple: most of the world’s top players already played on NHL ice. I just needed to be convincing.
It was made clear to me that if the IIHF was to give us a break, there would have to be a quid pro quo. In other words, enough of a benefit to calm any anxiety expressed by the Europeans. From my end, that meant giving an outright guarantee that hockey would have a spectacular stage at the Games, and that IIHF officials would be treated extremely well and given access to top-notch hotels conveniently located close to the hockey venues. That wasn’t an inducement. It was the least we could do, I figured, given the multimillion-dollar break we wanted them to cut us. Not to mention the fairly radical departure from tradition that the organization would be making.
The next morning, bright and early, I went before the IIHF board and laid out our proposal and suggested it was not reasonable to ask an organization to take existing venues, tear them apart for a one-time use and then endure further costs to restore them to their original use. I suggested that it was contrary to our value system and probably contrary to the value system of the IOC as well. I went so far as to suggest the IIHF would seem heavy-handed and out of touch with the times if it was to press us to deliver wider ice. I wanted to place a burden on them that was too heavy to carry, and to appeal to their social conscience and better judgment. I pitched hard and took my leave. An hour later, I was on a plane for Vancouver.
I thought the discussion went well, but the directors took my presentation under advisement. It wasn’t long, however, before we got word that the IIHF was, in principle, okay with our plan to keep GM Place as it was, subject to some fine-tuning of our proposal. It was a huge win at a time when we were looking to save every dime we could.
By this point in the project, I had already indicated publicly that although we were performing surgery everywhere we could we were going to need more money for construction than we had indicated in our bid. In a speech to the Vancouver Board of Trade in November 2005, I said that with construction costs expected to increase by 50 per cent on comparable major projects and infrastructure, we might need some additional help from government.
Discussions with federal and provincial partners had already started. We had made a detailed submission asking for a lift of $55 million from each. We outlined all the different ways we had trimmed costs, from doing away with our plans to build a temporary broadcast centre in Richmond to reconfiguring cross-country ski trails in the Callaghan Valley southwest of Whistler, and a score of other initiatives. Still, those efforts were mostly overlooked in the ensuing coverage, which focused largely on the call for more funding. The 2002-dollars argument was being ignored.
It bothered us that, even though the construction projects were mostly on schedule and on budget (if you factored in inflation), our message didn’t seem to be getting out. Public confidence in the project was taking a beating. It made no difference that we were outperforming almost every other major project in the province. No matter what we did, it seemed, it was a public relations battle we were losing. The level of scrutiny we faced was intense.
We were even getting negative comments from some elected officials who were pretending they were caught by surprise. Both levels of government knew all along that our original construction budget wasn’t going to be enough because it was in 2002 dollars and did not factor in inflation and rising costs. They knew. We told them enough times. Although I understood the politics of some of the public remarks, it didn’t make them any less galling to swallow. My team felt pretty beaten up and for good reason.
I could have responded to some of those comments, but doing so would have meant throwing our government partners under the bus, and I wasn’t prepared to do that. In part, I think politicians in both Victoria and Ottawa were feeding off concerns the public had about costs and whether we were going to complete the project on time—or if we even knew what we were doing. If the public was unhappy with us, ipso facto it was unhappy with the government.
I spent a great deal of time talking to Jack about this problem. He knew the construction business inside out and had great instincts. We agreed that something dramatic needed to be done, a seismic event of such significance that it would help rebuild public confidence. After a great deal of soul-searching we decided to sign a new head coach for the construction team.
Jack and I both admired Dan Doyle, who had recently retired as B.C.’s deputy minister of transportation. Dan was highly regarded and had successfully spearheaded a number of high-profile provincial initiatives. I first met Dan during our discussions with the government over the Sea to Sky Highway. He had come to Prague for our closing presentation and had a real spirit for the Games. He was a guy who instilled confidence in people and organizations. He was solid, no-nonsense, composed, durable, trusted and respected. We knew he would have a calming effect on the organization and help dissipate the growing panic about our construction program. We knew he could hit the ground running.
As a bonus, Dan knew the inner machinations of the B.C. government. His appointment was going to give us instant credibility in Victoria and probably get government officials off our backs over the cost of the venues. Personally, my plate was overflowing. I just wanted to sleep at night knowing the construction program was in the hands of someone who could deal with any issues that might arise, who would not accept failure. An unflappable, stoic commander.
This meant removing a great guy in Steve Matheson, who was incredibly capable and had done a stellar job on the construction side. Dan Doyle said as much soon after he’d had a chance to assess where things were. Unfortunately, Steve wasn’t able to instill public confidence in what was going on in the way we knew Dan could. Informing Steve of the change was one of the tougher decisions and conversations that I would ever have with anyone, especially as I had earlier convinced him to abandon a great career to join our team. He deserved to cross the finish line with us, having given his heart and soul to the project. It was heartbreaking to ask for his keys.
Dan’s presence on the team had the immediate desired effect, inside the organization at least. He took bear-trap control, declared the construction program sound and then quickly appointed a quarterback for the indoor venues and another for the outdoor ones. He was adamant that all construction would have to be done within our revised $580-million budget and declared victory on that number. The two levels of government eventually approved the $110 million in extra funding. The new budget was the one our organization believed we should be measured against. This was an important distinction, because we planned on saying we had constructed the venues on time and on budget. Others would disagree.
AS GOOD AS we tried to feel about the direction we were heading, there always seemed to be a challenge or mini controversy around the corner.
In September, the provincial auditor general released a report by Pacific Liaicon, a subsidiary of construction powerhouse SNC-Lavalin, which was commissioned to look at our building plans. It questioned whether our $580-million budget was going to be enough to deliver a venue package that the IOC was going to be satisfied with. The auditor general said in another report released at the same time that the true cost of the Games should be pegged at $2.5 billion and not the $600 million the B.C. government was saying was the cost.
Needless to say, the opposition New Democratic Party jumped on the reports, suggesting they pointed to mismanagement, planning errors and cost overruns and harkening back to the massive debt piled up by the City of Montreal for the 1976 Summer Olympics. I thought this was blatant gamesmanship. They did it because they could.
I met with Harry Bains, the NDP’s Games critic, one morning at the Waterfront Hotel and outright accused him of making up facts. I used pretty strong words to remind him of the damage he was doing to the Games by spreading fictitious information. Harry would hang out in our lobby after press conferences looking for the cameras, and when he found one he’d sound off on us. It didn’t matter what we did; it was never good enough for Harry or his party. He would just swing the bat as hard as he could and it didn’t matter who he hit in the process.
A few days after the auditor general’s report, there was a front-page headline in the Vancouver Sun suggesting that people were calling for my head. This was mostly based on NDP leader Carole James’s statement that I should be fired in light of the reports released a few days earlier.
It rattled me a little, I won’t lie. I expected more respect from Carole James, who had never asked for a walk-through of our finances. It burned me even more that the auditor general was sounding off and yet had never once asked to meet with me or members of my team to talk about the facts. It all felt pretty cheap and opportunistic. We had no choice but to sit there and absorb the blows.
Although the temperature around the project seemed to be rising, I felt that we were on the right track. I could see miles of progress that others couldn’t. I tried my best to drown out the background noise, focus on the job and look after my team, which was vicariously under attack too. What else was I going to do? We had a strong set of values upon which we were trying to build the whole organization. And during troubling times like these, it was those values of honesty and decency and trust and hard work that guided us. My dad used to say, “When your world is falling apart and people are saying bad things about you, and the walls are caving in, to survive you must ask yourself the one and only question that matters: ‘What is the truth?’ That will sustain you.” He was right.
All I could do was continue pushing forward. If someone decided it was time to change the CEO for the Games, I had no control over that. What I could control was my ability to lead, be a good example to my troops and continue to work my butt off from five in the morning until I collapsed in bed at midnight.
IT WAS A little-known fact that during the bid phase we had allocated a certain amount of our construction work to First Nations companies and crews as part of Aboriginals’ broad participation and partnership in the Games. There were certainly some doubts within the organization about the capacity of First Nations companies to construct at this level, while staying within the cost parameters and time constraints we had set out. To make certain we kept the situation under tight control, we chose to allocate construction work to First Nations groups upfront, to test the waters, so to speak. That would allow us to see how capable their teams were, and if we saw a problem there was still time to rectify it. As it turned out, we didn’t need to worry.
The First Nations construction crews were first-rate. We began by having them do some earth-moving work on the Nordic cross-country ski trails in the Callaghan Valley. They finished below budget and before their deadlines. They were good. And they were excited to be in on the serious action of building the Games. Everyone was so pleased with the quality of the work that we ended up awarding them about $50 million in contracts, a far leap from the $15 million that was first envisioned. Fact is, they gave us an early edge by saving us money and getting us ahead of schedule. The result was outstanding construction, beautiful venues, full First Nations participation, additional jobs and job training. It also gave these companies a new confidence and new capacity to compete for high-level construction work in the future and worked wonders for our relationship with the four host First Nations.
I was told a great story about a Native father and his son who were part of one of the construction teams in the Callaghan Valley. At one point, the father noticed the son taking a break, sitting on a rock admiring the scenery. He got off his machine, walked over and told him to get back to work. They were there in the service of their country, he told his boy, and there was no time to waste. Such was the spirit of the men and women who came to work on the project from First Nations communities in the Sea to Sky corridor from North Vancouver to Whistler.
AT VANOC, WE worked extremely hard to ensure that the culture at all these projects was healthy and that there was a keen focus and desire to complete the facilities on time and on budget. We needed to make all construction workers feel as much a part of our Olympic family as the person working on logo designs or the one putting together our ticketing program. We were all striving for the same thing and needed to be guided by the same principles.
To make sure that the workers felt included, I would visit construction sites often, and if not me then another member of the executive. We instituted a program in which the workers were given Olympic jackets by one minister or another and were awarded beautiful medals by the premier, who thanked them personally for their work. It was a small thing to remind the workers, who had come from across Canada, of the key role they were playing in helping to prepare the region and the country for the extraordinary experience we were about to have.
By the end of 2006, most of the concerns about construction costs had waned. At least the public debate had quieted down. We were ahead of schedule on many venues. Finding enough accommodation in Whistler still presented challenges, but overall we were being given high marks by the IOC for stability. We felt we had weathered the first early storms that every organizing committee faces and had come out even stronger as an organization. We were finding a second wind. I could feel morale improving.
Our first venue was completed in early 2007—that was the freestyle skiing and snowboarding stadium at Cypress Mountain. By the end of the year, all of the venues at Whistler would be finished—including the ski jumping facilities, the Sliding Centre and the cross-country ski course in the Callaghan Valley. The last venue to be completed was the new curling rink in Vancouver, which opened in 2009, a year before the Games began but just when we needed it.
THE BIGGEST CONTROVERSY surrounded the construction of the Athletes’ Village in Vancouver. We had entered into an agreement with the city early on to provide $30 million toward construction— any costs beyond that were the city’s responsibility. The plan was to build the village on an iconic site on the south shore of False Creek, just across from where Expo 86 was staged—by any measure it was a jewel of a location. Under the plan envisioned by the city, the condominium units would be used by the athletes during the Games and then sold at market prices afterward. The plan called for more than 200 units to be set aside for social housing.
Millennium Development Inc. won the right to build the village complex and they soon produced plans for a state-of-the-art community built to the highest environmental standards in the world. The cost was about $1 billion. Rumours aside, everything seemed to be going fine with construction until fall 2008 and the beginning of the worldwide financial panic. Millennium had arranged financing with a New York–based hedge fund company called the Fortress Investment Group. Fortress, also the parent company of Whistler-Blackcomb ski resort, was really feeling the pinch and was increasingly concerned about overruns that Millennium was incurring at the Athletes’ Village. That fall, it stopped making its monthly loans to Millennium, which forced the City of Vancouver to step in and provide a financial lifeline to the developer. It really had no choice since our deal to provide the village was with the city, not Millennium.
But the decision to provide the financing was made on camera and leaked to Gary Mason. Mason’s stories in the Globe and Mail were published on the eve of a civic election. The governing Non-Partisan Association (NPA) bore the brunt of the scandal that erupted around the secret loan, and the party was all but wiped out at the polls. The election ushered in Mayor Gregor Robertson and his Vision Vancouver party, which took swift political advantage of the situation. Behind the scenes, bureaucrats would lose their jobs, including City Manager Judy Rogers, who sat on our board and had been a champion for the Games from day one. It was a shame to lose Judy because she was smart, savvy and had done a great job for us. Penny Ballem, a formidable administrator, succeeded her.
Eventually, the city would completely take over financing for the project. It wasn’t ideal from the city’s perspective, but there were few other options. The complex would eventually get finished on time and would become easily the best Athletes’ Village in the history of the Olympics. It would be a marquee project for a twenty-first-century global city.
Although we weren’t directly involved in the problems the Athletes’ Village experienced, we couldn’t help but get a little wet when the story splashed over the front pages of the papers for months on end. The new mayor didn’t help by trying to play politics with the situation he inherited, making the NPA look as bad as possible in the process. He suggested that taxpayers had been left with a $1-billion nightmare. I thought it was a lot of overhyped rhetoric that wasn’t particularly helpful or especially fair. In fact, it would come back to haunt him a bit. By the fall of 2010, the Athletes’ Village was back in the news for all the wrong reasons. A suddenly soft real estate market had stalled sales, which whipped up more doom-and-gloom stories about how much money the city was going to lose over the project. The mayor’s handling of the issue was coming under constant attack.
The Athletes’ Village controversy did seem to ignite a whole new round of negative publicity about the cost of the Games. I won’t ever forget the morning I woke up to see the front page of the Vancouver Sun and the massive headline: “ADD IT ALL UP, AND YOU’LL FIND THE OLYMPICS IS GOING TO COST US $6 BILLION (SO FAR ANYWAY).” The story was by Daphne Bramham, the same reporter who had suggested I wasn’t qualified to be CEO. It seemed to spark a whole new round of negative stories about the cost of the Games.
The $6 billion in costs accusation was patently unfair, an exaggeration on steroids. It included the cost of Vancouver’s new Convention Centre, but we had never included the centre in our bid proposal because it wasn’t being constructed for us or by us. It was being built regardless, and we had had no idea if it was going to be on time for the Games. Now that we were confident it would be ready, we were going to pay a considerable rent to use it for the broadcast media.
The same went for the new rapid transit line from the airport into downtown. This was another project that had been on the province’s radar for years, long before the Olympics was being discussed. Originally the hope was it would be built by 2012, if I’m not mistaken. After we won the right to host the Games, an effort was made to move up the timeline so that the line would be in place for the Olympics. After all, the world was coming. But we never made the Canada Line part of our presentation in Prague, and I never mentioned it in a single bid speech.
Now, admittedly, we did include the upgrade to the Sea to Sky Highway in our bid presentation. It was a well-known fact that the road was a killer stretch of highway. The provincial government had been promising to fix it, and there was a timeline to get the work done. Did the province agree to accelerate that timeline for us? Yes, absolutely. If critics wanted to ding VANOC for the cost of the acceleration, fine. What would that be? Maybe $20 or $30 million at most. But to say the project was only in the works because of the Olympics was simply not true. And the people writing those stories knew that.
In the end, these were battles we were never going to win. And frankly, after a while we just gave up trying. There was nothing we could do about what people wrote and said. All we could do was focus on staging the best Games possible. Besides, most of the people working for newspapers or radio or television were complete professionals. And even if I didn’t always agree with what they wrote or said, I respected the fact that they carried out their duties honourably and, for the most part, fairly.
The rage I sometimes felt about the misinformation constantly being spread by the organized opponents of the Games was much harder to suppress. On that front, I had little time or respect for Chris Shaw, the de facto head of the Olympic resistance movement in B.C. Chris was a professor of ophthalmology at the University of British Columbia and author of an anti-Olympics book called Five Ring Circus. Almost from the beginning of the bid, he led the campaign against us, trashing Jack, me and anyone who came within a country mile of the work we were doing.
One time, I was invited on Bill Good’s talk show on CKNW to debate Shaw. Bill is a local broadcasting legend, and has the number one talk show in B.C. Well, right on cue Chris did his thing, ranting about how much the Games were costing, how much damage the Games had left behind in every country that had hosted them, the poverty the Olympics caused, how the poor were booted out of their homes and communities to make way for the rich and powerful. He had statistics that apparently showed the damage that Expo 86 had done to the poor in Vancouver. There was nothing good about the Olympics. All they did was cause chaos and pain—and ruined Christmas for children. Or maybe that was the one thing he didn’t accuse the Olympics of doing . . .
I tried the best I could to maintain my cool and give thoughtful answers. The last thing I wanted to do was to sound as if this guy had succeeded in getting under my skin. I was not going to give Chris’s tiny legion of supporters any cause for celebration even though I wanted to push their man out of the window. When it was time to leave, however, I looked at him and said: “You call yourself a man of science. You should be ashamed of yourself. You should care much more about getting it right and being dead certain you are. That is the one thing that your students should be able to count on from you. But you don’t seem to care about the facts or about getting them straight. You just care about the agenda that you have. It’s a disgrace, quite frankly, that you get away with this.”
Bill Good looked at me with a wry grin.
“Darn it anyway,” he said. “I wish the microphones were still on.”
EVERYONE AT VANOC was now facing a huge workload and attendant pressures. A lot of our staff members were young and enthusiastic, but few had ever faced this kind of stress before. In a project that spanned several years, there were going to be emotional peaks and valleys. It was my job to keep spirits up and, in some cases, put jobs in perspective.
Every year, I sent out a Christmas card to staff containing a letter with a message that I felt might be useful to them. The letters usually got a good response, but the one I sent in Christmas of 2006 really hit home. I talked about how my mother and I had enjoyed an extraordinary relationship over the years, even when we lived thousands of miles apart. We would phone each other, write letters and see each other at family celebrations. We had an intense bond. Then one day, we had our first argument ever and it was a bad one.
“For the first time the phone was placed on the receiver with a blunt thud,” I wrote to my staff. “And it was all my fault. Four months passed without a word or a letter . . . too stubborn and all over nothing. Then my brother phoned. Mum was dead. And I was filled with remorse, tears and guilt. For one more hug, one more smile, I would have given anything.”
After her funeral, I was alone in her apartment going through old photo albums and other family history. I came across a sealed envelope on top of the mantel with my name on it.
“I picked it up almost trembling,” I wrote. “Inside was mum’s last letter to me, written as if nothing had happened at all. Words of compassion, kindness and love, as if she knew we might not see each other again. It was carefully folded around her photos of me growing up, our happy memories from times long past. It was her final but lasting lesson on how to live better . . . her gift of peace and joy.”
My point was to share my mother’s lesson with my Olympic family at VANOC. Each year represented a new beginning, a chance to get a fresh start, make wrong things right. I wanted to make sure that those working with me didn’t make the same mistake I had.
“So go on,” I wrote. “Make your mother proud. Celebrate the gift of family and friends. A kind word, a warm hug, a long overdue call. Spread some joy. Semez de la joie. ”



6            


Diving for Pennies


  THE DOOR SLAMMED with a loud crack. A picture hanging on the wall of the boardroom crashed to the floor. Those of us left behind at our Gastown headquarters looked at one another self-consciously in the wake of Terry Wright’s emotional departure. The silence was deafening.
In the early going, dust-ups over the value of corporate sponsorships were fairly common. VANOC was responsible for two very different budgets. One was the budget to build the venues. The second was to run the Games—money for transportation, staff, accommodation and a myriad of other costs. While the public perception seemed to be that taxpayers’ dollars were being used to finance this budget as well, it was not the case. Only about 10 per cent came from government. The majority of the funding came from the private sector, which included our share of the money the IOC received from the sale of television rights to broadcasters. There was also money from ticket sales. But the bulk of the budget would derive from our ability to convince corporations to pony up millions of dollars to become Olympic partners.
During the bid, our target for corporate sponsorships was set at a sobering $450 million—the most we thought we could raise. Many thought that was a wildly unrealistic goal. Even the IOC had its doubts and said so. Terry Wright, my top lieutenant, and Linda Oglov, who headed up our marketing team during the bid phase, both felt that the maximum amount we were likely to get out of the biggest corporations in the country would be between $20 and $30 million. That is what history had shown. Canada was not known for deep pockets like those found in corporate America.
I knew that if these estimates were true we were going to be in big trouble. We would never be able to stage the kind of Games that I and others envisioned. Even with $450 million we would be putting on the Low-Cost Games. Or worse, we would be in a nasty deficit position when it was all over, with the public screaming bloody murder.
Terry and Linda often became exasperated listening to me ramble on about the value a company could derive from an association with the Olympics. I’m sure there was more than a little violin music played when I was not in the room. Terry, in particular, grew tired of me constantly challenging his assertion that Canadian companies had a fairly modest ceiling when it came to sponsorships. It was during one such meeting that Terry, having had enough, slammed the door behind him with enough force that it caused a picture to fall off the wall.
Linda thought I’d been a bit rough on Terry and told me so the next day. What’s more, she thought Terry was right when it came to forecasting what we’d be able to raise through sponsorships—give or take a few million. We agreed to disagree. Clearly, our visions were not aligned. Some of us were thinking about two great weeks of sport—others were dreaming about taking the Olympic spirit into every home in Canada, nation building, one Canadian at a time if necessary. I was among the latter.
To me, the first deal that we struck with a corporate partner was going to establish the bar against which all other partnerships would be measured. We had many conversations about which business sector would give us the best chance at success in this regard. We finally agreed it would be telecommunications.
It was clear to us that Telus, based on the West Coast, desperately wanted to be associated with the Games. The company had generously donated nearly $5 million to help us put together our bid. It was evident in some preliminary discussions that I had with Bell Canada that it wanted in too, badly. Bell also didn’t want Telus seizing the Olympic spotlight at its expense. At the time, Bell was the telecommunications partner of the Canadian Olympic Committee.
It was important to us that we not only get a deal that was a runaway financial hit, but that we also attract a new teammate that was aligned fully with our values and our vision. We wanted a company that had the capacity and desire to help us take our story to all corners of the country. Telus and Bell both set up teams inside their respective companies to work on their bids.
I have a wonderful memory of walking into Bell’s executive offices in Montreal and sitting down with the company’s CEO, Michael Sabia, a man with a deep love for the country. I talked about our vision for the Games, the many challenges we faced, the once-in-a-generation opportunity the Olympics presented Canadians. I looked him in the eye and asked him if Bell could become a champion for these Games. I remember Michael’s passionate response. He told me how much Bell wanted to be our partner, how much the company, and he himself, believed in the nation-building adventure we had embarked on. He said Bell would be a partner VANOC could count on to help spread the Olympic spirit throughout the country and deliver a flawless telecommunications set-up for the Games. He gave me his word that Bell would live this experience with us moment by moment if we were to accept it as our first partner.
I believed him.
Michael saw the Games as an opportunity to take a company that had been in Canada for almost a century and revitalize it. It was a chance for Bell to rebrand itself in a more youthful, relevant image and connect with younger customers. His biggest concern, and one he expressed many times in different ways, was that the bid process be fair. I think there was a worry in the executive ranks at Bell that we might try and give Telus a bit of a hometown discount and award it the deal no matter what Bell put on the table. I gave Michael my word that the winning bid would be the winning bid even if the distance between the two was a dime. We shook on this promise.
Telus, of course, was just as enthusiastic. The company saw the Olympics as an opportunity to take Canada by storm and come out as the number one telecommunications company. The guy Telus put in charge of its bid was a ferociously competitive fellow named Rob Cruickshank. Rob was a good friend of mine. I had helped train his son, Greg, who would become a nationally ranked squash player. Rob had always been good to me. He was someone I never hesitated to call during difficult times. I wasn’t sure Rob’s appointment to head up Telus’s bid team was coincidental, but it did make the situation awkward at times, especially at the end.
My goal was to build as much competitive tension between the two companies as possible and elevate the level of public interest around the bids in the process. It was high drama. Financial commitments notwithstanding, either company, we were convinced, would deliver the telecommunications solution for which we were looking. I hoped we would not have to decide the outcome through a type of shootout. I preferred that the winner was a mile in front.
By the time the deadline had arrived, I was convinced we were heading into uncharted waters as far as sponsorship deals go. I could sense how desperate both companies were to sign on and spend the next five-plus years taking advantage of an association with the Olympics. When it came time to receive the two bids, I contrived a reason to be out of the office so that Terry Wright would be the person who would open the envelope. Devilishly, I wanted to hear his voice when he looked at the numbers. And I also sensed Terry wanted to be the one with the letter opener in his hand.
The envelope, please!
The day the bid offers arrived, Terry got me on the phone in Harrison Lake, B.C., where I was doing some business. Out of instinct I told him to open the Telus bid first. The package contained an extremely sophisticated proposal that conveyed the passion the company had toward the Olympics. Then Terry came upon the dollar value of the bid. There were a few seconds of dead air.
It was valued at about $135 million—an unheard of amount in the history of Canadian corporate sponsorship deals.
I could tell Terry was stunned. I felt like a child who had just discovered a new bike under the Christmas tree, though I tried not to show it over the phone. I felt Terry was going to be even more dumbfounded in a few minutes.
He then opened the Bell offer, which also contained a beautifully packaged set of materials that outlined their telecommunications strategy for the Games and articulated the promise the company was making to help sell these Olympics to the country. The Bell proposal screamed commitment. And then Terry told me what the value of the Bell bid was: $200 million. It included $90 million in cash, $60 million in telecommunications services and $50 million in tangible promotional support for the Games, including a $15-million cash investment in Own the Podium (OTP). A new high-performance athlete program that brought science to bear on training and preparation, OTP was just coming out of the gate. We needed a partner to invest big if we were to have a genuine shot at raising enough money to achieve our goal of topping the medals table in Vancouver for the Olympics, and placing third at the Paralympics. The federal government had committed $55 million, and we were on the hook to match. The program was seen by VANOC as vital to achieving our vision of bringing the country together. With Bell’s proposal, we’d hit the jackpot and had a new ceiling.
Terry chuckled as he read and the significance of the moment was not lost on him. He had in his hand the largest sponsorship deal in the history of the Olympics—Summer or Winter—period. It was an extraordinary moment in the life of the 2010 Games, and the one during which I think Terry realized the power of our vision. We were incredibly excited—this wasn’t just a home run; this was a grand slam early in the game. We agreed it was crucial that the contents of the bids remain confidential until we completed a full analysis and audit of every detail.
We had former B.C. chief justice Allan McEachern, whom we had hired as a fairness monitor, evaluate the two bids himself. He too concluded the Bell offer was easily the best proposal. It didn’t take long for my executive team to endorse the Bell bid.
Right after our board approved the deal, I phoned Michael Sabia with the good news. He was, as expected, over the moon. It may well have been the first day he completely trusted VANOC, despite the assurances we had given him that the process would be fair and carried out with integrity. Michael had grand plans to make the announcement to all of the company’s employees via a simulcast in a week’s time.
Before then, we would have to tell Telus officially that it had been unsuccessful. I made a call in person to the company’s downtown office, along with Dave Cobb, to see Darren Entwistle, the CEO of Telus. Darren, an impeccable dresser, was a legendary figure among the Canadian business establishment. He had done wonders with Telus since taking over the helm. But he had a reputation for not suffering fools gladly. He did not like to lose. Everything I had heard about him suggested a person whose veins bulged from his neck when a decision didn’t go his way. Maybe that wasn’t the case, but that was the image I had in my head as we walked into a boardroom to give him the bad news. I was nervous and shaking. Darren was already red-faced. He knew what was coming.
I thanked him for Telus’s support throughout the bid phase and for the company’s interest in the sponsorship deal. But I told him that the VANOC executive had recommended the Bell bid to the board and it had been approved, and I gave him all the reasons. Looking into Darren’s eyes at that moment was like looking into the burning fires of hell itself.
“Is that it?” he said.
Yes, we said.
“Okay,” he said. “Thanks for coming and best of luck.”
And that was it. Dismissed. Short and painful. My friendship with Rob Cruickshank would never be the same, unfortunately. He would be quoted as saying that we had “elected to go with the cash.” That’s not the way I saw it at all. It sounded like sour grapes to me.
We made the announcement official on the afternoon of October 18, 2004. Bell employees across the country were ecstatic when Michael Sabia and I appeared on their computer screens to deliver the surprise news. It didn’t take long for the news to filter into boardrooms across the country where other sponsorship bids were being prepared for our evaluation. I would later learn that the Bell offer made companies pause and rethink their proposals, jacking them way up in many cases and maybe causing a few to abandon their plans entirely. One thing was certain: It was game on.
The IOC was astounded at the Bell result. We were already halfway to the number we had targeted in the bid—the one the IOC was skeptical we might not hit. Now we needed a few more big victories on the sponsorship front to really create some momentum and take the financial pressure off the organization.
Our next target was the banks.
At the same time that the Bell and Telus battle was unfolding, we were talking to a number of Canadian banks about becoming a premier national sponsor of the Games. Many took a look, but in the end it would become a contest between the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and the RBC Financial Group.
The Royal had been a supporter of the Canadian Olympic Committee for well over 50 years, the world’s longest uninterrupted Olympic partner. It was determined to secure the sponsorship. CIBC was hoping to dethrone the Royal as the so-called Olympic bank. Both put together excellent presentations, though I will admit that the Royal’s struck me for its passion but even more so for its alignment with our values and vision. It had that irresistible human touch. RBC president and CEO Gord Nixon impressed upon us that his bank was an institution we could trust. He emphasized this many times. He left us with words we would never forget: “Canadians will judge you by the company you keep,” a humble but pointed reference to the fact that RBC was at the time regarded as Canada’s most trusted company.
After listening to CIBC and Royal’s pitches in Toronto and getting the substance of their offer, Dave Cobb, Andrea Shaw, our vice-president of sponsorship sales and marketing, and I flew back to Vancouver. We worked on the documents throughout the flight and continued our work in an airport lounge. It was our view that the Royal was probably the right partner, but it would need to up the value a bit. We sat for hours talking strategy. A little drama was called for, I thought.
It was decided that I would phone Graham MacLachlan, RBC regional president for B.C., at the crack of dawn the next day. I asked for an immediate meeting so I could outline our concerns. I’m pretty sure Graham was still in his pajamas when I called. I told him we had a few challenges with their proposal, but that we would like to try and work them out. He agreed to turn his morning upside down, and I met him in a room on the thirty-sixth floor of the bank’s downtown offices in Vancouver. I told him that based on the proposal we had it would be difficult to cut a deal. But if RBC could rework the numbers a bit we felt there was an agreement to be had—that day.
We bantered back and forth and eventually got Dave Cobb on the phone to talk details. To further add to the drama, I asked Dave to jump in his car and come down to where our meeting was taking place. He was standing next to me in 15 minutes. We pitched hard for a recalibration of their proposal. Graham said he would see what he could do and make some calls. We went to a waiting room. Graham got Gord Nixon and the bank’s top marketing executive involved. Soon we were all on a conference call and batting ideas back and forth. Once again, we were banished to the waiting room. Twenty minutes and one more conference call later, the bank agreed to amend its proposal, which improved our cash position by $26 million.
Dave and I left absolutely delighted with the deal we had managed to strike. We high-fived each other in the elevator, two kids who had just landed an extra scoop of ice cream.
The Royal was an enormous force in the country, and Gord Nixon was a universally trusted CEO who we felt confident would help us elevate our standing in the corporate community across the country. When he spoke, people listened. We announced the deal to great fanfare at an RBC annual general meeting in Halifax in late February 2005. The package ended up being worth more than $110 million and gave the bank Canadian marketing rights to the next four Olympic teams.
The deals started to come fast and furious now. The one that followed the RBC announcement had interesting roots, as it were. In the fall of 2002, I was named Canadian Sports Leader of the Year in Toronto. As it turned out, the person who had been chosen to present the award that night was George Heller, an old friend and president and CEO of the Hudson’s Bay Company. George was a formidable fellow with a solid sports background. He had been CEO of the very successful Commonwealth Games in Victoria in 1994.
Afterward, we were sharing a few laughs backstage when I just came out and told George there had to be a way for Canada’s oldest company and largest retailer to become partners with Canada’s Games. George agreed and we shook hands, determined to make it happen. A handshake with him I would take over a contract anytime. That little backstage meeting would cement our friendship and become the first of many over the next couple of years that would eventually lead to HBC’s becoming the third big sponsorship deal that we announced in 2005. It was a package worth more than $100 million, which not only gave the company the rights to design, manufacture and provide clothing and luggage for Canada’s Olympic teams over the next eight years, but also make The Bay the official Olympic department store and VANOC’s merchandise retail partner. Also, it was the first deal of its kind in Olympic history.
Yes, we were doing it our way.
The Bay announcement wasn’t without controversy. Many people thought we would stick with the popular Canadian clothier Roots, which had made a name for itself with the “poorboy” hats it designed for the Salt Lake City Olympics. Roots founder Michael Budman was not happy about The Bay deal and with no evidence at all cried foul. In financial terms, the Roots offer was empty for us. Zero cash, plus we were not just looking for a clothing retailer. The Bay’s story and our vision for the Games meshed perfectly.
The Bay began designing outfits for Canadian Olympians in 1936 and continued until 1968, when it was supplanted as the official clothing supplier by other companies. George saw this deal as central to The Bay’s vision for becoming new again. For The Bay, it was also paramount to its emerging business strategy of reconnecting with Canadians. In an instant, the company’s army of employees became 2010 Olympic messengers.
In the first three deals, totalling in excess of $400 million, we had doubled the amount we anticipated getting from selling 10 top sponsorship packages.
AMID ALL THE wheeling and dealing and travelling on the sponsorship front, a group from VANOC attended the 2006 Winter Games in Turin, Italy—a last chance to learn before the world’s attention would be on us. Our team took plenty of notes in Turin, noting the many problems that the folks there were experiencing and how they addressed them. From a marketing and fundraising prospective, Turin was our polar opposite.
The Games were never sold to all of Italy; they were completely local. In some parts of the country the level of awareness bordered on lack of interest. You got the sense at times that even the city of Turin itself wasn’t all that excited about the Games, certainly during the build-up phase.
There were three big Canadian stories in Turin, two positive, one a little less so. One of the positive stories was the success of our athletes— the men’s hockey result aside. We ended up winning 24 medals, a new Winter Games record for Canada. More importantly, it was a sign that the fledgling Own the Podium program was already paying dividends, even though it was just one year old. The other big moment for us was the closing ceremonies, where the Olympic flag would be handed over to Vancouver Mayor Sam Sullivan.
Sam’s presence on the stage became the focus of worldwide media attention because he is paraplegic. He was the first Olympic mayor to receive the Olympic flag, and wave it in front of 60,000 cheering spectators and a massive global television audience, while seated in a wheelchair. It was a wonderful moment that I thought reflected well on Canada and spoke to our values as a country and our sense of fairness and inclusiveness. Sam was beaming.
As part of any closing ceremonies, about eight to 10 minutes are given over to the organizing committee of the next Games to introduce themselves to the world. We chose a light approach and decided to poke a bit of fun at ourselves, play up some of our stereotypes and then undermine them a bit by showing the young, dynamic face of the country in the image of singer Avril Lavigne.
The trouble began days before the closing ceremonies arrived. The weather was horrible, which made rehearsing in the open-air stadium absolutely brutal for our performers. And the Italians didn’t treat us all that great either. Our eight minutes was just not important to them. They gave us rehearsal times in the middle of the night. Many of our people were in lousy moods as a result and not exactly motivated to practise long and hard. They just wanted to get on with it.
All things considered, the ceremonies came off pretty well. Our montage began with a scene of a guy ice fishing and included images of igloos and Mounties, a deliberate attempt to poke a little fun at the Canada of the past. Even though our performers seemed to pull it off with few hiccups, we expected some abuse from the media. It seems that throughout Olympic history, these presentations by the cities next hosting the Games are always ripped in the home press. No one is spared. Ours would be no exception. It was a little different in our case, as it wasn’t just the media attacking us; even Premier Gordon Campbell got into the act and let us have it for a performance he thought was cliché-ridden and didn’t speak to the “new Canada.” This was one of the few times I was disappointed in Gordon. Not that he didn’t have the right to his opinion, but I wished he had spoken to me first before taking a stick to us in public.
I mean, did the premier and others really think we were trying to promote ice fishing in Canada? It was simply a way to start our production by saying “This is the Canada that was,” and then move to the Canada we are today—youthful, vibrant, hip, fun. (Although having said that, there are still parts of Canada where ice fishing is important—I have letters from those folks to prove it.) But remember we had only eight minutes. It’s very difficult to tell a full story in eight minutes, even though we had some of the brightest cultural minds in the country helping us.
Others criticized us for portraying Canada as an ice-locked deep freezer. Well, we never did that. But we did want to say that we Canadians love winter, we embrace it and we overcome it every year. The Winter Games are supposed to be about winter. Hockey and curling are not for the beach. I found it interesting that the only place we got royally ripped was at home. “Bravo, Canada!” was NBC’s sign-off that night.
If I had to do it over again, I would hire three great performers, put them on the stage and have them sing three great Canadian songs and go home.
AFTER TURIN, OUR focus continued to be on raising as much money as we could through sponsorships. We knew we needed a landmark deal in the automobile sector, though that proved a greater challenge than we anticipated.
Almost from the day we got the Games, General Motors had indicated a strong willingness to partner with us. That sounded good, but in order for us to make the right deal we needed to create the impression that there were a number of other automakers who also wanted in—which wasn’t exactly the case. The fact is no one we talked to was offering what GM could and would put on the table, which made creating the illusion of a major competition that much tougher. In the end, we signed a fairly lucrative deal with GM Canada that was valued at about $67 million. The company ended up supplying us with 6,000 vehicles, cash and support for Own the Podium.
General Motors had become our sixth national Tier 1 partner. Besides GM, Bell Canada, RBC and The Bay, we also managed to put together strong pacts with RONA and Petro-Canada. The RONA deal was interesting because the company’s CEO was trying hard to unseat Home Depot as the top home renovation company in Canada. He saw the Olympics, traditionally an event Home Depot sponsored, as a way to help pull it off. So we created a pretty strong competition between the two companies, and thanks to some last-minute bargaining RONA won out with a bid that amounted to $68 million. I will never forget the company’s emotional pitch in Montreal as its French-speaking CEO, Robert Dutton, stood atop a Canadian loonie for good luck. A bonus of the deal was that we were now firmly grounded in Quebec and expanding our influence among francophones.
Ultimately, our sponsorship total would amount to more than $750 million, which completely stunned the pundits and especially the IOC. We signed nearly 70 partners, and in each case the company had pretty much written the largest cheque it ever had for a sponsorship. It showed how important the association with Vancouver 2010 had become. An added bonus throughout this process was seeing what a company’s involvement in the Olympics meant to its employees. I recall flying to Calgary with Dave and Andrea to meet with the executives of Petro-Canada. The employees came down by the hundreds to the lobby, where they staged an in-house demonstration to let us know how badly they wanted to be Olympic partners. A sea of singing red-shirted employees was there to make an impression that would tug our heartstrings and touch our Canadian pride. And it worked. I had tears in my eyes.
Still, I believe we could have raised tens of millions of dollars more from sponsorships if we had had greater authority over the entire process. But the IOC controlled business categories that would have been lucrative for us but were sold internationally by the Olympic committee itself. When the IOC sold a category, say to Coca-Cola or McDonald’s, we would get between 15 and 20 per cent of the deal and for that the company would get the same rights as Bell or RBC. We would clearly have done far better operating on our own but had to play by the IOC’s rules.
One of our biggest disappointments was not being able to convince the IOC to allow us to have a competitive bid process in the beer category. God knows we tried. The IOC had signed a one-off deal with Budweiser that gave the company Olympic marketing rights up to 2008. That left us little time to negotiate a deal with Molson’s or anyone else after it expired. We did ultimately sign an agreement with Molson’s for a few million dollars, but it was nowhere near what we could have secured had we done a Tier 1 sponsorship deal with Molson early on. Molson’s still ended up being great partners.
In the end, the IOC saw the situation for what it was and realized we had been hurt badly by the deal it signed with Budweiser and that we probably ended up losing tens of millions as a result. It was not one of the IOC’s better deals, for sure.
Domestic television broadcast rights to our Games were also the IOC’s baby, but we were obviously intensely interested in the outcome. We believed that the more eagerness and passion we stirred up around our project, the more the networks in Canada would want to be involved. This would attract more lucrative bids, which would mean more revenue for us—in theory anyway.
Negotiations had become complicated by the fact that we had signed the massive deal with Bell Canada. Bell was a corporate partner of CTV and desperately wanted the network to win the rights—it would make the telecommunication giant’s life simpler on so many levels.
Bell CEO Michael Sabia phoned me up one day to ask if there was anything I could do to help CTV. I told him the best I could do was meet with the network’s CEO, Ivan Fecan, and talk to him about what we were trying to achieve and how they might best fashion the company’s presentation to the IOC. In fact, I met with representatives from CTV and CBC to talk about our goals and dreams. The reception I received from the two networks couldn’t have been more different.
The CBC didn’t seem at all interested in what we were trying to achieve. Its president presented CBC as a company that had done this many times, knew the drill, and frankly, thought Canadians expected them to cover these Games. The company was happy to talk partnerships but left little doubt about who would be calling the shots. Its executives didn’t seem to be moved by the fact that we were looking for a more collaborative approach. We wanted to work with a company that shared our values and was interested in helping us make our vision a reality. We also wanted to introduce every athlete on the Olympic team to every person in the country.
CTV, in contrast, was widely enthusiastic about what we were trying to accomplish and completely open-minded. We quickly concluded that CTV would be the best broadcast partner for us, whatever the financial commitment it was prepared to make. The network would assure the Games received the saturation we had hoped for and saw the business advantage that went along with it. Still, we were extremely worried that the IOC might still favour the CBC, even if the bids were a distance apart in value. The IOC knew the CBC and felt comfortable doing business with the highly regarded, award-winning broadcaster.
As the two companies gathered in Lausanne to pitch the IOC, I received an eleventh-hour call from Michael Sabia, who was sweating buckets and was especially worried about mobile-rights issues if CTV lost. He asked me to help. So I called Ivan Fecan, who was in Lausanne getting ready to give his final pitch. He too was biting his nails. Michael had asked me to give Ivan some frank advice about the company’s presentation the next morning. I told him it needed to be like the one we presented the IOC in Prague, as much about heart and soul as business. It needed to be respectful of the IOC and embrace the broad spirit of the Games. It had to be filled with emotion and energy, had to make people believe they desperately wanted the opportunity to make these Games special. Mostly, it needed to stress partnership. It was important that the company impress upon the IOC that it shared our values and ideals.
As it turned out, Ivan and his group completely nailed it. I think it would have made a difference had the gap between CTV ’s and the CBC’s financial offers been close. But it wasn’t. The CBC was outplayed by the new kids on the block, ones who radically altered their approach so that no Canadian would miss a minute of the action. It was good for us and good for business.
CTV bid $151 million for Olympic rights from 2008 through to 2012. Of that, $90 million was for the rights to 2010. It was the first time ever that a Winter Games bid had topped a Summer Games bid. The entire package was a record for Canada. It seemed as if almost every day of the Games the network set new records for viewership.
We at VANOC were operating all along under the mistaken belief that a bigger television deal in Canada would mean more money for us. Otherwise, why would we be working so hard to drum up such intense interest in the bids, to create a competitive dynamic in order to drive up the price, if there was nothing in it for us? In fact, when you added CTV’s offer to what the IOC got from NBC and others around the globe it added up to almost $4 billion, a new record. In our original bid, we expected the IOC to contribute roughly US $348 million toward our Games, money that mostly came from television revenues. Our number was based on what the IOC had shared with previous Winter Games. But now, the IOC had decided to put us and London on fixed amounts based on what it gave to Turin 2006 and Beijing 2008, plus inflation. We didn’t think this was fair and bluntly told the IOC so.
We weren’t able to convince the Olympic committee to give us a greater percentage of television revenues. It didn’t want to set a precedent, which would mean London would be asking for the same thing a few years down the road. But the IOC did give us more money overall than it originally said it would and continued to help us when we were in very stormy seas.
ONE THING THE sponsorship phase made clear was just how important our vision of uniting the country was in enticing national companies to join us in our mission. I sat in on dozens and dozens of meetings with CEOs who spoke passionately about wanting to be part of this great Canadian story. If the 2010 Olympics had been marketed as Vancouver’s or B.C.’s Games, we wouldn’t have received nearly the same level of interest from corporations across the country. In fact, I believe the Games would have been a financial disaster. A lesser vision and many of our friends would likely have sat out the experience.
I think the radical approach we took will be one of the legacies from our Games—how it changed big-event marketing to some extent. We were able to prove to the country that marketing doesn’t have to be just about selling the rights to use a logo, but rather selling the rights to have a complete engagement, a complete affiliation. Ultimately, the companies that signed on helped us stage the Olympic Games. Yes, they put our logo on their products, but their men and women were involved in every way with the staging of the Games. They were in the trenches with us and worked hard for our success. Many loaned employees to VANOC for a period of time. They were our everyday ambassadors and were everywhere—just as we had hoped.
Our licensed products, in the meantime, also became runaway favourites. Our executive was stunned by the ever-growing numbers we were getting from sales, whether it was replicas of our mascots, pens, watches, water bottles or the famous Red Mittens.
We unveiled our logo first. We called it Ilanaaq, the Inuit word for friend or buddy. The logo was based on the Inukshuk, the stone landmark figure the Inuit people have relied on for centuries as a signal. It was chosen by a panel of nine judges and picked from more than 1,600 entries. I was thrilled with it. I thought it represented the entire country, but particularly the North, and it was rooted in a profound and caring spirit. It was a stone beacon that visitors looking for the Games could rely on to guide them. A new Canadian icon, and it was ours.
We were going to be making the announcement on a Saturday, live, on national television and in all time zones. I was watching Global BC news on the Friday night before the announcement when they led with an item about our new symbol. Apparently, someone told a reporter there he had seen it and described it for him. This was the foundation for a story filed by Ted Chernecki that mocked the design, which someone had sketched out on a piece of paper. The story just completely trashed what we had come up with, even though no one at the station had actually seen it.
I was furious, as mad as I think I had ever been during my entire association with the Olympics. I phoned up the station right after taking a run at Dennis Skulsky, Global’s top executive on the west coast at the time. Dennis shared the view that Global had misbehaved badly and apologized unconditionally. When I got the news director, Ian Haysom, on the phone, I let him have it. I told him I was so angry watching the item I wanted to throw my cellphone against the wall. Not only did the story ridicule the design, but it also got the name of the winning designer wrong and ruined the real winner’s moment in the spotlight. My voice grew so loud and animated that my wife took Molly outside the house so she didn’t have to listen to my rant. If Ian got a word in I did not hear it. That was one of the few times I really lost my cool with the media.
But while the logo was criticized initially, mostly by those expecting to see the Maple Leaf, those opinions quickly faded into the background as its popularity gained momentum across the country. Pretty soon there were school groups from Parker’s Cove, Newfoundland, to Port Coquitlam, B.C., building or designing Inukshuks in the classroom. You could drive down the Sea to Sky Highway or country roads in Quebec and Ontario and come across a stone replica of our logo.
When it came time to unveil our mascots, we hired a local entertainment company, led by Patrick Roberge, to design a show that would be staged in a Surrey school theatre. We brought in a bunch of kids to welcome Sumi, Quatchi and Miga to our Olympic family. Mukmuk, a Vancouver Island marmot, was introduced as a sidekick. The media were placed strategically in the audience of children so they could see their smiles up close. It would be hard to be critical amid the hysteria generated by happy, screaming kids. As hoped, Quatchi and company didn’t attract the kind of criticism some Olympic mascots initially invite—to my great relief. (Unlike the poor folks in London, whose one-eyed mascots, Wenlock and Mandeville, were trashed by everyone but children.)
Quatchi was a sasquatch with boots and earmuffs who had the commanding presence of a hockey goalie. Miga was a mythical sea bear. Sumi, part whale, part bird and part bear, was the official mascot of the Paralympics. We originally thought we’d need a few sets of the mascots to make appearances around the country. The demand for them ended up being so great we had to increase the number tenfold.
Like everything that was important at VANOC, the mascots had a champion, a mastermind lurking in the background. His name was Leo Obstbaum.
Before Leo arrived on the scene at VANOC, there had been months of loud banter inside the organization about the “look” that we wanted to create, a look that would be evident in everything from backdrops to torches, a trail-blazing design that would separate us from all the other Olympics before us.
In a perfect world, we would have had our own design team working inside the walls of VANOC to have greater control over what was produced—provided, of course, we had the horsepower and creative proficiency to deliver the kind of results that were needed. Ali Gardiner was heading up our young, fairly inexperienced brand and creative team. Well aware of our vulnerabilities, she was hunting for senior talent to help get us to the next level. That is when she came across Leo.
Leo was from Buenos Aires and had done some creative work on the Summer Games in Barcelona in 1992. He had quite a bit of experience in designing mascots, specifically. Ali was convinced this was the guy we needed to inspire and build our design team, but English wasn’t his first language, and he also lacked experience working in Canada. An interview was set up with Dave Cobb and me.
Leo was a charming guy, mid-thirties, thin, with a goatee. At first glance, he could easily have passed for a Spanish painter or a matador. I could tell he was nervous but I could also tell he wanted this job desperately, even though his résumé didn’t stop us in our tracks. But over the years, I have found myself in rooms with a lot of guys just like him. When I worked at the Arbutus Club, this 26-year-old Belgian kid, Patrick Marchal, walked in wanting the chef’s job we were advertising. His résumé was thin, but his heart was the size of a mountain.
“Give me the job for six months,” he said to me. “You don’t even have to pay me. And if at any point I’m not working out you can kick me out the door.”
Well, he knew I was going to pay him. But I gave him a chance and he worked out brilliantly. He now owns his own winery in France.
There was a bit of that guy in Leo. He was just looking for a chance. We gave it to him, and he turned out to be a stunner who managed to steal the hearts of just about everyone whose path he crossed. He really was a complete genius who saw beauty in the most nondescript things. Everything he touched seemed to win rave reviews. The IOC had to sign off on every design we came up with, whether it was the mascots or the medals. And every time Leo put something in front of them, the box was ticked minutes later.
When it came time to design the medals, Leo and Ali spent months consulting with athletes and others. He researched medals through the ages. He came up with the idea of making each medal unique, something that had never been done before. “Imagine,” he said one day. “Imagine an athlete showing his medal to a bunch of kids and telling them there isn’t another one like it anywhere in the world.”
Leo had a bit of child in him, that innocent spirit of wonder. He revelled in the happiness of others. At staff gatherings when we honoured the performance of a teammate, you would always spot Leo standing on the side wearing a huge grin. In meetings, if he was showing us something and it wasn’t working or he wasn’t getting the feedback he was looking for, he’d stop and say, “Okay, we’re not ready. This is not good enough. I’ll come back.” And he would, with something better. But when he felt he was dead right he would pull out all the stops to get you to his point of view.
Then one August morning, Ali asked to see me and Dave Cobb. She started to talk but couldn’t get the words out before breaking down. Leo had passed away the night before in his sleep. It was his heart. The irony was lost on few of us. The guy had one of the biggest ones around.
At his memorial service in the packed atrium of our company headquarters a few days later, I asked those assembled to cast their eyes around the very place we were standing and see how much Leo had touched. The look of the Games was everywhere. He was buried on a lovely warm Vancouver day, and as we stood around his grave taking turns tipping soil on top of his coffin a rapid transit train with one of Leo’s Olympic designs on the side whizzed by. We all smiled.
THANKS TO OUR merchandising and sponsorship deals, by the fall of 2008, the financial health of our organization was fairly strong. Our construction woes were behind us. We were optimistic about the revenue we would get from ticketing. Every week or two we seemed to be announcing another deal, tacking a new name up on our wall. One week it was beds, another hand sanitizers or chewing gum. Companies everywhere wanted in. The project was humming along, mostly controversy free. Media camping out on our lawn to catch us mucking up were getting frustrated.
Then, on September 15, 2008, New York–based investment house Lehman Brothers filed for bankruptcy. Over the next few days, coverage of the collapse was like watching the outbreak of a war. It was wall-to-wall mayhem. People were scared. The headlines in the newspapers were gigantic. The evening news was inevitably filled with images of stock traders burying their faces in their hands. No one was sure where this was all heading, but it didn’t look good.
At first it was unclear how Canada might be affected. But it wasn’t long before the downfall of Lehman’s triggered big problems at other institutions. It became evident that other U.S. investment houses were in trouble, and banks too, mostly because of subprime mortgages. Foreclosure signs began popping up from Pensacola, Florida, to Salinas, California. The daily reports of the widespread damage to the U.S. economy became numbing after a while.
While the carnage certainly caught the attention of those of us at VANOC, there was little evidence that the problems down south were seeping into our backyard. Payments from our corporate partners were being made on time. No one was calling to renegotiate the terms of their agreement with us. No one was even phoning to sound the alarm, put us on notice. The levee was holding. A false confidence set in that the financial panic in the U.S. might miss Canada entirely. But there was a growing unease in our boardroom.
The directors began growing worried about the health of Olympic partners such as General Motors. The American automobile industry was on life support, or so it seemed. The CEOs were being summoned to Washington to meet with President Barack Obama to figure out a survival plan.
It was ugly.
Jack Poole was sweating too and wanted me to get a more ironclad assurance from General Motors that it wouldn’t renege on our deal. I honestly didn’t know what more GM could do or say that would make our deal with them any safer. I thought it would be almost insulting to ask, that we were best served by standing by the shoulder of a good partner, while others were trashing them. I remember heading east to see Arturo Elias, their president and CEO of Canadian operations, and asking if there was anything we could do to help. I suggested at one point that the company use the Games to show off their next generation of vehicles and that we were ready to do pretty much anything we could to give GM a hand—for free. He appreciated our loyalty and support and assured me everything would be fine, that we needn’t worry. And GM was true to its word, despite the fact the company was fighting for its life.
The growing worldwide gloom began to cast a shadow over our programs, and the optimism that had filled the organization for years disappeared. Companies and governments everywhere were now being affected. This, in turn, meant that some of our own directors were fighting fires of their own.
Prompted by instinct and a growing nervousness in the boardroom, we decided to behave as if this tornado was going to hit us soon. It was time to prepare for something quite dire: the failure of one of our major partners. Chasing replacement revenue 18 months before the start of the Games would be like chasing needles in a haystack. What-if scenarios were being sketched out almost daily in our executive meetings. To prepare for what was to come, I tagged on the title of Deputy CEO to Dave Cobb and asked him to lead an aggressive internal review of just about everything, a task he would take on with ferocity, supported by his executive colleagues. This move was a sign to all that it was time to hunker down.
We decided to take the organization and essentially turn it upside down and shake it in the hopes enough dimes and nickels would fall out to make a difference. Everything that wasn’t absolutely essential to our survival would be cast off. This may sound simple. In truth, it was a migraine of a process that included hundreds of painful choices. Rather than cut people we froze hiring. Huge savings were realized when we stalled new hires for even a month. We did that as often as we felt we could sustain the punishment that followed: fewer people meant that those already working had longer days, but it was better than a pink slip.
Over the years, we had built our budgets fairly logically. Reasoned estimates of cost and revenues were refined as data hardened. So budgets were always moving to some extent but generally in the direction of more certainty, not less. But not in times like this. Every meeting we had, every discussion, was about money. Those with room in their budgets had to surrender their surplus, every penny of it. Contingency funds were disappearing faster than beer in an Irish pub. We went after new revenue sources—although there were precious few—and trimmed big-ticket programs to the bone. We advised our government partners that we might need their help if we were going to survive this and still put on a spectacular Games.
We appealed to our staff for creative ideas to get around our funding dilemma. We were not going to run a deficit under any circumstances. A culture of survival took hold. We reduced all travel and hunkered down, hoping the economic storm would blow over soon. I decided not to attend a SportAccord conference in Denver, where I was supposed to give a progress report to the IOC. The IOC was not impressed and told me so. I didn’t care. I had to lead by example.
Scheduled pay increases for members of the executive were cancelled voluntarily, other contracts curtailed or shortened. We looked at our ticketing program, and if there was any way to jam another seat into a venue we did it. That’s how desperate we were to find an extra $20 of revenue. We set aggressive new revenue targets for licensed products and found new suppliers to help us reach them. If you could put an Olympic logo on something and sell it, we did. We even looked at how we could make money when it was time to wrap up everything after the Games were over. We had to get top dollar for every item we had acquired.
Against all odds, but in line with our most daring predictions, there was one major win coming for us—ticket sales. Tickets were put on sale to staggering global and national demand, and it became clear that we were heading for a virtual sellout. Caley Denton, our vice-president of ticketing, whom Dave Cobb had lured away from the Vancouver Canucks organization, had judged the market perfectly. He did two things that were exceptionally smart: he decided to release the tickets in three stages and he created the fan-to-fan marketplace. In the first stage, he only put a limited number of tickets on the market, which were gobbled up quickly, creating a demand frenzy. This led to an even greater appetite for tickets during the second and third releases.
The fan-to-fan program worked brilliantly. Even an attempted ticket fraud scheme conjured up by Latvian hucksters did not diminish the value of this program. Let’s say you had a ticket to the men’s quarter-final hockey tournament, in which you were hoping to see Canada play Norway. If Canada didn’t make the playoffs and instead it was Switzerland playing Norway, suddenly you were unlikely to want that ticket as badly. So Caley created a system where you could throw your ticket back in the mix so someone else, maybe a Swiss fan, could get access to it. We collected a small fee as part of the transaction, which helped us derive more revenue. Everyone won.
The success of the Olympic Red Mittens campaign helped take some pressure off us as well and allowed us to meet our obligations to the Own the Podium program. What was originally intended to be a simple fundraiser for our athletes became a phenomenon. The mitts became the number one stocking stuffer in the country. The factory where they were being produced couldn’t keep up with the demand, even though it was going 24/7 for months on end. The mitts even made an appearance on Oprah, where the queen of American daytime television gave a pair to each member of her studio audience. We ended up selling more than 3.6 million pairs. Even I couldn’t get my hands on them for friends. We needed every cent from them.
Then, as the Games edged ever closer and the market conditions began to gradually improve, we realized that with a bit more belt tightening we just might survive this financial windstorm in one piece. Both levels of government helped us recoup some of the losses we incurred as a result of what was being called the Great Recession. We also went to the IOC and asked them for one final gesture of support—never an easy thing to do.
While the IOC was sympathetic, it was also a little wary. It had been burned before. The organizers of the Games in Salt Lake City pleaded poverty and got a last-minute infusion of cash from the IOC. Months later, the organizing committee declared a $100-million profit, to the complete fury of the IOC. But our relationship with the IOC was strong. They saw the pain we were in and the measures we had taken to deal with this crisis on our own. The IOC is criticized often for not being caring enough, but that was not the case here. In the end, the Olympic committee protected us to the tune of over $50 million beyond what it had originally committed to. Through this time, the IOC had suffered too. Its own revenues and investments were down and the organization had some belt tightening of its own to do.
This was an exhausting period involving endless strategizing. Dave Cobb and I wrote dozens of letters and proposals to the IOC, making all sorts of pleas for help. I used to joke to Dave that if we didn’t get help we might have to record “Danny Boy” in 50 languages and use it as the official music for the opening ceremonies. But in the end we survived one of the worst economic maelstroms anyone could remember.
We proved that we were more than a worthy adversary for bad times. Yes, we were helped by the amazing team of accountants we had at VANOC, who were pretty good scroungers. But I think it was street smarts over spreadsheets that won the day, as we got all of our thousand-plus staff goring away at budgets the way you would in your own home during tough times. I was in awe of the performances of individual members of our team, especially the leadership shown by a battle-weary executive.
While this period was easily the darkest, it ended up making us stronger, really giving us our wings. With the weeks clicking down rapidly toward February 12, 2010, we were more fearless and more together—our training was done. But battling through the first few months of the recession took a toll, no question. I also had to get some benign lesions removed from my face that left me looking like I had gone 15 rounds with Muhammad Ali. The entire team, including me, was falling-down tired. Everyone needed a break.
I had scheduled a week off in late December of 2008, mostly to sleep. It was the first week I’d had off in a very long time, and I was really looking forward to it. My calendar was completely clear of appointments. They would be my first Olympics-free days in years. The next morning, I couldn’t get out of bed. I was sicker than I could ever remember being. My system seemed to completely crash. Maybe the adrenalin drop brought it on, I don’t know. I would end up spending my week in bed with severe flu symptoms, but weird as it sounds I was happy to be there. I managed to get some work done that I wasn’t planning to do otherwise. So at least I didn’t have that waiting for me when I returned to the office.
But there were some awkward stories circulating about my health at the time. I had taped a Christmas message to VANOC staff that was posted on our website. Well, I don’t know what happened this time around, whether it was bad lighting or what, but I looked atrocious. I made Casper the Ghost look like George Hamilton. It was as if they had found me living in a cave for 20 years and threw me in front of the camera. If people wondered how much longer I had to live—and one or two asked—I couldn’t blame them. Even I was afraid to look at me.
I assured reporters that I was fine, though I had definitely lost some weight and needed to start working out again. I had to take better care of myself and I would. The board also had concerns that I looked weary and expressed to Jack that he might intervene. Jack told them, “I have tried to get his attention. If you think I can convince this guy to slow down you are seriously mistaken. This is who he is.”
He was right. I was not about to slow the pace—how could I? The Games were coming like a freight train. I didn’t know how to slow down anyway and there wasn’t the time. When I went back to work that January I felt just fine. We had a year to go. About 400 sleeps before the flame arrived—the very thought filled me with the energy to push through anything.
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The Power of the Flame


  WHILE MANY VIEWED my job as glamorous, the highs were often followed by bouts of soul-searching anguish.
It could be a lonely experience. There was hardly a moment along the way when I was not worrying about something. Some days were pure hell and I’d feel the weight of an entire country on my shoulders. Other days we’d get a big win and I’d feel invincible. It was rollercoaster stuff. I tried to grow a tougher skin but I took most everything personally for years. To sustain my spirit, I stopped reading newspapers, only perusing those articles and columns I was told I had to look at. To avoid plunging into darkness, I often read It’s How You Play the Game, a behind-the-scenes account of the Calgary Olympics written by its CEO, Frank King. While much about the Olympics had changed since 1988, there was still a lot I could learn from Frank’s insights and observations. Like me, he was a real believer in the power of sport.
One of the more memorable sections in the book concerned the torch relay. Calgary launched one of the most ambitious relays in Olympic history to that point—18,000 kilometres over 88 days. After its arrival in Newfoundland, the torch made an appearance in all 10 provinces and two territories. (Nunavut didn’t become a territory until 1999.) Calgary’s relay stood in stark contrast to the only other one ever held in Canada—Montreal’s in 1976. Back then, the torch travelled from Ottawa to Montreal, a distance of 200 kilometres, believed to be the shortest torch relay in modern Olympic history.
I remember Frank talking in his book about the excitement associated with deciding who would run with the torch. But the best parts focused on the energy that the relay gave the Games themselves. Frank talked about going out on the route, running alongside some of the torchbearers and seeing their passion. He said those sojourns were a nice respite from the negative jaw-wagging that was going on back in Calgary, where the air was often filled with despair over various aspects of Games preparations. On the road, the mood was magical and it lifted him. He returned to Calgary completely charged up.
To me, the relay was the secret to delivering Canada’s Games, and while 18,000 kilometres was certainly impressive, I thought we could go farther—much farther. I wanted to reach every Canadian I could. Coca-Cola, RBC and Canada had signed on as full partners, so we had the support we needed to make a seemingly impossible mission possible. But it wasn’t until we started mapping the route out in detail that I began realizing what a monster challenge I had set for my team.
The primary group assigned to deal with the relay included Dave Cobb; Andrea Shaw; Jim Richards, who was named torch relay director; and Vidar Eilertsen, head of operations and a genuine road warrior. Vidar was an impressive Norwegian import, a general, who knew more about relays than just about any other person on the planet, having worked on several. He was the guy with the whip and chair who made sure the buses left on time—in his own charming way. There would be many other hands that would help shape the journey, but this was the core group forced to listen to my constant harping and insistence that we perform magic and extend the relay to its far-out, far-off limits.
Over the months the relay took shape, there were plenty of tense meetings. The sparks would often fly over my saying that the plans as they were didn’t push the boundaries far enough, didn’t get the flame close enough to enough Canadians. In the early going, much of the push-back I received from Andrea, Jim and Vidar involved simple logistics. There was concern the relay would never end if we tried to get the torch into all the communities I wanted it to appear in. It was not lost on me that Canada was not Luxembourg—but this wasn’t an adventure for the faint-hearted either. And then there was the inevitable bad weather and other unforeseen problems we had to allow for.
In my heart, I was pretty sure that once on the road it would be a frosty Friday in the Sahara before Vidar would let the relay get as much as 10 seconds off schedule. I thought we should just go flat out and if we had to modify on the fly we’d do it. But let’s not model the whole program around having to rest the tour every six days because we might be a little tired or encountering a week’s worth of bad weather and planes not able to fly or land when we needed them to. I was having none of it. I felt the team could pull it off and told them so a hundred times.
We were going to plan on everything going right. There would be lots of time to sleep after the Games.
I admit I didn’t make it easy on this group. I pushed them to the brink. In the years that followed getting the bid, I was speaking several times a week across the country, drumming up support for the project. It seemed everywhere I went people wanted to know if there was any chance the torch was going to be making an appearance in their town. I wasn’t above getting some cheap and immediate applause, so I said, “Of course it’s coming here,” wherever “here” happened to be that day. I’d get a standing ovation and lots of pats on the back afterward, and the next day my guarantee would appear in the local press. The members of my torch-relay-planning team would shake their heads and curse me and wonder where I’d be asking them to go next.
Our vision for the relay forced us to be creative. We would have to be in more than one place at the same time, which meant having teams that would splinter off from the main relay to get into other smaller nearby communities. This was trickier than it sounds. There are strict rules governing the activities of the torch and one states that it can never be burning in two places at the same time. You could take a lantern that contained the Olympic flame to a remote community; you just couldn’t light a torch there until it had been extinguished in another. But we managed around this dilemma, and there would be several days during the relay in which the Olympic flame seemed to appear in two different places at the same time. It was carefully orchestrated but ultimately vital to our mission to get the torch or flame within an hour’s drive of almost 95 per cent of the Canadian population.
The route would undergo many redesigns before we finally settled on one that would be 45,000 kilometres—the longest in Olympic history—and last every second of 106 days. But the truth is, having the longest route was never what got the team excited— rather it was the idea of bringing the torch close to so many people.
AFTER LOOKING AT what seemed like a thousand scenarios, we decided to kick off the relay in Victoria. There were a couple of reasons we went this way: first, starting off in the B.C. capital offered us a better chance of getting more runners involved in the relay. That was a primary objective: get the torch in the hands of as many Canadians as possible. More than 12,000 people would have a chance to walk, run and even paddle with it, which was an astounding number when compared with the 6,000 or so who ran with it in Calgary—a Herculean feat itself at the time.
But there was another reason we liked Victoria as a jumping-off point: the relay would start in the province where the Games were being held. This, we felt, might help address the unease in some quarters about our sharing the Games so enthusiastically with the rest of the country. It also harkened back to the origins of the relay itself, when runners were dispatched from Olympia to inform people in outlying areas about the sporting festival the Greek city was hosting in honour of Zeus. So in a sense, we were now doing the same thing: setting runners off from Victoria to invite the rest of the country to the 2010 Games.
Another part of our planning involved travel to Greece, where we would need to be present for the official lighting of the flame in Olympia and again a week later in Athens, where the flame would be handed over to us for transport back to Canada. So much of the Olympics are laden with protocol but none more so than the handover of the flame in Athens, a ceremony that has evolved over centuries. A large group of us would need to—and want to be—in Greece for both ceremonies, which posed transportation issues. How would we get there and back and stay true to the exceedingly tight deadlines we would be operating under to get the torch everywhere we promised in the time we had? Flying commercial to Athens was going to be extremely difficult and costly, so I offered to find us alternative transportation.
Early on in the Games planning, I had a meeting with representatives of the Canadian Armed Forces, including chief of the defence staff Gen. Walter Natynczyk. It was a great chat, and from the outset he made clear just how important it was for the military to have a presence in Vancouver in 2010. I think he understood what an opportunity it presented the military to be part of something so big that meant so much to the country. He could imagine his men and women in uniform taking part in the many flag-raising ceremonies, protocol and other events. They would have a front-row seat to the festivities. What an opening to promote the brand. He wanted in, and we were happy to have them.
Within days the forces assigned a senior officer to us, Capt. Matt Barlee. He sat outside my door, immersed himself in the VANOC culture, and had access to military personnel across the country. He would be our liaison to the army from here on in. I wanted the military involved because if we needed special jobs taken care of, I figured we could count on them because the word fail is not in their DNA. Over the next couple of years after that initial meeting, I would be a little disappointed when the armed forces said it couldn’t provide this or that service to the Games. They were extended pretty thin given their commitments around the country and abroad, so were unable to commit to anything big in the run-up to the Games. So I thought that maybe we could get a plane from them to take to Athens.
There were a number of reasons I liked the idea. First, it would help us get around some of the logistical challenges that flying a big team to Greece via a commercial airline was going to pose. I also thought that getting the military involved would elevate the importance of the relay in people’s minds. I liked the image of the military escorting this ancient flame from Greece to Canada. It would turn a trip into a mission. Just thinking of that plane lifting off to secure the flame gave me goose bumps. I knew the men and women in uniform would take this duty seriously and that the travel time would be organized to the minute if the military was flying the plane.
It didn’t exactly unfold that way. . .
The Greece segment of the relay was another one of those high-profile situations where big-name politicians expected to play a role. I thought it best if we spread them out and gave each a lead role at one of the events. They agreed. In the end, we decided that Premier Gordon Campbell would be on hand in Olympia for the lighting ceremony and that Vancouver Mayor Gregor Robertson would be in Athens for the handover a week later. The prime minister, in the meantime, would be on the tarmac in Victoria for the arrival. Initially, everyone seemed good with this arrangement, but one day I got a call from the mayor, who was freaking out about not being part of the ceremony in Olympia. He told me that Greek friends had informed him that part of the ceremony in Olympia involved the passing of something or other from a representative from Olympia to the mayor of the host city. All news to me. Gregor said it was now vital he be there. He insisted on it. I was taken aback, as this change would mean more surgery to the protocol plan. “Gregor,” I said, “I think I would know if that was supposed to happen.” He persisted and I gave in. (The information Gregor received never was validated in Olympia.)
By this point, our staff handling this portion of the trip had already informed Victoria that Premier Campbell was going to be on first in Olympia, our delegation leader. I had told him that myself. Now we had to phone back and say, ah, well, he’s now going to have to share the stage with the Vancouver mayor. It made us look like amateurs who didn’t know what we were doing, but it was par for the course when dealing with political delegates.
There would be more arguments about who should carry the flame off the plane in Victoria. Should it be federal Minister of Sport Gary Lunn, a real team player who deserved a role? Should it be Gregor? Maybe an Aboriginal chief ? Many people wanted me to do it. I honestly didn’t care; I just wanted peace. Ultimately, Gregor carried it off, but there had been far too much politicking behind the scenes for us to feel good about the outcome.
Political aides were always arguing about who would speak first and who would speak second at various events. It was exhausting dealing with this stuff and my least favourite aspect of the Games, in many ways. We had to have a full-time person—make that a team—looking after protocol, just to manage those in public office who craved the limelight.
On that front, I should say that throughout the entire Olympics, including the lead-up to the Games, Gordon Campbell never insisted on centre stage. While he would face cheap shots and criticism for his boisterous, some would say over-the-top, displays of Olympic fervour during the Games, Gordon never once asked to be accorded any special favours as the lead politician in the host province. He had put more on the line, politically at least, than any other elected official connected to the Games and yet asked nothing in return, except that we deliver a wonderful experience for the country. He went way up in my estimation.
IN THE MONTHS leading up to our trip to Greece, I endured one of the toughest periods of my professional career—probably my life. Jack Poole, the guy who had mentored me and had become my number one confidante throughout the organization of the Games, was dying of cancer.
Jack had been diagnosed with pancreatic cancer a couple of years earlier. I remember him telling me when he got the news. I would forever be struck by how poised he was in describing how he discovered he had the disease. He had been at a dinner with Darlene and gone to the bathroom not feeling particularly well. When he looked in the mirror he noticed he looked jaundiced. Several trips to the doctor, lots of tests and the eventual diagnosis followed.
Pancreatic cancer is one of the deadliest forms of the disease. A person’s chances of surviving it are less than 5 per cent. But for Jack, 5 per cent was like 50 per cent: enough to work with. If it took sheer guts and determination to be among the lucky survivors, then Jack was there. But it wouldn’t be easy. Treatment would involve complex surgeries and a stay in a Seattle hospital that used a particularly harsh treatment protocol to enhance the chances of survival. It involved radiation every day for 40 days and chemo three times a week on top of that. Jack would have climbed Kilimanjaro three times a day to get better, such was his raw inner spirit.
The day Jack described to me what the treatment would entail, he could have been describing changing the oil in his car. The guy was tough as nails. I will always remember seeing him in Seattle after a particularly punishing day of treatment, on his knees, throwing up. Even after that, Jack could manage a smile and make some wiseacre remark about how much fun he was having. As sick as he was, he wanted to hear all about what was going on back at the office. Funny how those visits to make him feel better ended up making me feel better.
Eventually, Jack would be released from hospital and resume his duties with the board. But there was always the chance the disease would return, and sure enough it did in the summer of 2009. Jack was stoic as usual when he told me, but this time I sensed something different in his voice. There would be no second round of treatment such as he had undergone in Seattle. Enough already.
For those close to him, it was a question of how much longer he had. Darlene was by his side 24 hours a day, praying for a miracle. He lamented time and again to her how much he regretted not being able to pitch in more when I needed him most. I took the changing news hard, knowing I would soon be losing my best friend. Quietly I prayed he would hang on until the Games, imagining the two of us together in the front row.
As the weeks passed, Jack spent more and more time at home, in bed or on the couch. The phone was his lifeline. He wasn’t going to be returning to work as chair of VANOC, though I used to say underestimating him was a mistake. Count him out and he’d walk through the door. I would visit him to update him on where things stood with various aspects of the project. He was always ready with advice, but it was terrible to see such a vibrant, strong man so weak. There were a few moments in every day, especially when I was on an airplane or sitting in an airport terminal, when I thought about Jack and our friendship and the crazy journey we had embarked on together eight years earlier. I would call him often and without reason just to laugh and chat.
We certainly had our disagreements over the years. More than once I hissed at Jack for saying things to the press that I knew would not translate well in the hyper-sensitive world of the IOC. He would enjoy the ribbing and do it again. Almost every time we disagreed on an issue, he would tell me he thought I was wrong but he’d let me make the call, saying: “Look, it’s your show. You do what you think is right.” Coming from a corporate titan like Jack, that meant a lot. Win, lose or draw, he always had my back. When the going got rough he’d make me think twice before pulling the lever on a major decision. I was determined never to make him look foolish for sticking by me the entire way. Often when I thought of Jack I was reminded of a line my father sometimes trotted out: “If I was twice the man I am, I’d still only be half the man he is.”
Jack had a wicked sense of humour and little tolerance for people feeling sorry for themselves. I remember once when he was convalescing from a round of cancer treatments and I visited him at home to talk about a tough issue. He had a card for me sitting in an envelope beside a glass of fresh orange juice. Inside it said something like “It is always darkest just before it goes black.” In other words, bad as you think it is, it will surely get worse. That was Jack.
A few days before we were leaving for Greece for the lighting of the torch in Olympia, I went to the hospital. He didn’t look good when I entered his room but he still managed a smile. He had lost so much weight and had a few more tubes attached than the last time I visited. I filled him in on what was going to be happening at the ceremony and some of the logistics involved. I told him that I would be back in a few days and planned to show him pictures and video from the ceremony. I told him that day that no matter what happened, we would deliver a great Games, make him proud and keep every promise we made. I gave him a hug, knowing I might not see him again.
On my way to Olympia I stopped in New York to attend the UN’s adoption of the Olympic Truce, which calls on all nations in conflict to embrace peace and to cease fighting for the period of the Games. In ancient times, this was done to allow athletes to get to the Games safely. Today, while some see this initiative with cynicism, it is a reminder of the power and example of sport to foster harmony and peace.
Canada, along with the IOC and VANOC, had prepared the draft resolution, and I was the proudest Canadian alive when our ambassador to the UN deferred the floor to me to read the resolution into the record, from the same podium that numerous world leaders had spoken from—and then to see it approved unanimously. That night I spoke with Ban Ki-moon, the secretary general of the UN, who insisted that our work was more important than ever. Good enough for me.
A COUPLE OF DAYS later, a group of us landed in Athens and made our way to ancient Olympia and the Temple of Hera for the official flame lighting, a four-hour ride late at night. It was an incredible setting, seemingly unchanged in centuries, a hallowed ground with a beautiful grassy seating area from which to watch the proceedings.
The ceremony was simple and yet rich—a re-enactment of a centuries-old tradition full of moving protocol and symbolism. It was the job of actress Maria Nafpliotou, playing the part of a high priestess and dressed in a long, flowing gown, to ignite the flame from sun rays captured in a parabolic bowl. It was somewhat overcast, and there were concerns there wouldn’t be enough sun to light the flame. But some timely prayers to Apollo, the Greek god of the sun, and sure enough the clouds parted, the sun arrived and the flame was lit. We were standing in a roofless temple watching a miracle—the gods had somehow blessed us and sent us on our way to do a great good. I was pinching myself with excitement.
Soon Vassilis Dimitriadis, officially the first torchbearer of the 2010 Games, lit his torch from the original flame and set off to begin what would be an eight-day relay through the mountains of Greece. Seeing him run out of the ancient stadium into a field and over the surrounding hills before going out of sight gave me shivers.
The exchange brought my torch relay director, Jim Richards, to tears. I had to work hard not to shed a few myself, the moment was so powerful. I pulled out my BlackBerry and found a quiet corner of the grove to phone Jack and tell him what had just happened. It was 2 AM back in Vancouver, so I had to leave a message but it was a long one. I gave Jack an almost minute-by-minute account of the ceremony. I really wanted to bring him there and put a smile on his face if I could. I told him again I would see him in a couple of days.
Gordon Campbell and I rode in a van together back to Athens. A rumour surfaced en route that Jack had passed away. I received a query from someone in the media. I choked but told the caller it could not be true or I would have heard about it immediately. A bit shook up, I called Deborah Prior, Jack’s long-time and much adoring executive assistant, who was walking into the hospital at the time. She put Jack on. I could barely make him out. It was good to hear his voice nonetheless. He said little but that he looked forward to seeing me upon my return. We were all elated just knowing he was still with us.
The premier and I flew home the next morning through Amsterdam, where we had a stopover of six hours. We decided to grab a hotel room to do some work while we waited for our flight. Gordon went down to the business centre at the hotel, and I was getting ready to exercise when my phone rang. It was Deborah Prior. Jack was gone.
I sat on the bed for a few minutes trying to digest what I’d just heard. Even though I had known this day was coming, I was still heartbroken and trembling. I couldn’t help thinking that Jack had hung on long enough to know that the torch had been lit and was on its way to Vancouver. It was okay for him to go now so he did. For Jack, the 2010 Games had started. His mission accomplished. His service fully rendered.
I had to make arrangements to get a VANOC press statement sent out, as the news wouldn’t remain a secret for long. I got Renee Smith-Valade, our vice-president of communications, on the phone along with a couple of others, and an hour later we issued our statement. The premier wrote his own. It would be a heavy, tearful day.
Gordon and I spent the plane ride to Vancouver sometimes talking about Jack, sometimes locked in silence. His experiences with the man were different from mine, but they went back decades. When we landed 10 hours later, there was a mob of media at the airport. The premier and I sat down to address them. I told the reporters, as did the premier, that the province had lost a giant and so had our Olympic team. I think those members of the media who dealt with me a lot could tell how rattled and shaken I was.
Jack’s funeral was held on Tuesday, October 27, 2009, and it was as close to a state funeral that a layperson gets in this country. Hundreds squeezed into Vancouver’s Christ Church Cathedral to say their goodbyes. He was described as a gentle, loyal friend who never turned his back on his small-town Saskatchewan roots. At Jack’s request, Dale Evans’s “Happy Trails” was sung at the funeral. That was just like Jack, poking fun at the situation.
Jack was remembered fondly as “the father of the Games” by Premier Campbell. Friend and businessman Peter Brown highlighted Jack’s fun-loving and mischievous side. Everyone agreed Jack had a way of lifting one’s burdens. I talked about how “he had taught us things not known to kings” and how Jack had convinced me to join him on this Olympic odyssey, saying that if I didn’t do it he wouldn’t either. “Like a three-year-old schoolboy I believed him,” I told the congregation. “That was the first of a thousand times I was to be Jack Pooled.”
WHEN JACK WAS a young man making his way in the business world, he would buy himself a new shirt whenever he had accomplished something worth celebrating. His first boss had failed to reward his performance, something that always bothered Jack. He figured if he didn’t give himself a pat on the back once in a while, no one would.
Long after he had made millions and lost millions and made millions again in the development game, Jack would have one of the most breathtaking collections of fine shirts. After we started working together, Jack started to do the same thing with me—buy me a beautiful, expensive shirt after we accomplished something particularly noteworthy. He would call me on a good day and remark: “Almost a new shirt day, John.”
A couple of months after he passed away, I was visiting Darlene at the couple’s home in Vancouver. I wanted to see how she was doing. She left the room for a minute and returned with a box with a ribbon on it.
“Read the card first,” Darlene said.
It was from Jack.
“Darlene,” it read, “whatever happens, make sure you get John a new shirt for Christmas.”
It was written just days before Jack passed away. I sat in my car on Point Grey Road after that visit and sobbed.
BUT THERE WASN’T much time to sit and ponder life without my good friend. Two days after Jack’s funeral, I was back at the airport boarding that armed forces plane for the flight to Athens to bring the Olympic flame back to Canada. The sense of occasion was almost magnetic. However, what should have been a time of unmitigated joy and excitement felt a little less so. I wouldn’t get over Jack’s death easily.
The ceremony in Athens was held at the Panathenian Stadium, which was built in 1895 for the first Olympic Games of the modern era, held a year later. Its coliseum-like design would become the model for modern sports stadiums around the world. The ceremony involved more actresses playing the role of high priestesses, carrying out ancient traditions with utmost seriousness. Governor General Michaëlle Jean was there for the handover, as was Greek President Karolos Papoulias. The flame that had travelled from ancient Olympia was eventually used to light a torch held by Spyros Capralos, president of the Hellenic Olympic Committee, who then lit a torch I was holding. I was walking on a cloud, almost oblivious to all that was happening around me.
“Today we accept the Olympic flame with humility and respect,” I told the thousands in the stands. It was a beautifully warm evening. Soon my torch was used to light a single miner’s lantern. When that was lit I walked off the field with it, holding it high in the air to the delight of those watching. A picture of that moment became my personal favourite of the Games. And that lantern would become my number one memento of the Olympics.
Despite being completely exhausted, I didn’t get much sleep on the 10-hour flight to Victoria. I don’t think many of the others on the plane did either. Everyone was too excited to doze off, afraid they would miss something. It was all economy seating, save perhaps for the lantern and its siblings, flickering away in a row, strapped in seatbelts with RCMP officers on either side. I opened a few bottles of champagne so everyone could toast the fact that we were bringing the Olympic flame to Canada. At one point, we broke out in a chorus of “O Canada.”
We were a little behind schedule because international aviation law said the pilots had to spend 18 hours resting in Greece before they could get behind the controls again. This was after we had developed a problem with the plane on the way over and had to make a pit stop in Prestwick, Scotland. The layover law also now meant a stopover in Iceland on the way back for a crew change.
We were about an hour late landing in Victoria, where Gregor Robertson walked off the plane carrying the flame shortly before 9 AM. The prime minister and premier were waiting on the tarmac to officially welcome the flame to Canadian soil. It was hard not to feel a sense of awe. We had a quick ceremony for the flame in an adjacent hangar, after which I drove into the city with the prime minister, who was just beginning to sense the scale of what we were doing. His presence added greatly to the occasion— validation that these were indeed Canada’s Games. A moment in time for us all.
The flame, still in the miner’s lantern, would make a grand entrance into Victoria’s Inner Harbour about an hour later aboard a First Nations canoe. The First Nations members accompanying it were dressed in traditional costumes and sang and chanted as they paddled. The lantern was then carried to the steps of the legislature, where it was used to light a cauldron, which stubbornly refused to ignite for a couple of minutes that felt like an hour. I whispered to Darlene Poole that Jack was once again having fun at her expense as she tried to light the cauldron. But light it did, and it was quickly used to ignite a torch that was jointly held by Olympic gold medallists Simon Whitfield and Catriona Le May Doan. The pair carried the first torch together before handing it off to Olympic rower and bronze medallist Silken Laumann of Victoria and Quebec-born diver Alexandre Despatie, who won a silver medal in Athens. We were on the road to Vancouver—106 days to go.
Day one of the relay was everything I had imagined and more. The crowds were monstrous, everywhere. Victoria and outlying communities completely embraced the flame’s arrival. The only blight on the day was a group of protesters who interrupted the relay’s progress in the city the first night. We had to divert the route a little, and a couple of people lost their opportunity to run with the torch. (We would find spots for them a couple of days later.) But the public reaction to the protesters’ antics was strongly negative and probably deterred other such groups across Canada from trying the same thing. Canadians were fine with protesters making a point, but they wouldn’t tolerate ruining people’s fun in the process.
My plan was to monitor the relay’s progress and join up with it here and there over the next 105 days. I would often get updates from the road from Jim Richards, and I also got my relay fix by reading media reports from journalists on the road. CTV ’s Tom Walters did an amazing job, I thought, of capturing the joy and elation that the torch’s journey inspired throughout the Far North, from Whitehorse to Iqaluit.
Most people seemed to be surprised at just how welcome these small, mostly Aboriginal communities made the torch relay team feel when it descended on their towns. Not me. I knew that spirit existed when I first visited them years earlier. Everywhere I went, Aboriginal leaders had asked if there was any chance the torch could come to their town, never in a million years imagining it would. A little Aboriginal community called Kugluktuk in Nunavut had even raised $60,000 to build an Inukshuk and move it to Whistler. They gave it to us as a gift and it now stands outside the Whistler information centre.
One of the wonderful by-products of the torch’s journey throughout the north was the light it shone on the many problems that continue to exist there. I couldn’t help but think how the travails of our Aboriginal friends in the High Arctic cause us southerners no pain, because we don’t really know about them. So I thought one of the gifts we would eventually leave behind was the stories of these remote communities, the good and the bad. We also hoped to give the children something to dream about and aspire to.
Old Crow in Yukon may have been the ultimate achievement for the relay. On a per capita basis, I’m not sure any place in the country embraced the torch as strongly. It was incredible, from the moment the relay team’s Air North 737 jet descended on the town’s short runway. People stood on picnic tables and doghouses in their backyards, with cameras and cellphones to capture the historic moment. It was the first time a jet had ever landed in the town.
I remember reading an account of the day by Gary Mason in the Globe and Mail. In it he talked about a young man named Kyikavichik, who took to the stage to give an oral history of the Gwich’in people. Without referring to a single note, he talked about the hardship endured by his ancestors, and how food killed by one was food for everybody. He compared the obstacles and challenges of his forebears—and their sharing nature—with the torch relay, which too was founded on the notion of giving to many. “For that reason, I can’t think of a better place for the torch to visit,” the young man said.
There had been a strong expectation among some that Aboriginal Canada would reject the Games or use them as a platform to trumpet their causes—an expectation I never quite understood. We decided early on to embed Aboriginal participation in the relay and treat their communities like any other.
One of my favourite moments happened in Quebec City, where the torch had arrived to a particularly hideous reception by Mother Nature. It was deadly cold and wet, yet thousands lined the route. Plans to carry the torch in a canoe had to be scotched because of the weather. Eventually, the torch ended up in Lévis, on the south shore of the St. Lawrence River opposite Quebec City. We took the 15-minute ferry ride to Lévis, which caused some mayhem as hundreds of passengers scurried to grab a photo of themselves holding the lantern. There was a celebration in Lévis, and everyone spoke French, which made my presence on the stage superfluous, so I wandered out into the crowd for a bit.
I eventually found myself standing beside a dignified-looking Aboriginal man, probably 75 or 80 years old. He was with his wife and several grandchildren and seemed to be mesmerized by what he was watching. Luckily for me he spoke three languages, including English. “What do you think?” I asked him. He told me how he had driven almost 100 kilometres in horrible weather to be there. And without taking his eyes off the cauldron burning onstage, he said, “I never thought I would live to be old enough to see our people involved in something like this.”
What a moment that was.
But it wasn’t always smooth sailing when it came to the torch’s journey in Aboriginal communities. We were warned that our plan to bring the torch onto the Kahnawake reserve outside of Montreal was going to be met with resistance if we insisted on having our RCMP torch security detail there too. RCMP officers ran alongside the torch everywhere it went. The RCMP was our partner and did an outstanding job, but getting the torch onto the reserve was important to me. It was going to be run by Alwyn Morris, the Mohawk and Kahnawake resident who had won gold and bronze medals at the Los Angeles Olympics in 1984 in two-man canoeing.
The Mohawk leaders had told us we would have nothing to worry about if we left the RCMP behind for this part of the journey. They were just not welcome there. We had a dilemma: pass on Kahnawake or go in without the RCMP as the elders insisted. Adam Gray, a young VANOC executive from Australia with lots of Games savvy, was caught in the middle of all this. I said to him over the phone: “Adam, you have to understand one thing: the flame is bigger than everyone, so everyone has to get off their high horse so this can work. And everyone needs to look at this through the lens of the children living on the reserve.” The word of the Mohawk leaders was good enough for me.
That’s when all hell broke loose.
The RCMP didn’t like this idea one bit. They thought any decision to leave them out of this portion of the relay diminished their authority and would damage team morale. Worse, it would be unsafe. Pretty soon a conference call was being arranged with Bud Mercer, head of security for the Olympics, RCMP deputy commissioner Gary Bass, Dave Cobb and a few others on my team. It was mentioned that if we went on the reserve without a police escort, the RCMP couldn’t guarantee our safety. But the Natives have already guaranteed our safety, I said. “Guys, think about this. If we go in there and get into trouble and someone gets hurt and they put the flame out, what does that say about them? You don’t think they care about the implications for their own reputation? They want this to work too. They have children and dreams and hopes like us.”
I told them no one loved the RCMP more than me, but in this case I had to disagree with their opinion. We may not bring everybody on for this portion, but the flame is going on that reserve, I said. Anyone worried about their safety is free to stay back.
And the flame did go on the reserve, where it was a huge success. The Mohawk leaders did everything they said they would, and hundreds of kids got a chance to see the flame as it ran by in Alwyn’s hands, a moment they would surely talk about for many years.
The run through Kahnawake was one of several days the relay spent in la belle province. Quebec was always a crucial player in our Olympic vision. Without French Canada, we wouldn’t realize our dream of truly making these Canada’s Games. It just wouldn’t do to have everyone on board but not the second-largest province in the country. That is why I set about early to get Premier Jean Charest onside.
I told Charest in a meeting in 2005 that Quebec was the perfect partner for VANOC because of its culture of winter sports excellence. It had produced great Winter Olympic athletes, and it was likely that several Quebecers would win medals in Vancouver. I even suggested that we were exploring the idea of having the torch make an appearance in some of the legislatures in the country— and we thought Quebec’s would be a natural. Although he liked the idea, Charest joked about bringing a torch into a place renowned for its passionate rancour. “Someone in here might try to use it to burn the place down,” he joked.
There would be many more meetings over the next several months. But Jean, who was a former federal minister of sport, was ultimately an easy sell on the value of having an association with us. In October 2005, Quebec was the first province to sign a cooperative agreement with VANOC that pledged a partnership on everything, including sport, culture, economic development and volunteers. It was the first of similar deals we inked with the other nine provinces and three territories, which provided us with cash and other in-kind contributions. In exchange, they would have their own day at the Games during which the wonders and attributes of the respective province or territory would be promoted.
ON DECEMBER 10, 2009, we took the flame to Parliament Hill. I had been to the House of Commons many times during Question Period and was always struck by how mean-spirited it was. MPS yelled at each other all the time. If anything killed my appetite for a career in politics, that was it. But I thought the torch, if we could get it in there, might change all that, if only for a moment. If nothing else, we could get parliamentarians to stop, stand and let the flame do its thing. For a few seconds at least, the House would not be so divided, and the whole country would see images of what the flame could do in a place where tempers often flared.
Organizing the mission was not easy. One of our problems throughout had been reading Prime Minister Stephen Harper’s enthusiasm for the Games. It was frustrating to try and figure him out. I was not sure his advisers had fully embraced the Olympics, and he seemed to be holding back a bit himself. And the opposition Liberals were immediately suspicious, thinking the government was behind the torch visit and that it was designed to make the Conservatives look good. I had to explain to Liberal House Leader Ralph Goodale that we weren’t selling out to the Tories or anyone. This was about the country. Once we got House Speaker Peter Milliken to quarterback the torch’s appearance on the Hill, suspicions seemed to ease and the stage was set.
Then the question became who would carry the torch. There was talk of asking the prime minister, but it would look too political and he might well have declined. So we chose Barbara Ann Scott, the figure skater from Ottawa who had won a gold medal at the 1948 Winter Games in St. Moritz. I tracked down the woman dubbed “Canada’s Sweetheart” at her home in Florida and talked to her husband, ex-NBA player Tom King. When I got her on the phone initially she thought my call was some sort of hoax. Eventually she realized it wasn’t and was honoured that we were asking her to do something so historic—it would be the first time an Olympic torch had been in the House of Commons.
That day Peter Milliken held a little reception in his office before the big moment. Soon we were standing outside the doors of the chamber itself. I held the lantern that we used to light Barbara Ann’s torch, and the next thing we knew the doors to the House were being opened for her entrance. “This is going to be the most amazing thing you’ve ever done,” I whispered to her before she walked in. “Enjoy it.”
She was a bundle of nerves.
Her appearance was truly one of the highlights of the run-up to the Games. Members of both sides of the House were on their feet, clapping vigorously. Peter Milliken read into the record what had happened, one of the rare times that people other than elected politicians were allowed on the floor of the House. There were camera crews all over the place, recording the moment. I stood off in a corner, watching. The politicians broke into a chorus of “Go Canada Go! Go Canada Go!” After it was over, I ran into veteran political reporter Tom Clark from CTV, who told me it was one of the best moments he could remember in his long career covering the Hill.
Barbara Ann looked joyous, absolutely loving the spotlight. “Imagine an 81-year-old gal being asked to carry the torch into the Parliament Buildings,” she would tell reporters. Imagine, indeed.
There were many more highlights as the torch made its way across the country. Toronto gave it a huge reception, as expected. Ditto Montreal and Winnipeg. I spent Christmas with the torch team and their families in London, Ontario. Instead of taking Christmas Day off, we decided to visit a children’s hospital and bring the torch along. It made the kids’ day and put smiles on the faces of everyone, including my teammates.
ONE OF THE MORE poignant stops along the way was in Mortlach, Saskatchewan, on January 10, 2010.
Mortlach was the small prairie town of a few hundred people in which Jack Poole was born and raised. Originally, Jack was supposed to run here, over his early objections to the idea. In producing our board chair, the town had made a major contribution to the Games and this would be a way to give something back. Jack eventually agreed and was starting to look forward to the idea when his cancer returned. After he died, I thought it would be great if Darlene could run in his honour. She agreed.
Mortlach looked very much like the town Jack had always described: a weather-beaten, Depression-era prairie town that didn’t boast much in the way of modern amenities. Jack had had an enlarged black-and-white picture of the town’s main drag on his office wall, showing a solid string of old clapboard houses. It reminded me of a village in Ireland we used to pass through called Inch. Blink and you would miss it. What it had in spades was heart, spirit and work ethic.
It was bitterly cold under a blue sky as Darlene ran the last lap of the relay up to the steps of the local school, where a special tribute was held and a cauldron lit. Darlene fought back tears as those in attendance gave her a long, heartfelt round of applause. Darlene spoke, telling the spectators, including some of Jack’s friends who had flown out from Vancouver, that her husband had remained a prairie boy at heart, which is why it was important for her to bring the torch to Mortlach. She had taped a photo of Jack to her torch.
“He had to run with me,” said Darlene. “This was his time. I couldn’t run it alone so he helped.”
Jack’s oldest daughter, Gwen, was also there and said a few words. I told the crowd about how Jack often spoke about Mortlach in the many conversations we had had over the years. I knew how important the town was to him. Afterward we walked around the village. We saw inside the house where Jack grew up with no electricity and no running water. We all shook our heads and marvelled at how far Jack travelled from his humble beginnings.
Form Mortlach, the relay continued its journey westward. Calgary was another highlight, a homecoming of sorts. We arrived late in the day and were greeted by tens of thousands of people, many of whom who were wearing jackets and torch relay track suits from the ’88 Games. My friend Frank King, the Calgary Games president who so generously had shared his thoughts and experience with me, was there cheering madly. It was great to see him.
On January 21, 2010, the relay left Banff for Golden. Crossing the B.C. border was a big deal for us. We could smell the magic of the Games now. Life was about to change. Former Alberta premier Peter Lougheed handed over the torch at the border to BC Lions football coach Wally Buono, who was excited about being involved in the relay. Premier Campbell was there to welcome the flame to British Columbia. The crowds were massive. It was bedlam everywhere the torch appeared, a reaction that exceeded many people’s expectations but not mine. The Olympic spirit was quickly enveloping the province. Resistance was gone.
Less than a week later, the torch was going to be appearing in Prince George, my old stomping grounds. I had always planned to be there so I could celebrate its arrival with old friends and my son, Damien. Damien is as solid a citizen as you’ll find and a major backer of the Games. I phoned him up the day the torch was arriving and said he needed to get to Exhibition Park with the family early because organizers were expecting big crowds. I could tell that Damien, who would be bringing my grandkids, Ethan, Max and Orla, thought that I was exaggerating just a bit about how enthused the community was going to be about the torch coming to town.
Sure enough, the place was jammed. Thousands showed up. It took Damien forever to find a parking spot. I brought Ethan up onstage with me. He was wide-eyed. I was asked to say a few words and talked about how great it was to be home in Prince George where my Canadian journey had started and how special it was to be celebrating the moment with my son and his family. The crowd gave me a loud, generous ovation. At this point, there were maybe 18,000 or 19,000 people jammed into the park.
Afterward, Ethan and I went looking for his father. Damien greeted his son with outstretched arms and me with a big smile. A quiet, introspective young man, my son seemed in awe. Later on, as we said our goodbyes, Damien looked at me proudly and said, “Jesus, Dad, from now on I’m going to be taking you a lot more seriously.” We both laughed. It meant so much to me, and to Damien, to be able to share that moment together. It was a big day for him and Stacey, his expectant wife, and their children. I wished I could have done the same with all my kids.
The torch relay ended up being everything we ever hoped for, a unifying force like nothing we had ever experienced before as a country. It would lay the groundwork, I believe, for the passion that would spill over during the Games. If we hadn’t touched so many people with the relay, the reaction in Vancouver and across the country may not have been so powerful. If we hadn’t included our Aboriginal neighbours in the countrywide torch parade, who knows how their participation in the Games might have ultimately been remembered?
I only wished Jack could have been there. I knew he was watching, though. He was always watching.
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Little Big Man


  THE OPENING CEREMONIES are often viewed as the jewel of any Olympics. Anxiously awaited, they set the tone and mood for everything that follows. After the Games are long over, they are often remembered by a shining moment that occurred during opening ceremonies— Muhammad Ali lighting the cauldron in Atlanta, a ski jumper flying through the night sky in Lillehammer, the archer and flaming arrow in Barcelona, the fireworks spectacle in Beijing.
After the display that the Chinese put on in 2008, many in the media wondered how we would possibly match it on February 12, 2010. We weren’t going to. Never planned to, never could. First, we didn’t have that kind of money to play with. Second, and more importantly, that’s not what our Games were about. We wanted our opening ceremonies to make Canadians proud, while at the same time tell the world our story. Our opening and closing ceremonies were always going to be about hearts and minds, about touching the soul of the country.
We needed to find someone special, someone who had the horsepower and creative ambition to stage a wondrous production that captured the deep essence of our country, striking a proud and emotional chord among those watching at home, while captivating those taking the ceremonies in live at BC Place Stadium.
Whoever we found would have to deal with the lingering albatross that was our bland contribution to the closing ceremonies in Turin in 2006. Fair or not, our production there had created doubt among some of our Olympic partners about our ability to pull off something as big, complex and important as the opening ceremonies.
After Turin, we formed a committee to find the right company to stage our ceremonies. We realized there were no more than three or four big players in the Canadian entertainment world who would be possible candidates. And then there were a number of international figures who had the depth of experience to handle something of this nature. We had Terry Wright put together detailed specs that set out the scope of the project and then we put out a call for tenders. We told prospective bidders to submit their credentials and tell us why they were especially qualified to do the job.
We realized that we were going to have to be somewhat kinder to any Canadian applicants. In an ideal world, the producer would be a homegrown talent. We got an excellent response and eventually put together a field of 16 contenders, including controversial impresario Garth Drabinsky. I met him a couple of times but discussions went nowhere. But we also got strong proposals from Scott Givens and Don Mischer, who produced the events in Salt Lake City; Andrew Walsh, an Australian who had a long list of high-profile events to his credit; and Blue Mountain Concerts, a B.C. firm.
Guiding our selection process was the notion that we wanted whoever got the job to weave together a uniquely Canadian story, using Canadian talent. We were looking for a giant in the industry and we found someone who was just over five feet tall: David Atkins.
We were not at all surprised when one of the most impressive submissions came from the creative and immensely likeable Australian. David had formidable credentials. His credits included the jaw-dropping fireworks show in Sydney Harbour that marked the close of the 2000 Summer Games. But he’d also put together the opening ceremonies for the 2006 Asian Games in Doha, which were considered among the best ever staged anywhere. The highlight occurred when Sheikh Mohammed Bin Hamad Al-Thani, riding a chestnut brown Arabian horse, mounted one hundred steps to light a giant cauldron in the form of an astrolabe. It was raining— the first time Doha had seen drops of water from the sky in 50 years, so I was told. Despite his horse slipping near the top, the sheikh pulled it off. It was brilliant and all on account of David’s gutsy genius. That was difficult to ignore, as was his ability to inspire teamwork and confidence.
Even before the selection process began, many people, including me, assumed that we would end up choosing Cirque du Soleil, the Quebec-based entertainment company, admired and celebrated throughout the world. The Cirque has its own unique brand of show, a dazzling hybrid of street entertainment, space-age gymnastics and traditional circus fare (without the lions and tigers). One of the company’s co-founders is Guy Laliberté, a former street entertainer who would later become known for paying to get on a flight into space. On one visit to Cirque’s headquarters in Montreal, I discovered just why this company had such success: focus, creativity beyond description, state-of-the-art facilities and a cast of thousands, including hand-picked former Olympic stars. But the true secret of their success was practice, practice and more practice.
It was pretty clear to us that Cirque was of the view that it should be doing the opening and closing ceremonies, full stop, end of story. We knew that a lot of people, including some of our partners, would applaud a relationship with Cirque, given the company’s reputation and expertise. A sure bet. Except we were looking for a collaborative relationship with whomever we chose.
As an organization we weren’t willing to abandon our involvement in the process or set our vision aside. I know I had some pretty strong views about pieces that I wanted to see in both the opening and closing ceremonies if they were going to reach the soul of the country in the way we hoped. And I was not alone.
In our conversations with Guy Laliberté, he made it clear that he wanted the theme of the opening to be about water and, more specifically, about the fact that there was a water crisis in the world. I think he saw the ceremonies as a way to tell a story that he felt needed telling. No doubt it would have been beautiful, but it bothered me that Cirque never seemed to want to talk about or acknowledge the vision we had.
We got down to a small group of finalists and we had an open mind. Guy walked into the interview with his colleagues, and we could tell he just didn’t want to be there. He was in a sullen mood and managed to annoy everybody. His whole attitude seemed to be “Look, give it to us, we will do a great job, this is what we do.” To a person, the committee was flabbergasted. We were looking for a partner, not just a contractor. We weren’t confident Cirque understood our goals. As a company, it had an independent streak that was personified by the genius Guy Laliberté himself.
Shortly after the final interviews, we got a call from his office informing us that Cirque was withdrawing from the process. The reason given was that the company didn’t think it had the time to devote itself fully to this enterprise because of its other commitments around the world. True or not, the withdrawal was okay with us. It made our final decision that much easier.
In the end we picked David Atkins, largely because of his track record for greatness and the fact that he understood the complicated world of the IOC. There were expectations to be met, but David had the competitive instincts of a champion and knew how to handle adversity, which an opening and closing ceremonies producer always had to be prepared for. After all, you could count on one hand the list of global productions with this kind of complexity.
But what impressed so many of us was David’s knowledge and love of Canada. He had schooled himself well on geography, history, Aboriginal Canada and weather and had honed a dazzling insight into our national culture. He seemed to know more about Canada than those interviewing him. And he had a real sense of what his challenge was going to be. He was an easy guy to embrace when he said his job was to extract a great story out of Canadians and tell it beautifully. He said the approach he wanted to take was to identify everyone in the country who might have a contribution to make to the planning and talk to them. Mine them for ideas of what the opening and closing ceremonies should include, who should sing and who shouldn’t. He proposed staging a number of symposiums to give the cultural community a say in what might make it into the productions. He was going to hold them all over the country—and he did just that.
But David had another daunting responsibility as far as I was concerned.
“David,” I told him one day, “one of the big jobs you are going to have to accept is you must be prepared to save us from ourselves. You need to stop us from making dumb decisions. You will need to have the courage to get in front of the bus and if necessary lie down on the road. Throw your body in front of it, if you have to, to prevent us from doing something that would make us look stupid or naïve.”
We shook hands. He would remind me more than a few times along the way of our deal.
We announced David and his carefully selected team in September 2007. There were predictable grumbles from some quarters about our giving the job to a non-Canadian. So we had David agree to surround himself with some top-quality Canadians from the entertainment business, a group that included Vancouver-based music agents Sam Feldman and Bruce Allen; Nettwerk Records’ Dan Fraser, and Jacques Lemay, co-founder of the Canadian College of Performing Arts, among others.
Shortly after, David made a great presentation to the board about his experiences elsewhere, specifically about how important it was to protect the integrity of the project by ensuring no details of the show ever got leaked. David came across as someone who was open-minded but would fiercely defend his show, who would demand a supreme effort and loyalty from everyone around him and inspire superb performances. No one was going to work harder than him, that’s for sure.
(Years earlier, I had sought the broad, savvy advice of Salt Lake City Olympics CEO Mitt Romney, who would later go on to become a governor and candidate for the Republican presidential nomination. He had lots of good advice but most prominent was the wisdom he shared about the opening ceremonies. Stay no further than an inch away from them, he said. You will be judged harshly if they are a failure. I never forgot that, so my relationship with David was a priority and we became good friends.)
By 2009, the show was starting to take shape, and David and his team began framing it up. I was constantly in awe of what technology could do. David developed a computerized, 3-D version of the ceremonies, so as another piece of the story was crafted he could show us what it was going to look like. That gave us a pretty good idea of what kind of impact various elements of the show were likely to have. The first time I heard “O Canada” using David’s system, my eyes welled up. Everyone in the room was blown away by the technology.
A huge variable from the beginning was the fact that we were staging the ceremonies indoors. The opening and closing ceremonies at all past Olympics, Summer or Winter, were held in outdoor stadiums, where the cauldron burned high and bright for all to see. Some thought having an indoor stadium gave us the advantage of having conditions we could rely on. Not entirely true. The roof, for instance, moves all the time because BC Place Stadium is pressurized. This was going to present issues if we tried to cast finite images on the roof. The light in the stadium was pretty bad as well. And let’s face it, the building overall was a bit jaded and tired looking.
David felt valuable time had been wasted in the Beijing ceremonies with moving props and people on and off the performance area. He wanted the show to be a non-stop dazzler. To cut down on dead time in Vancouver, he conceived the idea of supporting the production from underneath the performance area. It would help make the stadium more intimate too. The crowd would be up close and personal with the performers. So that is how David came up with the idea of building a false floor, under which people and props would appear and later disappear. The new floor made the old stadium feel new again and gave us a far more efficient way to keep the production moving without long interruptions.
One of the most compelling aspects of the opening ceremonies should be the first few minutes. You want those early moments to be as powerful as possible, to have them make a heart-stopping impact, to create a “wow” moment upon which the entire production will build. As the show was developed, David started talking about this one-of-a-kind video idea with which he wanted to begin the show. It would be seen by those watching on television at home and on big screens inside the stadium.
David said the idea was to get a helicopter and shoot scenery of the host city and region and especially the pristine backcountry areas in the mountains. The video was going to be taken with cameras compatible with the latest high-definition technology, and it would feel to everyone watching as if they were in the helicopter, along for the ride. It would be that intimate, David said. And then the helicopter would hover over top of a mountain in Whistler and there, standing by himself, would be a lone snowboarder. The snowboarder would take off down the mountain with high-definition cameras in hot pursuit.
I remember thinking, “Boy, this is really out there.” But David kept going. The snowboarder would blast through miles of flawless powder, performing a few daring stunts as he went along. Images of the Maple Leaf would be emblazoned in the snow. He’d blast through an honour guard of people holding candles on the mountainside. The boarder would barrel along and then hit a breathtaking jump—right into the stadium, through a set of elevated Olympic rings, onto a ramp that takes him to the floor. And from there he would welcome the world to the Olympics in two different languages.
How about that for a show starter?
David proceeded to show us on his computer how it would all look. You could feel the confidence of people in the room surge. It was the first of many times I would murmur quietly to myself, “Looks incredible! My God, I hope he makes that jump inside the stadium.” It was tricky and was going to take nerves of steel for the young boarder we finally selected for the assignment. If he wiped out, it would go viral within seconds. The trick could be a disaster, or it could be magnificent. It was a risk we were willing to take. I attended the practices and could see the risks and rewards. It was an awesome stunt.
Another idea David had was to fly Céline Dion in to sing the national anthem at the opening. He had David Pierce, the ceremonies’ musical director, prepare a unique bilingual arrangement of “O Canada” specifically for Céline. He even somehow managed to put together a dead ringer of a soundtrack of what it would sound like—the best make-believe music I had ever heard. It was so breathtaking that everyone in the room demanded to hear it two or three times.
Unfortunately, Céline was trying to get pregnant around the time we needed her so she had to say no. That was a huge disappointment, as I think the public’s expectations were pretty high that Céline would be involved in the opening ceremonies somehow. She was Canada’s best-known international singing star—a face and name the world recognized. Thankfully her replacement and now rising global star Nikki Yanofsky performed beautifully on the night.
Céline wasn’t the only star who couldn’t make it. Comedian and actor Martin Short was supposed to be in the closing ceremonies, but had to back out at the last minute because his mother was ill. We tried to secure Leonard Cohen, Mike Myers and Jim Carrey, but again no luck.
Dealing with artists was a whole other experience. David would often fill me in on artists’ demands and complications. The first question the stars or their agents invariably asked was, who else was going to be taking part? And what were those other artists being asked to do?
But David poured everything he had into this project. I had nothing but admiration for the effort he put into trying to understand who Canadians were, where we came from—the parts of our past that formed the vertebrae of this amazing country. As he learned we all learned.
For instance, as he put the broader story together, David wanted to include music associated with different parts of the country. In the process we found out from him how much fiddling is a part of Canadian culture—and not just Acadian culture. As it turned out, fiddling is an important part of Aboriginal culture as well. It’s big in Newfoundland and Labrador, the Ottawa Valley, Cape Breton, the Prairies and even on the west coast. So it belonged in the show.
One difficult aspect of the show was the French element, and not for a lack of effort on our part. David’s team had developed a spectacular segment around the well-known Quebec song “Mon Pays,” a beautiful piece written and arranged in 1964 by well-known chansonnier Gilles Vigneault. David thought it would be perfect for the opening because it was such an iconic song in Quebec and it had a winter theme. The song’s opening words are “Mon pays, ce n’est pas un pays, c’est l’hiver” (My country is not a country, it’s winter). The lyrics talked about the winds, cold, snow, ice and solitude of wide-open spaces. I think David was also aware that the song had become a rallying anthem of sorts for Quebec nationalists. Gilles Vigneault was associated with the separatist movement, but we thought the song would send a strong message of how much we were embracing Quebec culture. After all, these were the Games for the many not the few. It was incredibly important to us that we had this song.
David had to clear every piece of music that was going to be in the show with the rights holder. In this case, that person was Gilles Vigneault. It didn’t take him more than a second to inform us it was a no-go unless strict conditions were met. The first was that the song could not be performed anywhere where there was going to be a Maple Leaf displayed. And it could not be used in any kind of setting that effectively promoted Canada as a country that included Quebec. It was a devastating setback, as inflexible a position as I had ever encountered. Obviously, we were never going to give in to those outrageous demands.
I don’t think David anticipated getting that kind of response. He had built an important section of the show around this song and poured his heart into it. It was going to be beautiful and emotional, sung by Quebec star Garou, and designed to make every Quebecer feel an enormous sense of pride and connection to the Games. And David had already spent a fair whack of our dough designing the opening ceremony with this song a key part of the portfolio of music that would be heard. Surely, something could be done to change this guy’s mind, David said. He asked me to get involved.
I decided to start right at the top and try Jean Charest. I tracked him down in Russia, of all places. I asked if he could intervene and find someone with enough sway with Vigneault that he might acquiesce to our request. He tried but a few days later phoned me back to say he had had no luck. He felt terrible, as if he were letting us down. He had pulled out all the stops to get friends to put some subtle pressure on him, but none of it worked. The idea was now officially dead.
I was not happy. Here we were trying to do everything we could to design a powerful Quebec moment into the opening ceremonies, and we were being told we couldn’t. I told the premier on the phone, and others later, that I was not going to allow my people to be criticized about the French content in the opening, given the fact we were trying to do everything we could and were getting rebuffed. In the end, we had to improvise and added a new song called “Un peu plus haut, un peu plus loin.” We had Garou sing it just before the cauldron was lit, which was the climax of the show. Still, I think everyone on the inside was disappointed by the fact our original plans were scotched.
The other part of the show that prompted some debate inside the organization was the slam poet that David wanted to use in the show. To be honest, I had never heard of slam poetry before. A poetry slam is a competition at which poets read or recite original work and are judged by the audience. The work is often very political and a take on the hot social issues of the day. I wasn’t sure how that fit into our program. But David thought it was important to have a mix of performers and include segments that had a little edge. He wanted Shane Koyczan to recite his poem “We Are More,” which was about Canada.
While I saw David’s logic, I was instinctively against it. I thought the poem might come across on television as Canadians talking to Canadians at the exclusion of the rest of the world that was watching. I didn’t think it had the kind of humility we were looking for either. There was no French in it, which was also worrying me. I remember asking David at one point if there was any chance this guy, if he was included, could read some of his poem in French. David said no chance. This was art and you didn’t mess with it. I could tell David was becoming increasingly annoyed with the French argument.
Anyway, as the lone holdout I got outvoted and, sure enough, we would be criticized later on for the fact that Shane’s performance didn’t include any French. Still, I must admit it was an incredibly popular part of the show, and Shane pulled it off brilliantly. The reviews around the world were uniformly glowing.
One of the biggest decisions we would have to make was the design of the cauldron, which was supposed to burn for the duration of the Games and be visible to members of the public at all times. Also, there were safety concerns associated with having a massive burning cauldron inside a closed stadium. The idea we had toyed with during the bid phase of having the rim of the stadium double as the cauldron—a veritable ring of fire that could be seen for miles—had been scrapped. For a thousand reasons it couldn’t happen, not the least of which was the enormous cost. After the economy tanked in 2008, that discussion was moot.
David, as always, wanted something super-creative. He also wanted it to be a big surprise. In other words, he didn’t want people to know until the last second what the cauldron looked like. He wanted something completely different—something that would produce an unforgettable memory. I thought he did an incredible job. He arrived at a design that included four silver, icicle-like arms that would be used earlier in the opening ceremonies production but disguised as Native totems, leaving people watching to wonder what on earth we planned to use for a cauldron. Secrecy was paramount, as the unveiling would be the show’s most iconic moment.
It became evident that the structure of the cauldron and the associated hydraulic engineering needed to unveil it in the way we had planned, rising from the floor, was going to prevent us from wheeling it outside during the Games so people could see it. Nice idea but completely impractical. It was just not going to work. This meant that we were going to have to erect a second cauldron outside so we could abide by the IOC rules that stipulated it being on public view at all times while the Games were underway. Perhaps it could be a smaller version of the cauldron we envisioned for inside the stadium, some thought.
If we wanted to have an identical version of the cauldron outside, we were going to have to find a sponsor or donor who would pay for it. That is when David Podmore, the president of Concert Properties and a great friend of the Olympics, first suggested that Terasen Gas might sponsor the second cauldron. David sat on Terasen’s board and was also one of the champions for the inspired idea of naming the plaza located outside the new Convention Centre after Jack Poole. When it came time to thinking of possible locations to put a second cauldron, Jack Poole Plaza became a runaway favourite among all possible contenders.
The site had everything going for it: it was a wondrous spot with the North Shore Mountains and Burrard Inlet as a backdrop, and it was sure to get phenomenal media exposure. Finally, the location assured there would be plenty of foot traffic going by each day, which is just what we wanted. We never anticipated just how popular an attraction the cauldron would be. It was as if we had placed a grotto there.
One day in the late fall of 2009, I visited Terasen CEO Randy Jespersen to pitch the idea in person. He was immediately excited and could see the glow attached to the idea. For Terasen, the cauldron represented a perfect fit not just because it was a unique gas installation but also because it would be a long-lived legacy of the Games. As it turned out, Terasen would become our final Olympic sponsor—coming up with $3 million to have a replica second cauldron built and fed with gas for the duration of the Olympic and Paralympic Games. We had our solution at no extra cost.
It was a challenge having the cauldron built and installed without anyone knowing what was going on. We installed it behind a towering box so no one could see, but as the Games drew closer we would have to take a few risks and test it. We did so in the early hours of the morning, but the local CTV affiliate had somehow discovered what was inside the big wooden box. They rented a helicopter, got a shot of it while it was briefly exposed, and put it on the air. I was livid. I couldn’t figure out why our Olympic partner would want to ruin this surprise for millions of Canadians.
In the months leading up to the opening, there was enormous speculation about who might light the cauldron—a guessing game that takes place before every Olympics. There are always lists drawn up by the media of the top contenders, lots of hearsay and debate.
Speculation seemed to centre around two possibilities: hockey superstar Wayne Gretzky and Betty Fox, mother of Marathon of Hope runner Terry Fox. I should say that wheelchair marathoner Rick Hansen was on many people’s lists, as was Nancy Greene, the only Canadian woman to win a gold medal in Alpine skiing. But Gretzky and Betty Fox seemed to be the favourites with the public. An online petition to have Betty Fox light the cauldron received tens of thousands of signatures. Polls showed Gretzky was the choice of a majority of Canadians. There were people who felt we should have the oldest Canadian Olympian light it, or the youngest. There were people pulling for a First Nations chief. A cultural icon should do it, perhaps?
It would certainly have been simpler just to hand the job to the most popular choice. But then there would be no mystery, no excitement. And that’s what we wanted. We didn’t mind all the speculation, because it created a buzz around the process, but we were never going to be guided by what was being said in the media.
We talked to the Fox family and said we were still trying to figure out what role the family, and namely Betty, who was the public face of the Terry Fox Foundation, might play. We knew the family was probably wondering what was going on. At one point there were suggestions by media that we should have a hologram of Terry Fox light the cauldron. I met with Darrell Fox, Terry’s younger brother who played a major role at the Terry Fox Foundation, and told him that we wanted to name an award after Terry. It would go to an athlete who best exemplified Terry’s ferocious spirit and also his incredibly giving nature. (Circumstances during the Games caused us to reconsider and award it to two athletes.)
Eventually, given the cauldron’s design, we were on our way to a completely different kind of surprise. We would need four people to light the four arms of the cauldron inside the stadium and a fifth to bring the torch in. This allowed us to deny almost every rumour outright, as it would be a team effort and not one person. And one of the four would also light the second cauldron down at the waterfront. For all intents and purposes, the second cauldron became the Olympic cauldron.
We talked long and hard about the type of people we needed lighting the cauldron inside the stadium, what their Olympic credentials needed to be. We strongly believed the four all had to be people of high character, who were virtually unassailable in the minds of the public. Canadian heroes. The type of name that triggered an “Of course, why didn’t I think of that?” kind of response. We agreed each one had to be a former Olympian. We wanted that connection. The only people involved in this decision were David Atkins, Dave Cobb and I, and the pressure was intense. There were some people both in my executive and on the board who weren’t happy about not being included in this exclusive little group. That was too bad. It was of the utmost importance that we maintain the integrity of the project above anything else. We couldn’t afford this information leaking out. The fewer people who knew the better.
After a fair bit of back and forth, we decided on our four people: Wayne Gretzky, Catriona Le May Doan, Nancy Greene and Steve Nash. It was unanimous. All four met the criteria we had set out for the job: former Olympians of exemplary character. We were confident that most of the people watching the ceremonies at home, and outside of Canada, would know one if not all four. Three were gold medallists, and in Catriona’s case she was the only Canadian to win gold in back-to-back Games in speed skating. Gretzky had won his gold as the general manager of the men’s hockey team in Salt Lake City in 2002. Steve had only participated in one Olympics, in Sydney in 2000, but always gave his heart and soul during Olympic qualifying events. He was a British Columbian and an outstanding human being. He was a must. Nancy was a stellar person as well, and it would have been hard to overlook the woman named best Canadian female athlete of the twentieth century.
It then became my job to inform all four. I recall reaching Wayne while he was having lunch with his family. He excused himself from the table while I gave him the news and, as I did with the others, swore him to secrecy. We decided not to tell any of the four who their fellow lighters would be. We also told each of them that if word got out from them that they were taking part in the lighting, that would be it. They would be switched for someone else.
I caught Steve Nash while he was on a team bus heading to his hotel after a Phoenix Suns practice.
“You want me to do what?” he said, not quite believing his ears. “Tell you what, John,” he said. “Call me back in 15 minutes and I’ll be somewhere quiet.”
I called him back when he was in his hotel room. I never heard someone sound so excited. It was like talking to a six-year-old on Christmas Day. The opening ceremonies were going to take place on the Friday of what was the NBA’s all-star weekend, and Steve, fierce competitor that he is, said he fully intended to be playing in that game. I told him it wouldn’t be a problem for him to make it there and if there were any issues we would work them out with the NBA. So he was onside. It was the same with Catriona and Nancy.
Nancy had wanted to participate in some way, so she was naturally very excited about the opportunity. We were a little concerned about her involvement getting out somehow. She was a Canadian senator now and lived in the leaky Ottawa fishbowl. I had to tell Nancy that if word got out that she was going to be a cauldron lighter we’d have to remove her from the role and put someone else in. “I’ll deny we ever had this call,” I told her.
She understood.
Now, I had this idea in my head that Rick Hansen should deliver the torch into the stadium, maybe breaking through a wall of dry ice. The place would go absolutely nuts when people recognized him. I believed that he would have a greater impact on the opening ceremonies playing this role than being one of the four cauldron lighters. His entry would be dramatic, and the focus would be on him and him alone. Also, he had a bit of experience in finishing tough journeys, and this was a big one at 45,000 kilometres.
David wasn’t at all keen on the idea at first. Creatively, he didn’t think it would produce the moment I was predicting. He thought Rick would have to wheel up this ramp onto the floor of the stadium and it would be slow and might put an awkward drag on things. David could become fairly fixed in his ideas, and I had the feeling he was going to be hard to persuade on this one.
“David,” I said to him one morning, “I don’t ask you for much and I’m really wanting you to consider this. I think it could be fantastic. I can hear the crowd. You have to know this guy is an icon in Canada. He deserves a very special moment in all this and he will not let you down—trust me.”
David was mostly quiet. We didn’t talk about it for a while after that.
Later on David came back to me. He said he had taken another look at the ramp, and there was no way that Rick would ever be able to get up it. He had even put himself in a wheelchair to prove the point, and fit as he was it was tough going for him. It was a performance ramp and not designed to be wheelchair-friendly.
“David,” I said, “you do not know this guy. He will make it up that ramp, no problem.”
“No, he won’t,” David insisted. “I tried. It’s a brutal climb.”
“Yes, he will,” I barked back. “I guarantee you. You try telling him he can’t make it up that ramp. I dare you. Let me tell you, David, I do not have the kind of courage a person needs to tell Rick Hansen he cannot do something. Get him over there. Let him try.”
A few days later, David humoured me and got Rick to come over to the stadium to give it a whirl. Minutes later he called me at the office. “I thought I had seen everything,” he said. “He went up the ramp on the first go. I can’t believe it, and what a great sport he is. I think it’s going to work.”
Victory that time was mine.
The other big decision was who would carry in the Olympic flag, which was a highly prized, emotional moment. There would be eight people escorting the flag into the stadium on opening night, each holding a part of it. It was David who thought we should use the opportunity to showcase Canadian talent, specifically Canadians who the world might not know were Canadian. David, Dave Cobb and I put together a long list of possible candidates. The Canadian-born director James Cameron was on someone’s list. Leonard Cohen on another. In the end we settled on actor Donald Sutherland, singer Anne Murray, astronaut Julie Payette, Betty Fox, hockey legend Bobby Orr, skating legend Barbara Ann Scott, Formula One racer Jacques Villeneuve and un commander Roméo Dallaire. There was a view that a lot of people around the world probably thought that performers like Sutherland and Anne Murray were Americans, not Canadians. And they probably didn’t know we had an astronaut program either. This assembly of fine Canadians would surprise some people.
It was a delight phoning them. I remember telling Bobby Orr that he would be in the last row holding a corner of the flag, because if he entered first the place would go nuts and we wouldn’t be able to hear the announcer introducing the other flag-bearers. The Fox family was delighted with this role for Betty, who would walk in first, flanked by Donald Sutherland. So everyone seemed to be happy. I realized, as we informed the various individuals, why they were held in such high esteem by Canadians. Magnificent in their own right, sure, but each one was humble and patriotic. When asked, they all said, “Are you sure? There must be better choices.”
When we finally decided on having the second cauldron, there wasn’t much discussion about who would light it. We made the call that it should be Gretzky. I thought that because we were asking the networks to stay on the air for an extra five or 10 minutes to cover the lighting, the person we selected needed to be a compelling figure. Gretzky fit the mould perfectly. He was a known commodity. Pure star power. But how to get him from the stadium to the waterfront? There was some discussion about having him run with the torch to the second cauldron. But that was ruled out when we realized it would take too long. I thought, “Who cares if it gets on television?” There would be thousands of people lining the streets to watch it happen. An all-time Canadian hero waving to the crowd along the way. In my opinion, the route couldn’t be long enough. But David said the police were concerned they couldn’t properly protect the route so that idea was eliminated.
David decided to put Wayne in the back of a pickup truck. I didn’t like the idea right from the start. It seemed odd and I couldn’t picture it. Or I could and I didn’t like what I was imagining. I thought it might make us look like hicks. I came up with another idea: Why don’t we put Wayne in a specially designed basket that is carried by a helicopter and tracked by spotlights? Really, I thought it would have been fantastic. He would have been flying over the city, holding his torch, and then the helicopter would set him down at Jack Poole Plaza for the lighting. Are you kidding me? The networks would have been all over that. They wouldn’t have dropped a second of coverage for the promise of that. It had all the drama they could have dreamed of. Again, David came up with a million reasons why it wouldn’t work. In the end, I just gave up fighting. But I still think the helicopter idea was a winner that would have produced iconic images from our Games. Maybe someone else can steal the idea.
I thought the real gem of the opening ceremonies and where David showed his genius was with the athletes’ walk-in. Over the years the walk-ins had become pretty perfunctory. They were always one of the highlights of the opening to be sure, and always produced camera-popping moments, but they had become a little bland and seemed to drag on. And they are predictable. David wanted to do something profound, make it something we would remember in Vancouver. Something uniquely Canadian. He thought we could use the moment to give the world a real insight into Canada’s view of the Aboriginal community. David came up with the idea of having representatives from Canada’s First Nations welcome the athletes of the world to their country. A brilliant but thoroughly complicated plan, and how to keep it secret?
The idea was to first identify top young people between the ages of 19 and 29 from all of Canada’s several hundred Aboriginal communities. We would ask those communities to send us their best and brightest, their future leaders. Métis, Inuit, First Nations, they would all be represented. We would dress them in modernized versions of their tribal regalia to create the colour and pageantry for which we were striving. In practical terms, this was going to be hard to do. It would mean separate discussions or negotiations with someone from each of those native communities. And we had to get between 300 and 400 young people to Vancouver and keep them quiet about what they were here for once they arrived. We decided to invite them to Vancouver for a Native youth forum and added the confidential piece about the ceremonies when we had them locked in a hall in Squamish, a week or so before the Games.
David mapped the plan out and even mocked it up on his computer to show us. This piece was pivotal to the show’s energy and authenticity. I was emotional just looking at the computer screen. But to make sure this was going to be okay, that Canada’s Native organizations would be onside, we decided to seek the blessing of Phil Fontaine, who was then National Chief of the Assembly of First Nations. If there was a problem with what we were proposing, Phil would surely let us know. I knew Phil was a fan of the Games from an earlier meeting we’d had, but I also knew he would put his members above anything. So we brought him to David Atkins’s office in downtown Vancouver to show him what we had in store. This was probably early in 2009.
“We are going to show you something that is completely confidential,” I began. “And so everything that is said in this room today must stay here, regardless of what we end up agreeing or not agreeing on. It can’t go out the door.”
We started telling Phil what was going to take place. He sat with his glasses perched on his nose, his chin resting on his hands saying nothing. He wore no expression at all. He was impossible to read. So I took him through how the idea originated, how it centred around the notion of Canada’s First Peoples welcoming the world, validating the Games and validating the opening ceremonies in the process.
“The chiefs of the four host nations would be like heads of state at the opening,” I said. “And then the young native leaders would come in from east and west and north and south, and the whole country would be represented through them. And they would be on the floor singing and dancing with all their colour and charm forming the welcoming honour guard for the athletes of the world. It would be the duty of those young people to welcome the world to Canada.”
Phil continued to regard me with a sober look. I had been talking for about 20 minutes by that point. I talked about the legacy that these young people would take from this, how they would go home enriched and pass on this experience to their kids, who would pass it on to their kids.
“Phil,” I said, “that is what we’d like to do and what we need is your blessing. We may even need a bit of help because financially it’s extremely difficult to do, but we want to do it. We think it could be an amazing moment, one that would make the entire country proud.”
Phil continued to stare at me for a few more seconds before he slowly removed the glasses perched on the edge of his nose and placed them on the table. “John,” he began, “if you do what you say you’re going to do, exactly as you have laid it out, you will have done more to connect Aboriginal Canada with the rest of Canada than what we would have been able to achieve in a hundred years.”
Sweet mother of mercy. It was music to my ears. Of all my Olympic memories this one is near the top. I quickly rolled up my papers and left to tell David Atkins we had liftoff.
PUTTING TOGETHER THE ceremonies is never without controversy, and we would have ours.
About a month before the event, Vancouver Symphony Orchestra conductor Bramwell Tovey told the media that he was refusing our invitation to pre-record the music for the opening ceremonies after being informed that he and the symphony would not all be performing in person at the ceremony and that their music would be mimed by other performers, which he called “fraudulent.” We were all stunned to pick up the paper and see what Bramwell had said. We hadn’t heard a word from him, or at least I hadn’t. And I considered it poor sportsmanship to go to the media before coming to us and seeing if something could be worked out. Basically, he was taking exception to a process that was quite common for international live spectacles of the size and scope that we were putting on. It was standard practice to pre-record musical segments to ensure security of the broadcast transmission. The last thing a television network wanted was a bunch of dead air should something happen at the artist level. The pre-recorded music was all about achieving top quality results and certainty.
The story, however, seemed to have legs, because it just would not leave the front pages of the newspapers. I phoned Christopher Gaze, one of our Games ambassadors and a big player in the cultural community. It was his view that if we were going to get this story to go away I was going to have to phone Bramwell and explain our side of the story and hopefully talk him down from his position. Bramwell was having some personal air time at our expense, which I didn’t think was very classy. I also thought he was saying things that weren’t true and created the impression that the situation he was describing was akin to what happened in Beijing. An infuriating notion.
The Beijing organizing committee ran into trouble when it came out that they intended to have a young girl mouth the words to a song pre-recorded by someone else. The Chinese authorities thought the girl who would be mouthing the words would look better on television than the original singer. We weren’t proposing anything of the sort.
I called Bramwell in Whistler and asked him about his position. He was still quite indignant. I told him we were not trying to offend him in any way. In the end, I had to fall on my sword. I apologized even though I didn’t think he deserved an apology. I just wanted the story to go away and if that was what it took so be it. Bramwell made sure the media knew that I had called to apologize. I thought he ended up missing a great opportunity to be part of something that was remarkably special. Several, if not most, members of his orchestra ended up playing for us anyway. Proud, happy cast members in our country’s most memorable artistic production.
There was lots of speculation in the final days before the cauldron was lit about how ready Vancouver was to host the event. There were even stories that suggested the city was pretty much indifferent and apathetic, that people didn’t care. There were articles about people preparing to flee the city during the Games because of the chaos that the Olympics was going to create. Make-believe chaos.
I would talk to some of those people later. They were miserable that they had bought into all the spooky talk and missed an event that would be talked about for decades. Some complained they watched from Hawaii or Arizona feeling completely duped.
I wasn’t picking up the lethargy toward the Games that others were talking about. I thought the opposite was true: that there was a very vocal 10 per cent who were major Games boosters and 10 per cent at the other end who didn’t want anything to do with them. In between there was an 80 per cent that was quietly looking forward to Vancouver becoming an Olympic city, with everything that entailed.
Comments that the citizens of Vancouver weren’t ready to embrace the Games were an insult. If anything, I thought the city wasn’t ready for how big this thing was going to be. I told Mayor Gregor Robertson that in person one day, just weeks before the opening ceremonies: “I honestly don’t think you are prepared for what is coming. You need to get ready for a shocker. The celebration event being planned for David Lam Park the night the torch arrives in the city? I can tell you that site will not be nearly big enough to handle the crowds that are going to come out to see the magic of this thing.”
The city was going to experience something it wouldn’t experience again for generations. The fun was about to start.
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Tragedy in Whistler


  THE WESTIN BAYSHORE was once the home to eccentric multimillionaire Howard Hughes. During the 2010 Winter Games, it became base camp for my executive team. We occupied makeshift offices in the hotel’s northwest wing. The IOC was also headquartered in the hotel, making it easier to convene meetings of its coordination commission throughout the Games. The meetings were an opportunity for the IOC and VANOC to discuss any issues that might emerge during the Games. Given the hotel’s occupants, the place was behind a security fence and on 24/7 lockdown, which meant no one entered the building without the highest level of security clearance.
On the morning of February 12, 2010, I arrived at the Bayshore early, feeling nervous but excited. My Canadian Armed Forces driver, a veteran of the war in Afghanistan, had arrived at my door at about 5 AM to transport me to the hotel, where I would stay for the duration of the Games. The big day had finally arrived. The spotlight was going to be fixed firmly on the Games now, our organization to be tested like never before. This was it. For 17 days we would be the world’s biggest sports story.
I went to my office to prepare for the day. My office team was led by Monica Jako, or Mighty Mouse as she was affectionately known—tiny in stature but tough, relentless and completely loyal. Christine Chan, another tireless colleague, was already at her desk too, working on the French content in the speech I was to give that night at the opening ceremonies. Christine wore my mistakes as if they were hers. My whole team did, for that matter.
Dave Cobb and I met for breakfast at 6:30, as we would most days throughout the Games. We started to strategize over some of the items that would be on the agenda when Jacques Rogge convened the first meeting of the coordination commission early that morning. My team would be updating the IOC on everything from protests to the first official event that was scheduled to take place that day up in Whistler—ski jumping. We would be talking about transportation plans and laying out the general agenda for the day. After breakfast, we met up with Gilbert Felli, the IOC’s director for the Games, to make sure everyone was on the same page and there were no unpleasant surprises when the coordination commission meeting began.
When it got underway seconds after 8 AM, spirits in the room were high. There was a lot of intelligence sharing. The IOC representatives and staff members in the room were complete pros, many of whom had worked at several Olympics. There was little they hadn’t seen. Everyone was itching for the curtain to rise on this incredible show that had been over 10 years in the making. As we talked, the final day of the torch relay was underway, its long, 106-day journey about to wrap up. The energy on the streets had reached a fever pitch.
At Stanley Park, Sebastian Coe, the great British long-distance runner and Olympic gold medallist, was going to be accepting the torch from California Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger, who had flown up from Sacramento to take part. Sebastian was chair of the London 2012 organizing committee and had become a good friend of mine over the previous few years. He asked if I wouldn’t mind coming down to Stanley Park, where he and the governor would undoubtedly be swarmed by a gang of reporters and camera operators. I could just imagine the atmosphere so I promised Seb I’d try my best.
After the meeting with the coordination commission, which went smoothly, I grabbed my Blue Jacket and asked my driver to head in the direction of Stanley Park, which wasn’t that far away. We barely got around the corner from the hotel, however, when traffic came to a dead halt. It was people gridlock. It was as if everyone in Vancouver had decided they were not going to miss out. Thousands and thousands of people, young, old, some dressed in red and white, others in business suits and dresses. We moved maybe 100 metres in half an hour. There was no way we were getting anywhere near so we turned back for the hotel. I ended up watching the handoff on CTV.
It was some time after 10 in the morning when my BlackBerry rang. It was Dave Cobb. I could tell instantly it was a serious matter by the sober tone of his voice. He was shaking at the other end. There had been a catastrophic accident during a training run on the luge course, Dave said. The athlete involved was from Georgia, and the early word was he was not expected to survive. There were medical personnel on the scene almost instantly, and the athlete had been taken to hospital. I knew they would do everything humanly possible to save his life. Dave was understandably sombre and subdued, so different from his usual ebullient self. I told him to phone me back as soon as he heard anything definitive.
It was the beginning of a nightmare.
I sat in my office for a few minutes unable to move. All I could think about was this poor young man. Who was he? What was his Olympic story? What were his dreams? A young athlete with the world before him—likely gone. I could find no solace in the idea that if he died at least he died doing something he loved. He was 21 years old, and life was not supposed to end that young. After a couple of minutes I snapped to. I got up from my desk and closed the door.
Who to call? I thought about calling Jacques Rogge but realized he probably already knew. The IOC had dealt with matters this grave before. The Munich massacre came to mind. They would know what to do. But even as I went down a mental checklist of people I’d need to speak to, a part of me was grasping at the hope that the young man might somehow pull through. I wanted so badly to believe that was the next call I was going to receive: he’s going to make it. Instead, the next call was from Dave. Nodar Kumaritashvili of Georgia had just been pronounced dead.
I felt as if I’d lost a son.
My face fell into my palms. I thought about my father and mother’s deaths and my sister’s untimely demise 10 years earlier from lupus. I had experienced the pain of great loss before. I felt empty. Lonely. Powerless.
I tried to come to grips with what this meant. I started to think about the boy’s family in Georgia. Did his mother and father know they’d lost their son? Did the world know but not them? There was a minute or two where I wondered if this tragedy was beyond my capacity to manage. I’m typically pretty calm in crisis situations, but this had me rattled. I was also worried about my team—they would be devastated, I knew that. I needed to tap into a private well of strength I wasn’t sure existed. I’d been to dozens of leadership and crisis seminars over the years, but none had prepared me for this. I’m not sure what could have. I was going to be relying on gut instinct to get me through the days to come.
I was concerned that members of my team were somehow going to feel responsible for what had happened, that they had contributed in some way. At times like this, one’s mind is flooded with raging emotions and irrational thinking with almost no way of controlling them. But we were dealing with a matter that was going to be talked about around the world. It already was. It would pose an enormous communications challenge for the organization and drain its spirit, at least for a while.
When I finally emerged from my office, I could feel the penetrating eyes of the organization fall upon me. By that point the members of my team knew what had happened. It was all over the television. In the build-up to the Games we had developed protocols for just about every crisis scenario you could think of. We had confronted make-believe plane crashes, riots, major injuries, mustard gas—you name it and we had prepared for it. But never in our wildest dreams did we imagine the death of an athlete on opening day.
By now, we had learned more details about what happened. Nodar had lost control at the end of the course and was flipped over the side wall of the track into a pole. I saw the crash played on television once and would never watch it again, despite the networks showing it repeatedly for the next several days. Nodar was travelling at 143.3 kilometres an hour at the moment of impact. It was his final training run and his twenty-fifth time down the Whistler track.
A joint ad hoc meeting with the IOC was quickly convened. I had never felt a room so heavily burdened with sadness and grief. I looked at Jacques Rogge, who always seemed to be completely in control of his emotions. He seemed completely lost. He was not alone.
People were expressing views on what needed to be done, and for the first while everyone seemed to be talking at cross purposes. It was an uneasy environment. I remember looking over at Jacques sitting at the end of the table and listening to him say that our Games were now going to be remembered for this tragedy. No argument from me. I told him it was critical that we managed this moment with extraordinary dignity and compassion or the Canadian public would be deeply disappointed in us.
I told Jacques that it was imperative that we acknowledge without hesitation what had happened, be honest and forthright and not try and explain it as anything other than what it was. In other words, the worst thing we could do was to try and make excuses and sound defensive or rationalize the accident in any way. I felt we needed to lead first with our hearts.
This was a day to honour a young man who died pursuing his dream. We needed to express that in the most profoundly human way we could. His teammates would be devastated. Fellow lugers would be devastated. The people of Georgia would be grief-stricken— his family heartbroken beyond words. The athletes in Vancouver and especially in Whistler would be overcome with sadness. We also needed to start thinking about how we were going to address this loss in the opening ceremonies that night. On that point we all agreed.
Gilbert Felli was a commanding presence in the meeting. He did a good job of assuring people that, as dark as this moment was, we would get through it. We had to get through it. And we would respond with dignity and composure. I was willing to listen to any idea, provided it not diminish the empathy we both felt and needed to show.
Jacques and I would be attending a swiftly called news conference at the Main Press Centre later that morning to discuss the tragedy. Our communications staff tried to impress upon us the message we needed to impart to the media, but I wasn’t interested in talking points. Not today. I didn’t want to hear about what issues may or may not be in play. I had no intention of discussing the factors that may have contributed to the young man’s death. I was simply going to be honest about how I was feeling: devastated, for the young man and his family. I wanted the public to know how wounded my team was by what happened. I was going to speak from the heart—that’s all I knew how to do. There would be plenty of time in the days ahead to dissect exactly what had happened on the track.
In the meantime, there were practical matters to be dealt with such as an autopsy and returning Nodar’s body to Georgia. What were our legal obligations? We discovered that Nodar’s coach was his uncle and two of the athlete’s teammates had been classmates. Nodar’s life was intertwined with the life of every villager where he lived in the mountains of Georgia. His uncle had the horrible task of phoning Nodar’s family back home to give them the news. I ended up cancelling a number of events scheduled for that day, including one with the Governor General.
Jacques and I took separate cars to the Main Press Centre for the 11:30 AM news conference. We arrived early and sat in an ante room. Jacques was not someone who was comfortable expressing his emotions publicly. He was always so stoic, reserved, coming across as cold and detached at times. But for most of the morning he had looked on the verge of tears. I realized that I was going to need to help him get through this news conference and he was somehow going to need to help me. At one point while we waited we hugged one another. He told me that over his career as an orthopedic surgeon he had performed countless difficult surgeries, even lost some patients, but those experiences had not prepared him for this tragedy.
We were both barely able to hold back the tears we felt welling up. It was not the best shape to be in just before walking into a room to stare down the world’s media, knowing they were going to have some tough questions about someone who had lost his life on our watch. If I had felt this lonely or vulnerable ever before, I could not remember.
I honestly don’t recall much about the news conference. A lot of camera clicking and tape rolling. Every chair seemed to have someone in it. I remember Jacques having to stop and compose himself at one point. I patted his back to support him and help him along. I told reporters how heartbroken our organization was, how I felt I’d lost a son myself. Jacques said Nodar’s death had cast a shadow over the Games.
There were questions about the speed of the track and whether it was too dangerous. I wasn’t planning to spend much time answering hypothetical questions at this point. There were investigations underway and it wasn’t a day to assign blame; it was a day to honour the life of an Olympic athlete who had died doing what he loved. A young man with the hopes of an entire country behind him. The media were quite decent and respectful during the press conference. Indeed, most there seemed to share the deep sense of grief that overwhelmed the day. I think the men and women in the room could tell our feelings were genuine, knew that we were in shock, that we were hurt, that we wanted to do the right thing for this young man’s family. Not a good day to push anyone too hard.
Meanwhile the torch relay continued to the delight of tens of thousands of people jamming the streets, oblivious to what had happened. I was getting grateful e-mails every other minute from people telling me how this was the greatest thing that had ever happened to Vancouver. I wished I could have shared in that elation.
After the news conference, my attention turned to my staff working at the Whistler Sliding Centre, where the accident had occurred. I knew they would be on the verge of breaking down completely over the accident and I was especially worried about our top man there, Craig Lehto. This group was responsible for the operation of the track, so if anyone was going to feel responsible for Nodar’s death it was these people. There were also big decisions to make. I called Craig later in the day to see how he was doing. A physically imposing but soft-spoken man, he was barely hanging on. I planned to see him the next day in person.
The track was immediately closed so police and others could do whatever forensic work was needed. There were even discussions about whether the luge events should be cancelled entirely.
In the meantime, we were learning more about Nodar and his family. We were informed that according to their customs, the body needed to be buried soon. Given the requirements of Canadian law and the autopsy and coroner’s investigation that would need to be completed, it was unlikely we could repatriate his body back to Georgia before Thursday—a week away.
I also had to start thinking about the opening ceremonies and what we were going to do to acknowledge Nodar’s death. The IOC had its ideas and I had mine. I would also have to change my opening night speech, as would Jacques. I phoned David Atkins and we talked about possible scenarios. David was the only person who would know exactly how we could achieve a level of balance between showing the appropriate respect and compassion for this young man while at the same time giving the world the opening ceremonies for which it had been waiting.
At first, the IOC wanted to open the ceremonies with a moment of silence. David was against that. He said that would start the ceremonies in the worst possible way. I felt for David at this moment and I trusted his judgment. Here he was preparing for an incredibly complex undertaking, getting the artists and the stadium ready and at the last minute we say to him: “Oh, by the way, David you need to incorporate a major change to your plans.”
I repeated to him that if the event wasn’t managed properly the public would be furious that we didn’t demonstrate the proper respect while the world watched. We would never be forgiven for a bad blunder with something like this. The stakes were enormous. I told him that when the Georgia team walked into the stadium we could expect the loudest ovation of the night, next to that for the Canadians. But David knew all this intuitively anyway. The Nodar tragedy would remind me once again why our tiny friend from Australia was the perfect choice for the job. In my mind, he was a Canadian with an Aussie accent.
In the meantime, I was really worried about the capacity of the International Luge Federation (FIL) to handle this crisis. At the meeting with the IOC that morning, representatives from FIL seemed overwhelmed—shell-shocked and scared. They didn’t have the communication skills and expertise to manage a problem of this enormity. They were going to be under relentless scrutiny and pressure from the media. Their organization was going to come under attack about the conditions of the track. There would be questions about what happened now. Would events go ahead? Would the track be changed? I remember telling Josef Fendt, the federation’s president, that his organization needed to lean on us for help and support. I asked Renee Smith-Valade, our vice-president of communications, to assign someone to them right away. She was already on it. Managing this crisis was her biggest test too. It was important that we did everything possible to ensure that the athletes who would be competing had the best experience possible.
The day was evaporating on me. The relay was moving throughout the city to non-stop applause from the tens of thousands of people lining the route and would conclude sometime after noon. Given the events of the day, it was a bright spot and allowed me to feel a little joy amid the gloom. Even a protest flare-up on the east side of the city could not quell the spirit of the crowd.
In the afternoon, I went up to my hotel room to start getting ready for the opening ceremonies. I remember standing in front of the bathroom mirror putting on a black tie and thinking about how odd it all felt. I thought about my speech and was anxious that I strike the right chord when it came to acknowledging Nodar. I also wanted to ensure that people in the stadium still had a great experience. I practised my speech several times, still sweating over the few sentences in French. I had written the speech word for word myself, like every one I had ever given. Before the morning tragedy, I had been feeling good about the messages I was going to be communicating. Now I was distracted and my confidence was shaky.
At the stadium, I needed to visit with the folks at CTV, who had been there all day fine-tuning their evening coverage plans. I was going to be interviewed by Brian Williams, who was anchoring their coverage. I know Brian well and he’s a terrific guy with loads of Olympic experience. But the interview felt awkward and uncomfortable almost from the start. The network was our Olympic partner, and yet at this moment I felt CTV standing back from us. It was almost as if Brian was trying to establish some professional distance. While I was talking to him, protests were going on outside. They made it difficult to concentrate, that’s for sure. It was not my favourite interview.
The weather, meanwhile, was dreadful. A torrential downpour was creating havoc on the roads. Protesters were also helping to gum up traffic. Unfortunately, the protest got closer to BC Place Stadium than we anticipated. Originally, buses carrying media, IOC dignitaries and others were supposed to pull up outside the stadium seven and eight at a time, discharging people going to the show. But the protest not only slowed progress of the buses to the stadium, it also forced the police to restrict the number of buses stopping to one at a time. Those getting off the buses were being pelted with objects by the protesters. It was brutal.
Unfortunately, a few key people didn’t get to the stadium on time to see the opening few minutes of the show. Some were clearly annoyed, including those IOC members who were late and not amused. The prime minister did make it on time but was not happy about the fact that some federal officials were late. Some PMO officials weren’t too pleased either and vented hard. While they didn’t come right out and suggest we had screwed up their transportation, that was the clear implication. But as I suspected at the time, and later confirmed, the late bus carrying federal officials and others was operated by Ottawa.
While the delay was just a few minutes, it seemed like a metaphor for the day. Everything was a little off.
The IOC members who were tardy had been a little too casual when it came time to leave their hotel for the stadium. I think they had assumed an effortless process. After that, we had to lay down the law with them and everyone else: the buses are going to leave at precisely the moment they are supposed to. You are either on that bus or not, but it’s not waiting. It would end up being the last time we had problems getting IOC members or dignitaries on buses on time.
By the time I took my seat in the president’s box at BC Place, an upscale section roped off for Jacques Rogge, the prime minister, the Governor General, the premier and others, the stadium was mostly packed. The late arrivals very quickly filled the place up. I was getting e-mails on my BlackBerry every five to 10 seconds at this point. There were notes of sympathy from friends who were wondering how I was holding up given the events of the day. But mostly there were e-mails from people telling me what a great day it had been in the city and how proud they were, Nodar’s death notwithstanding. People around the world were sending messages of congratulations and wishing us well. It was nice to get the feedback because my brain was still too frozen and overflowing with painful thoughts about Nodar to focus on anything else. Darlene Poole was sitting beside me, lost in her own thoughts about her beloved Jack, how much he would have loved to have been there in the front row.
I remember being especially nervous about the opening scene of the ceremonies, which would end with snowboarder Johnny Lyall jumping through a set of Olympic rings in the stadium. I had witnessed him doing it successfully many times during practice. This was for real. There would be no second takes if it didn’t work or he fell and crashed horribly. But Johnny nailed his part perfectly and from the floor welcomed the world in English and French. My heart immediately slowed by a few thousand beats. We were on.
As I sat watching the show, my mind wandered. The spectacle was wondrous. A great Canadian story was manifesting itself and the world was watching. But I couldn’t stop worrying about my team. They had definitely been knocked off their game by Nodar’s death. Dave Cobb, Terry Wright, Cathy Priestner Allinger and the rest of the executive had had a hellish day and were doing their own soul-searching. More than once that day, I recall thinking that we were going to find out pretty quickly how good an organization we really were. I’d be lying if I said I didn’t worry about the situation deteriorating further. It’s like the plane that starts falling out of the sky at 35,000 feet. If the pilot doesn’t have control by 10,000 feet it’s crashing. We were in that plane right now and it was my job to somehow bring us out of that free fall. If we didn’t get the situation under control, all of the problems were going to be laid at my feet and everyone was going to say: “See, he was the wrong guy after all. He didn’t have nearly the right experience. What were we thinking?”
Everywhere I looked inside the stadium people were smiling. Behind me sat the chiefs of the four First Nations whose traditional territories the Games were being held on. They represented the Squamish Nation, Musqueam Indian Band, Lil’wat First Nation and Tsleil-Waututh First Nation. They were being recognized as heads of state and sat behind the prime minister and Governor General. One of the most impressive and heartwarming parts of the evening was the welcome of the athletes by the Aboriginal peoples of Canada. This is where the hundreds of hand-picked young Native leaders, sent to us by their elders, came on to the floor to dance and sing and greet the athletes as they walked into the stadium. No other country could have presented this, not this way.
The show seemed to rivet the audience. I could sense the crowd was waiting for the team from Georgia to enter the stadium and when it did, with each of the athletes and coaches wearing a black armband in honour of Nodar, they received a prolonged, genuine Canadian standing ovation, just as I knew they would. It was both beautiful and a little heartbreaking to watch. My eyes were wet, but I was so proud of our country. We were reaching out the only way we knew—embracing our wounded visitors.
About halfway through the show, Jacques and I were beckoned to the green room in the bowels of the stadium to get ready for our appearance onstage. Makeup. Earphones. Sound checks. Pretty soon I was walking out with the IOC president and standing before the lectern, more nervous than I had ever been in my life. After Jacques delivered a joint statement of condolence, I was alone at the lectern, shaking and self-conscious.
“With Jack Poole and Nodar Kumaritashvili in our hearts,” I began, “and standing on the shoulders of every Canadian, I commit that the men and women of Vancouver 2010 . . . are ready to deliver the performance of a lifetime.”
I had hoped to reach out to the athletes, to let them all know how much we admired and respected what they did, on so many levels. I wanted to express that we had the utmost confidence and belief in them. But I also wanted to acknowledge the heavy hearts with which they would be competing. “At these Games you now have the added burden to shine and be united around your fallen comrade Nodar. May you carry his Olympic dream on your shoulders and compete with his spirit in your hearts.”
I had given thousands of speeches in my life, but never with so many people watching, with so many people wanting to hear what I was going to say and how I was going to say it. Yet I had never felt more humbled in front of an audience.
I was also concerned about my French sentences. No matter how hard I tried, I was never going to sound like anything other than a person with little to no skills in Canada’s other official language. Some friends liked to joke that I hadn’t mastered English yet, let alone French. It was almost ridiculous how much I fretted about this, how much I obsessed on the amount of French content there was in the production. I knew we were going to be judged on how much French was spoken or sung: it couldn’t just be subtitles on a screen; people needed to hear and feel the language. Still, I felt we had achieved a good balance, challenges notwithstanding.
I don’t know what it is about me and French. When I read the pages of my speech that night, the French words seemed to be moving on the page. I wasn’t helped by the fact that the lighting cast an awkward shadow so I couldn’t see the page properly. I’m pretty sure I was awful. And if I had any doubt I certainly got enough e-mails reminding me. But I tried as hard as I could. Short of living in French for a year ahead of time, it was always going to be difficult for me.
“This journey has not been about the few but rather the many,” I continued. “All Canadians—Aboriginal Canadians, new Canadians, English-and French-speaking Canadians and the myriad of cultures, microcultures, languages and peoples that make Canada Canada.
“On this, the proudest night of my life, I thank my loyal, selfless teammates, our tireless Blue Jacket volunteers, our partners, our thoughtful leaders, the IOC and global Olympic family and our many friends and our families for their belief, their efforts, their sacrifice and their courage.”
After Jacques and I finished, we walked back to our seats. I missed k.d. lang’s haunting rendition of Leonard Cohen’s “Hallelujah,” a song that seemed more appropriate than ever. The audience radiated enthusiasm and didn’t want the evening to end. My daughter Molly was waiting for me. She greeted me with her beautiful smile and a warm hug, which always has a way of making me feel good.
Then it was almost time for the Olympic flag to be brought into the stadium by Donald Sutherland, Betty Fox, Bobby Orr and the others. Betty looked radiant with her snow-white hair. After that, Hayley Wickenheiser took the oath on behalf of all of the athletes at the Games.
In minutes, Rick Hansen was going to push himself up that ramp that David Atkins feared he’d never be able to climb, and the cauldron lighting would begin. This part of the ceremony, the climax, the part everyone was waiting for, had been practised many times under strict scrutiny. Every time I attended a rehearsal, usually in the wee hours of the morning, all four arms of the cauldron rose up from the floor flawlessly. It was all so perfectly timed, like a well-crafted Swiss watch, and I couldn’t wait to see the audience’s reaction.
Rick powered his way onto the stadium floor through a thick veil of mist, as if he were crossing a snow-covered tundra. He immediately went to Catriona Le May Doan and used his torch to light hers. Catriona, in turn, ran to light Steve Nash’s torch, who lit Nancy Greene’s, who finally lit Wayne Gretzky’s. David had organized this part perfectly. The identity of the four cauldron lighters was obscured until it was time for their individual torch to be lit, stringing out the surprise a little longer. Soon it was time for the lighting itself. I recognized within seconds that we had a problem on our hands. One of the arms of the cauldron was not coming up. The floor was frozen shut and the arm was locked down.
Oh my God, I thought. Can this really be happening?
The next 30 seconds felt like an hour. The four cauldron lighters, Canadian legends, stood at their positions waiting to get fresh instructions from David from his booth high up in the stadium. Each was wearing a hidden earpiece, which connected them to David precisely for a never-in-a-million-years moment like this. I could only imagine the private hell David was experiencing as we all looked down at the floor. Was someone down there trying to crank the cauldron up manually? I envisaged a chaotic scene underneath the stage floor, where many elements of the show were being organized.
The irony was that, unlike the television audience, most of the people watching in the stadium had no idea what was going on. Those watching at home were being told that an arm was malfunctioning, but the live audience just assumed that the cauldron had three arms. Steve, Nancy and Wayne lit the three arms of the cauldron that came up from the floor. Poor Catriona was the odd person out.
I was mortified. I remember joking to Darlene Poole that Jack was probably behind this screw-up. He would have enjoyed watching me squirm a little. I knew that had he been sitting beside me he would have had a crack or two that would have put a smile on my face. He would have tried anyway. It took a lot to faze that man and he would have known that a faulty cauldron wasn’t life-and-death stuff. Without Jack there, however, the day was turning into the nightmare that just wouldn’t end.
Nodar’s death would frame everything that followed that first Friday. It would make the most mundane problem seem so many times bigger. There are almost always niggly transportation problems on the opening day of the Olympics. At least there had been at every one that I had attended, from Salt Lake City to Beijing. I remember Gordon Campbell recalling how it took him four hours to get back to his hotel after the opening ceremonies in Athens. It takes a while to work the kinks out of the system. And what could we do about the protests? That’s democracy and this is Canada.
I thought the police handled the situation about as well as could be expected. They approached that day with a good spirit. If anything, they went out of their way to avoid an ugly confrontation that could lead to violence, triggering an event that might force them to use tear gas or get into hand-to-hand combat. The last thing we wanted or needed was bloody images on the television news that would overshadow the opening ceremonies. But in showing restraint, the police probably allowed the protesters to get a little too close to the stadium, which had a negative impact on our transportation system. On top of all that we had the faulty cauldron.
By the next day, the word glitch had entered the commentary surrounding the Games. It didn’t seem particularly fair, but there wasn’t any point moaning or whining about it. Our job was to plough ahead, to ensure doubt didn’t start creeping into the minds of those working at VANOC. I didn’t want people feeling that perhaps we weren’t ready for prime time.
I knew my immediate executive team and others working at VANOC were looking to me for a signal that everything was going to be okay. Wounded as I was on the inside, I tried to portray empathy and project a strong, calm demeanour. I wanted my team to feel that they had support and could overcome adversity even if in my heart I was far from being sure how. I instinctively decided to assign key team members to key locations to shore up operations and show we were facing our challenges head-on, which seemed to help regenerate our focus. My staff had become complete disciples of the project and committed believers in what we were trying to accomplish. We were in a fast-paced environment with a million moving parts. It was our aim to be in front of the parade, leading it. But we were mired in the middle of it at the moment.
I was particularly worried about my right-hand man, Dave Cobb. Dave had been such a warrior for us since the day he joined the team. He led the sponsorship drive that helped raise a record amount of money. He had a relentlessly positive attitude about everything. Underneath his gentle exterior beat the heart of a fearless competitor who wanted these Games to be the best in history. He took everything personally and his strength was important to us now.
But I could tell he was wounded by Nodar’s death, deeply so. It was probably as tough a blow on him as anyone on the team. He was in charge of operations and felt a strong connection to what had happened in Whistler. Of course, Nodar’s death was out of Dave’s control, but the burden of it was his and he needed to be prepared to answer the tough questions, to take a lead role in making sure everything we did in connection with Nodar was handled with class and dignity and honour. And it was Dave who would have to watch over the restart of operations at the Sliding Centre. Every move he made now was so much weightier than before.
After the ceremony, I had to go to the Main Press Centre for a news conference involving David Atkins and some of the performers from the opening ceremonies. I sat beside David in the middle of an exhausted but very proud cast that included stars like Sarah McLachlan, k.d. lang, Nelly Furtado and others. I could tell instantly that David was torn up over what happened with the cauldron. I felt badly for him because I knew how much of himself he had poured into that ceremony, how badly he wanted it to all come off without a hitch. On top of the cauldron, he had been forced to redesign elements of the show at the last minute to incorporate various tributes to Nodar. In my book, David was a hero.
The problem with the cauldron notwithstanding, I thought the show was a masterpiece. And for him to have to sit there, after everything he had done, and be forced to answer question after question about the faulty cauldron seemed grossly unfair. But David did win rave reviews from Prime Minister Stephen Harper, who said it was the best show he’d seen in his life, and from Governor General Michaëlle Jean, who also praised the artistry.
But beyond those scarce kind words, however, I must say we didn’t feel a lot of support from our 200 partners on that first day. It felt as if we were all alone, as if they didn’t understand what was involved in getting the wheels of a machine this big rolling properly. Instead, we had to exchange stern words with officials in the PMO who were making unreasonable demands and unpleasant accusations and who should have been looking at themselves first before pointing fingers at others.
What bothered me was that in our darkest hour our friends seemed to be, if not abandoning us, suddenly indifferent toward us. I have never cherished fairweather friends who crave the front row when things are going great but don’t want to be around you when times are tough. The one notable exception was Gordon Campbell, who stepped out of a meeting with some U.S. governors earlier in the day to phone and offer his support. “I just want you to know that I’m there for you. Whatever you need just ask,” he said.
I appreciated the generosity of the gesture. The rest of our partners were in limbo. Oh, they would step forward and be happy to be seen with us eventually, once the stigma and pain of opening day had faded away and a few gold medals were won. Once it was clear that the Games were going to be among the greatest ever held, we had more friends than we could count. But the adage about hard times being when you learn who your true friends are certainly felt right.
I should acknowledge the support we received from senior staff at the IOC that first day. They were in this with us all the way, shoulder to shoulder. Our problems were their problems. At least that’s the way they made it seem. There was no way the IOC was going to hang us out to dry. They realized how much we had put into preparing for these Games and that we had had some horrible luck on the opening day. Jacques Rogge helped me as much as I helped him. So did René Fasel and Gilbert Felli.
There wasn’t a minute that I didn’t miss my friend Jack Poole. I thought about him so much on that first day. “What would Jack have done?” I said to myself more than once. We would have talked a dozen times. We might have stayed up the entire night talking about what we did from here on. It would surely have been easier. I walked along the waterfront from the press centre after the news conference in the direction of my hotel. I passed the second cauldron sitting in the plaza named after Jack, and already crowds were surging around the fence to get a look, take pictures.
By the time my head hit the pillow that night I was mentally and physically knackered. The next day I was heading up to Whistler, where a downhill event was scheduled. There was a chance, we had been told, that the weather might prevent it from happening, which was not going to be the worst thing in the world from my perspective. It might give us a bit of a breather to deal with some of the issues that lingered in the wake of Nodar’s death. I wanted to visit as many members of my team at the Whistler Sliding Centre as I could and spend time with the medical team members who had so valiantly tried to save Nodar’s life. They would all need picking up. I would need to assure them all would be okay.
Little did I know there would be more tribulations to experience before the light would begin shining on us for good.
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Cypress—Our Special Child


  WHAT WOULD TODAY bring?
I rose from my bed around 4:30 the next morning after a fitful sleep. The mental gymnastics of the project had wreaked havoc on my sleep for years. A great night was four to five hours. It had been one of those nights.
I walked to the balcony of my room at the Bayshore to take a look at the second cauldron down at the waterfront. I wanted to make sure it was still burning. I was also optimistically on the lookout for any indication that the weather might give us a break. But all it did was rain.
My working day began with breakfast with Dave Cobb in the coffee shop at the Bayshore. We were typically the first to take a table. We talked about the events of the previous day and the fallout from Nodar’s death that we were going to have to deal with over the next 24 to 48 hours. It was a pretty heavy discussion. I was heading up to Whistler later that morning to deal with the many Nodar-related issues that were now on our plate, among other things. After breakfast, Dave and I joined other members of the executive team in our private meeting room to talk about what each person would be doing and see if we needed to modify our plans.
Besides the heavy emotional toll that Nodar’s death had had on our workers in Whistler, there was now a myriad of practical considerations. What was to happen to future luge events? Did we need to implement additional safety measures at the track to satisfy concerns being expressed in various quarters? When would the investigations into the accident place be completed? How was it all going to affect the timetable for other events that were supposed to be taking place at the Sliding Centre, such as skeleton and bobsleigh? And what about the athletes? What would their state of mind be, having to perform in the wake of a fellow competitor’s death? Would they all be petrified? Who could have blamed them if they were?
This was no way to have to compete. The sliding sports are physically and mentally demanding. Competitors would need to be reassured that this track was safe, that it was no different from most around the world, that they could trust it if they trusted themselves.
There were mobs of media already in Whistler mid-Saturday and more were expected to descend on the town over the weekend to do follow-up stories on Nodar’s death and to look into questions being raised about the track. A meeting with Felix Kumaritashvili, Nodar’s uncle and the coach of the Georgian luge team, was hastily organized. Jacques Rogge was also going to be there, along with executives from the International Luge Federation.
Felix was wearing a Georgian team jacket. He was medium height, sturdy, with greying dark hair and a light stubble on his face. It was evident from the dark circles under his eyes that he’d spent the night tossing in his sleep. He looked like someone who had lived a hard life outdoors. One of Nodar’s teammates, a fellow from the same small village, sat nearby with his back against the wall, motionless. There to support Felix, he never spoke.
I thought about the call he had had to make to his brother, David, the day before to tell him that his son was dead. I imagined the guilt Felix must have felt, that he was somehow partly responsible for the tragedy. That kind of self-inflicted psychological wound was only natural. Of course, none of it was his fault, but there was little I could say to relieve his anguish.
We spoke with Felix through an interpreter. It was a deeply humbling, emotional exchange with everyone searching for the right words of consolation. It was not a long conversation but it went on long enough for him to make clear that the family desperately wanted Nodar’s body sent back home to Georgia as soon as possible. “Can you do anything, John?” Jacques asked me in front of Felix. “Leave this with me,” I said. “These are statutory processes, but I will move heaven and earth to try and make this happen. I will do something, I promise.”
After the meeting, I wandered about the Sliding Centre to see how our staff members and volunteers were coping and to chat quietly with officials from the luge federation. It didn’t take long into my chat with FIL President Josef Fendt to determine that these guys were still lost, in an environment most of them had never ventured into before, surrounded by media trying to trip them up, to get them to say things that might be controversial, that would cast the Games or the sport in a negative light. Amid the avalanche of coverage surrounding Nodar’s death were questions that flashed like a beacon: Was the track too dangerous? Did FIL officials, and by extension us at VANOC, have bloody hands in this affair?
That was certainly the subtext of many of the stories. Some of the papers in the U.K. were blaming the crash on Canada’s Own the Podium program, suggesting we went so far as to speed up the track to give our team home-ice advantage, the logic being that because our athletes would be able to train on the track the most, they would be better able to handle its speed. It was a preposterous and repulsive suggestion unbecoming of any reporter. No one would ever put lives at risk to gain a competitive advantage. And we had given more practice time to visiting athletes than previous Olympic host countries had. It was tough to read and listen to the coverage, but we had to deal with it.
By Saturday afternoon, there was a lot more information about what happened in the final seconds before the crash. I talked to the officer who had conducted the investigation into the accident for the RCMP. I had earlier wondered what expertise the RCMP could bring to bear on an accident that happened on a luge run. After all, what did the force’s investigators know about the sport and this type of facility? But this guy was impressive and pretty much nailed what most authorities would conclude in due time.
Nodar was blazing down the course when he lost control of his sled in turn 15. His reaction was evident for all watching to see: he raised his left hand in the air and dropped his feet to the ice in an effort to slow himself down. By turn 16 he was high on the wall and completely out of control. In a split second, the gravitational forces at play acted to catapult Nodar out of his sled, over the wall and into a steel support pole. I was disappointed that broadcast outlets chose to show the tragedy over and over again. I failed to see the public service in this. I just couldn’t imagine being the boy’s parents and having to watch that.
By the afternoon, the investigations at the Sliding Centre were finished. It was decided to resume training runs in all of the sliding track sports, including luge. But the FIL made the arbitrary call that men competing in luge would now begin races from the women’s start line, in an effort to reduce speeds and lower the psychological barrier now confronting their athletes. Also, walls at turn 16 were raised as a precautionary measure, and padding was put around support poles. Many luge competitors felt the decision ruined the event and said so. I could understand their feelings, but I also knew there were athletes competing in the sport who were nervous and may have welcomed the move. They just weren’t going to say anything publicly for fear of incurring the wrath of their fellow competitors.
Over the next 10 days, there would be fewer accidents on the track than there were in Salt Lake City in 2002 and about the same as there were in Turin four years later, a reassurance that failed to make me feel any better.
My mind turned to helping Nodar’s parents get their son’s body back to Bakuriani, Georgia, as soon as possible. I phoned our chief medical officer for the Games, Dr. Jack Taunton, to see what the prospects were for getting this done at rocket speed. Jack explained the normal procedures and how much more complicated it was when the police and coroner were involved. But I still didn’t see why, under the exceptional circumstances, we couldn’t just speed the process up.
“Jack, this isn’t good enough,” I said. “We have to do better. You need to make these phone calls and explain our situation. And if you need to talk to the top officials in the country in charge of this, then it’s time to talk to them now. You need to implore them to help us, to pull out all the stops, to go that extra distance to get Nodar on a plane back home in as short a time as humanly possible.”
Jack, who possesses pit bull determination, said he would but he didn’t seem very optimistic.
“Keep me in the loop,” I told him. “I’m counting on you, Jack.”
By the end of the day, Jack had worked some magic and managed to get the various authorities to speed things up, cutting three days off the length of time Nodar’s body would remain in Canada. It was a small but important victory.
I wanted to spend as much time as I could over at the track, talking to our volunteers and full-time staff to make sure they were doing okay. I knew nerves would be frayed. I was worried about Craig Lehto, director of the Sliding Centre. Craig was one of the nicest people you’d ever meet, with a first-class knowledge of sliding centres. He had a huge heart and was loved by his team. We were lucky to have him.
When I saw him on Saturday, I told him that he was now in the midst of one of the most challenging moments in his career. In fact, there might never be one quite like it again. Over the next few days, he was going to need to show what kind of man he was and what kind of leader he was too. His team was going to draw off his body language, his mood and his strength. “This is not easy,” I told Craig. “But people are going to be looking to you for signals, they are going to be looking to you for affirmation that everything is going to be okay and that some kind of order and calm is going to be restored. Mostly, Craig, they will be looking to you to show them, convince them, that you are all going to weather this storm. And whatever you need from me you will get—that I will promise.”
I knew that, like many, he was unfairly wearing some of the responsibility for what had happened. I told him he needed to stop worrying about that now. He had to focus on running the project, to get the program he had developed over the last few years back on track. He couldn’t let that slip away from him. There was too much riding on it. Craig would pass his test with flying colours.
Before heading back to Vancouver, I attended the lighting of the cauldron in Whistler, which was located in the town square. Thousands turned out, and yet the ceremony still felt quaint and warm and Canadian. I said a few words and probably didn’t have the same upbeat lilt in my voice as I might have had under normal circumstances. But Whistler had responded brilliantly to its Olympic challenge, producing first-rate venues and an Athletes’ Village that never got the recognition and kudos it deserved. From the stage, I could see the pride in the crowd over how the resort had come together. Its finest hour had arrived.
Because I needed to be in Whistler on Saturday, I was unable to take in Jenn Heil’s performance at Cypress Mountain in women’s moguls. Jenn is a five-foot-nothing dynamo from Spruce Grove, Alberta, with a smile that could light up a continent and a personality that could warm a small country. She represented our first legitimate chance of winning the first gold medal on Canadian soil. She had taken the gold in Turin. I knew Jenn wanted it badly and had trained her heart out to be the one here at home. When I got word that she had finished second, I felt a little sad for her because I knew that while a silver medal was nothing to sneeze at, gold was what she wanted. Gold was what we all wanted for her, and it certainly would have helped change the negative story lines that were being rolled out by the media.
I had been on the phone throughout the day Saturday, talking to various members of my team about new issues that were beginning to emerge. For one, we were receiving some early grief for what was perceived by a vocal few to be a lack of French content in the opening ceremonies. If there was one issue that could get my blood boiling throughout the Olympics, it was the tightrope we seemed to walk daily over the use of French. As an organization, we had gone the extra mile and beyond to ensure the Games reflected Canada’s linguistic duality. During the run-up phase, we had received heaps of praise from Canada’s official languages commissioner, Graham Fraser, for ensuring that VANOC was fully bilingual. He applauded us for hiring bilingual staff in key positions. Almost a quarter of our staff spoke French. We were ensuring that all signage was in both languages. We had 4,500 volunteers who had driven or flown across the country, many from Quebec or other French-Canadian communities, to work on the Games. We had every document printed in both languages. We had signed memoranda of understanding with the Fédération des francophones de la Colombie-Britannique and the Fondation canadienne pour le dialogue des cultures to help us raise the profile of francophones living outside Quebec. Sure, Fraser had taken the odd shot at us, but by and large we had raised the bar on official languages.
And, of course, when it came to the opening ceremonies, few knew that we had tried to have the famous Quebec anthem “Mon Pays” in the lineup but were shot down by the song’s author. Still, it wasn’t enough to deflect criticism.
As fate would have it, one of my scheduled stops in Whistler was a reception hosted by the Organisation internationale de la Francophonie, where I was to drop by and deliver a greeting on behalf of VANOC. The organization is made up of countries and states where French is the customary language. Given the events of the previous evening, and some of the reviews around French content that were in the morning newspapers, I wasn’t sure what kind of greeting I would receive. As it turned out, although there were some private discussions among delegates at the function about the opening ceremonies, no one confronted me over it.
I did hear from some that they thought the show was spectacular, moving and emotional. Having said that, there was an elephant in the room—I could feel it. People were talking. The topic was doing the rounds. Still, I left mostly unscathed. It was funny because months later, in August 2010, I would get a letter of commendation from the president of the same organization in Switzerland praising our stellar efforts to recognize French at the Games. It said the organization also hoped Games organizers in London and Sochi were attempting to clear the high bar that we had set.
When it came to French content at the Olympics, Quebec premier Jean Charest said it best in one of the many conversations we had on the subject. “Whatever you do,” said the premier, “it will never be enough for some. You will always have critics.” And he was right. But the French debate, such as it was, was infused with politics. So when Heritage Minister James Moore, who represented a riding in suburban Vancouver and was also the minister responsible for official languages, came out and denounced the amount of French in the opening, I thought, Okay, this is clearly about votes in Quebec. But knowing that a big part of the conversation was political didn’t help defuse my annoyance. I mean, as our head minister and partner, he had been intimately aware of our challenges as well as our plans. I had briefed him myself.
There we were, having spent years working to share these Games with the country, working to infuse the organization to the degree we could with the French spirit, and this was the respect we got? Not enough French in the opening? You had to be kidding.
I went back to Vancouver late Saturday night by car. All the way there I tried to answer some of the thousands of e-mails I had received in the previous 24 hours. Yes, there were a few denouncing my appalling French. But there were many more giving me marks for the courage of trying. There were lots urging me to keep my spirits up, giving me the same pep talk I was giving my team. It was gratifying that unknown Canadians cared enough to write me and tell me to hang in there. That the sun was going to shine . . . eventually.
We had experienced more transportation problems throughout the day. Who knew buses from California didn’t like climbing hills? But beyond that, politicians and dignitaries were also creating problems. For instance, for buses going up to Cypress, there was a drop-off point halfway up the mountain, with security screening tents that spectators had to pass through as part of a strict protocol imposed by the IOC and the RCMP. But then a procession of black Escalades belonging to the security detail of U.S. Vice-President Joe Biden showed up and they weren’t stopping at any checkpoint and having the president’s number two man jump out to be searched and walk 800 metres. Not a chance.
If that wasn’t enough, the vice-president’s security detail also effectively stopped all traffic trying to get up the mountain. And it wasn’t just Joe Biden. Arnold Schwarzenegger was another, and even the prime minister’s entourage caused problems on the first day. At any given time we would have kings and queens and other royals visiting the Games, adding layers of protocol headaches behind the scenes.
Part of our challenge was getting these groups to understand that there was a way to access the venues smoothly and a way that would cause us enormous grief. I think there was a great deal of sympathy for us. The leaders knew we were managing a difficult situation, especially on Cypress, and after the first day we didn’t have nearly as many problems with political processions.
I met with my staff first thing Sunday morning. We went over the list of issues that had emerged from the day before: the pesky transportation problems, more weather problems, the French fallout from the opening, Nodar—the list went on and on. During my time in Whistler, it had become evident that confidence was fragile. Nodar’s death had really caused people to spiral, but also the weather was getting everyone down (especially up at Cypress, where events were threatened with cancellation), and the international media were reacting negatively to some of the problems we were experiencing.
I felt it was important that we, as an executive, fan out and get to as many venues as possible, especially ones where there were problems—like the Sliding Centre in Whistler and in Cypress— and give the staff and volunteers on-site support and assurances that they were doing a great job and everything was going to be okay. We decided to double the executive presence at key soft spots, especially in the mountains.
For instance, I had Dan Doyle, our executive vice-president of venue construction, head up to Whistler and oversee things there for a bit. The idea wasn’t to be looking over people’s shoulders but rather just to have someone people could turn to if doubt started to creep into their decision making. More a guiding hand than anything and Dan was a pretty good shoulder to lean on. Donna Wilson, our vice-president of human resources, went to Cypress Mountain to boost morale of a Games team that was exhausted, wet and frustrated.
The warmest February in eternity was causing massive headaches at Cypress, and there was the rain to contend with. It was literally threatening to wash out events. This was leading to the second-guessing we’d anticipated about why we had planned so many events on Cypress instead of Whistler, where cold weather and snow were more of a sure thing. The short answer was that Cypress offered advantages that Whistler didn’t. It was a lot closer to more people, for starters. That allowed us to get more Olympic tickets in the hands of more spectators. Not such a bad motivation. On a beautiful day, the view from Cypress over Vancouver was one of the most stunning in the world. And, frankly, we didn’t anticipate we’d be dealing with weather that hadn’t been seen in the area for more than a century. Whistler was already over capacity with five stadiums, an Athletes’ Village, a Celebration Plaza and other facilities.
THE IOC HAD required us to stage test events in the period leading up to the Games. It was a chance for them to see us under the kind of pressure we would face at Games time. And for us it was an opportunity to face the stresses of competition, a chance to put ourselves through the wringer. Chances were that if there was a flaw or weakness it would reveal itself during these test events, and there would still be time to fix them.
We had scheduled 21 such events and boasted an impressive report card at the end. Almost straight A’s. The program allowed our team to test transport, technology, security, accreditation, scoring systems and food and beverage. All the venues but one seemed a perfect fit: Cypress. The venue was tight, access tough, the owner not wildly enthusiastic that we were there, and there was always the worry that snow conditions might be problematic.
The test events at Cypress in 2009 were far from Olympic-calibre, with one postponement, so we had serious work to do. This fairly modest mountain was to face its stiffest test—ever. It had a year to become world-class. We worked hard to ready the hill, develop a spirit of teamwork on the site, recruit the best kinds of volunteers, install snow-making and lighting equipment and create an upbeat stadium atmosphere. By Games time, one of the most stylish grandstands ever built on a North American mountain was in place, a full 14 storeys top to bottom. Looking straight down on the finish corral for ski and snowboard cross (fairly recent Olympic disciplines) and other events, it looked like a giant Meccano model. Eventually the mountain, with its multiple venues, was transformed. We had turned water into wine. In its coverage, NBC favoured Cypress for its amazing vistas.
The organizing committee had taken painstaking measures to prepare for every kind of weather. Unique weather station technology had been installed in the mountains through a partnership with Environment Canada—the sole purpose to help us get in front of every imaginable winter challenge. Too much snow, too little snow, none at all, rain, sun, flying saucers—the system could tell. For years we watched, analyzed and tried to predict what was coming—usually with bang-on certainty. The data said don’t worry. The data said we would manage. In Whistler, if the same weather technology said we’d have a clear window at 10 AM to start a downhill event, then voilà that’s what we got. Pretty impressive stuff . . . until we needed it most.
In the months leading up to the Games, Cypress had looked good. But then conditions started to bounce around a bit. The mountain was acting strangely, just not co-operating. We thought that, based on previous years’ data, it would right itself and the snow would come, and plenty of it. Just after Christmas the situation was beginning to look dire. No snow or so little it hardly mattered. The little snow that the mountain got was in the wrong places. On top of that, it wasn’t cold enough to make any snow artificially.
Early work we had done on the mountain was destroyed by warm winds. January was the warmest in Vancouver since record-keeping began in 1937, with a mean temperature of 45 degrees Fahrenheit, or more than seven degrees higher than normal. It was El Niño Plus. At Capilano Golf and Country Club, a few kilometres from Cypress, men and women were playing golf in short sleeves. The fields of play on the mountain were breaking up. With the start of the Games closing in on us, the condition of Cypress had become the daily focus of our mountain operations team. New plans were drawn up. Still parts of the mountain were more brown than white, and pretty soon the media were going nuts with doom-and-gloom stories that went around the world. Will they make it? Is there any hope?
The pundits were having a field day predicting it was only going to get worse. The sport and venue teams collaborated endlessly, new money was found as contingencies for other things were reduced and major decisions were made to shore up our position. Creativity was the order of the day. We were now looking for bales of hay to protect and stabilize the runs, creating false but strong and effective bases to hold the snow. Meantime, we were hunting for other snow that was compatible with the snow on the mountain.
The crew was determined not to let the mountain defeat them. Every day was a new adventure with very little help from the sky. Every ounce of snow was taken from other sites on the mountain and stockpiled for emergencies above the runs. Erickson Air-Crane helicopters carrying the hay to key locations made for dramatic pictures, and when trucks started to haul snow from Manning Park it was clear to all it was game on—man versus mountain.
As the days ticked down, the mountain operations team, led by Paul Skelton, was exhausted after practically living on the mountain for weeks. I went up many times to see the work and cheer them on. Their Olympics had started and they were after a gold medal—nothing less. If something was humanly possible then they tried it. Dave Cobb, Terry Wright and Cathy Priestner Allinger worked day and night making key strategic decisions with the crew, and while there were many setbacks they chewed their way through each one. This was not going to be the site of the first-ever Olympic event outright cancellation.
To provide encouragement, I asked the premier to visit the workers. He had lunch with them and told them how proud he and the people of the province were of their heroic work. It meant the world to them.




A united House: The irresistible Barbara Ann Scott, figure skating gold medallist from 1948, carries the torch through the House of Commons for the first time in history.

A proud Pittsburgh Penguins captain Sidney Crosby carries the torch through downtown Halifax.

Our First Peoples welcome the world at the opening ceremonies.

The streets of Vancouver and Whistler teem with exuberant Canadians and their international visitors.

Prime Minister Stephen Harper pauses for a moment at a memorial to pay his repects to Georgian luger Nodar Kumaritashvili.

2010 saw the warmest January on record, and our Cypress Mountain operations team and volunteers worked in miserable conditions to ensure there was enough snow for the competitions.

Alexandre the Great: Alexandre Bilodeau of Montreal won Canada’s first gold medal on home soil in men’s moguls.

Snowboarders poised to conquer Cypress Mountain.

Heroes in blue: 25,000 Blue Jacket volunteers were essential to pulling off a successful Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games.

Joannie Rochette, Canada’s girl, pours her heart into her performance despite her mother’s death of heart failure days before.

Captain Hayley Wickenheiser (#22) and her teammates celebrate winning a gold medal in women’s hockey.

A joyous stadium awaits the athletes at the opening ceremonies of the Paralympics. 
Other partners were rattled a bit and calling to hear me say how I thought it would all play out so they could reassure others who were calling them. I had faith in our team to pull it off. It’s a wonderful thing to be surrounded by men and women who do not understand how to quit. One day in early February on Cypress, I mounted a snowcat to see the challenges up close. Paul Skelton, who was Australian and more commonly known as “Bones,” said to me, “Worry about something else, boss. We won’t let you down.”
I knew they wouldn’t.
Daily weather reports were painful to listen to and there was almost no point. One day we would get word snow was on the way—the next day it was forget it; now we’re calling for rain and warm winds. Talk about breaking our hearts and kicking us when we were down. I sat in on some operations meetings and wanted to scream as Chris Doyle, VANOC’s chief weather forecaster, outlined the what-if scenarios. I actually said to Chris at one meeting, “You can’t talk anymore.”
I couldn’t handle it. He would say the weather was going to clear up in three days and it never would. I know Chris was as frustrated as I was. Like everyone else on the team he would have swum the length of the Fraser River if he thought it would give us snow. He wanted desperately to give us some good news. And any time he attempted to I’d spoil the moment: “Are you kidding me? Are you kidding me? Why should we believe you this time?” I eventually resigned myself to the fact I was only going to have faith in the weather when I woke up and saw a white mountain under a clear sky.
Mounting successful events on Cypress was clearly going to be all up to us. In the final days, as the athletes showed up and modified practices were scheduled, it was clear the entire country was cheering for the men and women toiling on Cypress. By Games time, the crew had endured unmerciful exhaustion but they had prevailed. The venue was ready.
SO THAT WAS the backstory to Cypress. It was an Olympian achievement that we were getting any events off on the mountain period, given what we were facing. But the first few days of the Games was more of the same, weatherwise. Heavy rain, warm temperatures. Cypress had become our “special child,” in the immortal words of our hard-working and unflappable vice-president of communications, Renee Smith-Valade. We had growing concerns that some areas where spectators were supposed to stand could become unstable, which forced us to cancel 8,000 standing-room tickets the first weekend. It was a tough decision to take but we had no choice. The safety of our athletes and visitors was paramount.
The lack of snow wasn’t the only problem on Cypress that first weekend. An electrical failure knocked out the concession stand. Lineups had been ridiculously long, especially for people wanting only a hot drink. Some buses were still struggling to get up the mountain. Some broke down in the process, leaving spectators in the pouring rain waiting for a bus to get them back downtown.
Within a couple of days, all those problems would be sorted out, except for the lack of snow. That would be an issue until the end. And while it would have been far preferable to have had an abundance of snow from the beginning, and perfect temperatures, the heroic work of our mountain team and the Blue Jackets that worked on Cypress in some of the worst conditions imaginable became a compelling story in itself. Their dedication and resilience were inspiring.
Despite the constant rain we were getting in Vancouver, crowds were already becoming a story. Tens of thousands poured into the downtown core the first weekend, with many hoping to catch a glimpse of the Olympic cauldron at Jack Poole Plaza. The cauldron was situated inside the security perimeter that we had set up. It had to be; the plaza in which it was located also contained the International Broadcast Centre and the Main Press Centre, which were only for journalists with proper credentials. What this meant was that the cauldron had to be behind the chain-link security fence we had set up around the area.
For security reasons, the fence was covered by blue tarps in different spots, which didn’t exactly cater to those wanting a look. But these measures were mandated by the RCMP, and we took our obligations to protect Canadian and foreign journalists seriously. There were all sorts of people looking to draw attention to one cause or another.
Which is all to say that responding to early grumbling about the fence and its impact on cauldron viewing wasn’t simple. But on the first Sunday I received a call from Mayor Gregor Robertson, who was adamant that we find some kind of solution because the complaints were getting louder by the hour. And the crowds bigger. Walking by one night, I heard a loud continuing chant from the crowd, I think partly in fun: “Mr. Furlong, take down that fence.”
The truth is, no one anticipated that we’d get well past 30,000 people a day going down to the waterfront to see the cauldron. It became the biggest tourist attraction of the Games—by far. I phoned Terry Wright, our premier troubleshooter, and asked him what could be done. At first, Terry didn’t think there was much we could do because of our security responsibilities.
But eventually, in discussions with the RCMP, we found a great solution, which involved moving the security fence closer to the cauldron and creating “windows” that allowed people to take unobstructed pictures. And we also managed to establish a rooftop viewing area west of the cauldron, which allowed people to get an eye-level view of the flame. The viewing area was a wing of the Convention Centre that was designed as a scenic outlook point and could accommodate about 150 people at any one time. From there, you could feel the flame’s heat on your face. After it opened, the crowds seemed to grow even bigger.
While you could put the kerfuffle over the popular cauldron into the category of a nice problem to have, it became another thing that the media could lump into the problems we were experiencing and build into an early narrative that these were the “Glitch Games,” and that we had got off to one of the worst starts in Olympic history.
By Sunday night, having heard a lot of the criticism, members of my executive team were bitter and very down at the complete lack of sympathy for our position. It’s not like many of these problems were uncommon to the start-up of any Olympics, especially the transportation challenges. And I don’t think we got enough credit for the stunning job our team on Cypress was doing just to have the venues competition-worthy. It was as if God himself was saying, “Anyone can stage this thing with snow. Let’s see how good you are doing it without any.”
On the afternoon of that first Sunday, I decided to head to the Richmond Oval, where a men’s speed skating final was taking place. I was anxious to see the Oval in all its glory, packed with fans, many of them members of the famous Dutch orange army, all in awe of one of the most splendid Olympic settings seen in recent years. But I also wanted to shake hands and slap the backs of as many Blue Jacket volunteers as I could.
I hadn’t been at the Oval long when I felt a tug on my arm. When I turned around it was one of our Blue Jackets.
“Mr. Furlong?” he said hesitantly.
“Yes.”
“Jim Fowlie.”
My eyes nearly popped out of my head.
“Jim Fowlie,” I exclaimed. “What in the world are you doing here? I thought you were in Australia.”
“I am,” he said. “But there is no way on earth I was going to let this happen in my country and not be a part of it. So I volunteered and I’m your venue services manager here at the Oval.”
“Wasn’t anybody going to say anything to me?” I laughed.
I loved Jim Fowlie. I had known him from my earliest days in Canada, when I was athletic director at the high school in Prince George. Unlike the other schools, which had dozens of swimmers, we had just five in the entire school when we entered the district swimming championships. Jim was an unbelievable swimmer, the best in the country in his age group. At the end of the competition there was only one event left: the 400-metre individual medley relay. Even with so few swimmers we had had lots of firsts and racked up the points, but to win it all we had to win the relay. But we didn’t have a relay team. Heck, we barely even had a swim team.
So I went over to Dick Zarek, who was the head of the swim team at another school and our local swim czar. I said, “Dick, I’d like to give Jim Fowlie a chance to go in the relay as our team.” Dick laughed at first. He thought I was joking.
“I’m serious,” I said.
“Ridiculous,” he countered. “You can’t do that.”
I asked why not and didn’t he want to see just how good this kid was. So Dick went off to a corner to huddle with a few of the other coaches and organizers and came back a little later with a proposition: Jim could go in the relay as a one-man team but at the end of each length, he had to get out of the water, get up on the starter’s block and jump back in.
“Okay,” I said. “You’ve got a deal.”
I found Jim and told him the terms of the pact. He had to swim 100 metres, get out of the pool and mount the block, dive back in and swim another 100 metres until he’d finished the 400 metres. To make a long story short, he won the race by a length—a length of the pool.
Jim ended up becoming world champion and record holder and eventually ended up in Australia working for the New South Wales Institute of Sport as a swim coach. It was great to see him again and even better seeing him in one of our Blue Jackets. What spirit! And all at his own cost.
As I wandered around the Oval, I didn’t see any of the long and troubled faces among the volunteers and workers that I had witnessed up in Whistler the day before. Everyone was smiling, most of all those in the crowd, who were just loving the speed skating competition. I was routinely getting reports from my executive team telling me that competitions were going off flawlessly at other venues around Vancouver and up in Whistler. Even most of the bus problems had been fixed.
But those stories weren’t making the news. By Sunday night the media, especially the foreign media, were obsessed with Nodar, the weather, French in the opening ceremonies, broken-down buses and the fencing around the waterfront cauldron.
I believe it was Sunday night when I heard the anchor on CTV say, “Look at what the world is saying about us.” And it was a compendium of the worst headlines and stories from around the globe, but primarily from the British press. So our own Olympic coverage in our own city was centred on the views of others—hard to believe.
I got a nice respite from all the negativity on Sunday evening when I attended a U.S. Olympic committee reception staged partly in our honour. The committee members were over the moon with the Games to this point, particularly the hot start their athletes had got off to. There was a fantastic energy in the room. It made me feel better.
The big event that night for me was attending the first victory ceremony at BC Place Stadium. Jenn Heil would be getting her silver medal. Dave Cobb and I got over to the stadium a bit early. There was already a frisson of excitement in the building. Soon there would be 24,000 people filling the seats of the amphitheatre that we had designed for the celebration. The place looked spectacular.
But before Jenn had a chance to take to the stage, there was a commotion around one of the television sets in the area where we were standing. We went over to see what all the fuss was about. By now people were cheering and waving their hands in the air. Alexandre Bilodeau of Montreal had just won Canada’s first gold medal on home soil. I wanted to drop to my knees in thankful prayer.
Alexandre had not been a medal favourite in men’s moguls, but he turned in a performance of a lifetime on a miserable night on Cypress Mountain to give the country a wonderfully historic moment. What made it even more special was the warm human drama that was playing out around the victory. Waiting at the bottom of the hill on Alexandre’s gold-medal run was his older brother, Frédéric, who suffers from cerebral palsy.
The image of a jubilant Frédéric cheering his brother’s victory brought many Canadians to tears that night, including this Canadian. The story of the incredible bond the brothers enjoyed would be shared with the nation over the next several days as Alexandre, often with Frédéric in tow, went from one media interview to another. The Vancouver Province headline the next morning was perfect: “Alexandre the Great” it exclaimed. And he was great.
I was thrilled that such an incredible honour, the first gold in Canada, had been bestowed on such a worthy young man, someone who truly was a perfect role model for children around the country and who embodied everything that was good about sport. In fact, the victory and the tale around it represented the very best of what sport could be.
I was happy too for Quebec. It had developed so many great amateur athletes because it took amateur sports seriously and funded programs properly. Alexandre would be just the first of many French Canadians at the Games who would leave with a medal, including more gold. So I was happy that the people of Quebec, some of whom may have felt slighted by the opening ceremonies, would be dancing in the streets Sunday night and well into the following week. They had a new hero.
And selfishly, I was happy for the hard-working men and women at VANOC and the thousands and thousands of Blue Jackets. They all desperately needed some good news to help lift the gloom and this was it. If I could have somehow transported myself to Cypress Mountain at that moment, I would have sprinted over to Alexandre and given him the biggest hug he’d ever known. The entire nation wanted to hug the likeable 22-year-old.
After that, watching Jenn Heil get her silver medal was even more special. People in the stadium knew what had happened on Cypress by then, so the mood was buoyant. Everyone gave Jenn such a hearty, deserving ovation. The stadium rocked in her honour.
After it was over, Dave Cobb and I decided we’d walk back in the direction of the cauldron to see how things were looking there and on the streets. We hadn’t yet fixed the viewing situation but would in a few days. By the time we got out of the stadium, the area around it was a mass of revellers. Even though it was raining the walk was fun. There were people everywhere, hooting and hollering. Young women on the shoulders of young men. The streets were rivers of red and white. I must have been stopped a hundred times for pictures. Dave became a go-to photographer, laughing away at the atmosphere building around us. Happiness was breaking out everywhere.
The news about Alexandre had evidently gone forth. Gold. Pure gold.
To say that this passion was nice to see was more than an understatement. I was praying that we were at the start of a turnaround. The day the story line began to change. But before I got too far in my thoughts I reminded myself that the next morning I would be brought back to earth—hard. I would be attending a memorial service for Nodar, as a pallbearer.
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The Sun Finally Shines


  WHEN I WALKED into the funeral home on Kingsway Street in Vancouver that Monday morning, I turned the corner into a modest, quiet chapel where a number of people had gathered. It’s there that I saw the open casket with the still, athletic young body of Nodar Kumaritashvili lying inside, dressed in a dark suit he might have worn at his high school graduation.
A memorial service for Nodar had been put together over the weekend. It was a closed, intimate gathering of about 25 or so, including a few teammates and coaches from Georgia and some other athletes and Olympic officials. My old Irish friend Pat Hickey, now the head of the European Olympic Committees and a close friend of the Georgians, was there. While Pat had apparently offered to represent Jacques Rogge and the IOC, I thought the president might have been there himself.
The last time I had seen a body in an open casket was at my mother’s funeral. I went up to Nodar’s casket, touched his hand and quietly paid my respects. There was little evidence of the traumatic event that had cost him his life. It was difficult not to look at Nodar and think that just over 72 hours earlier he had been laughing and joking with his teammates, completely absorbing his experience in Whistler. He had undoubtedly been a little nervous and excited about the training run he had in front of him, a kid yet to enter the prime of his life. Now he was lying in this casket, far away from the excitement of the Games, surrounded by just a few. It was all too much to accept.
Nodar’s uncle Felix was there, looking much like I had seen him on Saturday: broken, haunted, sad, lost. His difficult life had become that much more difficult. Private as the service was supposed to be, the funeral chapel started to fill up with Georgian Canadians who had come to support the young man. People came in and went up to the casket, some touching the body. There were quiet tears running down the faces of more than one person in the room; others sobbed uncontrollably. Some people dropped off flowers and left. Others knelt and prayed. Most wore black.
There was a short service. A minister offered a few informal words of comfort and prayers. When he was finished the coffin was sealed and I lined up to be one of the pallbearers who would wheel and then lift the hardwood coffin out to the waiting hearse. Pat Hickey was another one of the pallbearers. We were joined by some of Nodar’s teammates, including the two who had grown up with the young luger and been in his class at school. I was struck by how heavy the casket was, even for the eight of us.
We walked outside into another grey morning. A light drizzle had earlier coated the streets with a fine sheen. But the rain had stopped during the service, so those who had been waiting outside to pay their respects were able to stay dry. Most were from the local Georgian community, but there were reporters there too and lots of cameras.
A squad of Vancouver police officers on motorcycles was lined up on the street about 30 metres to the west of the funeral home. They had come impromptu to escort the hearse from the service to the airport, where the body would be loaded onto a plane to be flown back to Georgia, escorted by the president of the Georgian National Olympic Committee. The officers were lined up perfectly in their bright yellow jackets and saluted the coffin as it came out, which I thought was incredibly moving and professional and spoke so well about our police forces in Canada. I crossed over to the officers to shake their hands. I just wanted to say thanks, on behalf of VANOC but really on behalf of all Canadians, for the remarkable service they were performing that morning. Such a spirit of giving.
As I shook their hands, I noticed the most remarkable thing: almost to a person the officers had tears in their eyes. It almost made me start crying. Here were these officers who put their lives on the line every day, some of the toughest individuals you’ll find on the planet, and they were standing there in the rain shedding a tear for this kid from Georgia who had died in pursuit of a dream.
I was so proud of them that I wanted to embrace each one. Here we were in the middle of this nightmare, coming off this terrible weekend, and everyone outside the funeral home was feeling the same. These police officers wanted to do something, make a contribution in some way, and this is how they had decided to do it.
It was a profound moment. It said so much about our country and the people who make it what it is. Empathy is never in short supply in Canada. And we are a country that does not shirk its responsibilities. We help people. We show kindness. We do what’s right. And that’s what these officers were doing. Not because they were asked—they just felt it was right.
In the background that morning, I could hear a quiet rumble growing across the country, a low growl of encouragement. Canada was proud, I think, of the way we had responded to an extremely difficult situation. The Games would be dedicated to the spirit of Nodar and all the athletes like him. But Canadians wanted these Games to be great, they wanted us to shake off the criticism and courageously forge ahead. In some ways, we were like a hockey team that had fallen behind early in a game and now the crowd was encouraging us. It was a slow, silent cheer but it would be heard loud and clear later on.
When I hopped into the car after the service, I wanted everybody to be quiet. It was thinking time. The experience that morning would stay with me and ultimately inspire me to speak out on behalf of Canadians everywhere who were tiring of the attacks we were under, mostly from foreign media. But that chance wouldn’t come immediately.
Soon enough, I was heading to the Main Press Centre, where I would meet the media for the first time since the news conference on that first Friday with Jacques.
As usual, I had Renee Smith-Valade beside me on the podium in the press room. Renee was the primary media spokesperson for VANOC and would be our representative at the daily news conference that was held throughout the Olympics. Some days she needed a Kevlar vest, the questioning was so tough. But she handled it like the complete pro that she was, in both official languages; her French flawless.
On this Monday morning, I was joined in the news conference by Quebec Premier Jean Charest. It was Quebec Day at the Games, something each province and territory was allocated as part of the partnership agreements we had signed with them earlier. He was still beaming from Alexandre Bilodeau’s gold medal victory of the night before.
Inside the press conference room, a couple hundred journalists from Canada and around the world were waiting for us. It was an intimidating setting, no question. There was a bank of cameras stretched across the back of the room ready to catch every single breath we took. I had learned enough about the media that I knew everyone, especially in television, was looking for that one provocative statement, maybe a slip of the tongue, that reporters could hang their stories on. Body language was everything.
After congratulating Alexandre and the province of Quebec, I spoke for a few minutes about Nodar’s memorial service. I noted how the body was on its way home. I talked a bit about our ongoing challenges up at Cypress. Jean talked for a few minutes about Quebec Day and also acknowledged Alexandre’s historic win. Then it was time for questions.
The first one was for me. It was posed by a burly guy sitting right at the front. He had a shock of white hair and a white beard to match. It was Réjean Tremblay, a popular and influential columnist with La Presse. As I recall, he asked a question of me in French and asked that I answer it in French as well, a cheap shot intended to put me off balance.
So this is how it’s going to be, I thought.
It was perhaps fitting that on Quebec Day the question of French content in the opening ceremonies would dominate the news conference. Not that anyone outside Quebec was much interested in the topic, but Réjean and another writer from Quebec did a pretty good job of monopolizing a good chunk of the time set aside for queries.
While I certainly had handled all types of questions in my time with the Olympics, I had rarely faced a journalist who was as hostile and surgical as Réjean was that morning. He wanted to know why there wasn’t more French content in the opening and wasn’t satisfied with any answer that I gave. So he continued to ask the same question several different ways, in an increasingly belligerent tone, until he elicited sighs from other journalists in the room who were as tired of the line of inquiry as I was.
Tempting as it was to take a run at the lack of cooperation we had received in Quebec trying to secure talent and music rights, I chose to take the high road instead.
It was a dead certainty that the pair were going to put Jean Charest on the spot and ask him what he thought of the opening. I knew what Jean was going to say. He loved the show but was disappointed and wished there had been more French throughout the production, though he was happy with VANOC’s effort overall to promote and respect French Canada at the Olympics. If he hadn’t said there should have been more French in the opening, he would have been fried by Réjean in his next widely read column, which would have led to some piling on by others in Quebec. That’s how the media game often works. So I wasn’t really upset that the premier said what he said. He had little choice. He was far from being an adversary.
But the French journalists wanted me to apologize for the opening and I refused. I said we had nothing to apologize for and that I was proud of the measures we had taken both during the opening and throughout the organizing of the Games to promote Canada’s other language. I sure wasn’t going to say sorry. “What we tried to do was include all the elements that we needed to do at various levels— words, music, artists,” I said. “Let me be clear about what we are trying to do here—we are putting on the Olympic Games. It is a 17-day project and there are multiple, multiple layers.” The show was unmistakably Canadian to any observer, I explained, and the global coverage was incredibly favourable and glowing with praise.
Eventually, we were able to move on to other topics, but the first 20 minutes or so of the press conference was no fun at all. It took every ounce of discipline in my body not to sound off and let the world know that this was trumped-up, pseudo-political opportunism intended to embarrass. But I remained composed, answered the questions the best I could and waited for the conversation to change.
Afterward, however, I was steaming at those who were attacking us about the French content for purely political reasons, a group that included federal Heritage Minister James Moore. Canada’s Commissioner of Official Languages, Graham Fraser, also jumped on the bandwagon, announcing he would investigate the complaints that there wasn’t enough French content in the show.
An investigation? This had to be some kind of joke.
The sum total of complaints Fraser had received, we were told, was about 30. Unlike his predecessor in the role, who had been a great collaborator and supporter of our efforts, Mr. Fraser pointed fingers from a distance but rarely pitched in with ideas or support. I told him more than once that his approach was not helpful and asked him to identify any project he had experience with that had outperformed us—he did not have one. Privately, he would tell me how impressed he was but in front of a parliamentary or senate committee he would bail on us. So proud was I of our efforts to deliver a bilingual Games, I invited Parliament and Senate committees for official languages to visit us and see what we were doing. We received no response.
Later that day, the Quebec government was hosting a reception at Quebec House, which was in a sparkling and innovative temporary building on the shores of False Creek, across from the Athletes’ Village. Under the circumstances, it wasn’t an event I was dying to attend. I knew it would be awkward from the moment I got there. But I’d be damned if I was going to be intimidated into not going. I wasn’t going to run from anybody. Quebec had been our first provincial partner. Jean Charest had been there for us from the beginning, his mild but reasoned criticism of our opening aside.
When I arrived, the atmosphere inside was terrific. People were in a great mood, still high from Alexandre’s gold medal run. Although no one was saying anything to me directly, I could feel the French controversy floating above the crowd. I wasn’t there long before I saw James Moore heading toward me. James is a big guy you can see from anywhere. He has jet black hair combed straight back and always reminds me of someone from the cast of Mad Men. He was smiling. I doubt I was.
We shook hands.
“You’re probably a little annoyed at me,” James said, almost right off the bat.
“Well, I was certainly disappointed by your comments, no question,” I said.
“Well, I hope you understand that I was just doing my job,” James answered. “This isn’t anything personal.”
I told him I understood he was doing his job, but if he was going to criticize us I thought he at least needed to put the matter in context. When James was appointed Secretary of State for the 2010 Olympics, we gave him insider access to virtually all of our decisions. He was certainly aware of some of the challenges we had had trying to inject French content into the opening. And he knew about the myriad of other things we had done as an organization to reflect the French culture and influence in Canada, initiatives for which we had won wide praise. Instead, he just dumped on us for the lack of French in the opening, when we were still reeling from the death of Nodar. His timing was impeccable.
“You should know, James, that the number of people who are bilingual and working for VANOC is dramatically higher on a percentage basis than the number of bilingual people working for the federal government in Vancouver,” I said, as I had many times before.
“I don’t doubt it,” he said.
The truth was the number of bilingual volunteers we had amassed to deliver the Games was equal in size to a mid-size Canadian town. By any measure, we had moved heaven and earth to live up to this obligation. And he knew it.
“James,” I said, “I briefed you in person on this stuff and you had my direct line. All you had to do was pick up the phone and talk to me first and I might have helped give you a little background to everything that was going on to get French content into the opening. You are our partner and we deserved better. That’s all I ask for. Just give us a chance to explain our side of the story before you go out there and attack us for not doing enough. I thought you were completely unfair. And frankly I didn’t appreciate waking up Saturday morning and reading what you had to say in the paper.”
By Monday there was mounting pressure from commentators like Réjean Tremblay and representatives from other cultural organizations to increase the amount of French content in the closing ceremonies to make up for the perceived lack in the opening.
Ironically, Réjean was in the crowd at the Quebec House reception too. We spoke and he told me he was just “doing his job” when he ripped into me at the press conference. And then he went on to say that, the ceremonies aside, he was having a perfectly bilingual experience and that these were the best Games he had ever experienced as a journalist. Too bad he hadn’t put any of that in his column.
You can imagine how thrilled we were about demands for the closing ceremonies to incorporate more French. I phoned David Atkins to warn him about what was being said because it was going to reach him sooner or later. David was even more annoyed than I was. What did people honestly think? That we could be changing acts and inserting new production numbers at the last minute to suit the tastes of a few aggrieved people? I couldn’t agree more with David. The show was long since ready to air.
It would be one of the biggest shows ever produced in Canada. It had been carefully put together over a couple of years. Rehearsals had been going on for months and would be ramped up throughout the course of the Games. The artists had already arrived and were rehearsing. All of the songs had already been recorded. Compact discs with all of the music would be coming out five minutes after the closing ceremony ended. Now people wanted us to just kick someone out of the lineup and insert someone who sang in French?
I knew already that there was more French in the closing than the opening. That was just how it was put together. But I couldn’t be more specific without spoiling the surprise. Still, publicly I needed to be seen as listening to the complaints. I did not want to come across as rude or arrogant. But the matter was becoming a big problem because it was zapping energy out of our ceremonies team, who were already running on empty. And David Atkins was ready to blow a gasket at any moment.
I was hearing that we might soon be getting a call from the Prime Minister’s Office about the matter. When I heard this I thought, “Okay, that’s enough. I’ve got to put an end to this now.” I managed to track down the number for the PMO through a friend. I told the woman who answered the phone that I needed to talk to the prime minister.
“Who is this?” she said.
“This is John Furlong,” I replied. “I’m the chief executive officer of the Winter Games in Vancouver and this is a matter of considerable urgency.”
The woman asked me what did urgent mean? Today? Tomorrow?
“No,” I said. “Right now. I need to talk to the prime minister right now. This is a significant matter related to the delivery of the Games.”
She said she would go and find out what his schedule was and get back to me. It couldn’t have been more than a half-hour later when my cellphone rang. The voice on the other end said, “The prime minister would like to talk to you.”
Deep breath.
I thanked Stephen Harper for calling me back and began outlining the predicament VANOC was facing generally but more so as it related to potentially making changes to the closing ceremonies to include more French content. I wanted him to know that we cared greatly about this issue and always had. I told him that there was going to be more French in the closing as it was and then explained what had happened with some of our attempts to beef up the French content in the opening. I also shared my thoughts with him about some of the personal criticism I was receiving for my efforts to speak French in my opening night address.
One blog I came across accidentally was merciless in its attack on me. “John Furlong’s attempt at French was a disgraceful symbol of bilingualism,” the person wrote. And for good measure he said my attempt at our second language was “atrocious” and “disgusting.” Boy, that made me feel good.
I shared my frustration about this with the prime minister, whom I saw as an introverted and private man, just as I am. “This is not my language,” I told him. “This is very, very difficult, sometimes terrifying for me.”
The prime minister couldn’t have been more thoughtful and sympathetic. “I’ve had the same challenge in my own career,” he said. “I’ve had it my whole political life.”
He told me that one of the ways he managed around it was to speak French early in his remarks. He found that francophones were more respectful when people made an attempt at French early on in such a situation. “This is the advice I would give you,” he said. “Put the French up front and people will cheer you for it. Don’t worry about the critics. The people in Quebec will be delighted that you made the effort. It’s all about effort.”
“But prime minister,” I said. “You’re a rock star at this compared to me. This is not comfortable for me. I look down at my notes and the words start moving on me.”
He chuckled but was generous with his support and assurances.
We talked a bit about the demands for more French in the closing. I outlined the logistical realities of changing up the show at this late stage. He knew we weren’t going to be making any big changes. “Do your best,” he said to me. “Whenever there is an opportunity to include the spoken word in French put it in there. Just see what you can do. I know it will be wonderful and you guys will do a terrific job. The country is very proud of you. I’m really looking forward to it.”
I explained that having our partners criticizing us over French content was making life very uncomfortable for a lot of people who were doing their damndest to make the country proud. Morale was suffering. I felt he heard what I was saying.
It was a great conversation, and the prime minister made me feel a whole lot better about the situation. To be honest, throughout the entire Games I thought Stephen Harper was a real leader and brought a great spirit to the Olympics. Just seeing him there cheering madly, living every moment as if he himself were playing, was reassuring. He certainly played his part with class and looked good in red. If he had been distant and unsure about the Games at one time he had morphed into a rabid supporter.
I wasn’t quite finished with James Moore though. After the reception at Quebec House I would have a couple more conversations with him. And I was no less annoyed about the whole controversy.
“James,” I said at one point, “we’re partners, for God’s sake. I mean, I’d never do this to you guys. I’d never get up publicly and say bad things about the federal government. I have never once criticized you guys for anything. I have always been thoughtful and respectful. And who, exactly, is benefiting from all this, James? People from all over the world are looking over our fence and we’re fighting with each other. How does that look? We had the best opening ceremony imaginable and we’re arguing about this and the world is watching.”
And that was pretty much the last time we talked about it. I think the conversation with the prime minister had an effect because shortly thereafter the matter seemed to vaporize. When people approached James Moore looking for a quote he began telling reporters that there was nothing more to say and that the controversy was overblown.
(The only other time French was an issue was after the Games were over. We decided to send MPS, B.C. MLAS, senators and municipal council members from the host communities each a letter with a souvenir volunteer’s Blue Jacket to thank them for their support over the years. I just wanted them to feel appreciated, and we had the inventory so the gesture wasn’t coming at any extra cost. Universally the reaction was heart-felt, with one exception: the Bloc Québécois sent us a letter telling us that if we did not rewrite our letter to their members in French they would return all the jackets to us. The matter got resolved and they kept the jackets, but it was a final shot that didn’t show a lot of class.)
THAT NIGHT, DAVE COBB and I went back to BC Place Stadium to watch Alexandre Bilodeau receive his gold medal. The morning papers had wall-to-wall coverage of his wonderful victory of the night before. The kid had taken a pretty significant monkey off the country’s back and was getting the recognition he deserved for the honour. It seemed every time I looked at a television monitor, no matter where I was, they were replaying Alexandre’s fabulous run that cinched first place. Displays of patriotism were breaking out all over the place. Delighted fans were soaking it up.
After it was over, Dave and I decided to take another walk outside and see what it was like on the streets. It was even wilder than it had been the night before. We made our way slowly along Robson Street, one of the streets that bisects the downtown core. A part of it had been closed to traffic and had subsequently become a non-stop party zone. Our own Red Square. Most days you could barely move on the street and on those around it. And it was no different on this Monday night. I was surprised by the number of people who seemed to know who I was. But people were coming up again and again and asking to get their pictures taken with me. Being treated like a celebrity in such a genuine way was touching, but I must admit it also felt awkward and embarrassing for someone as naturally shy and introverted as I am.
That said, to feel such positive energy from people was uplifting. Dave and I revelled in that walk, laughing and joking with perfect strangers. It was such a refreshing contrast to the negativity that I had been dealing with over the last few days. It was almost as if there were two worlds: the one inside the media bubble that was pretty grim, even hostile, and this other one, the one in the streets and at the venues that was completely different. People there were happy and having a great time, seemingly unaware of all the so-called controversies and brush fires that were flaring up all over the place.
Another fact that confirmed my two-worlds theory was the number of Canadians who had tuned in to watch Jenn Heil’s medal ceremony the night before: about 8 million, give or take a few thousand. That was a stunning number, and the first time I remember thinking that the country was riveted by what was going on. They were tuning in the action and tuning out all the background noise about cauldrons and problems with buses, among other things.
I remember turning the corner to go down one street on that Monday night where the crowd was particularly dense and boisterous. A number of police officers were there. Dave and I stood back to see how the police were handling what was potentially a dicey situation. But they didn’t have to worry. People were in such a great mood, and so were the officers. The fans were high-fiving the cops, shaking their hands, giving them hugs. People were getting their pictures taken with them. These were the same streets where in 1994 hundreds of people rioted after the Vancouver Canucks lost out in the Stanley Cup finals to the New York Rangers. The Olympic crowd couldn’t have been more different. It was reaffirming to see. And no one seemed to mind that it was raining, though not nearly as hard as the night before.
If the streets of Vancouver and Whistler seemed like global gathering places full of delirious energy, the biggest Cultural Olympiad ever mounted deserved credit for fuelling much of the jubilation. The Cultural team led by Burke Taylor had magically woven together a pan-Canadian showcase of the best talent the country had to offer—on a shoestring budget. Over 2 million people attended events ranging from theatre and dance to music and film that highlighted the rich cultural diversity of Canada.
Performers also came from around the world, led by the Russians and the British, who arrived to give us a taste of what was to come at their Games. For Aboriginal Canada the Cultural Olympiad was a coming-out party. There was something for everyone and every facility that looked remotely like a staging area was used, and all were filled to bursting every night. Unique pavilions were erected to showcase Canada’s many regions, and we cannot forget the 22,000 that crammed into the stadium every night to watch medals presentations and attend concerts.
BY TUESDAY OF that first week, the French controversy seemed to be behind us. But we had developed a problem with an Olympia ice-cleaning machine at the Richmond Oval and were having to truck a Zamboni—Olympia’s rival—in from Calgary. We knew the media were going to have fun with that at our expense. We would also have to cancel more standing room tickets for Cypress—20,000 in fact. We hated to do it, of course, but the weather threatened to make the area where the spectators were to stand unstable. The last thing we needed was a serious injury. Combined with the 8,000 tickets previously cancelled a total of 28,000 tickets had to be refunded.
As I say, we felt horrible about it. But that is the nature of the Olympics, especially ones held in winter, when the weather can always wreak havoc. At the Calgary Games in 1988, 130,000 tickets had to be cancelled due to high winds. In Nagano 10 years later, 59,000 tickets had to be refunded because of rain and fog. One event had to take place with no spectators. So this sort of stuff was known to happen. It just seemed that given everything else that was going on, the ticket cancellations were being given bigger play than the story might have otherwise deserved.
Contrary to what the media were saying, I felt that we were quietly building some momentum. Many of the problems that had plagued us at the start were either solved or being addressed. Even though I refused to believe it, we were being told that good weather was on the way. What a break that would be. No place is as beautiful as Vancouver under sunny skies. And what wouldn’t a little sunshine do to people’s attitudes and dispositions? So, I definitely felt that by Tuesday we had turned a bit of a corner, even if the media, especially the British press, didn’t want to. That was their problem.
I was stunned by the number of people who were e-mailing and texting me. Complete strangers. I had no idea how they even dug up my e-mail address, but somehow they did and they all seemed to want to tell me what a wonderful time they were having. They were people from all over the world. Some came from the United States. There were lots of Irish well-wishers, a few Aussies and even a bunch from England—decent folk angry as hell with their own press.
If I heard it once, I heard it a thousand times: thanks for making us feel so welcome and giving us such a truly wonderful experience, the e-mails said. But the majority of the notes came from Canadians who wanted to tell me that they had never felt more proud of their country. These were rank-and-file Canucks who badly wanted us to succeed, who were in their living rooms, or roaming the streets of Vancouver, who were cheering for us, in some cases loudly, in other cases quietly, but cheering us on and giving us their unqualified support.
Still, it was going to be important now to make sure we stayed on top of any potential issues and addressed them before they became something to write about. That was my message each day to my executive: Maintain a keen focus. Take nothing for granted. Let’s look two and three days down the road and be dead certain we’re not missing anything in terms of potential new land mines. If we felt there was going to be greater pressure on the transportation system on a certain day, we’d put more buses on the road. Cost aside, it would be far better to have too many of them than too few. It didn’t matter how small an issue was, if it had the potential to bite us we had to deal with it. Service levels had to be maintained, so if we heard about some grumbling by volunteers about the lack of food at a particular venue we were all over it. The last thing we wanted was a bunch of Blue Jackets leaving us or losing their spirit.
For me, there were few things as important on my to-do list as getting out to as many venues as possible and thanking as many of our 25,000 volunteers as possible. You could have the best executive team in the world, the finest infrastructure, the most bulletproof plans, but if you didn’t have a happy volunteer force you had problems.
I remember during the planning process having serious discussions about volunteers and exactly how many we were going to need. There were those who believed we were going to need far more than we ended up settling on because we had to factor in an attrition rate of 20 to 30 per cent. I found these predictions annoying. It was felt that a number of people would find the work too taxing, too unpleasant, especially if the weather was lousy, and they would pack it in after a while. After all, some of the jobs were menial and away from the limelight. Probably some would say, no thanks, I’m out of here. And many might not even give notice. They just wouldn’t show up one day and you would be scrambling to find a replacement.
I refused to believe that we’d lose that many. I thought we’d have to be doing a pretty lousy job as an organizing committee to have that many people desert us. But a few of my colleagues insisted that it happened at every Games. It happened in Turin. It happened in Athens and Salt Lake. It happened at Games before those. I would say: we’re not them. Canadians don’t do that sort of thing. When they take on a job they stick with it until it’s finished. It’s not in our DNA to leave a task unfinished or to just walk out on somebody for no good reason. That is not the spirit on which this country was built, the spirit that allowed us to persevere and battle an often inhospitable climate. Canadians are better than that.
I was also of the view that to be Canadian was to give—I’d certainly seen enough evidence in my time in Canada to believe that was true. Once or twice in frustration I asked my colleagues how they would feel if we recruited substitutes in the event one of them didn’t show up to work. They’d be insulted. A volunteer is as reliable as anyone else in my book.
I did think, however, that we were going to need to look at volunteers a little differently than others perhaps had in the past and take great care of them. I thought we needed to regard the volunteer who was working in a parkade somewhere as someone who was absolutely crucial to the success of the Games—and we needed to communicate that to him or her. We needed to communicate to them all just how important the work they were doing was. They needed to be treated like family. And we needed to constantly thank them for it and look after them and make sure they were being fed properly. That was our obligation to them.
I was going to try and do my part by hopping out of my car whenever I could to go up to any Blue Jacket I saw, to thank them for the wonderful sacrifice they were making in the name of their country. And it’s with the greatest amount of humility that I say that all the volunteers I talked to seemed delighted when I approached them to say thanks and give them a hug or a pat on the back. They were happy to be so openly respected and appreciated. I remember going up to Cypress Mountain or out to the Callaghan Valley where the cross-country ski races and the ski jumping were taking place, and some days it was pretty darn cold with biting rain coming down, and there would be the Blue Jackets, braving it all, with smiles on their faces. If I have one regret it’s that I missed some people during my rounds.
There was occasional grousing by the odd Blue Jacket about the lack or quality of food at some of the venues. When that happened, it was our problem and we fixed it. We did lose a few when all was said and done, but the numbers were minuscule. They were loyal to the Games and each other.
By late Tuesday, I had talked to enough volunteers to know that while they were doing their jobs and were mostly happy, there was a bit of resentment about the way the Games were being perceived by the international media in particular and about how even though so much was going right, the local media seemed preoccupied with what the foreign media, and especially the British press, was saying about us. I could tell this criticism was threatening to undermine morale.
Although I was not sure what exactly to do about it, I decided that night that I wasn’t going to let it go on any longer without some sort of action. I needed to address what these reporters were saying, to take them on and challenge some of these British organizations to defend the stories they were publishing. I wanted people throughout our organization—all 50,000 of them—to see the optimism that I was feeling about the way the Games were going. They were waiting for us to fight back.
By this point, the Guardian had published a story suggesting our Games were a candidate to be “the worst ever held in Olympic history.” Another British paper called them the “Calamity Games.” The Daily Mail said we could now put our “Maple Leaf stamp on something more instantly tangible: the nondescript little box carrying the lifeless body of Nodar Kumaritashvili back to his home in Bakuriani, Georgia.” People were writing this stuff, and other news organizations were printing it and validating it and shipping it all over the world, and the entire planet was talking about it.
It was suggested that some of these writers were taking vicarious shots at London 2012—a form of early target practice. The head of the London Olympic bid, Sebastian Coe, incensed at the British press, waded in more than once with rave reviews about the Vancouver experience, noting how London organizers would have their work cut out trying to match the celebratory atmosphere that had taken over the city. He said he was reading stories that bore no resemblance to what was actually happening. I obviously couldn’t have agreed more.
The daily news conference was scheduled for 11:00 AM each morning in the imposing Gabriola conference room on the second floor of the Main Press Centre, a room decked out in the beautiful west coast look of the Games. I think that first Tuesday morning was the worst for Renee Smith-Valade, as reporters were still all over us for the cauldron-viewing situation, for which we were trying to secure a remedy. Unfortunately, Renee was not in a position at that point to announce the solution we were closing in on. So she had to sit there and absorb the punishment. I even had reporters who were there come up to me later and say they felt badly for her because of the abuse she took. It wasn’t that reporters were being rude or personal. It was just that the questions were unrelenting, like being in a boxing ring and trying to bob and weave and duck the incoming blows knowing you were going to get tagged a few times.
So between the Tuesday news conference and the feeling I was picking up from my own executive team and the volunteers that somebody needed to stick up for the organization, I decided to make a surprise appearance at the regularly scheduled session on Wednesday morning.
Renee was aware that I was going to depart from our established protocol and was going to take the British media head-on. Normally, I was careful about what I said and what I didn’t say. I hate the term “message box” but I was fairly good at staying within the parameters of whatever it was I was supposed to be talking about on any given day. I never took a reporter for granted and let my guard down much.
Renee knew she could count on me not to blurt out something that was going to create more problems for us. She also knew that I was going to speak the truth, or at least what I saw as the truth. If I didn’t stand up for our organization who would? And I knew that there were members of the local media who also felt we weren’t being treated fairly by the Brits. They shrugged it off as the way the British media worked: they yellowed things up, torqued up the most mundane events, to sell newspapers. It was a tried and true formula that British media had been using for years. Bottom-feeding, gutter talk, as my dad would say. Why would anyone expect them to make an exception with us?
I was aware that I had to be careful not to come across as arrogant or defensive. I wasn’t going to try and absolve ourselves of blame in some of the problems that had occurred. There was criticism that was valid, the viewing area around the cauldron being one. We should have seen that coming. And then there was criticism that was not: the conditions on Cypress. Like we had any control over that. Okay, so only three legs of the cauldron came up during the opening ceremonies instead of four. This is a reason to smear a country internationally?
When we strode into the news conference room Wednesday morning, the media were surprised to see me. I think reporters were now anticipating some kind of announcement. I began by talking about how well I thought things were going. Yes, we had experienced some of the same teething problems that most Games endure at the beginning—transportation being one—but we had addressed them. What I wanted to impress upon the journalists in the room was the chasm that seemed to exist between some of the reporting and what was going on in the streets, at many of the pavilions that the provinces had set up and, most importantly, at the venues. I didn’t make specific mention of the scathing reviews we were receiving from abroad. But to no one’s surprise, I didn’t have to wait long for a journalist to ask me about the British media’s take on how the Games were going.
“I’ve read some things that I admit I didn’t like reading and I don’t believe are true or fair,” I answered. “But having said that, when we make mistakes or when things don’t go well, you have to fix them.” I cited the cauldron as an example. But then I rhymed off a list of things that I thought were going well and perhaps were being overlooked by some of the media. The venues were sold out. The television audience numbers were astronomical. The athletes were raving about the experience. The downtown core was jammed. There had been none of the traffic chaos that had been predicted. In fact, the reverse was true. The city was operating beautifully.
“When I look at the first four or five days,” I said, “I don’t think there’s anybody here and anyone in the city that would have been prepared to say ‘I could have predicted this.’ Today and yesterday were pretty darn good days and we’re trying to build on that and show that we have the resilience and the thoughtfulness and the humility to manage the unexpected stuff that comes our way that is not welcome but that we have to deal with and will deal with. For me, one of the most pleasurable things that I’ve seen since we started is the quality of the sportsmanship in the crowd. People are embracing these young men and women who have come here from around the world.” Canadian fans were rising to the occasion.
I said that I thought some of the criticism, especially from some of the British papers, had been manufactured nonsense that bore little resemblance to what was happening. Bad enough they were saying these things and that they were not true. Some of the writers were not even in the province but were blasting the way we were conducting business as if they were sitting in the bleachers. That was a bit much to stomach. As I talked, I could sense the mood shifting. Reporters wanted to cover my challenge of the British press. Even while I was talking, a request for an interview with me was coming in to Renee on her BlackBerry from the BBC.
I felt good about that news conference. I thought I had put the first four or five days in perspective. A month or so later, after the Games were long over, I received a lovely e-mail from a woman named Mary Conibear. Mary had a senior management role in the Main Operations Centre, which was based at VANOC headquarters on the east side of the city. It was our nerve centre, the place from which we kept an eye, literally, on everything going on at the Games. In her e-mail, Mary admitted to being quite down during the first four days of the Olympics. The criticism we faced was withering and morale destroying. Mary said that when she was at her lowest, I had come to a meeting at the MOC and told them that enough was enough, the media were ready to get on our side, we just needed them to report what was going on out there and show our stuff.
“That was the day you went to the press conference and in an unbelievably calm way straightened them out,” Mary wrote. “We were literally cheering in the MOC like it was a sporting event. You’ll never know how much that meant to me.”
About 20 minutes after the Wednesday press conference I was sitting on a chair talking to James Pearce, a reporter with BBC Sport. We were on the northeast lower deck of the Broadcast Centre with the harbour and mountains in the background. He wanted me to reiterate some of the comments I had made at the news conference but also to use the opportunity to speak directly to our critics in the British papers. “We can’t do this,” Pearce told me before we began. “But we can give you a microphone so you can do it.”
So I did. I told him that to read some of the comments that were being made about us in the Guardian and Daily Mail, among others, I had to wonder which Games these reporters were covering. James asked me a few more questions and then the camera was shut off. We chatted and he told me he understood my frustration. He marvelled at the atmosphere in the city. We shook hands and he promised to play my interview straight up and uncut. And he did.
I don’t know if it was coincidence or what, but everything seemed to change that day. It was a turning point for us, no question. There would be little criticism after that morning. Instead, the focus would turn to how successful the Games were becoming. Reporters could feel the rumble of momentum building in the streets and in the living rooms of Canadians across the country.
And the sun came out. The glorious, glorious sun that we thought we might never see again. It made everyone feel better.
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Owning the Podium


  WITH MOST OF the early problems behind us— although our fingers and toes would be always crossed—the focus of Games coverage now rightfully shifted to the athletes.
Alexandre Bilodeau had given the country the rarest of golden moments for which it had long been waiting. And he’d conquered Cypress Mountain to boot. In fact, in the first four days of competition, that mountain, our most vexing nemesis, had been exceedingly good to Canada’s athletes. Besides Alexandre’s gold, North Vancouver’s Maëlle Ricker also topped the podium in women’s snowboard cross, to the delight of a noisy cheering section of family and friends.
Cypress was also the scene of a couple of silver medal performances early in the Games, one being Jenn Heil’s in moguls, the other Mike Robertson’s in men’s snowboard cross. All four were such stellar characters, such fine examples of athletes and young citizens. There was so much to cheer for in all of their stories of dedication and perseverance. The story behind Maëlle’s gold medal run was particularly meaningful to me as a Games organizer because of something not many people knew about at the time.
Maëlle had wonderfully supportive parents. Her mother, Nancy, was a retired biology professor. Her father, Karl, was a retired geologist. Karl had signed up to be a Blue Jacket during the Olympics and was assigned to Whistler to be part of the crew that got the mountain ready for competition each day. Karl became an invaluable member of his mountain-grooming crew. The day Maëlle was racing for gold, he was scheduled to be working on the mountain. His colleagues insisted that Karl take his shift off to go and see his daughter race. But Karl said that to do that would be letting his fellow volunteers down, so he decided to fulfill his obligations on the mountain. He missed Maëlle’s wonderful run on Cypress but would hear all about it later. There was something in this story that embodied the spirit that existed among so many of our volunteers.
On Friday, the country had another gold and a truly iconic Canadian moment, thanks to one human fireball—Jon Montgomery. Jon was one of our top skeleton racers, yet not many were picking him to win at these Games. But underneath that mop of red hair and that unruly red beard beat the heart of a true champion. He had the run of his life and sure enough he ended up winning gold. It was on his way into the Whistler village afterward that he really cemented his place in the country’s folklore.
Spectators and well-wishers had formed an honour guard that Jon walked through en route to the village square where he was scheduled to be interviewed by TSN. It was a beautiful clear night and everyone was screaming and yelling as Jon made his way through the crowd to TSN’s outdoor stage. At one point, a woman with impeccable instincts handed Jon a pitcher of beer, and without missing a beat he began quaffing from the jug. After his first big swig, there was white foam all over his beard. The crowd ate it up. Heck, the country ate it up. Instant stardom: Canadians wouldn’t be able to get enough of this charismatic prairie kid who wore a smile as wide as Saskatchewan throughout the Games. A day later, he would hop up on the podium at his victory celebration and endear himself to the country all over again with an off-key but full-throated rendition of “O Canada.” What a character. A season earlier I had witnessed Jon at a media event in Whistler and noticed that look of steel in his eyes and thought there goes a real contender. And here he was now, the real McCoy, a new Canadian hero to whom we could all relate, with a gold medal hanging from his neck.
Saturday brought the first big hockey game of the Olympics for our men—Canada versus the United States. Many thought, and many prayed, that this was a prelude to the gold medal game. Certainly, NBC was hoping the two teams would compete. I had quietly hoped for Russia in the final, a clash of the traditional hockey superpowers—1972 all over again. While Canada was a clear gold medal candidate, along with the Russians, I thought the Americans would give us a good game. They have that “rise-to-the-occasion” mentality and never go away easily. The team’s GM was Brian Burke, whose son Brendan had died tragically in a car accident shortly before the Games. He was bringing a broken heart to these Games. Brian was a tough, cagey guy and had spent much of the run-up to the Olympics playing down his team’s chances of doing much, which should have been a signal to everyone that he thought the Americans had a great squad.
He was right.
I visited with Brian in a suite above the ice at Canada Hockey Place, where we grew to love him when he was GM of the Canucks. I wanted to welcome him home to Vancouver and express my regrets over his heartbreaking loss. As I opened the door I saw him sitting there studying his players, who were practising on the ice below. His face was red and puffy, evidence of some extremely hard nights in recent weeks. Here he was, I thought, a gladiator giving his team a lesson in life and showing the courage of 10 men. We shared a few warm words of friendship and I wished him well. Walking down the hall, I thought that with Burkie in their corner the Americans were going to take everyone to the mat. And they did, starting with us.
With Martin Brodeur in net for Canada, the Americans played a great game, showing off their speed and exceptional goaltending. Ryan Miller was playing like the elite goaltender that he was. Canada ended up losing 5–3 and there were lots of sad, panicked faces in the arena and around the country after the game ended. I didn’t share the pessimism. I thought the loss might have been just what we needed to shake off feelings of superiority or overconfidence our team might have had coming into the tournament.
Now the hockey tournament was starting to exhibit shades of Salt Lake in 2002, when the Canadian team that many thought was going to breeze through the preliminary round ran into trouble. But that adversity ended up being a good thing, something Wayne Gretzky would later credit for the team’s gold medal. I thought the loss to the Americans represented the same opportunity for Canada. A chance to put things in perspective a bit and to demonstrate that nothing was going to be handed to this team. If it was going to win gold, it was going to have to earn every bit of it. The promise of real sporting drama was in the air and what could be the best Olympic hockey final ever was shaping up.
With that sobering loss to the U.S. and a few other hiccups, a definite nervousness, even anxiety, was beginning to surround the Canadian Olympic team as a whole. The Own the Podium program was coming under a new round of media scrutiny because a week into the Games our athletes weren’t dominating the medal standings. Reporters began regurgitating quotes from the incoming Canadian Olympic Committee president, Marcel Aubut, who had said before the start of the Olympics that we would be good hosts but added, “These Games will be ours. We will own the podium.” I loved the confidence he exuded but prayed the words wouldn’t come back to bite Marcel, who would have pulled on a uniform himself to help the team win.
You could see and feel the pressure our athletes were under. It was evident in the voice of Mellisa Hollingsworth, who was seen as a medal cinch in women’s skeleton. But when she failed to make the medal grade she crumbled emotionally, offering a tearful apology to the country for her performance. It was tough to watch. There were no apologies needed. She tried her heart out and on this particular day she just didn’t have it—happens all the time in sport. I honestly thought it was a great sign because her tears were a manifestation of how badly our athletes wanted to win. They were in unison with Canadians everywhere who could see how hard the athletes were trying to give the country the success it was craving. This was the best of Canadian desire and humility all blended together.
By the end of the first week, Chris Rudge, the COC’s outgoing chief executive officer, was telling reporters it was doubtful that we would finish in first place in the medal count, even though there was more than a week to go in the competition. The Americans, true to form, had jumped out to an impressive lead that Chris and others felt would be too hard to make up. I got wind of the fact that the COC was planning to hold a news conference to go public with its view that Canada was not going to “own the podium” as we had promised. When I heard this, I felt sick.
I thought holding a news conference would end up being a no-win race to the bottom and signal to our athletes that we were throwing in the towel on our ambitions to be number one. What kind of message did that send to the athletes who still had to compete? That we had no confidence in them? Besides, I didn’t share the view that our team had performed that poorly, and when I looked at the schedule of events I saw a number of competitions left that we stood a great chance of medalling in. The people in the streets were positively euphoric about our successes so far, and to them a bugle-sounding retreat would seem ridiculous. Beyond that, however, I thought holding a news conference on the subject was completely unnecessary. Why prejudge what was going to happen? Why not just wait until the Games were over when we had something tangible to judge in the way of an overall performance?
I remember walking into the COC’s offices at Canada Place around this time and I swear it was like walking into an Irish wake. Marcel was being the voice of optimism, whereas Chris Rudge and others seemed to be preparing for a gloomy proclamation of some sort. This was outside my mandate but I thought this news conference was a bad idea, and after biting hard on my lip for a while I decided to leave matters to them.
I thought that instead of casting the performance of our athletes in a negative light, we should be doing just the opposite, highlighting our biggest wins, especially on Cypress Mountain. We had won our first gold medal ever on Canadian soil—and they were going to hold a news conference that would generate stories about how poorly our athletes were doing. The last time an Olympics had been held in Canada we won five medals, total. Against that result we had crossed a great divide—big time.
As it turned out, the issue didn’t explode into a huge story at the news conference, but a day later Chris was telling reporters we would likely fall short of our target. So in avoiding the first bullet we invited another. The Own the Podium program was about removing any obstacles standing between our athletes and their ability to perform at the top of their potential. To think every athlete we had was going to win was preposterous. On any given day in sports, anything can happen.
Kelly VanderBeek was one of our fiercest competitors in Alpine skiing and a real medal contender for Canada. She was a fearless human missile coming down that mountain. She had prepared exhaustively for these Games, and then the worst nightmare: she shattered her knee pouring herself into a race in Europe. Kelly would have climbed Everest on crutches to make the Olympic podium. But sports is full of this kind of misfortune. All she could do was watch and cheer and think about the next time.
Heartbreak is part of every athlete’s story—and part of the story of every great competition like the Olympics.
THE IDEA OF the Own the Podium program had its genesis early in the Games’ preparation. There was a view coming out of the Salt Lake City Olympics that the performance of the U.S. team there had helped the country embrace the Games in a way it might not have otherwise. At a time when Americans felt vulnerable because of 9/11, the performance of their athletes in Salt Lake gave them something to rally around. It was wonderful to see.
It was clear to us that no matter how we did as an organizing committee in Vancouver, to some degree our success would be determined by how our athletes performed. Even a flawless execution of the Games was not going to be enough to convince Canadians the whole exercise had been worth it. Canadians couldn’t care less about how we got the buses to Whistler or if our technology was mind-blowing or if it was too cold in the media tent. To Canadians, the Olympics was about sports and athletes, full stop. In order to achieve our vision and have the country focus on the Games in the way we wanted, our Olympic team needed to be strong and confident. The strongest ever. Canadians needed to turn on their television sets and know the athletes’ names as if they were family. They needed to hear “O Canada” played again and again and again. This was not something we had been able to achieve at past Olympic Winter Games.
It was after Salt Lake that I received a call from the COC’s Chris Rudge asking me if we’d be interested in partnering with them in a study to look at what it would take for Canada to become the top-performing country at the 2010 Games as measured by the total number of medals. There had been discussions within the COC, largely led by the organization’s wonderful director of sport, Mark Lowry, focusing on our performance in 2010. (Sadly, Mark passed away before he got to see the fruits of his genius.) Mark thought there was a way for us to achieve our greatest-ever success in Vancouver, even end up on top, if we applied ourselves fully. But it was going to take money and a plan and a realistic approach. A suggestion was made to have Cathy Priestner Allinger, a former Olympic medallist and seasoned, no-nonsense sport leader who had yet to join VANOC, put together a team and produce a report on what it would take to win the most medals at our Olympics.
The study was going to cost roughly $50,000. Chris Rudge phoned me to see if VANOC would pay half of the study’s costs. He thought it would show good faith and demonstrate that VANOC and the COC were true partners. If we agreed on one thing it was that the athletes were the real key to the Games’ success. My immediate thought was that although the cost was not huge, there was no way our board was going to approve the expenditure—at least not readily. But as I talked to Chris, I started to noodle the idea around a bit in my head. Given Canada’s past performances at Winter Games, a knockout showing in Vancouver could be a game changer for the country. I also thought it was high time the athletes saw some real effort by the country’s sport leaders to get them some winning tools. It was ridiculous to expect medals if we were trying to do it with Monopoly money and decade-old technology. Other winter sport nations like the United States, Germany and Norway had already turned winning into a science. To them, results mattered.
I told Chris I would take his proposal to the board, of which he was a member. There were six other COC members on it as well, and I knew I would have their support. The others I wasn’t so sure about. Athlete support was usually left to the various national sport organizations, such as the COC. The organizing committees generally stayed out of this part of the Olympics. I felt we couldn’t afford to.
When I made my pitch to the board, I tried to land the plane gently. I said that in my opinion the definition of success for us was going to be measured against three things: keeping our promises, delivering a great Games experience for athletes and spectators alike and performing well on the field of play. I believed that if our team didn’t do well and haul home a lot of gold, Canadians were going to say, “Well, that was fun,” but the experience and memory of the Games would evaporate in a nanosecond and the legacy potential would be lost. A generation of effort gone with little to show.
Despite my best sales pitch, a lot of board members were still not biting. They just didn’t see supporting athletes as our job. A few thought I was out of line and felt we already had enough on our plate. They thought it was piling work on at a time when we barely had the capacity to handle what we had. They also wondered where it would go afterward. Would there be more costs? Ultimately, the board agreed to split the costs of the study. But that was as far as it was prepared to go—for now anyway.
Afterward, I said to Chris that the only way we were prepared to support the study was if the COC agreed that it would abide by whatever recommendations Cathy Priestner Allinger made. There would be no cherry-picking of ideas, no exceptions. It was all or nothing. We were going to go along with Cathy’s proposals regardless of what they cost or we were out. Chris agreed.
Cathy assembled a small team to work on the project. A few months later she delivered her report, which analyzed every sport and how far we were away from gold, silver, bronze in each of them and what it was going to take to get onto the podium by 2010. Cathy costed out the equipment, coaching, travel, training and other things it would take to obtain our goal of being atop the podium. It wasn’t going to be cheap: $110 million. For that sum we had a real shot, she said.
It was evident from the minute Cathy’s report hit the table, and we digested the price tag associated with her recommendations, that there was no way the COC was going to be able to fund this venture by itself. I knew before anyone asked that VANOC was going to need to get involved to help bridge the funding gap. And once discussions began with the COC, it became clear we were going to have to find all of the money because it simply didn’t have the funds to mount this kind of challenge. Even though the funding was going to be spread over five years, it was still a whopping $22 million a year. Where was it going to come from? I could barely get the VANOC board to agree to spend $25,000 on Cathy’s study. How would we ever get it to support a decision to finance this endeavour?
It was going to take some creative thinking and a daring strategy, something out of an entirely new playbook. I believed the answer lay with our sponsors. Present the Games and the Olympic team to them as a package. Pitched properly, I thought they would all bite into the lure of helping create the greatest Canadian Olympic team ever. If it worked out the way Cathy Priestner Allinger envisioned, the sponsors that donated to Own the Podium would be able to declare victory alongside our athletes. Sure, this was not something that had been tried in the past, but I was discovering that sponsors liked the vision we were laying out and the performance of our team in Vancouver would be an important part of making sure that the big dream came true.
After the report came out and showed that winning was indeed possible, we had a fairly animated debate inside our own executive. Some sparks flew, to be sure. There was some nervousness about becoming a full-fledged partner in the plan. But vision ruled the day, and we went back to the board and told the directors that we simply had to find a way to make the findings in the report become a reality. If not us then who, I said to the board. Yes, even if it cost $110 million. So we pitched the idea of splitting the price tag with the federal government—without knowing, of course, if Ottawa would go along.
Beyond Jack and the seven COC directors, there was not what I would call resounding early support among the board. In fact, there was downright hostility from some. But I went back to my overarching theme: we had to make these Games more than just two weeks of sport. We had to make them about nation building and changing the country’s view of itself. If our athletes failed, despite trying their best, it would make our mission almost impossible. Our dream would be lost. I really believed that. It was time to show some courage.
I also believed we could come up with the money because sponsors would want to have their name on the Own the Podium program. We debated the subject for a while longer before the majority of directors agreed to sign on with the plan, which, of course, was contingent on the feds going along with it. So that was one of our next hurdles—getting bureaucrats and ministers in Ottawa revved up about the idea. But there was one other potential stumbling block.
Anyone who had done a careful reading of Cathy’s report would have noticed that it called for a big infusion of cash and effort in some sports and almost nothing for others. Cathy’s feeling, after consulting with many experts, was you put your money squarely behind the sports you had the best chance of winning a medal in. This was a bit of a break from Canadian tradition, which often lacked that kind of cold, steely focus. For instance, she called for major bucks to be poured into our Alpine skiing program and next to nothing for ski jumping, a sport for which there was little culture in Canada. If we were going to be about winning in 2010, we had to give our best horses the best chance to win. No waste. Period.
This strategy was potentially going to complicate our conversation with the federal government. If we were going to convince Ottawa to fork over $55 million over five years, we had to go there united, that is, officials representing all the Winter sports federations had to be onside. If we had dissension, or if even one group claimed it was being discriminated against, the federal government would get nervous and shy away from the proposal. We arranged to have a meeting in Ottawa with Stephen Owen, the Liberal Mp who was minister in charge of the Olympics at the time.
The day before the meeting, we got the group together for a strategy session in which I hammered home the unity message again. I said that in the past Ottawa had always been able to avoid these investments because we could never seem to show a united front. We were easy to dismiss. So everyone needed to understand that unless the group waved a green flag in the air signalling that the plan was a go, the government would sense there was a problem and back out. I guaranteed it, as did others.
I was also worried about what Sport Canada was going to say about the proposal. It had a huge influence over the outcome. Sport Canada was the federal department that advised the government on all matters related to amateur athletics. Ultimately, Stephen Owen would be getting a report from the federal agency on what to do about the funding request: grant or deny. At our strategy meeting that day was Tom Scrimger, director general of Sport Canada. It wasn’t long into the discussion when I asked Tom what Sport Canada’s vision was for the 2010 Games.
“Well,” he said, “we don’t have one.”
“What do you mean, you don’t have one?” I blurted. “You have to have one. I mean, surely you must be looking down the road at the Olympics and figuring out what Canada hopes to achieve.”
I will never forget Tom’s reply. “I don’t have the luxury of being able to have a vision,” he said. “That is for the minister, not me.”
I nearly fell out of my chair.
“Tom,” I continued, “you mean to tell me you don’t have something, even something scribbled on a piece of paper somewhere and stuffed in a drawer, that says in a perfect world this is what we hope to achieve?” I could not believe he did not have his own bucket list of wishes to suggest to the minister.
Stephen Owen’s political aide was in the room as well. He sat mostly expressionless. I was worried that we might be facing a situation in which Sport Canada really didn’t believe in being part of the 2010 endeavour, which would mean a quick death for Own the Podium. I went back to my hotel room after the meeting and wasn’t there long when the phone rang. It was Stephen Owen’s assistant. He wanted to assure me that the minister had a vision for these Games and was a huge supporter. “I know what you heard today isn’t what you wanted to hear,” the young man said. “But don’t be worried. The minister wants these Games to be a success. He has an open mind about the federal government’s involvement and what form it might take, and if he believes in what you have to say he will fight for it.”
I told him how relieved I was to hear that.
The next day, a group that included Cathy Priestner Allinger, Chris Rudge and representatives of all the sports sat down with Stephen Owen in a meeting room on Parliament Hill. I knew Stephen fairly well and considered him an ally of the Games. I thought that at the very least he would give us a fair hearing.
Cathy began by explaining the research behind her study and how she had reached the conclusions that she had. Hockey Canada’s Wayne Russell spoke on behalf of the Winter sports federations, delivering the message of unity that was so important. And I finished by making the big pitch for the federal government’s involvement, which outlined our overall vision and how Own the Podium meshed into it. You give us $55 million, I told the minister, and somehow we will come up with the rest. Fifty-fifty partners.
When Stephen took the floor, he began by telling us how impressed he’d been with Cathy’s report. Good start. What he especially found intriguing about it was the possibility it held for being a test case of how to support high-level amateur sport in Canada. An important aspect of the plan was putting some sports on notice that they had to reach a certain threshold before they could expect big money for their athletes.
We were hoping Stephen would give us an answer within a few weeks because we needed to know where we stood with the program. He got back to us within days: yes, he said, we could count on Ottawa for the money. It was the fastest Ottawa turnaround I had ever heard of. What a huge victory for us—and one that may not have been given the prominence it deserved by the media. Without the federal government’s support for this project, Lord knows where, or if, we could have mounted the program at all.
It was now going to be our very tall job to sell sponsors on the need for them to throw a little more cash in the kitty that could go toward Own the Podium and the national dream for our athletes that was embedded in our vision statement. I knew that if we could get a big opening sponsor donation toward OTP, the stage would be set for future ones. We needed a kingmaker. The $15 million that Bell Canada committed to its sponsor deal for OTP was just the tonic we were after. It sent the message that one very prominent and proud Canadian company was ready to stand up for the athletes. We had our champion. Every time a Canadian athlete mounted the podium Bell Canada could take a bow too.
As we moved along, I felt even more confident about what we were doing with OTP and our decision to get involved with funding the project, a place no organizing committee had so wholeheartedly gone before. I had to give Chris Rudge credit too, for kicking our door down. He knew the only chance of OTP coming to life was if we got involved. There was no way that the COC was going to raise $110,000, let alone $110 million. He realized that the spotlight was going to be on VANOC for the next five years, and we were the only ones who had the influence and leverage OTP needed. In the end, the federal government gave us some top-up money to help us meet the final target but it was mostly a 50–50 split.
With OTP we were going to try and ensure that for Vancouver things would be different, while recognizing that in an athletic competition anything can happen and there is no such thing as certainty. I think Chris Rudge might have said it best when he quoted that famous line of Victor Hugo’s: “You can stop an advancing army but not an idea whose time has come.” That’s what Own the Podium was.
WHILE THE AMERICANS were having the Games of their lives in Vancouver, much to the relief of the NBC, whose Olympic coverage was enjoying a sky-high ratings bonanza, there was also something amazing going on in Canada. The country’s focus on the Games was growing each day. It was topic number one at kitchen tables everywhere. It was certainly reflected in the stunning numbers that the CTV-led consortium was pulling in. But as the Olympics moved along, Canadians went from being casual watchers to full-time cheerleaders who were totally plugged in and experiencing every moment as if they too were on skates and skis. They got their pom-poms out and painted their faces, emptied their fridges and had the neighbours over to watch hockey, short-track speed skating, anything that included an Olympic athlete. This was an excitement you could feel from St. John’s to Victoria.
Bars across the country were full at night with Canadians rooting for their athletes. There were impromptu Olympics parties being organized in thousands of living rooms across the nation. This phenomenon was becoming as big a story as the Games themselves, a national engagement the likes of which had only been witnessed a few times in the life of the nation.
Heading into the final week, I wanted us to be more vigilant about our preparation than ever. We could not afford to let our guard down. We needed to have a near-perfect run to the end. I wanted to make sure that our team didn’t relax just because we seemed to be over the worst of the early hiccups and criticism, and because the tide of opinion was shifting in our favour.
I tried to get up to Whistler as often as I could. Every time I drove up there I marvelled at how beautiful and quick the drive was. Such stunning geography. Dick Ebersol of NBC Sports was right, I think, when he said that the only thing wrong with the road was that it wasn’t long enough. I imagined what the athletes and visitors from around the world must have thought as they made their way past Howe Sound up into the mountains on a road vastly improved by the incredible work that had been done to make it wider and safer.
One of my favourite moments heading into the final week happened when I visited our medical clinic in Whistler. The death of Nodar was always in the air and was felt more profoundly by the people there than anywhere else in the Olympic environment, but when I saw them a week after the accident I sensed this horrible burden was lifting. They had fought so hard for him. These were amazing people, doctors, nurses, dentists, physiotherapists, who had taken time off from their jobs to volunteer to work at the clinic. And when I went up there to thank them, they seemed genuinely moved that I wanted to show respect for the contribution they were making on behalf of their country. To a person, they all said it was their privilege to be able to play a role in something that obviously meant so much to all Canadians.
Besides shaking the hands of as many Blue Jackets as I could, I also tried to take in some of the events in which we stood a solid chance of medalling. I was there when the Canadian women won another gold medal in hockey. What a juggernaut! Hayley Wickenheiser will surely go down as one of the greatest female athletes ever, a potential cauldron lighter the next time the Olympics return to Canada. I know there was a big deal made when the women returned to the ice after the gold medal game to drink a little champagne and light up a cigar or two. It never bothered me—just a media story more than anything, one that was horribly overblown. The girls were smart enough to offer a measured apology the next day to ensure the story died a quick death.
One of the most moving moments of the Games for me, and probably for Canadians across the country, was Joannie Rochette’s skate in the long program in the women’s figure skating final. Being an elite athlete is hard enough. The Olympics is a formidable, downright scary environment in which to compete. And figure skating, of all the Winter Olympic sports, has to be one of the most lonely, unforgiving, demanding and nerve-wracking. To skate with a clear mind in front of 15,000 people is hard enough. Having to do it with a broken heart is another thing entirely.
I don’t think there was an athlete the nation cheered harder for than Joannie, after the country learned that her mother had died of heart failure shortly after arriving in Vancouver from Quebec to see her daughter compete. Many people thought it would all be too much for Joannie, that she’d never be able to pull off the incredibly difficult, complex jumps that are part of her routines. But Joannie gave one of the most amazing performances in Olympic history in the short program, which happened just days after her mother’s death. And then for her to give another near flawless routine in the long program to win bronze was a stunning accomplishment. My five children were there that night. I watched them watch her. They were in awe, frozen with amazement. I thought that for years to come they would reflect on being present to see this real, raw human courage, the best example they would ever witness of how to face life’s adversities head-on. Joannie Rochette is a rare kind of hero in my books, and to be there that night for her final skate was a transcendent experience.
It was clear as we headed into the home stretch that although we were not going to reach our goal of being atop the podium, our athletes were definitely starting to enjoy more success—everywhere. And so many great Canadian stories were being written in the process. Not many people were giving Jasey-Jay Anderson, a veteran of so many Olympics and Olympic disappointments, a chance in the men’s parallel giant slalom. But with the support of a country at his back, he pulled off the unthinkable and won gold. We also won gold at the short track and our women took more gold in bobsleigh.
The country was captivated by the enthralling performance of Tessa Virtue and Scott Moir in the ice dance, another gold for Canada. The next morning they came to the Olympic cauldron for an interview with CTV, and I wandered over to share my happiness for them and tell them how proud we all were. Tessa, both classy and humble, held my hand warmly and told me she and Scott had sat in on an earlier presentation I had given where I had told the audience what the Games were going to do for our country. They both told me how I had inspired them to pour their hearts into these Olympics. That was a tall moment for me, with two beautiful Canadians who have inspired thousands of our youth to dream big.
And what more could be said about the amazing Clara Hughes, one of the finest Canadian Olympians ever, a woman whose first instinct is always to help others. What an inspiration! I can’t wait to see what she does with the rest of her life—she has so much to offer. Her bronze in the ladies’ 5000-metre speed skating event was such a wonderful capper to one of the truly great Olympic careers in our country’s history.
I was in the crowd at Cypress when Ashleigh McIvor won gold in ski cross in front of a delirious crowd. A week earlier I had run into her and her boyfriend, teammate Chris Del Bosco, who was a medal hopeful in a men’s event. They seemed so relaxed and happy. I stopped to see how they were doing and I could tell from Ashleigh’s words, delivered in her modest way, that we were about to see something special from her. And we did. I think she visualized that golden moment a thousand times before it happened.
Despite the second-half surge by our athletes, there was still plenty of hand-wringing going on about the performance of the Canadian team. Forget first place, would we even finish in the top three, the media wondered. Chris Rudge seemed to be getting asked about Own the Podium just about every day. To me, it seemed bizarre that he was even having to defend it, but he was. By the end of the Games there weren’t many who weren’t giving OTP the credit for our best Olympics ever.
With just two days to go, it dawned on more than a few that a record medal haul was a possibility for Canada. All of a sudden history was there to be seized. We ended up winning 14 gold medals, the most ever by a host nation—and a total of 26 medals, also our best ever.
Outside of the field of play, the athletes were having the time of their lives. I made a point of visiting with them at the Athletes’ Villages in Whistler and Vancouver, and the competitors I talked to couldn’t have been more complimentary about the experience they were having. The ones lucky enough to be staying in Vancouver were absolutely blown away by the accommodations, and why wouldn’t they be? They were the most luxurious Olympic digs ever, with million-dollar views. No wonder so many athletes told me they didn’t want to leave.
Both villages were in such contrast to the ones in Turin in 2006, where the rooms were drafty, there weren’t enough blankets and the food was not good. We wanted to give the athletes the best experience. We wanted to make sure they were well protected while not suffocating them with our security arrangements. Time and again, the athletes would stop to be photographed with the police who embraced them so fully.
Everywhere I went now, whether it was to a competition, a medals ceremony, an event hosted by one of the provinces or a major sponsor, the feedback was the same: people were having the time of their lives. There wasn’t a person who didn’t seem happy, thrilled actually, that we had weathered the storms of the first few days and now had the wind at our backs. Even IOC members who had seemed to be hedging their bets in the early going, afraid to associate with an organizing committee that was having a few teething problems, couldn’t say enough good things about us now. I could only smile and savour how hard my team had worked to pull it all together.
The downtown streets of Vancouver had become an Olympic lovefest, a huge organic party at which everyone was welcome. On the night our Canadian hockey women won their gold over their arch rival the U.S., I found myself standing on the second level of the International Broadcast Centre after doing an interview. I could hear the crowds outside singing “O Canada.” Perfect strangers by the thousands, suddenly arm in arm, happy in the moment. Wild, happy patriotism was breaking out across the country. We were 34 million behaving as one.
During the closing days, every event seemed to top the one before it. Celebration Plaza in Whistler was electric every night as locals jammed every square metre of space. BC Place was at capacity every night as every athlete who arrived to collect his or her medal was treated as a hero. It didn’t matter where they were from. Donald Sutherland, meanwhile, was like Waldo. He was everywhere. Wayne Gretzky too. Premier Campbell was running on empty cheering on the Olympic team from dawn to dark. Federal Sport Minister Gary Lunn was hoarse from screaming encouragements and the prime minister and Governor General were giving it all they had. It was as if the entire country was chasing something it wanted badly. The Games seemed to be touching everyone. Kings and queens, princes and princesses. Like a stone tossed into a pool of water, the Games were creating beautiful ripples.
The Games had become everything I had hoped for, if not more. The country had stopped what it was doing to put on its Team Canada jerseys and cheer. Every time I paused to think about the public’s enthusiasm for even a second, I had to be careful.
It was easy to get overly emotional about what was taking place.
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The Closing Curtain


  AS LONG AND sometimes painful as the first few days felt, I was stunned at how quickly the Games were flying by. One day I was walking onstage to welcome the world to Vancouver and the next I was thinking about what I would say during the closing ceremonies.
I was physically and mentally exhausted by that point, but a full tank of adrenaline and nervous excitement were enough to keep me fuelled up. There was still a huge day to get through and a gold medal hockey game to watch. In other words, there was a lot still to happen on that closing Sunday, a lot that could still go terribly wrong and spoil the amazing atmosphere that had built up around the Games during the previous couple of weeks.
Dave Cobb and I met for breakfast at our usual time. All of a sudden, he was looking a little younger and less tense. We talked through preparations for the closing ceremonies, the potential for mayhem at the hockey final and the security and transportation arrangements that were going to be such a big part of the day’s success. We also discussed the protest that was planned and the impact it might have on people’s efforts to get to the ceremonies.
We did not want a repeat of what happened on opening day, when the best efforts of the police caused havoc to our transportation system. There were media obligations that I would need to take care of that morning, and there was an important 50-kilometre cross-country ski race in Whistler. A huge thing weighing on my mind was the speech I was going to have to give at the closing, particularly the French parts.
I planned to take the prime minister’s advice and speak French as early in the speech as possible, but even his guidance and strategic suggestions weren’t going to make it any easier. Some of the reviews from my effort during the opening were still blistering in my ears. I had received a little coaching over the previous couple of weeks on my pronunciation, but it was like trying to teach an English-speaking person Gaelic. I also didn’t want to put words in the speech just because they might be easier to say. I wanted every word to have meaning, to count, to have earned its way into the speech. The more I thought about it all, the more stressed I got. Why hadn’t I taken French more seriously in school?
But my primary mission in the speech was to thoughtfully convey, or at least attempt to convey, what had happened in the country over the previous 16 days. Yes, Canada had, at other times, celebrated loudly as a nation. But it said something about us, I think, that when you asked people about the last time they saw the country so elated, so proud, they often mentioned Canada’s win over Russia in the 1972 hockey series. That was the last time we were so magically transfixed in every village, town and city at the same time over the same thing.
I don’t think there’s any question that the true personality of the country came out during the Games, and the entire world saw a side of us it didn’t know was there. There were probably many who thought that we normally sober, self-effacing Canadians had received a personality transplant. However you describe the atmosphere, it was noticed and felt. Perhaps Jacques Rogge said it best when he said the IOC had never seen the Games embraced by its hosts on this scale before.
Never again were people going to say about Canadians that we were quiet, bashful, unpatriotic types. Never again were they going to say that we weren’t flag wavers or that we weren’t disposed to wearing our love of country on our sleeves. Time and again I heard the words “I have never been more proud to be Canadian.” The Games showed we were more than happy to wear our patriotism on our sleeves, heads, chests, feet—and especially on our hands. Olympic Red Mittens had become the official hand-warmer of the country, and more than a few pair had made their way to the far corners of the globe. Everyone, it seemed, became Canadian for a fortnight and it felt great.
But the biggest indication of how smitten the country was with what was going on in Vancouver and Whistler was certainly in the television numbers, beginning with the opening ceremonies, when more than 13 million Canadians watched the entire three-and-a-half-hour production and 10 million more caught at least a part of it. These ratings made the ceremonies the most watched television event in Canadian history, marking an increase of more than 29 per cent over the previous benchmark of 10.3 million viewers for the gold medal hockey game at the 2002 Olympics in Salt Lake City. Another 3 million tuned into the opening using other platforms, including the Internet, radio and cellphones and other handheld devices.
The opening simply set the stage for what was about to come. Every other day, the CTV-led consortium seemed to be sending out a news release trumpeting staggering numbers for an Olympic final in which a Canadian stood a good chance of medalling. Millions were watching the medal ceremonies, for heaven’s sake. Medal presentations were outscoring top NHL games by four and five times. And it maybe wasn’t a great surprise when we later learned that 22 million Canadians had been glued to their sets for the gold medal men’s hockey final. Makes you wonder who was running the country that day.
It was easy to look at what happened on the streets of Vancouver and in the living rooms of the nation during the Olympic fortnight and be surprised, shocked even, by what we were witnessing. A swagger we were not known for was now on full display. But honestly, for those who were paying attention it was obvious months earlier that something special was afoot. There were clear signals that the country was fully and completely engaged and ready to make the emotional investment in these Games that would later become so evident. Canadians seemed to take them over. Their fervent enthusiasm was there for all to see during the torch relay.
When we declared these to be Canada’s Games, trying to make them relevant to all Canadians, no matter where they lived, there was a fair bit of eye-rolling. Many saw our plan as a vision too far. People said it would never happen. The country was too big. But it was during the relay, it turns out, that Canadians began to get inspired, and I mean all Canadians, of every colour and creed. That little flame seemed to touch everyone. That’s when Canadians first swung open their doors and ventured outside to take a look, many wearing their red-and-white best.
While the performances of our athletes sent patriotism soaring through the roof, I doubt it would have happened, at least to the same degree, had the torch relay not touched down in every part of the country, allowing 90 per cent of Canadians to get up close and personal with the spirit of the Games. The relay is what ignited the fierce pride that would be on display during the Games. The relay gave us the momentum that would build throughout the 17 days of the Olympics.
These ideas had been swirling around in my head during my first run-throughs of my speech as I tried to find the words to express what Canadians might be feeling and expect on this day. I spent a good part of Sunday morning going over every word, tweaking parts here and there, practising my French aloud, cringing and sweating every time I did. But I was determined to be better. My mind was also full of emotions and imagery about the production itself and how the show was going to open. We had cooked up a bit of a surprise, to say the least.
It was about a week after the opening ceremonies, and that numbing poke in the eye we got when one of the arms of the cauldron embarrassingly failed to rise from the stadium floor, that David Atkins had beckoned me to his office for a closed-door chat. He wanted to talk about an idea he and a couple of others were kicking around for the closing ceremonies, which involved a significant departure from the original script: the crowd would take their seats and be greeted by an unlit cauldron still with only three arms, signs that it was indeed permanently disabled. The idea, David said, was to raise the fourth arm of the cauldron as part of the show and have it lit by Catriona Le May Doan, the torchbearer who had been left standing awkwardly in the cold when the arm she was to light stubbornly refused to operate on opening night. David envisaged a miming mechanic coming out of the floor and tugging on an imaginary rope to get the unseen cauldron arm into position. Then Catriona would appear to light the flame.
Forever the tease, David could see the smile building on my face as he outlined his plan. It was brilliant—on so many levels. First, it allowed us to poke a little fun at ourselves. Yes, the glitch on opening night had left a sour taste in some people’s mouths. But now we were going to turn that lemon into lemonade. Canadians would be thrilled that Catriona, who had conducted herself with so much dignity and class on opening night, would get her moment in the spotlight as she deserved.
Second, our commitment to a bilingual Games wasn’t just centred around how many French words were spoken but in how the duality of Canada was broadly reflected in everything we did. For the ceremonies, that could be achieved through the artists we chose, the dancers, music, imagery and the stories told, regardless of the language. By using a Montreal-based mime David was making a point: the mime was an artist who certainly reflected French culture but who also didn’t speak a word.
I thought David had showed real ingenuity in the face of the pressure that we were getting from many fronts on the French issue, not to mention the sometimes unreasonable demands of the networks. On its part, NBC was not thrilled that we had ended the opening ceremonies with a song in French. For its mostly English-speaking American audience, the network would have preferred that we use a song that was more recognizable. Meanwhile, CTV was lobbying hard to have its Olympic theme song, “I Believe,” inserted into the closing ceremonies. Not a chance, said David, and I wasn’t going to argue with him. He was putting his foot down on all of the interference and lobbying that was coming from the bleachers, and who could blame him? I loved “I Believe” but was happy with the lineup of talent that David had already assembled. Besides, it wasn’t our job to be a marketing company for CTV, great as their partnership with us was. Certainly, we weren’t going to put their interests ahead of the greater good of the Games and David’s well-crafted plan.
While part of me will forever crave the buzz and excitement of the Games, I will never miss the politicking and tug-of-war manoeuvring that went on behind the scenes, especially in regard to the opening and closing ceremonies.
BY LATE MORNING, I had made my way to Canada Hockey Place to take in the gold medal game. The building was a powder keg of excitement. Given the anxiety I was already feeling about the closing ceremonies, I probably could have done without the high drama that unfolded. But for the country, Sidney Crosby in overtime, wow, you couldn’t have written it better if you were a Hollywood wordsmith. Our boy Sidney, our whole hockey team, gave Canada and the 2010 Olympics the defining moment that would be remembered and talked about for decades. It was the exclamation mark on a 17-day experience that brought Canadians together like never before.
It took a while to get from the rink to BC Place Stadium right next door after the game. I couldn’t go two feet without someone approaching to talk about what had just happened in the rink and to congratulate VANOC on a superb job. The mood was ebullient. I eventually made it inside the stadium but I wasn’t planning on making myself visible until right near the countdown to the start of the ceremonies, for a few reasons. First, I wanted to spend a little more time going over my speech and amending a part of it to incorporate the bit of hockey history that had just been made. We had managed quite an Olympic haul—14 gold medals, the most ever for a country at a Winter Games, host or not. What an achievement. What a validation of Own the Podium. That had to be recognized. I also wanted to go over my French parts just a bit more. Some last-minute cramming for the ultimate final.
I had earlier enlisted the assistance of Marcel Aubut, the president-elect of the Canadian Olympic Committee, the former owner of the Québec Nordiques and a legend in la belle province. I remember vividly when Marcel ran with the torch in Quebec. He had a huge following. I thought he could help me with some of my expressions, phrasing and elocution. Marcel immediately came up with several suggestions so that I might better express myself in French this time around. He even offered to help me in person, which is how we ended up together in the bowels of BC Place Stadium hours before the closing going over my French words. He made me repeat my phrases over and over and over again. He conducted his lessons with all the colour and flair of an animated choirmaster. “Not good enough,” he’d bark. “Do it again.” His hands were flying all over the place. His lips were moving a mile a minute. I would have burst out laughing if it hadn’t all been so serious. He gave me a pretty thorough grinding, and when I was done I was beat. He helped me cross the line from complete hopelessness to 10 per cent Brave-heart. I was ready to give it a shot.
The other reason I wanted to make myself scarce was because of what David had planned for Act One. Jacques Rogge and other members of the IOC were going to be staring down at an unlit cauldron, one that still had only three arms. But more significant was that it wasn’t burning—a violation of Olympic protocol. Once you light the cauldron to begin the Olympics, it is supposed to remain lit until the Games are over and the world is beckoned to meet again in four years’ time in the next host city. When people arrived for the closing, we should have had that cauldron burning, leaving everyone with the impression it had been glowing for 17 days.
Oops.
I could only imagine what everyone was thinking as they saw that poor, cold, unlit tripod, an arm still missing. For all they knew the embarrassment of opening night was about to be repeated.
I was also feeling a little anxious for my youngest daughter, Molly, who had grown from a small child into a beautiful young teenager during the life of this project. She was going to be dancing in the opening number, which was an ode to snowboarders. She had applied to be a dancer, auditioned quietly and been selected before I knew one word of her plan. All those years of dance classes had paid off. I was nervous and excited for her. I knew her stomach was probably a little queasy as well.
Eventually, it was time to find Darlene Poole, whom I was escorting to the president’s box. When we got to our seats there was a frisson of expectancy in the air. Many people were looking at the cauldron and wondering what on earth gives. I leaned over to Darlene just before the voice of God came over the public address system to announce the show was starting momentarily. “Get ready for a doozy of a surprise,” I whispered.
A few minutes later, with a burst of feathers, sparks and flames and the appearance of our mime dressed as a mechanic, the ceremonies began. It didn’t take long for Catriona to make her dramatic appearance and for the crowd to realize what was taking place: a beautiful bit of self-deprecating humour to set the tone just right. The crowd went crazy, loving every bit of our self-inflicted comedy. Below me, Prince Willem-Alexander of the Netherlands looked over to Dave Cobb with a wide grin. “Genius,” he said.
And it was. Pure David Atkins genius. He was worth every penny of his contract for that moment alone.
I didn’t see Jacques Rogge’s reaction to what had just happened on the stage floor but I’d like to think he was happy. Another inspired Olympic moment for him. I’m hoping he cracked a smile, regarded the moment for what it was and overlooked the breach in protocol. I didn’t see it as a protocol gaffe so much as a protocol lift. People were going to be talking about this moment for a long time. It humanized us, not just the organizing committee but the country as a whole. I think it even helped make the IOC, an organization that guards its rules and traditions with the persistence and dedication of a Napoleonic army, seem less stodgy and hidebound. The moment seemed to mark the Games in a special way, showing Canadians for what they are: laid-back people who aren’t afraid to poke a little fun at themselves, not slaves to tradition.
Our mime seemed to relax the whole stadium. Already in a great mood, the crowd was ready to have a good time now. Soon the floor was filled with hundreds of snowboard-carrying dancers dressed in white, swarming around the lit cauldron to the strains of a song called “Vancouver” led by the Winnipeg rock band Inward Eye. The dancers were mostly high school students, and out there among them was Molly, who had practised endlessly for her three minutes of fame. I strained to find her among the whirling-dervish frenzy taking place on the floor. No chance. It didn’t stop me from being one proud father though.
The athlete parade, true to form, was a show of unity. No borders now as athletes abandoned tradition to link up with their global friends—black, white, brown, men, women, gay, straight. Uniforms and flags were traded around. It was as if the world was now just one country, a shining example of what could be. It was let-your-hair-down time, party time, as if the athletes were telling the rest of us that sport is truly life’s greatest metaphor. I could only imagine the aspirations of children all over the earth whose Olympic dreams began right here.
I left my seat to make my way over to the stage, along with Jacques, to give my closing address. Although speeches from the CEO of the organizing committee are traditionally much shorter during the closing ceremonies than during the opening, I wanted mine to reflect the full story of what had happened in Vancouver and Whistler. It was not a time for useless words or trivia. I wanted Canadians to have someone enunciate for them what it was the country was feeling. So many profound things had happened over the course of the Games—so much and so many to acknowledge. A night to express genuine feelings and to be humble and gracious.
There is little question that this was the most anxious and tense that I have ever been before a speech—and it wasn’t because billions would be watching. A blunder tonight would be with me my whole life. I was far less edgy before my speech at the opening, when the spotlight was even more intense. But I hadn’t been so worried about my French in the opening. Now I was petrified.
As I stood backstage waiting to get signalled for my appearance, I could hear the delight of the crowd with everything that was taking place inside the stadium.
“You’re on,” someone said.
It’s almost impossible to describe what it feels like to walk out onto the stage of a darkened arena knowing there are 60,000 sets of eyes trained on you. Excited and scared witless at the same time comes closest. Before I knew it, my trembling hands were putting my speech on the lectern in front of me. Jacques Rogge was just a few feet to my right waiting his turn. I had taken Prime Minister Harper’s advice to heart: my opening acknowledgements to Dr. Rogge and members of the IOC, the prime minister, Governor General, provincial premiers, athletes, were all in French. I heard the PM’s words in my head: “Speak French early and people will appreciate you for it, give you marks for trying.”
I was off and running.
I talked about the remarkable demonstration of the power of sport that we had just finished witnessing, the force of which had the ability to unite, inspire and liberate us from feelings of hopelessness and despair. But now it was time to say goodbye and thank you. “And to perhaps compare for a moment the Canada that was with the Canada that now is,” I said.
It was a line that I had settled on just a couple of days earlier, but one I thought was perhaps the most important of them all, one that acknowledged that something extraordinary had taken place, something profound, and that we were all a little taller than when we began. I was also suggesting to a watching world that it had come to know Canadians as we really are. And along the way a bunch of myths and preconceived notions had been tossed aside.
“That quiet, humble national pride we were sometimes reluctant to acknowledge seemed to take to the streets as the most beautiful kind of patriotism broke out all across the country. . . [Canadians] did not just cheer—rather you lived every glorious moment as if you yourselves were competing for gold.”
Alexandre Bilodeau’s first gold medal had given the country permission to feel and behave like champions. Our last gold medal in men’s hockey would be remembered for generations.
I had to acknowledge the men and women without whose spirit and determination and hard work the Games could not have happened and certainly would not have been the success they were: the Blue Jackets, the undisputed heroes of the Olympics, some of whom had taken on a stubborn mountain and had defeated it. “May your contribution here be worn as a badge of honour for the rest of your lives,” I said. “For you have, through your service, defined for all to see what it is to be a proud, generous Canadian.”
I couldn’t get through my final address without a reference to the tragedy that could easily have defined these Games but didn’t. “To the people of Georgia we are so sad and so sorry for your loss. Your unimaginable grief is shared by every Canadian and all those who have gathered here. May the legacy of your favourite son Nodar Kumaritashvili never be forgotten and serve to inspire youth everywhere to be champions in life.”
The 2010 Winter Olympics would have many wonderful legacies, I said, yet I wished for just one: “That every Canadian child— be they from Chicoutimi, Moncton, Grande Prairie, Squamish or Niagara Falls—will have the chance to grow up to experience the pleasure of sport. No one left out. And that we of the global Olympic family will not rest until the right of every child to play across this planet is secured.”
And with a “Vive le Canada” I was done.
As I walked from the stage, buoyed by a loud, warm ovation, I felt almost weightless. I could breathe again. The tension had melted from my body. I was happy to have survived. Before I even reached my seat my BlackBerry was buzzing. Two of the first messages I received were from James Moore, the federal culture minister I had battled with, and Marcel Aubut, both congratulating me on my French. I couldn’t resist a smile. I knew, of course, it wasn’t perfect, and probably offended the ears of the purists, but I had tried my best. Like the prime minister had told me, I was never going to please all the critics but I was going to get marks for having the courage to try hard.
To this day, I haven’t been able to watch a video of my speeches, from either the opening or the closing. Maybe one day.
I was now going to be able to truly enjoy the rest of the show, which was designed as an outsized tribute to Canada, a spectacle that brought a smile to everyone’s face, often at our own expense. We were going to play to some of the clichés rather than try to pretend they didn’t exist or weren’t partly based in fact. So when William Shatner came on and said, “I’m proud of the fact that we Canadians can have four beers and still pronounce the ‘Strait of Juan de Fuca’ without being censored,” a knowing chuckle ripped right across the country. The highlight of the evening was Michael Bublé’s rendition of “The Maple Leaf Forever.”
The next day, I read a description of that segment that I thought nailed it perfectly. It was penned by Pete McMartin, of the Vancouver Sun, whose kind review was further noteworthy because the writer had been a critic of the Games from the start. “Bublé was perfect,” Pete wrote, “and the Broadway production swirling around him was so wonderfully campy and so entertaining that I had the thought watching it that this was a new moment in Canada’s image of itself. The squad of dancing Mounties, and then the giant wooden Mounties being wheeled out, and the dancing maple leaf babes, and the jigging coureurs de bois in their canoes, and the giant beavers and moose and best of all, the giant hockey table game, which was pure genius and a Canadian inside joke that caused a pang in the heart of every Canadian kid of a certain age (notice the gold medals on the hockey players?), it was brilliant, all of it. The joke on us, by us. All that was lacking was a giant pitcher of maple syrup to pour over everything.”
A joke on us, by us. It was the perfect description. If there was any irony it was in how similar many parts of the production were to the one that was so severely criticized in Turin. It had been mocked for playing to every trite cliché there was about Canada. This one did the same, in many respects, and yet was hailed far and wide for being fun and entertaining and pitch perfect.
In the waning minutes, Canadian-born troubadour Neil Young brought the house down serenading the athletes with a rendition of his iconic hit “Long May You Run.” It was a goodbye that seemed completely Canadian. The Games had served to remind the world of Canada’s deep pool of homegrown but international talent.
As Neil took his leave, I could sense a strange feeling in the stadium. The flame now extinguished, people just did not want to let it go. I was delighted at the extent to which the crowd had embraced the entire production and thought they had played a starring role themselves. As I looked around, I was surprised by the number of people who continued to sit in their seats soaking up every last bit while others poured for the exits to continue the celebration. I turned to Darlene as we were heading out and told her that if Jack had been nearby, as I always felt he was, he would now know it was okay to slip away from us. His work was done. Somewhere out there he was smiling—this I know.
We set up for a press conference down at the Main Press Centre soon after the ceremonies were over and the mood heading into it couldn’t have been more different from the one held after the opening ceremonies. I was so delighted for David, who was surely going to be hailed for the creative mastermind that he is. No questions about French or faulty cauldrons. Now he was going to be asked how he ever came up with the idea to begin the closing ceremonies in the brilliant way that he had. Some of the actors and singers were on the dais with David and me. I answered a few questions about how it felt to have the Olympics over. They aren’t over, I answered, now we had to gear up for the Paralympics.
Overall, the news conference questions were kind and positive. The tone suggested that we had bounced back in a very Canadian way from some early setbacks and not only had won the big game but had set a whole new standard. Our successors would be measured differently now. I wasn’t prepared to accept those kind of accolades that day and still don’t. I was just happy that people weren’t still saying the Games were the worst ever.
After the press conference, I wandered down to Jack Poole Plaza. Although the cauldron was extinguished, thousands of people were still milling around it. I stood there smiling, taking it all in, thrilled by the grand distinction that the cauldron had achieved. It had come to symbolize the heart of the Games. Tens of thousands had come to see it each day hoping to feel the warmth of its flame, to contemplate its storied history, the power of what it had come to symbolize over time. Mothers and fathers, children in hand, staring into the glow so full of wonder and hope. The Olympics have their flaws and have sometimes been dogged by scandal, this we know. But at the core is something good, with the potential to be life changing, earth changing, something with the power to unite a nation as it had ours. You can’t say that about a lot of things today.
If the second cauldron had come to represent the soul and spirit of these Games, how appropriate, then, that it was situated in a plaza named after the person who I felt embodied the soul and spirit of these Olympics: Jack Poole. I sure missed my sage friend, perhaps never more so than on that final night when I most wanted to give him an embrace for everything he had done for me, everything he had come to mean to me. Ours was a relationship of a lifetime. Thirty-five years earlier I had lost my dad, John “Jack” Furlong, and now John “Jack” Poole was gone from me too. Both of them had made me feel I was worth their effort. I hope I was.
I eventually made my way back to the Bayshore, where the mood was relaxed and jubilant. Members of the IOC streamed up to me to tell me how proud my team should be with the way it had produced the best Games ever staged, the big guns from Sydney and Lillehammer among them. Quite the endorsement. While it all felt good, I was ready to crash and savour a few quiet hours in my room, call my kids and wind down a bit. There were parties everywhere and invitations to attend. I passed on them all. Besides, I had another early start the next morning and wanted to be out at the airport first thing to make sure everything went smoothly.
What was I thinking when my head hit the pillow that night? I’ve been asked that question a hundred times. What was I thinking? Relief, for sure. While my team wouldn’t be able to fully exhale until the Paralympics were over, I knew that we had bounced back to achieve something special. Our goal was audacious, without question. We set out as dreamers hoping to be nation builders, to somehow do something great for our country, and when I lay down that night to think about whether we had achieved our goal I knew that pretty soon we would find out through the words and actions of others.
That night may have been one of the happiest, most serene experiences of my life. I was beginning to realize what we had accomplished; I could see it and feel it. And when you feel that good, it just fills you up. You think about things that make you happy, and so before I went to sleep that night I thought about my children and hoped that I had made them proud. I thought about how proud they all made me. I thought about my own family, particularly my mom and dad. What I would have given for them to be alive for this 17-day period in their son’s life.
A part of me had always felt I had fallen a bit short with my father. To my dad, sport was an amateur endeavour. Sunday stuff. Not real work—not in Ireland in 1974 at least. When I told him I wanted to try to make a living through sport, he’d always shake his head and say he hoped I’d one day come to my senses. Dad would have been stunned had he been in the stadium that night.
My father was my hero and instilled in me all of the values that I liked to think I imbued in my organization. My mother taught me about honour and decency and doing the right thing and never disregarding the value of someone else’s contribution. Those were also important tenets of my philosophy. So as I lay in bed that night, I thought of both of them and my sister, Rosemary, whom we lost during the bid period to lupus. She would have given anything to be here, to be with her brother.
I thought of all the children who would be waking up the next day, having dreamt all night of competing in an Olympics themselves one day, the next Sidney Crosby among them.
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A Final Farewell to Nodar


  THE NEXT MORNING I was greeted with poetic headlines trumpeting the success of the Games. The positive reviews came from some of our harshest critics. “Londoners have a tough act to follow in 2012,” declared London’s Daily Telegraph, one of the British papers that had slammed us earlier. Its Fleet Street competitors expressed similar sentiments. David Atkins’s master stroke in the closing ceremonies was universally applauded. Even the French content received positive reviews.
But March 1 meant it was time for tens of thousands of our visitors to begin heading home. The party was over, and now we faced a large army of very tired people descending on our airport. The experience that Olympic goers have at the airport can leave an indelible mark on their memories, which is why we always considered “Day 18” one of the most important on our Olympic calendar. The last thing we wanted was to have the special feelings that our visitors were leaving with sullied by their time getting checked in and passing through airport security.
As wonderful as the Games in Salt Lake had been, the lasting memory that many people had of those Olympics was the 10-hour lineups and utter chaos at the airport getting home. It was not a pretty sight, and frustrations boiled over on several occasions. We vowed not to let that happen here.
From the beginning, the Vancouver Airport Authority was a full partner in our Games. The airport was never going to be just a sterile place to land and leave from. We decided to make YVR a venue in itself, to give it a personality. So when people landed in Vancouver they knew instantly they were in an Olympic host city. Larry Berg, the CEO of the VAA, did a brilliant job along with members of our team in dressing the airport up in our Olympic colours and making arrivals feel as if they were being greeted by their own personal welcoming party.
After an early and happy breakfast at which my colleagues and I received the highly coveted Olympic Order from the IOC, I headed to the airport to see how things were going and to thank the Blue Jackets and airport volunteers who were there from early dawn making sure people’s needs were met. By the time I arrived, the place was humming as exquisitely as the London Philharmonic. Thousands of passengers had already left. Security was a breeze and the planes were leaving on time.
In preparation, the airport had constructed what was tantamount to another terminal to handle the overflow customer traffic the Olympics created. Any time any of the lines got too long, people were directed to this temporary (now permanent) building, where they were processed almost immediately.
The IOC was especially impressed with how smoothly departure day was going, such a contrast to most Games. I think part of the problem was that other organizing committees had not seen the magic of having the airport as a full partner, one that was deemed to be crucial to the overall Games. It took effort to make sure that a partner that was only called upon to be at the top of its game for a brief period felt vital to the Games’ success. All the training that Larry Berg had his staff take to be ready was paying off. There were Blue Jackets and airport volunteers everywhere, some handing out drinks and food. There was even music and other entertainment to keep those waiting in line amused.
Any exhaustion I felt was masked by the exhilaration I continued to experience. But the day was certainly bittersweet for me because it meant saying farewell to many special friends. There would be so many warm so-longs to people I hadn’t known eight, nine years earlier. Now they were life-long friends, or so I liked to think. People like René Fasel, the president of the International Ice Hockey Federation, who had played such a critical role for us during the bid process. I was going to miss Gerhard Heiberg too. He was such a decent human being. I wondered when, if ever, I’d see him again.
“You did an unbelievable job, John,” Gerhard told me as we said our goodbyes. Coming from Gerhard, this praise had special meaning. He had been CEO of the Winter Games that had established the highest standard for the event—Lillehammer 1994. If we were one day mentioned in the same company as those Games, that would be the highest compliment we could receive.
I would even miss Jacques Rogge, though we hadn’t become especially close during my Olympic tenure. But Nodar’s death did establish a bond between us that hadn’t existed before, and when I shook Jacques’s hand for the last time it felt different. He seemed more warm and human than the man I knew before the Games began. He’s never going to be a bubbly, effervescent guy but I have enormous respect for Jacques, for his principles and his dedication to the Olympic cause. His is a tough job.
I spent a lot of my time at the airport talking to athletes from around the world. “The best Games ever” was a common expression used by many. It sure felt good. I met one guy who fell so in love with Vancouver he bought a condo in Coal Harbour, near where the second cauldron burned. “I couldn’t help myself,” he said.
AS THOUSANDS TOOK to the skies, a new entourage of excited visitors was landing and the customs hall was full again. The incoming hordes had been prepped for their visit by the massive global coverage of every second of the Olympics—now it was their turn to grab their credentials, board a Games vehicle and soak up the vibe.
The Paralympics would soon be upon us.
We were already in full transition mode. No time to rest or celebrate. My team was moving at rocket speed to take down the Olympic look and replace it with that of the Paralympics, a monster job of logistics. Venues were being prepared and modified for different uses. Some no longer in use were already being decommissioned. Volunteers who were getting ready for extended service, thousands of them, took off one badge and stuck on the “three agitos” Paralympic Games replacement—a cost-efficient measure we put in place as the money dried up. It worked beautifully.
I left the airport in the early afternoon satisfied we had played a near perfect game there. My teammates in the car were noticeably calmer and more at ease but still determined to pour on the effort. They had given blood for me, worried day and night about every detail, always ready to jump in to sort out even the tiniest complication. And they did not let me get away with anything. I was lucky to have them.
By day’s end, I had heard from all my kids. They were high on pride and just too weary to contemplate normal life again. My son John Jr. called, dying to talk to me about his experience. “You know, Dad,” he said, “I grew up knowing we lived next to a giant. They were bigger and stronger than us. They beat us at most things, they had all the money and the power and where they went we went. And it was okay to us that we lived in their shadow. The next generation will never know these feelings. Never again will we Canadians compete in sport or in anything and feel like we don’t belong. From now on we will compete even up, feel like we can win and we will be confident we can achieve success in anything.”
Wow, I thought, if that was the sole, lasting legacy from these Games, it would have all been worth it.
WHILE THERE WAS a tendency to want to savour and soak up the warm atmosphere, it was now time to tend fully to the three weeks still to come. We had but a few days to ready everything so the Paralympic athletes could settle in and acclimatize. By morning I would remind our executive that we must stay alert and not become complacent. On the streets the public was itching for Round Two. My colleagues assured me that all stations were manned and that we would be ready by mid-week. True to form we were.
The transition from Olympic to Paralympic was faultless to the point that we even had time on our hands. We had expected more challenges. By mid-week the athletes, coaches and officials were all on the ground, and the village atmosphere in both Whistler and Vancouver was comfortable. Technical experts and other event officials were busy putting final touches to everything and making sure the venues were at the required standard for competition.
One of the questions most often asked of me over the past 10 years is why are the Olympics and Paralympics not staged together? Surely there are efficiencies that could be realized by holding the two events at the same time? Surely it would be less costly? And wouldn’t the Paralympians prefer to perform on the same grand stage as the other Olympians and not on one that comes with a little less glitz and glamour?
In the past, some Paralympic events have been showcased in the Olympics, but the fact is the IOC and IPC have no desire for an integrated event. Both want independence and a separate identity. Also, one is based in Switzerland and the other in Germany; integrating the two would add costs, not lessen them. Athletes’ villages would have to be expanded to accommodate the extra competitors that would be on the ground at the same time. Food facilities would have to be bigger as well. The venues after the Olympics are modified significantly for Paralympic use, so more venues would need to be built if events were to be staged simultaneously. And extra grandstands and a whole host of other support facilities would have to be built as well.
That said, it is difficult for an organizing committee like VANOC to start all over again after the Olympics have ended. The team is dead tired yet must immediately bounce back into action. We had seen this challenge coming and decided to organize the Games around a simple strategy—two Games inside a one-festival approach delivered by one team. In the past, the organization of the Paralympics has, at times, been contracted out to a separate agency (this is what they did in Turin, for example). But we felt that approach added unnecessary risk.
We knew that expectations would be high to deliver something special for the Paralympics and not treat them in any way as a second-tier event. So we committed ourselves to the same quality of delivery and transitioned very quickly.
It was time to turn my attention, at least in part, to the opening ceremonies. Patrick Roberge—the show’s executive producer— and his team were already sweating in the stadium. Rehearsals had been a bit raw but were improving. Patrick had great confidence in the creative aspects of the show but had had no stadium time under his belt yet. If ever an executive producer faced serious adversity, it was Patrick. BC Place was the one venue where the transition had not been smooth. Patrick had the benefit of all the key Olympic staging and overlay materials but was frustrated about the general state he found the building in. It was like waking up the morning after a big party in your home and having to do all the clean-up, but with no part in making the mess. Patrick had expected an easier takeover.
His team tackled that building head-on, and by the weekend it too was sparkling and the cast was gelling. He needed every minute to practise and nail the surprise elements, and the artists were in overdrive getting the music and songs just right. The International Paralympic Committee (IPC) got an early look at some of the rehearsals and loved what was in store.
What was essentially a low-budget show was beginning to look exactly the opposite. Rumours circulated about broadcasting the opening ceremonies. One minute they were going to be live, then tape delay and then live again. The IPC was now freaking out. The public was watching closely and expected the Paralympics to be live too; in this country natural justice is expected. We had promised live and still hoped for it. CTV wasn’t sure the show could hold a live audience for two hours.
By noon on March 2 we were on the road again, headed for Ottawa and the start of the Paralympic torch relay in the nation’s capital. Jeff Mooney, one of our most dedicated, hard-working board members, could see how hard we were running and gave us, as he had before, complimentary use of his plane and pilot to get us safely to Ottawa and back. A lifesaver of a gesture. To us, Jeff was like the guy sitting on the bench always ready to leap over the boards and help out. The firepower and soul behind the A&W empire, he had contributed so much to VANOC, especially in the area of communications and marketing. On that day, Jeff was our favourite citizen.
Jim Richards, our torch relay director, and his advance team were already in Ottawa setting up the details for the traditional First Nations lighting event set to take place on Vancouver Island, before we took the flame to Parliament Hill in mid-morning. We were up at the crack of dawn. I must have done 10 interviews back to back before 8 AM. The country was still buzzing madly from the Olympics and did not want it to stop.
So we now had a new flame and were headed for Vancouver via some major centres. Before it was all over, throngs would run with the Paralympic torch or participate in some other way, including a 24-hour relay that was held in and around Vancouver. I knew for certain that Jim would execute the events flawlessly and make certain the flame’s arrival at its final destination down to the second. Jim did not disappoint.
The executive team met at the Cannery Restaurant for a working lunch after the return from Ottawa. It had been a long time since we had had the luxury of a meal together. I couldn’t help but notice the reduced stress on the faces of my teammates. They were younger looking, still united and happy with their work. They had been through a lot and I was deeply proud of each one of them. There were no big issues to report—the transition was buzzing along. The team was confident that all was locked down nicely and ready for the “Second Games.” The restaurant staff fell over themselves to treat us well, and we each left with a gift—a thank you, they said, for what we “had done for our country.”
Later that afternoon I stopped in to see Kyle Mitchell, who had recruited me and most of the executive team, and who was now giving us a hand to find new careers for our top people. He was determined to find them soft landings so they weren’t worrying about being unemployed in a few short weeks, which would have distracted them from the task at hand. Kyle was a magician and would perform his magic yet again.
On March 5, Jeff Sherman, CEO of The Bay, ecstatic with the company’s runaway Olympic success, hosted the executive for dinner and talked about the profound impact the Games was having on the iconic store. I thought back to that night, years before, backstage in Toronto with George Heller, the former CEO, and our handshake deal that was at the root of the years of effort and sweat that followed. Now here we were full circle—mission accomplished. The Bay was back. Jeff was gracious and thankful and gave each team member a patented Hudson’s Bay striped blanket to celebrate and remember our partnership. When he said, midway through dinner, that “this was the first February in The Bay’s history in which the company had made a profit,” I felt more than a little bit good.
By Saturday, March 6, the torch had arrived in Victoria, and I and others were there to receive it. The premier was in fine form and Rick Hansen was too. After a stint as co-mayor of the Olympic Village in Vancouver—along with former Olympic rower Tricia Smith—Rick was on top of the world all over again. The incoming torch runners were beaming. A great community celebration followed. Media were out in full force, still juiced up and fighting their own exhaustion. Then to the Canadian Armed Forces base in Esquimalt for a visit and ceremony, and for me it was back on the float plane to Vancouver, where the work in my office was piling up and mail was coming in from all over. Letters from around the globe were pouring in from those who felt they had to say how appreciative they were. They came from Australia, Chile, the United States, Britain, France, Germany and, of course, from Canada. I felt how far we had come. How much we had already accomplished.
As the days passed and venues were declared ready, I was busy preparing to make my final progress report to the IPC, a considerably less daunting experience than facing the IOC. For the most part, things Paralympic fell under the leadership of the VANOC sport division. We had decided on a complete reversal of the Turin Games strategy, where on the surface the Paralympics looked as if they were organized by the Turin organizing committee but were in fact contracted out to a separate agency.
With only days to go now before the start of the Paralympics, ticket sales had taken off, the sledge hockey venue was almost sold out and curling was filling up. The opening ceremonies were within an inch of having the Sold Out sign placed on the door too.
Everything appeared right and ready, and the new look at the venues was impressive. Signs of the Olympics were now largely gone and replaced by a distinctive IPC appearance. While the athletes’ villages were quieter, the new tenants from over 40 countries were buzzing with energy.
Later that week, with hundreds of practice runs complete and in the wake of a thousand small transition tasks, it was time to talk openly to the media about expectations. Sir Philip Craven, president of the IPC, was in his element, beaming with anticipation, and saying all the right things but also pushing buttons all over to keep the heat on the broadcasters to commit to live coverage. He was good at the pressure game, but he was also warm and thankful and noticeably eager to get on with it. I simply promised a continuation of the large crowds, Canadian medals and Blue Jacket heroics.
Originally, the plan was for the Paralympics to be entirely staged in Whistler. The IPC loved the intimacy of Whistler and felt the athlete experience would be enhanced if the Games were held in one place. And no doubt it would have been. But cost pressures forced us to take another look at this idea. Having some events in Vancouver, at venues that were ready, would save money. But we had made a promise to be in Whistler only. I felt we could go back on it only with the IPC’s blessing, so I had flown to Manchester, England, for an audience with Sir Phil, a former wheelchair athlete himself and a standout on the basketball court. He had represented Great Britain at many Paralympics and other European championships.
I felt a little vulnerable sitting in his presence, in his home, where he would put me up for the night. It was not an easy conversation but I honestly believed the Paralympics would come out ahead if we held some of the big events in Vancouver, where they would get more exposure. I promised him that we would not back down from our commitment to make these Paralympics the best ever. While the request shook our relationship a bit, he thankfully let us off the hook.
As the athletes were bussed down from Whistler on March 12, the ceremonies team was removing any final blemishes from the stadium set-up. It was a beautiful and inviting atmosphere. We had a full house. The dress rehearsal the night before had gone well. The performers were giddy with excitement backstage—only Patrick Roberge was really biting his nails.
The night was free of the soul-searching tensions that were present exactly four weeks before. The high drama of the Olympics was past now and the crowd was ready to let it all hang out one more time. Sold out it was. Spirits were high. The Governor General, prime minister, premier (decked out in red), local mayors and many others were all there as the countdown began. Performers gave it their all, sang their hearts out, and danced with joyous energy.
The athlete parade was beautiful, unprecedented for ambiance and oomph. It was emotional, energetic and every team was welcomed as if they were indeed the only one there, with the one possible exception—Canada. The arrival of Team Canada, including five-time gold medal winner-to-be Lauren Woolstencroft, seemed to electrify the crowd. The best kind of mayhem was happening.
The Governor General took the field early in the show, flanked by small children and beaming with pleasure, and the crowd responded warmly. We saw Rick Hansen and Betty and Rolly Fox, and were reminded time and again of the remarkable contribution people with disabilities have made to Canada and the world. The RCMP and Canadian Armed Forces were there in their finest protocol colours, delighted again to serve. It was a proud night for VANOC and a wonderful night for Canada.
In my speech I recognized the athletes whose lives were now interconnected forever because of these Games. I used the occasion to draw attention to the giving spirit of men and women of sport the world over: “Those who have made it their personal mission in life to use sport to build better lives, and inspire children . . . Sport is our common language and because so many in the world live in harm’s way our message of peace through sport has never been more important.”
It was a night to give thanks to so many. I concluded with a final wish for the athletes: “May this night be the beginning of the time of your life.” And then I introduced Sir Phil, who was charming, strong and clear about the occasion this was. He spoke eloquently about values and gave thanks for the Paralympics’ good fortune to be in Canada. If ever a man was in his element it was Sir Phil. If all he had done was sing the words of “Michael, Row Your Boat Ashore,” the crowd of 60,000 would still have made him feel like Elvis. He was now every bit the great leader he had hoped to become when he took the reins at the IPC. He was strong, proud, vibrant, passionate, thoughtful and humorous. It was a night he would never forget. Paralympic Winter Sport was at centre stage and it was on live television. After having seen the rehearsals, the network did itself proud and put the ceremonies on for the entire country to enjoy in real time. We were the first Paralympic Winter Games organizing committee to broadcast the Games live. In the end, CTV delivered over 60 hours of coverage and millions watched—a runaway record. For the IPC, this was now the new standard. Sochi can expect to get pushed further in 2014. Sir Phil’s relentless persuasion had paid off huge. He revelled in calling on Governor General Michaëlle Jean to declare the Games officially open.
The Paralympic flame arrived to great fanfare and was carried to centre field by Betty and Rolly Fox, as so many pondered the gift their heroic son had given to his country. The flame was passed around a ring of torchbearers and eventually handed to Zach Beaumont, a 15-year-old future Paralympic star who lit the cauldron as if life’s greatest honour had been bestowed on him.
For me, the rest of the night was a blur, a media conference, a walk through the infectious atmosphere downtown before crashing into bed exhausted. Athletes were en route back to their villages, for one more sleep before game day, and all was set for competitions the next morning.
On Saturday, March 13, the athletes’ wait was over. I woke up with a massive headache, seeing stars, and tried all kinds of medication just so I could manage. My migraines have become fewer in recent years but when they come they are brutal—like this one. Like a needle behind my eye. The day was at fever pitch by midmorning, so I needed to shake it off. The talk now was all about sledge hockey and whether the Canadian team had it in them to repeat their historic gold medal feat from Turin.
The team was now older, and though they were on the surface full of fire they had noticeably lost that edge. They gave it everything and made it to the semifinals, but there the dream ended. I had gotten to know these guys fairly well and marvelled at how they looked at life. These Games were everything to them and the prospect of repeating gold had been on their minds every minute since 2006. They had challenges to deal with that most of us cannot even contemplate, but they lived life fully and gave everything they had to the community.
On the ice, it was kamikaze-like action as our guys left not an ounce of effort unexpended. Missing that medal at home was devastating for them. Not getting even the bronze left them inconsolable. The U.S. managed to scramble a molecule of revenge for its gold medal loss to Canada in the men’s hockey tournament at the Olympics by taking gold, stopping dead the three gold medals target Hockey Canada had set for itself. Putting a medal around the necks of the Americans and handing them flowers was a great privilege. They had the look of champions and sang their hearts out when their flag was raised. Not a single fan left the arena for the presentations, so their joy was fully shared and celebrated. Canadians stood and cheered—it looked good on us.
It’s hard to imagine feeling excited watching wheelchair curling, which parallels a game of on-ice chess. But over at the Vancouver Paralympic Centre at Hillcrest Park the rules of decorum for curling were being tossed out. From the first rock at the Olympics to the last one at the Paralympics, fans took a vacation from all things normal, letting their instincts run amok. The curlers seemed buzzed at first but settled quickly into the craziness and antics of the crowd, which included the wave, numerous, spontaneous O Canadas, and thunderous ovations for even the most modest shot. This was twenty-first-century curling and it was great fun.
I dropped by the Athletes’ Village in Vancouver mid-week and ran into Jim Armstrong, skip for Canada, once a world-class curler in his own right until his health forced him into a wheelchair. He admitted to being genuinely taken aback by the effervescent atmosphere, and to having underestimated the power of these Games. He was having the time of his life with his teammates and revelled sitting in the village cafeteria meeting the rest of the athletes, drenching himself in the excitement and colour of the Games.
It was dreams of gold for Jim, who had skipped his team to a world championship the year before, so we were all biting our nails as Korea chewed away at his big lead in the final game. But hang on he did to reprise the heroics of Turin. Watching him accept the gold medal was special, and many were in tears for what was to be our final gold of the Paralympics in Vancouver.
TWO GREAT CANADIAN stories unfolded in Whistler. Vancouverite Lauren Woolstencroft won five gold medals in Alpine skiing events, making her the darling of the Games. From the start gate to the finish line she was the favourite of the crowd. Blind cross-country skier Brian McKeever, who had made the Olympic team too but was not allowed to compete, gave the crowd at the Nordic Centre much to cheer about, winning three gold medals, which confirmed him as one of Canada’s greatest Paralympians. The Canadian team had a great Paralympics, nailing their lofty Own the Podium third-place target.
Celebration Plaza in Whistler was full every night as medals were awarded and Canadians and visitors alike piled in to show their appreciation. The Paralympic athletes garnered a special kind of attention from everyone they met. The community showed extraordinary hospitality and had been determined to send everyone home with memories of a storybook place where the world came together. It was as if everyone had been given a key to the resort. Residents were well aware that the contributions they were making would pay a long-term dividend, as visitors would surely return for a repeat experience sometime down the road—that was how Whistler worked. Whistler had proven itself to be the little town that could and did. It had its own irresistible magic and knew it.
AS THE OLYMPICS were ending, I received an invitation from the parents of Nodar Kumaritashvili asking that I attend their son’s funeral, due to take place, according to tradition, exactly 40 days after his death. Part of me thought it was a courtesy request and I wondered if indeed they really wanted me there. Their son had not been out of my thoughts since that tragic Friday. To visit his family would be healing for me as well. The problem was that getting to Georgia was near to impossible if I was to fulfill my duties at the Paralympic closing ceremonies in Whistler. So I had a dilemma and I was worried. My team went to work on logistics. Every kind of travel scenario was looked into.
If I took the last flight to London from Vancouver on Sunday night, I figured I could get to Tbilisi, Georgia’s capital city, jump in a car and drive to the remote village of Bakuriani in time for the service. It would mean crossing the mountains on a slow, busy road, but I was prepared to do anything to get there. But everything would have to be on time for me to pull it off—and I would have to pass on the closing ceremonies, which would be a serious slight to the IPC.
I decided the ceremonies could be reworked and I could deliver my speech early if the IPC would agree to a protocol adjustment. But even then, there was the issue of getting to the airport in time to catch my flight. There was no commercial air or helicopter service available from Whistler. One thing at a time. First I pitched the change in the ceremonies program to Sir Phil. He agreed to go along and understood the significance of what I would be leaving for. I would now be on early in the lineup. My team got to work looking for a transport solution from Whistler, having secured a couple of seats on the last flight to London on Sunday night. Renee Smith-Valade would be coming too, as we expected a media frenzy in Georgia.
At the eleventh hour, with no solution in sight, I went back to an old friend. I thought that if the Canadian Forces, which had thousands of personnel in the mountains, had choppers in the area they would surely be flying back and forth to Vancouver and might be able to help out. It was a Hail Mary option. Their helicopters were rough-and-ready machines designed for duty in war zones—not exactly passenger-friendly, but who cared? I would have been happy to stand in one. True to form, the army reworked its plans and scheduled a chopper flight to take off minutes after my speech. So failing a last-minute emergency at its end, we had an arrangement in place. It would be a basic flight in the dark that would get us to YVR on time for me to make my flight to London.
I liked my chances even if success meant flying for the better part of two days, stopping first in London, then Munich and then Tbilisi at 4 AM. It was one of those rare occasions when sleep seemed unimportant. I wanted us to be there and felt anything less would look bad on Canada and reflect badly on the Games. So I sent a note to Georgia that we were moving heaven and earth to get there. The IOC was sending Pat Hickey, the head of the European Olympic Committees, though I thought Jacques Rogge might travel too.
The last days of the Paralympics were pretty hectic. I went to every venue several times, shook as many hands as I could, hugged those Blue Jackets who were still going strong, attended many receptions and sponsor-hosted occasions and in the final hours attended the IPC closing reception, where the Paralympic Order was awarded to me and, posthumously, to Jack Poole. I practised my closing speech, making a final effort to get my French into better shape. I did some media interviews as well, where I revealed just how exhausted I was. But I also told reporters how much the Olympic experience had affected me. “I have an even greater appreciation today than I’ve ever had in my life about the power of a vision and about what happens when people pursue something with the kind of vigour you can,” I said. “I think something pretty extraordinary has happened in the country and I am glad to have been a part of it.”
And then I was off to the closing ceremonies.
At Whistler’s Celebration Plaza, the rain had cleared. The athlete parade came down through the village, past rapturous crowds who were giving them a memorable send-off. The plaza was packed and Patrick Roberge and his backstage crew were ready to deliver a great show. Minutes into the ceremony, with the athletes all in place and after a beautiful rendition of “O Canada,” I was at the podium in my Blue Jacket delivering my very last speech of the Games. “Tonight, together with our many partners, and in the name of all Canadians, we take our final steps across the finish line of Canada’s Games,” I said. “Our work is done. Our best has been given—our dear friend Jack Poole would be a very happy man tonight.”
I thanked everyone who had made a contribution and especially paid tribute to the athletes, who had “dazzled us with your agility, your strength, your endurance and your sportsmanship. You reflect the best kind of character, integrity and focus and have shown that pain is no match for your courage.”
Minutes later it was time to go.
“It is with humility and more than a little regret that we now say goodbye—it has been a true honour to serve. Thank you very much— Go Raibh Míle Maith Agaibh Go Léir. Slán Agus Beannacht.” It was a traditional Gaelic farewell. My dad would have smiled.
The engine of the SUV was running outside, my bag loaded in the back. I walked off the stage and jumped in the back seat and we were off to the Heliport 15 minutes north of Whistler. It was a strange departure for sure. We met the two pilots and senior armed forces personnel on the tarmac, got our safety briefing, loaded ourselves in and were soon airborne. They were thrilled to help us out and treated this like any serious mission. Heading south, we passed the plaza as the ceremonies continued. There was a glow over the area. I was sad to miss the end and regretted not being there to hear what Sir Phil had to say.
Dave Cobb was ready to face the media and would take charge for the coming hours. We were in good, safe hands. The rest of the team would also be there. I was certain we would send our Paralympic friends home with the same efficiency and spirit we had for our Olympic guests.
This was one time I would have liked to wake up the next morning and read all about it. Sitting beside Admiral Pile, who was himself beaming with pride, I donned night goggles to see the amazing visuals below. As we headed toward Squamish I reflected in solitude on the men and women in uniform around me, and others like them who serve and protect us the world over. Courageous, loyal, proud and driven. My work was easy compared with theirs.
Forty-five minutes later we were all aboard for London. The trip was mostly a blur. After landing in London, we had to grab a connection to Munich. From Munich we flew to Tbilisi, a beautiful city that sits on the banks of the Mtkvari River. Not that there would be any time for sightseeing or exploring. Not long after landing we were being picked up by members of the Georgia National Olympic Committee and off in an entourage of Land Rovers for what we were expecting to be a three- to four-hour trek to Bakuriani, 160 kilometres to the west.
At least that is what the people with the Canadian consulate in Turkey had told us. Maybe with normal drivers behind the wheel but not the guys we had, professionals who took corners at great speeds. There were times where I was almost afraid to look at how fast we were going. When I did peek, the speedometer often said 170. More than once Renee and I exchanged glances, wondering if this was going to be our last ride together—our last ride, period.
But make it we did, arriving in the small town in the early afternoon. Bakuriani is situated on the northern slope of the Trialeti mountain range in the Borjomi Valley. It is covered by centuries-old fir and pine forests, and in Soviet times the area was considered an important ski centre. While it billed itself as a resort town, Bakuriani looked like a community that had seen more than its fair share of hard times. The homes were small. Many of the buildings were half-finished. When we pulled up to the home of Nodar’s family there were dozens of people milling around. Everyone had been waiting for us. Nodar’s home was a two-storey grey brick structure. A poster-sized picture of the fallen hero hung on the outside of the house, above the entranceway.
I was happy that my old friend Pat Hickey had joined us in Tbilisi. Pat was representing the European Athletic Association and I welcomed his moral support. He understood the importance of my presence. If I hadn’t made every effort to get there it would have made everything I had said about Nodar’s death seem like window dressing. But I was flat-out nervous and scared when we arrived. We were going into a community where everyone was clearly going to be devastated. Still, I thought, the people in Bakuriani, especially Nodar’s parents, would have thought less of me if I hadn’t shown up. They had invited me for a reason.
We walked inside their kitchen, which was crowded with family members. Nodar’s mother, Dodo, was sitting on a couch dressed entirely in black. There was a table packed with food, a framed picture of Nodar sitting on it, his boyish face staring out at us. You could tell that someone had worked all day to make the place sparkling clean. There were also some reporters and TV cameras crowded into the room. Pretty soon people were giving speeches. I was asked to say a few words.
I hadn’t been expecting it. So I just spoke from the heart, saying that I wished I had been visiting under different circumstances. I said I couldn’t begin to comprehend the heartbreak of Nodar’s parents, and that I thought it was important to be there in person to say how grief-stricken all Canadians felt. I didn’t speak long, and when I finished the room went quiet for what seemed like minutes.
After the speeches, Renee and I were led behind the house to some makeshift stairs that took us up to a loft. It was Nodar’s room. The bed was scattered with Olympic paraphernalia and other souvenirs from Canada. Above the bed hung a large picture of Nodar holding the Olympic torch, taken in Whistler. The humble surroundings made me realize just how much Nodar Kumaritashvili had had to overcome to get to the Olympics. It was clear he did not have the benefit of a well-to-do family with the kind of money and resources often necessary to support an Olympic dream. But I could also tell that he had the loving support of an entire town behind him.
Afterward, everyone drove to the church. We walked to Nodar’s gravesite, which was still quite fresh. A robust, beautifully robed priest arrived, along with Nodar’s father, David, and Dodo. There was a short service that was interrupted at one point when Dodo lay down on the grave and began sobbing uncontrollably. It was a profoundly emotional moment that would forever be seared into my memory.
After the service, everyone milled around for a little bit and then it was time to head to the community hall, where a feast had been planned. I needed to find a private moment to talk to Nodar’s father. The family would be receiving the equivalent of CAN$150,000 insurance money as a result of Nodar’s death. But who knew how long it was going to take for that to arrive? It was obvious the family could use money now. We had earlier decided to try and raise some cash the family could access while waiting for the insurance to arrive.
We had raised $25,000 by auctioning off one of the podiums that was used during the medals ceremonies at the Games. That money, which we converted to euros, was stuffed inside an envelope that was sitting in the breast pocket of my suit jacket. I had been trying to divine some sense of how this gesture would be greeted. I wanted to make sure the family would feel it was appropriate and not crass in any way. I knew Bakuriani had an all-cash culture, so writing a cheque, which we would normally have done, would have been problematic.
At the community hall, someone helped secure a room in which Renee and I joined David and his brother Felix, Nodar’s Olympic coach. An interpreter was there as well. I explained that my executive team wanted to help the Kumaritashvili family until more money arrived. We figured David and his wife and daughter could use some support. I pulled out the envelope and handed it to him. I told him how much was in it.
His expression conveyed a multitude of emotions. He seemed slightly embarrassed but also relieved. I also saw the slightest hint of joy in that sad, burdened face. He’d have the pain of his loss for the rest of his life, but the money would help make that life easier. David came over and hugged me. I shook his hand, which was rough and strong, hardened by a lifetime outdoors. We walked into the hall where the feast was underway. It was a pretty sombre affair and reminded me of my grandfather’s funeral. People were still in a state of shock and were doing what they could to comfort David and his wife. They too had also lost a son when Nodar died, that much was evident.
It was time to go. I said my goodbyes to Nodar’s parents and Uncle Felix, and hopped into the back of the Land Rover idling outside. I was exhausted and dreading the marathon journey back to Canada. Evening was beginning to fall on the town as we pulled away. I looked back one last time to see the twinkling lights of Bakuriani fading in the cold night air. I lay my head against the window and closed my eyes.
I had done the best I could.



Epilogue


  EVEN TODAY, THE commemorative DVD boxed set and other videos on the 2010 Winter Olympics sit on my living room coffee table unopened.
I’m not sure why I haven’t been able to watch the beautifully packaged coverage of the Games, especially given that I missed so much while darting from event to event. Perhaps I don’t want to listen to my nervous, self-conscious attempts at French in my opening and closing ceremonies speeches. More likely, however, it’s because I’m not sure I can handle the tsunami of emotions that would roll to the surface at the first sight of the athletes, the Blue Jackets, the waterfront cauldron, the crowds, Nodar . . .
There will likely be a day when I’m ready to watch it, but not yet.
In the months since the Games ended I’ve run into thousands of people—on planes, restaurants, walking the streets—who have all insisted on telling me an Olympic story, their Olympic story, one that usually makes both of us smile. To say that listening to them makes me feel incredibly happy sounds trite, I know. But honestly, there is no other way to describe the warm feeling I get whenever I talk to people who tell me how the Games touched their lives, made them feel prouder to be Canadian than at any other time.
One young Blue Jacket I met told me he had refused a $10,000 offer for his uniform—too proud to give it up, he said. Another who told me of her time volunteering at the Pacific Coliseum welled up with tears talking about it. There was the gentleman who slept in his car every night but never missed a shift in Whistler and the woman who came by bus all the way from Ontario to serve at the Games. These are the trophies I crave: stories of extraordinary Canadians who delivered profound heroics and considered themselves privileged to have volunteered.
I’ve had over 10,000 letters, cards, e-mails or calls from people around the world who felt the need to say thank you. They still trickle in and are all the proof I will ever need to know that the pebble of hope we tossed into a pond 14 years ago continues to ripple.
My team has long since been disbanded; happily, many of them are off to great new careers. I have taken scores of reference calls from employers looking to hire VANOC alumni. It’s made me feel incredibly proud that their value is so high. Some of my colleagues did crash emotionally after the Olympics ended, at least for a while, as they tried to cope with no longer waking up to the high drama and excitement that had filled their lives for years. Some have been lured to London for the 2012 Games or Sochi in 2014 to do it all over again—they’ve become Olympic gypsies.
Hard as it was, the promises we made to balance the Games operations budget and build the venues have been kept. The venues were built for the $580-million budget we had and there will be no operating deficit. Our final report confirmed that about 90 per cent of the Games’ operating budget revenue came from the private sector and from ticket buyers. Government invested in targeted areas like the torch relay and the opening and closing ceremonies.
As I write this, VANOC is a speck of its former size. From the 50,000 who came together in February 2010, only a few remain to pay the bills, clean up complex accounts, file reports and secure the archives for those who come to explore in the future. Our campus is now the new domain of the Vancouver Police Department. The sport venues were quickly decommissioned and are all functioning and serving their new legacy purpose. The next generation of athletes is already in training at some of them.
The Athletes’ Village in Whistler has been converted to residential housing as planned and is a wonderful testament to the community’s own sustainability vision. For Vancouver there is still work ahead to sell the remaining condominiums at Southeast False Creek, in what surely must be one of the most desirable housing developments on the continent. The Canada Line has hit its five-year passenger projections already, and the drive to Whistler is safer and faster. The Convention Centre in Vancouver is attracting global accolades and accelerated new business. In November, the prestigious FutureBrand global survey for the first time called Canada the world’s top country brand, an honour attributed to the Olympics. The 2010 Games were also named the world’s best-run event, beating out the FIFA World Cup, the Super Bowl, the World Series and the Tour de France.
I could go on.
Vancouver has a wider smile on its face now too—and is perhaps a little more extroverted and confident. The reluctance to believe and the angst that caused some to leave town before the Games hit have been replaced by deep pride and a “we can do anything” attitude.
I have travelled all over Canada, the U.S. and Europe over the past several months telling the story of the Games. To many, I think we were a puzzle. Even today, the most asked question is: How did you pull it off? Many want to know about what was happening behind the scenes—this book, I hope, tells that story.
I have heard scores of descriptions from people on the street— perfect strangers—who talk about their pride at being Canadian. A woman in Winnipeg well into her retirement years told me she had never watched sport in her life until the Vancouver Olympics. Her husband confirmed her transformation from holdout to superfan. I’ve heard of lawns decorated in Olympic colours and homemade Canadian flags, cauldrons and snowmen dressed as goaltenders. I’ve received poetry, art, music and lyrics from all over, and photographs of children exercising their Olympic imaginations in scores of different ways.
I admit to being filled with an undeniable bias about the power of international sport, so I may not be the best one to speak about the lasting legacy of Vancouver 2010. But I know that the example of Vancouver is something we must build on. We discovered so much about ourselves and so much happened here. We emerged a champion nation.
The Games lifted us up, filled us with confidence. George Cope, the CEO for Bell Canada, recalls being stuck in traffic, watching the women’s hockey final with family members on his phone, realizing that he was gazing at the future. A few months later, George led the purchase of CTV and talked about that Olympic moment as being the inspiration for the gigantic move.
I have been through a deeply personal journey. I have seen so many places and met so many extraordinary people. Being CEO of the Vancouver Organizing Committee for the 2010 Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games was never a job; it was a cause. I believed in our mission from the moment I gazed at the heroics of Native American runner Billy Mills in Tokyo in 1964. I’m pretty sure that in many countries of the world, a man with a foreign accent like mine would not be given a chance to live such a dream. In Canada, no such barrier exists.
When I began my journey I had no grandchildren—I now have 11. My children Maria, John, Damien, Emma and Molly are closer to me than ever. The Games touched each of them in different ways, and they cheered for me every day and lived the difficult days too. I hope they will be filled with pride for all their days to come and pass it on to their own children and grandchildren.
Over the year since the Games ended I have received many honours. I won’t lie, it is lovely to be recognized but the truth is mine was a shared adventure. The work was done by thousands. It’s awkward to be singled out when in your heart you know that the credit belongs to so many. I wear my Officer of the Order of Canada and my Order of British Columbia pins with great pride and know I have them because my teammates did heroic things.
I now chair Own the Podium as a volunteer. My committee is dedicated and its members will be tireless advocates for giving our athletes the tools and support they need to succeed in London and Sochi. The Canadian Olympic team that came to Vancouver was living proof that we can compete with anyone and win.
Jack Poole was a man of his word. His handshake was more powerful than any contract. The last time we spoke, I promised him that no matter what happened we would keep our promises— all of them. I am most proud today that no one has suggested otherwise. Above all other things, this steadfastness would have mattered most to Jack. We can all learn from his example to exercise humility, trust more, give more, forgive the hurts we have endured and move on.
The death of Nodar Kumaritashvili will always fill a corner of my memory. A beautiful memorial is now in place at his burial site in Bakuriani. A new luge facility is being planned there in his honour. The chief coroner of British Columbia has handed down his report and found no blame, and we can only hope and pray that sport will never witness such a tragic accident again. The measures taken to make sport safer will never be foolproof, but they must be a continuing preoccupation for all of us.
This book was never a certainty. But as the games ended it seemed like a good way to move on. Patriot Hearts is intended to pay tribute to the remarkable heroics of so many—examples of Canadians’ courage, conviction and remarkable teamwork. Vancouver 2010 was a celebration of the possible. The Games owe so much to Canadians from a thousand communities who set everything aside to give their hearts unconditionally to this undertaking. No thanks will ever suffice. Their sole reward is in the knowledge and lasting pride of their accomplishments.
The stinging rebukes from the British media and others as the Games began were replaced by accolades and words of triumph as the flame was extinguished. The Independent signed off with, “And overall, for athletes, fans, the media, and the host nation especially, the Games were a triumph.” The Guardian, merciless in its criticism at the beginning, concluded by saying, “Bottle that Vancouver enthusiasm and London 2012 will really hit the spot. The London Olympics can take their cue from Vancouver, its organizers and its volunteers.”
The effect of the Games will take time to sink in. Prime Minister Harper has said, “Mark my words, some day historians will look back at Canada’s growing strength in the twenty-first century and they will say that it all began here on the west coast, with the best Winter Olympic Games the world has ever seen.” I believe he is right.
The Canada we all love was for a shining moment a place of genuine wonder, causing one U.S. reporter to poignantly ask “Why can’t we be more like Canada?”
Now they know us, eh?
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